
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
Board Meeting Minutes – 100th Meeting 
September 1, 2010 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate, Dan Davis, Jason Eisdorfer, Dan Enloe, Roger 
Hamilton, Julie Hammond, Al Jubitz, Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, Caddy McKeown 
(arrived 12:30 pm), Alan Meyer (arrived 1:25 pm), Bob Repine (ODOE special advisor) and 
John Reynolds 
 
Board members absent:  John Savage (ex officio) 
 
Staff attending:  Debbie Blanchard, Kacia Brockman, Sarah Castor, Pete Catching, Amber 
Cole, Phil Degens, Cheryle Easton, Diane Ferington, Sue Fletcher, Fred Gordon, Hannah 
Hacker, Margie Harris, Ashley Jackson, Marshall Johnson, Jed Jorgensen, Betsy Kauffman, 
Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey,  Debbie Goldberg Menashe, Thad Roth, Lizzie Rubado, Sloan 
Schang, Sue Meyer Sample, Brien Sipe, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  David Barnes, NW Natural; Joe Barra, PGE; Barbara Cronise, NW Natural; 
Robin Denney; Bill Edmonds, NW Natural; Lynn Frank, FiveStars; Jim Gordon, EBD Hydro; 
Josh Gordon, EBD Hydro; Brooke Graham,  Allison Hamilton, Oregon Department of 
Transportation; Kendra Kalimanis, MIS Consulting; Jan Schaeffer; Marc Smiley, Decisions, 
Decisions!; Brooke Turner, Umpqua Bank  
 
 
Business Meeting 


President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 12:05 pm. The business meeting was 
preceded by a short celebration of our 100th board meeting, and acknowledging our volunteer 
board’s contribution toward Energy Trust’s achievements. Former board members were invited, 
and Rick Kroon came. Margie thanked the board, commenting on its exceptional quality. She 
introduced Marc Smiley, who preceded her as interim executive director. Marc offered 
comments, noting the excellent reputation Energy Trust has gained across the country.  
 
John Reynolds, one of three current board members who were members of the initial board, 
presented slides telling the story of the Energy Trust project with the longest gestation period, 
the Albany-Santiam canal hydro project—first proposed in 2003 and opened in 2009. Two other 
founding board members, John Klosterman and Jason Eisdorfer, offered comments, followed by 
other board members. Al Jubitz praised Margie’s leadership of the organization.  
 
Caddy McKeown arrived at 12:30 pm. 
 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
2


General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
MOTION: Approve Consent Agenda. John Reynolds noted the Consent Agenda consisted of 
minutes from the July meeting. There were no proposed corrections.  
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 11  Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
July 28, 2010, meeting minutes adopted as part of the Consent Agenda 
 
 
President’s Report 
 
The 100th board meeting acknowledgement substituted for the President’s report. 
 
 
Energy Programs 
 
Resolution 563, approving funds for the EBD Hydro LLC Generation Project. Margie said 
this is a large-scale, 3.5 megawatt hydropower facility. She introduced Jed Jorgensen and Betsy 
Kauffman. Jed introduced Josh and Jim Gordon from Earth by Design Hydro (EBD), 
representatives of the “45-mile” project near Madras in Central Oregon. Jed provided additional 
description of the project, which would sell its power to Pacific Power. This is Earth by Design’s 
first hydro project. It has engaged an experienced team from Idaho to implement the project. 
The project is moving through federal and state permitting, arranging a power purchase 
agreement with Pacific, and has been approved for a $7.2 million loan from the Oregon 
Department of Energy. It also applied for a BETC, tier 3; we won’t know the outcome of this 
application until November. Jed said the project appears to be viable without the BETC but 
payback would be longer if the tax credit is not granted.  
 
The developers will own the project for 25 years, after which ownership is turned over to North 
Unit Irrigation District. 
 
Jed noted the project financials have been updated since a presentation to the Renewable 
Energy Advisory Committee in July: the federal tax credit lowers the above-market cost more 
than had been thought, and a third-party consultant hired to review the project by Energy Trust 
had concerns the project’s average generation could be lower—increasing the above market 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
3


cost. As a result, staff proposes Energy Trust take more Renewable Energy Credits than 
presented to RAC (48 percent rather than 25 percent).  
 
Jed reviewed the above-market cost analysis, which determined a net above-market cost of $3 
million. He explained how Energy Trust developed its proposed $2 million incentive, spread over 
five years—if the project generates at least 10,500 megawatt hours during the previous 
irrigation season (the project would have five years to meet the four-year production goal, as 
first-year production often is lower). Staff has proposed contract milestones to assure the project 
proceeds on schedule, allowing Energy Trust to withdraw funding if the project stalls. The 
incentive equates to about $1.491 million per average megawatt, in line with other hydro 
projects Energy Trust has supported.  
 
Jim Gordon spoke, expressing appreciation for the opportunity Energy Trust is offering.  
 
Roger Hamilton asked whether the project would be in competition with irrigators for the water. 
Jed said North Unit is junior to several other irrigation districts in the area but historically has 
suffered little water loss, in part because of the capacity of the Wikiup Reservoir, and the fact 
they have lined a portion of their ditches and have other strong water-management practices.  
 


RESOLUTION 563 


APPROVING FUNDS FOR THE EBD Hydro LLC GENERATION PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 
1. EBD Hydro LLC proposes to develop a 3.5 megawatt hydropower facility (expected to 


generate 26.83 average megawatts over a 20-year operating life).  
2. Staff and an independent contractor reviewed the project design and costs and found them 


to be standard and reasonable for projects of similar type and design. 
3. The net-present value of the project’s above-market costs is $3,023,499 over 20 years. 
4. Staff proposes a $2,000,000 incentive, to be paid in equal amounts ($400,000) over the 


course of five years.  
5. At the proposed payment, the project’s energy would cost Energy Trust about $1.491 million 


per average megawatt (aMW). 
6. Energy Trust’s hydropower generation portfolio is currently 4.75MW. At 3.5MW, the project 


would be a 73% increase. 


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes: 
1. Payment of up to $2,000,000  to be paid to EBD to offset the above-market costs of the 


hydroelectric plant;  
2. Energy Trust will take ownership of 48% of the green tags expected  to be produced by the 


project annually, 112,000 total with a minimum of 5,600 annually; and 
3. The executive director to enter into a contract(s) consistent with this resolution. 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
4


 


Moved by: Julie Hammond Seconded by: Rick Applegate 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on September 1, 2010, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
NW Natural solar thermal pilot. Margie introduced Bill Edmonds and Barbara Cronise of NW 
Natural. She regards this as a bold effort and innovative approach from NW Natural regarding 
how it diversifies its services. She knows of no other utility in the country doing something like 
this. It is a pilot in development and will go forward to our advisory councils, and the OPUC.  
 
Bill Edmonds noted that solar thermal is much less costly than photovoltaics (PV). Nevertheless 
solar-thermal is a challenge because it is not supported by public policy and solar photovoltaics 
are. He thanked Energy Trust staff for being open to this idea. He is asking for the board’s 
interest and excitement about the project, and ultimately its support when the project goes 
before the OPUC. They regard this as distributed generation using renewable energy.  
 
Alan Meyer arrived at 1:25 p.m. 
 
Barbara reviewed slides, noting 2-3 solar thermal panels produce 60 percent of a customer’s 
hot water compared to 12 PV panels needed to offset the same portion of an electric customer’s 
hot water use. NW Natural proposes to own and operate the systems on rooftops. Solar thermal 
panels connect to a hybrid natural gas and solar water heater or to a solar storage tank 
combined with a natural gas tankless or conventional water heater.  
 
NW Natural would set a fixed monthly charge for solar service, about equal to current water 
heating expense. There would be no upfront cost to customers. The Energy Trust incentive 
would be available to all NW Natural gas customers, whether or not they opt for the NW Natural 
solar service.  
 
Bill said one unknown is whether people care about owning the system versus NW Natural 
owning it. His best guess is that people don’t care. Barbara noted NW Natural feels it’s 
important to maintain the systems over time to assure they continue to operate at peak 
performance. She noted OPUC staff has encouraged NW Natural to go forward with 
development of the service.  
 
Al Jubitz said his mind has been changed over the years to believe that tankless is better than 
tanked water heating. Barbara said there are hybrid tanks that store solar-heated water on the 
bottom and has a burner on the top half. Solar-heated water would be used first.  
 
Jason thinks it is an interesting proposal. He asked, if the gas company is passing through its 
commodity costs to customers, he can see the societal benefit of the solar service, but what is 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
5


the benefit to NW Natural customers who pay a public purpose charge but don’t take the solar-
thermal option? He also asked whether the solar service would in effect take gas public purpose 
funds away from other efficiency projects they support now? Bill said there would be no real 
impact on Energy Trust’s “bread and butter” gas efficiency programs. Regarding the benefit to 
non-participating customers, there would likely be some benefit to non-participants based on 
NW Natural having lower infrastructure costs. Discussion about this question continued without 
reaching resolution.  
 
Bob Repine said ODOE was contacted by NW Natural to discuss the program relative to RETC. 
While RETC as currently structured would not apply, the department is interested in further 
discussions. 
 
Alan Meyer asked why NW Natural proposes to raise the public purpose charge. Barbara 
answered a subsidy is needed because the solar water service is not mature in the 
marketplace, much like a subsidy is needed for PV. Dan Enloe asked about the relative cost of 
the service; Bill said a little higher than wind but much below solar PV.  
 
John Reynolds stated the most efficient water tank in the world only keeps the water hotter 
longer, it doesn’t heat the water. He has worn out his soap box making the case for direct use of 
solar to heat water. This is not recognized in the law (SB 1149) as a renewable use, as that law 
defines a renewable resource as one that generates electricity.  
 
Caddy said a solar thermal system provides about half of the water heating needs of her pool, 
with the balance coming from natural gas. She is enthusiastic about NW Natural’s proposal.  
 
Debbie Kitchin asked what will be put in place to evaluate the pilot, and whether results will be 
made public. Barbara said project development has been done collaboratively with Energy 
Trust, with all details open; the OPUC has asked the company to set aside budget for 
evaluation.  
 
 
Resolution 562, authorizing funds for the ODOT Solar PV Project. Margie noted this is 
phase 2 of a project the board has seen before, the solar highway project that was put forward 
by the governor’s office. She introduced Kacia Brockman, who introduced Joe Barra, PGE; 
Allison Hamilton, Oregon Department of Transportation, and Lynn Frank, consultant working 
with Allison. Kacia noted the first phase of the project did not require board approval, as it was 
smaller in size.  
 
The project, to be installed in two locations off I-5 (one extending the current solar highway site 
and the other at the Baldock rest stop), would deliver power directly to PGE. Capacity would 
depend on the capacity of Solar World panels available at the time of installation, as well as 
whether I-5/I-205 expansion is postponed for tax reasons. She noted the project will be installed 
on ODOT land. The project is pre-certified for a BETC and has secured an investor. ODOT will 
not own the project. PGE will utilize a sale/lease-back model. PGE will develop the project, 
operate it and maintain it, receiving the electricity benefit in their system. Upon completion of the 
project, PGE will sell it to the investor, lease it back for six years and in year seven buy it back. 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
6


Because of the ownership model, Kacia said she developed two calculations of above market 
cost, from the perspective of the third-party developer ($9 million) and PGE ($5 million, lower 
because the developer has received tax benefits). Energy Trust is proposing an incentive of 
$1/watt. At the current system size (smaller panels), this represents 56 percent of the above 
market cost. She proposes Energy Trust claim 65 percent of the renewable energy credits. We 
propose to pay in a lump sum when the project starts generating.  
 
Joe Barra said the sale/lease-back model is more straightforward than the flip model Energy 
Trust has seen on several large projects, including Pro Logis. Alan Meyer asked for clarification 
about the financial summary. Kacia said net above-market cost after tax adjustment takes into 
account the fact that our incentive is taxed. Jason asked if PGE will sell to the third party at cost. 
Joe said they sell at a price that covers cost of construction. Jason asked if there’s a 
shareholder gain at the time of sale; Joe said no. Roger noted one of the benefits touted is the 
project’s visibility and asked if there is data on its effectiveness in inspiring people to install 
solar. Allison Hamilton of ODOT said she gets about one call every day from folks enthused and 
curious about the project. She noted the Baldock location, with 7,000 panels, will be accessible 
to school groups and will have an interpretive kiosk.  
 
John Klosterman asked what has been learned from the original installation. Allison said it’s 
been simple to operate. Joe said output has actually exceeded projections. There have been no 
issues with security. Lynn said we learned you need to do larger installations to offset 
transaction and fixed costs. ODOT is identifying solar potential on all its rights of way. Joe said 
the lighting is green by virtue of ODOT receiving 25 percent of the renewable energy 
certificates; the power will go into PGE’s grid.  


RESOLUTION 562 
AUTHORIZING FUNDS FOR THE ODOT SOLAR PV PROJECT 


 
WHEREAS: 
1. Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) plans to use highway rights-of-way to 


increase the visibility of solar and encourage its adoption in Oregon. 
2. Portland General Electric (PGE) plans to install a total of 1.715-1.915 megawatts (MW) of 


solar photovoltaic generating capacity on ODOT property to count toward its state 
Renewable Energy Standard and Solar Capacity Standard mandates.  


3. This project has already secured Business Energy Tax Credit precertification and a tax 
equity investor, two major barriers to renewable energy projects in Oregon.  


4. Total project cost is estimated to be $9,982,486, which staff considers reasonable for a 
project of this size and design. 


5. The above-market cost on a net-present value basis over 25 years is estimated to be 
$3,136,088.  


6. Staff recommends an Energy Trust incentive of $1.00/watt, representing approximately 56% 
of the above-market cost, and PGE supports this incentive level. 


7. Energy Trust will receive green tags equal to its share of above-market cost, which will be 
calculated based on final project size and cost, or 65%, whichever is greater. 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
7


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.:  
1. Authorizes an incentive of up to $1,915,000 for a 1.715-1.915 MW, ground-mounted solar 


photovoltaic facility to be installed on ODOT property and operated by PGE. 
2. Authorizes Energy Trust to assign its share of green tags from this project to PGE for the 


benefit of its ratepayers and for compliance with PGE’s renewable energy generation 
obligations to the state. 


3. Authorizes the executive director to negotiate and sign an agreement consistent with this 
resolution. 


 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: Dan Davis 


Vote: In favor: 12 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on September 1, 2010, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Break 
 
The board took a 15 minute break at 2:20 pm. 
 
 
Operations 
 
Amending Resolution 558, authorizing purchase and implementation of Epicor 9 
Software Solution. Margie provided background. She recalled the robust discussion at the July 
meeting of the board. At the end of that meeting, when the board voted on this, there was 
confusion. Some members said they weren’t sure what they were voting on. Staff is proposing a 
substitute resolution that includes the whereas clauses left off the motion at the last meeting.  
 
She said all questions raised at the prior meeting have been answered. One was to seek OPUC 
opinion; Margie talked with John Savage, answered his many good questions and satisfied him 
that we should go forward. Regarding SAP, we asked a third party, Gartner, to take apart and 
comment on SAP’s concerns. Gartner provided assurance that Epicor (our selected vendor) is 
suited to our needs, which are different from those of the utilities SAP serves. She said 
reference checks of Epicor by staff and Gartner produced uniformly high praise and loyalty. 
Their customization process is of good quality. There was a change in management referenced 
in the credit checks—the founder came back in to help the company manage its growth, which 
is viewed as a positive. Sue analyzed Epicor’s financial stability and found them to be a strong 
company with good cash flow.  
 
Margie said there is a scope of work that Robin Denney, Debbie Blanchard and Debbie 
Menashe have developed. Epicor is responding to that scope of work, which is much more 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
8


detailed than they are used to. The budget in the resolution accounts for a number of 
contingencies. That has created a robust budget for the total project cost, but we don’t expect to 
have to spend it all. She said the resolution has a tenth Whereas, which states that we expect to 
recover the costs of purchase and implementation within four to five years, primarily by avoiding 
the cost of adding staff to support growth while maintaining and patching Energy Trust’s current 
systems.  
 
She said Al Jubitz suggested adding reference to Gartner Inc. in the resolution (italics type in 
the fourth Whereas clause).  


AMENDED RESOLUTION 558 
AUTHORIZING PURCHASE AND IMPLEMENTATION OF EPICOR 9 SOFTWARE 


SOLUTION 
WHEREAS: 
1. Energy Trust’s original information technology (IT) systems have operated since the 


organization’s beginning, and were scaled for a smaller organization. Those systems now 
support 300 users, maintain 4.8 million utility accounts, 5,000 trade and program ally files, 
and manage five terabytes of data. 


2. In 2007, Energy Trust commissioned an independent study of IT and data management 
systems. The evaluation recommended that Energy Trust replace or retool all elements of 
these systems. 


3. In December 2009, the board authorized staff to develop a Request for Proposal (RFP) for 
options to replace these systems with an integrated solution. The RFP was issued March 
19, 2010. 


4. To oversee the project, a Steering Committee was composed of senior staff, three outside 
experts, and board members with insights and expertise provided by Gartner, Inc. 


5. A selection committee composed of senior Energy Trust managers and two outside 
experts reviewed and ranked the proposals. Epicor 9 emerged unanimously as the top 
choice, the best combination of functional fit, price, and long-term value for Energy Trust 
needs. 


6. Based on Epicor 9’s high ranking, the selection committee conducted a “project design” 
session to better detail the approach, deliverables, schedule, and costs.  


7. The purchase and implementation contract amount for an Epicor 9 solution is still under 
discussion, but will not exceed $1.57 million. 


8. The Epicor 9 solution’s total ten-year cost of ownership was the second lowest-cost 
option. 


9. Staff estimates the two-year project budget to be approximately $3.7 million, considering 
training, staff backfill, project management and other contingencies.  


10. Energy Trust estimates it will recover the cost of purchasing and implementing Epicor 9 
within four to five years, primarily by avoiding the cost of adding staff to support program 
growth with Energy Trust’s current systems. 


 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
9


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorize the Executive Director to negotiate and sign contracts to pay up to $1.57 million to 
purchase and implement the Epicor 9 software solution. 


 


Moved by: Al Jubitz Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 


Vote: In favor: 12 Abstained: 0  Opposed  0 


 
Adopted on September 1, 2010, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Finance Committee 
 
Resolution 564, Transfer $4 million line of credit to Umpqua Bank. John Klosterman 
explained the Finance Committee’s desire to continue a line of credit, transferring it from 
Cascade Bank to Umpqua Bank. 
 


RESOLUTION 564 
TRANSFER $4 MILLION LINE OF CREDIT TO UMPQUA BANK 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. Energy Trust wishes to continue its line of credit availability. 
2. Umpqua Bank will become Energy Trust’s bank of record effective September 1, 2010. 
3. Umpqua Bank has authorized a commitment for a revolving line of credit offered by 


Umpqua Bank at an interest rate of prime minus 50 basis points conditioned upon the 
board’s approval by resolution. 
 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. Energy Trust may 


a. Borrow up to $4 million from a revolving unsecured line of credit offered by 
Umpqua bank at an interest rate of prime -50 basis points to bridge timing issues of 
revenue receipt and program expense. 


b. Incur a fee of up to $5,000 for the ability to maintain such line of credit. 
c. Repay the line of credit with monthly interest payments and principal due at 


maturity, within one year of the date the agreement. 
2. Any two (2) of the following agents of this corporation, one a representative from 


management and one a representative from the board: 
a. President 
b. Treasurer 
c. Executive Director 
d. Chief Financial Officer 
e. General Counsel 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
10


are hereby authorized and directed, in the name of this corporation to execute and 
deliver to Umpqua bank and Umpqua Bank is requested to accept credit agreements, 
other instruments, agreements and documents which evidence the obligations of this 
corporation under the credit facilities obtained or to be obtained pursuant to this 
resolution. 
 


3.  Umpqua Bank is authorized to act upon the foregoing resolution until written notice of 
the revocation is received by the Bank, and the authority hereby granted shall apply 
with equal force and effect to the successors in the office of the authorized agents. 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 


Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 1 (Dan Enloe 
abstained due to personal 
relationship with someone at 
Umpqua Bank) 


 Opposed: 0 
 


  


Adopted on September 1, 2010, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Audit Committee. Julie Hammond said the committee has not met since the last meeting. 
Alexis Dow is stepping off the committee, while Shirley Cyr, like Alexis a professional auditor, is 
joining the committee. 
 
Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin referenced notes from the committee meeting, which 
covered a number of evaluations. The evaluation group is doing a great amount of work and 
bringing valuable information forward from the programs. John Reynolds asked about the 
reference to concern about the potential of “aggressive EE” to damage equipment. Debbie said 
this is a concern encountered, as opposed to a result. Our contractor provides information to 
attempt to allay such concerns. Alan Meyer said the Kaizen Blitz and IEI programs are effective. 
He learned about them by sitting on the Evaluation Committee and thinks other board members 
might be interested. Debbie noted the committee includes Ken Keating and Tom Eckman, who 
bring knowledgeable outside perspectives to the team; she suggested Margie think of a way to 
thank them and other outside committee members for their service.  
 
Policy Committee. Jason Eisdorfer said the committee met late last week, too late for notes to 
be included in the packet. He said the committee previewed many of the topics covered today, 
including the NW Natural solar thermal project and the changes in numbers for the hydro project 
from those shown the RAC. Margie recalled several other topics, including integrating risk 
assessment into our daily activities, and legislative outreach.  
 
Compensation Committee. John Klosterman said the committee met yesterday. There were 
three agenda items: first was regular review of the 401k portfolio, second was whether to have 
one individual from The Standard as our administrative manager and investment advisor or use 
an independent party for investment advice; last was the future of the regulatory environment, 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
11


which is getting tighter with more audits performed. We are paying attention to how we ensure 
plan documentation is ready in the event of an audit. The committee will meet again in about a 
month.  
 
 
Staff Report 
 
Website overview, Sloan Schang, Online & Interactive Strategy Manager, with Amber Cole, 
Director of Communications and Customer Service. Amber said Sloan is our only staff person 
dedicated to the website. He manages the work of our web development contractor, Pollinate 
Media, and collaborates with programs and IT. IT provides support for the integration of the 
website forms and our data systems. We launched a redesign of the site just under a year ago, 
in September 2009.  
 
The website is available 24 hours a day. It has 2,500 pages of content and 2,000 trade ally 
listings, 1,000 unique visitors a day and 2.6 million page views in 2009.  
 
She noted Energy Trust conducted a usability study in 2008 to determine how well our site 
serves customer needs, based on viewing actual customers in action and a thorough evaluation 
by a usability expert. Some findings were that the navigation was confusing, people got lost, and 
content overwhelmed the user. In conclusion, we learned there was a large opportunity to 
improve the site navigation, content structure, and design to make it more effective. IT 
suggested changing the programming language underlying the site, in order to facilitate IT 
support and integration with other IT systems. We also sought to gain efficiency for programs by 
creating a solid customer engagement web platform for investment in online forms.  
 
Sloan said the old site was a rubber band ball wound over the years. The first thing we had to 
do was unwind it and decide how to reorganize. In 2009 we developed a new front end design, 
new organization/architecture, rewrote all customer-facing content to suit a web audience, 
developed a custom, in-house content management system. Right about the time the new site 
was launched, the organization redesign effort was wrapping up. There were a few things 
identified as priorities in the redesign that were not reflected in the new web site design, so early 
in 2010 we updated the new website in response to new priorities highlighted by the 
organization redesign. For example, we made customer service enhancements to the trade ally 
search function and updated some navigation structures to reflect new customer audience 
types. 
 
We added industry and agriculture (ag) to the customer types—a fourth category, along with 
homes, businesses and renewables. We incorporated a number of special sub-audiences, such 
as mobile homes. We reorganized business offerings using marketplace language.  
 
The web site redevelopment also allowed us to capture some process efficiencies. We built a 
content management system, allowing us to make in-house, real time changes to about 80 
percent of the site. We have requests for about 2,000 changes annually, not including new 
initiatives. We do most of that through the content management system now. The system allows 
us to give restricted role access for PMCs and administrative staff. They can upload documents 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
12


and search for data without drawing on the web development contractor or limited staff 
resources.  
 
Trade ally search enhancements included tagging the location of the customer and giving a list 
of contractors closest to this location. This replaces the old randomized list. We also added 
stars—two stars indicates an “enhanced” trade ally based on volume of work and high quality 
work; three stars indicates a top-performing trade ally; one star represents a good contractor. 
You can enter your own address or zip code to pull up a list of contractors close to you. 
Currently only the existing homes program lists tiers of trade allies. 
 
Sloan noted the ongoing effort to streamline the customer experience and gain efficiencies. We 
coordinate with IT to support active web application forms for incentive payments. We support 
new program initiatives with new online fulfillment and informational forms. PECI reports 
processing time has been cut in half by the use of on-line forms for appliance rebate 
applications.  
 
Al asked if data on a customer or customer site location can be stored, allowing us to 
communicate with them using email. He asked if our data can be used to populate ODOE tax 
credit forms. Amber said we would like to coordinate with ODOE to create a joint online 
application process for some time. We’ve learned from ODOE that their systems are not robust 
enough nor are they resourced to develop their systems. We are exploring other ways to help 
customers complete ODOE forms.  
 
Sloan said we are considering developing password enabled customer accounts that would 
allow customers to identify and store potential projects and enable follow-up communication. 
We already allow customers to check the status of their incentive application, and we have 
scoped what it would take to develop an account system. We still need to understand if this is 
what customers want and programs need before moving forward.  
 
Sloan reviewed the web development contract. He noted that the 2010 web development 
contract supported new initiatives, as well as general site maintenance and core content 
updates. Examples include developing search capabilities for new categories of allies such as 
architects and engineers. We’re also looking at incorporating online training tools for trade allies 
that would allow them to access the training whenever they wish rather than at a scheduled 
time. We support program campaigns and fulfillment, i.e. E-Saver kits. 
 
He reviewed the 2011 work scope. We will be taking our contract for web services out for bid 
this fall. We will look at adapting our web tools to the new ISP system. We want to develop a 
“recommendation engine” for existing homes. We want to move farther toward account 
management systems. We anticipate the need for coordination with Clean Energy Works 
Oregon and/or Homestar.  
 
Alan suggested incorporating recommendations from Home Energy Reviews and sending out 
reminders to folks who have had the reviews. Amber said we are now doing that, and the ISP 
system will take us further down that road of customer interaction. Caddy asked if we could 
support utility initiatives like the NW Natural solar thermal program.  







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
13


 
Al asked if we have a “rate your building” module. Sloan said we are incorporating something 
like that on the homes side. On the commercial side we have spoken with programs about this 
and there is room for accommodating this. Amber said we’re working to assure the scores of 
information coming from on-line tools sync with the Energy Performance Score. 
 
Highlights. Margie Harris highlighted the second quarter report. She said we expect to meet or 
exceed NW Natural savings goals and are endeavoring to meet Cascade Natural Gas goals. 
We are doing especially well on electric savings acquisition in Pacific Power service territory 
and somewhat lagging on PGE savings goals due to delays in the O-Power project. The delays 
stem from an inability to update data transfer agreements with the utilities due to temporary 
staffing limitations at the OPUC. She noted that, in order to help people save energy in a down 
economy, we have increased incentives, added bonus incentives, and emphasized measures 
that don’t require as much up front capital. We are seeing more activity associated with less 
cost and fewer savings.  
 
She highlighted the IEI program (industrial energy initiative), in which we worked with a cohort of 
industrial managers who, by implementing low cost measures saved an average of 8 percent.  
 
She noted Energy Trust is working closely with ODOE. Bob Repine has been very responsive. 
The two staffs have a work session September 7, recognizing the two organizations need to 
reflect a coordinated, efficient set of services to the public at a time when legislators are 
concerned about revenue shortfalls and government inefficiencies.  
 
She noted an IBEW solar installation that celebrated completion recently. She noted the city of 
Coos Bay has two visible solar installations on their new visitor center and their fire station. We 
received a lovely plaque thanking Energy Trust for its support. Caddy thanked John Reynolds 
for coming to the grand opening of the visitors center. Margie noted we blended efficiency and 
renewables for these projects.  
 
She reported a 9 MW wind generation project called PaTu, approved in 2009. The project has 
declined our incentive in order to retain their Renewable Energy Credits (RECs). We have 
encountered this in the past. We will keep the board posted on this and if it becomes a trend, we 
may want to revisit our REC policy. Peter said we value RECs at $8; the most optimistic 
forecast, based on assuming the California market develops, would price RECs at $35. He said 
we have at least 50,000 tags. The market is driven by RPS regulations and, within that, whether 
only certain resources count. The big change is whether you have to deliver the energy with the 
REC. If California allows utilities to buy RECs separately from energy, this might drive REC 
prices up.  
 
Margie said the project represented over 3 average megawatts that we had counted on booking 
this year.  
 
She said Planning and Evaluation is updating its resource plan. Steve Lacey is working with 
each utility on its IRP planning and tariff filings.  
 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
14


IT has new system capability to access data and generate reports more easily for management 
purposes.  
 
She said the new 2009 annual report is well done and has been well received. It has been sent 
to every legislator.  
 
We have kill-a-watt energy monitors in 50 libraries around the state. That was a proposition 
brought to us by Representative Nancy Nathanson and the state librarian.  
 
Organization-wide customer service values are being linked to training.  
 
As part of the redesign implementation, Margie has been doing a lot of external relationship 
building and outreach. She has been part of a number of meetings with legislators interested in 
Energy Trust. In all, we have met with 70 legislators over the last year to describe our work and 
results. Last week, Margie testified at the joint Revenue Committee, where Representative Jules 
Bailey talked about us as a national model.  
 
She reported her work with Clean Energy Works Oregon, which is the recipient of the $20 
million block grant. She is on the board of the new non-profit organization, which will take the 
Portland pilot statewide. We will present a report to OPUC in October on the Portland pilot with 
learnings to be applied to the statewide scale up.  
 
 
Other topics 
 
Availability of CFL specialty bulbs. Al Jubitz requested time to discuss what he believes he 
read in an evaluation report that big box stores are not carrying specialty CFLs. Dan said the 
report found good selections at big box stores and in the Portland area but not in outlying areas. 
Fred Gordon said while the market has transformed for twisties, the specialty bulbs have not 
been as widely available or used.  
 
Proposed meeting schedule 2011. John Reynolds asked board members to get back to 
Nancy with any conflicts.  
 
Recommended book. Al Jubitz recommends a new book, The Climate War, which traces why 
the US and other countries have failed to establish a coherent climate reduction policy.  
 
Hand driers to replace paper towels. Al asked if we would consider supporting this. Fred said 
there are efficient hand driers. They are on our list to analyze.  
 
Solar tour takeaways. Several board members and staff toured a solar installation on the 
Nature Conservancy‘s building. Al thinks maintenance of solar systems will be an issue—who 
cleans them, checks them? Some systems can be monitored through the internet. He thinks 
volunteers could monitor systems, alert owners to investigate why systems aren’t performing up 
to plan, and/or offer to come clean the systems. He learned Energy Trust sends a postcard to 
solar owners at the end of their system’s first year of operation urging them to read their meter 







Discussion Minutes  September 1, 2010 


 
15


to determine if their system is performing to plan; we don’t follow up again until year 5. This 
should be done more often.  
 
Peter explained the reason we follow up after one year is the vast majority of what could go 
wrong happens in the first year. The on-line monitoring systems have improved greatly in the 
past year. Monitors are part of current Solarize programs. He said we have surveyed our 
systems twice and determined we are getting 99 percent of what we forecast.  
 
Julie commented on the problem of ownership changes, when a new owner may not have the 
same level of interest. Anything we can do that marries information manuals to the system 
would help.  
 
Al wondered what can be done to collect solar data on all installations. Board members 
discussed this.  
 
Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:25 pm. 
 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be 
held Wednesday, November 10, 2010, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 
SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon. The draft 2011 budget will be presented 
to the board at the November board meeting. 
 
 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
      Debbie Kitchin, Secretary 








 
 
 
101st Board Meeting  
Wednesday, November 10, 2010, 12:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 p.m. Call to Order (John Reynolds)  


• Approve agenda   
 
12:10 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:15 p.m. Consent Agenda. The consent agenda may be approved  1 Action 
 by a single motion, second and vote of the board. Any item 
 on the consent agenda will be moved to the regular agenda 
 upon the request from any member of the board.  
 (Rick Applegate) 


• September 1 meeting minutes    
 
12:20 p.m. Energy Programs (Jason Eisdorfer) 2  


• Program Management Contract  
for existing Multi-family Program (R568)  Action 


• Evergreen Consulting contract extension (R567)  Action 
• Industrial & Ag Sector Strategic Plan   Information 


 
1:30 p.m. Nominating Committee (Alan Meyer) 3 


• Electing Julie Brandis to the board (R566)  Action 
 
1:45 p.m. Draft 2011-2012 Action Plan and 
 Draft 2011 Budget Separate Document Information 
 (Margie Harris and Sue Meyer Sample)  
 
3:15 p.m. Break 
 
3:30 p.m. Committee Reports  


• Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  Information 
 
• Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 4 Information 


 
• Finance & Compensation Committees  5 Information 


         (John Klosterman) 
 


• Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 6 Information 
 


4:15 p.m. Staff report (Margie Harris) 7  
 Feature presentation: Elevator Speech (Amber Cole)  Information 


• Highlights   Information 
 
5:00 p.m. Adjourn 
 


 







Agenda  November 10, 2010 


   2


 
The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held  


Friday, December 17, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon 


 
INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
Tab 1 Consent Agenda 


• September 1 meeting minutes  
 
Tab 2 Energy Programs 


• Program Management Contract for existing Multi-family Program (Resolution 568) 
• Evergreen Consulting contract extension (Resolution 567) 
• Industrial & Agriculture Sector 2011-2015 Strategic Plan 


 
Tab 3 Nominating Committee 


• Electing Julie Brandis to the board (Resolution 566) 
 
Separate Document    
 Draft 2011-2012 Action Plan and 
 Draft 2011 Budget (Margie Harris) 
 
Tab 4 Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from September 24 meeting. 
• 2008 PE Impact Evaluation and staff response 
• IEI Pilot Process Evaluation and staff response 
• Kaizen Pilot Process Evaluation and staff response 
• 2010 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions study and staff response 
• 2010 Trade Ally survey 
• Specialty CFL Shelf survey analysis 


 
Tab 5 Finance Committee 


• Notes from September 21 meeting 
• Notes from October 18 meeting 
• Notes from October 25 meeting 
• July financials and contract summary report 
• August financials and contract summary report 
• September financials and contract summary report 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 6 Policy Committee  


• Notes from August 26 meeting 
• Notes from October 12 meeting 
 


Tab 7 Staff Report 
• Market Indicators Quarterly Report 
• Renewable Pre-Completion Financing Pilot status update 
• Organization re-design quarterly report 
• Letter from Commissioner Leonard thanking New Homs Program staff 


 
Tab 8 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes September 15 and October 13 
• RAC notes September 15 and October 13 


 
Tab 9 Ad report & earned media report (media clippings are now emailed once a month) 








 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: October 1, 2010 
 To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens, Evaluation Manager  
Kim Crossman , Sr. Industrial Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2008 Impact Evaluation of the Production Efficiency Program
 
The Production Efficiency (PE) program is now in its eighth year of operation. The 
evaluation covers the first year in which Energy Trust staff was responsible for the 
program management.  
 
The PE team of Energy Trust staff and PDCs continue to do a good job in accurately 
estimating energy savings from projects. The overall realization rate of 86% reported 
in the study included many projects that were adversely impacted by the downturn in 
the economy. Taking economic effects out of the estimate would have brought the 
realization rate to over 90%. The simple methods used to adjust for economic effects 
continue to be viewed as appropriate.  
 
Two factors alluded to in the report will require adjustment of the reported 86% 
realization rate. The first is the use of a three year moving average of end use 
specific realization rates to estimate savings of sites that did not receive a site visit. 
This 3 year moving average was calculated in the report but not used in the final 
calculation of the realization rate. This method was discussed at length with the 
Energy Trust Board Evaluation Committee, and adopted for use in future 
evaluations. Use of the moving average will increase the average overall 2008 
program realization rate to 88%.  
 
The second factor is that Site 22 actually completed its project a few months after the 
evaluation site visit was performed. A subsequent site visit was performed and 
resulted in an estimated realization rate of 176%. As the measure was installed two 
years after the savings were claimed the savings were de-rated by 20% (2 years of 
the 10 year expected project lifetime). Inclusion of these savings brings the overall 
program year savings realization rate to just under 91%. Inclusion of these savings 
follows the study recommendation of tracking larger projects and was discussed 
during Evaluation Committee meetings. 
 
The PE program is changing in that more savings are coming from smaller projects. 
This change will impact future evaluations requiring a larger sample of site visits to 
obtain accurate estimates.  
 
 
  


Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


Telephone: 1.866.368.7878 
Facsimile: 503.546.6862 
energytrust.org 








 


 


 


 


 


 


FINAL 2008 Energy Trust of Oregon  


Production Efficiency Impact 
Evaluation 


 


Presented to 


 


September 3, 2010 


 


Presented by 


 
Navigant Consulting 
1375 Walnut Street, Suite 200 
Boulder, CO 80302 
phone 303.728.2500 
fax 303.728.2501 
www.navigantconsulting.com







 


 


2 


Section 1. Executive Summary 


Energy Trust of Oregon’s (Energy Trust) Production Efficiency (PE) program offers energy 
efficiency services for industrial processes of all kinds, including manufacturing, agricultural, 
and water/wastewater treatment. The PE program provides funding for studies to identify 
energy‐saving opportunities and financial incentives to help businesses implement them. 
Navigant Consulting conducted an impact evaluation of the 2008 PE program, which included 
two components: 


1.) Site‐level analysis, including field verification and equipment logging, of 24 large sites 
with custom energy efficiency projects to verify program impacts; and  


2.) A review of 17 project files and the savings calculators for the Small Industrial Initiative 
(SII). 


1.1 Program Impacts 


As seen in Table 1‐1, the impact evaluation yielded an end‐use program realization rate of 86% 
and corresponding gross savings of 67,735,063 kWh. 


Table 1‐1. Impact Summary of the 2008 PE Program 
Indices of Program Savings Value  Value 


Working Estimate of 2008 Program Savings  78,687,954 kWh 
Realization Rate  86% 
Gross Savings Estimate  67,735,063 kWh 
Demand Savings Estimate  8,659 kW 


The working estimate of savings includes 3,234,335 kWh installed through the SII. The PE 
program delivered gas savings of 17,555 therms from eight projects implemented at six 
participant sites. Because of the relatively small scope of these gas projects, the impact 
evaluation of the 2008 PE program did not include gas measures. 


Interviews with PE program participants yielded a free‐ridership estimate of 23% and a net‐to‐
gross ratio of 77%. Table 1‐2 shows the final 2008 PE program net savings estimates amounted 
to 51,971,014 kWh, or 66% of 2008 program working savings. 







 


 


3 


Table 1‐2. Free‐Ridership Summary of the 2008 PE Program 
Indices of Program Savings Value  Value 


Gross Savings Estimate  67,735,063 kWh 
Net‐to‐Gross Ratio  77% 
Net Savings Estimate  51,971,014 kWh 
Net Savings as a Percentage of Working Savings  66% 


1.2 SII Review 


Navigant Consulting found the SII Prescriptive Savings Calculators to accurately estimate 
savings accrued from energy efficient upgrades of pumps, motors, air compressors, etc. The 
prescriptive input assumptions (e.g., loading factors, motor efficiencies, etc.) used in each 
calculator correlate with industry standards and are representative of “average” operating or 
installation conditions. 


1.3 Recommendations 


Recommendation 1: Pursuant to the Plant Closure Study (Recommendation Four of the 2007 
PE Program Impact Evaluation), define and project future savings estimates at the program 
level. 


Though more prevalent in the 2007 PE Program, the 2008 PE Program had a number of sites 
that suffered from reduced savings as a result of unforeseen closures. A Plant Closure Study 
will more accurately characterize the impact of these production changes on realized savings. 


In addition to the economic malaise, modified production schedules and capacity led to changes 
in system configurations which were not incorporated into original study findings. This often 
resulted in realized savings that differed significantly from original projected savings, despite 
the measure being correctly installed.  


Recommendation 2: Conduct follow‐up measurement and verification (M&V) on projects 
that were not fully implemented.  Consider providing incentives and/or engineering support 
for the commissioning of these projects to capture the unrealized energy savings. 


The partial implementation of measures at three sites resulted in low project realization rates. In 
these cases, there is opportunity for the site to achieve additional energy savings and improve 
the project realization rates by completing these projects in the future. Some site contacts 
indicated to the Navigant Consulting engineer that follow‐up projects were being considered. 
Energy Trust should attempt to verify subsequent project activities and document the energy 
savings.  







 


 


4 


In the case of one site, providing an incentive or engineering support for the commissioning of 
the project would have identified and corrected initial system failures and ensured that the 
project measures were performing as expected, thereby improving the project’s realization rate. 


Recommendation 3: Use consistent end‐use classifications for the various pumping measure 
applications. 


Pumping projects evaluated for the 2008 PE program fell into several categories: pumping as a 
part of water treatment (sites 14 and 15), irrigation water pumping (sties 11 and 12), process 
water or other liquid pumping (sites 16 and 25), and vacuum pumping (site 13). The Navigant 
Consulting team recommends the water pumping measures be categorized into one of two end‐
use classifications, Pumping and Irrigation Pumping, and that vacuum pumping measures be 
classified as Process. 


 








Energy Trust of Oregon 851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
energytrust.org  Portland, Oregon 97204 Facsimile: 503-546-6862 


  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2010 Energy Trust Trade Ally Survey 
Prepared by Zachary Wilson, Phil Degens, Sarah Castor & Brien Sipe 
October 3, 2010 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 







1. Executive Summary 
 
This report summarizes the results of the 2010 Energy Trust of Oregon Trade Ally Survey.  Originally 
conceived as a feedback tool for the Communications department about various offerings for trade allies 
it has since expanded.  Now in its sixth year, the survey is still focused on feedback but now includes a 
program/measure specific market research component.  The rationale for collecting self-reported data 
from the trade allies about their specific markets is two-fold.  First, any change in the proportion of various 
efficient technologies that are being installed by trade allies can be analyzed.  Second, the Trade Ally 
survey can be compared to evaluations and program reports to corroborate the results. 
 
The 20101 Trade Ally Survey was sent via email to 1,851 trade allies when it was launched on March 5, 
2010. The survey was closed March 31, 2010 with 331 unique complete surveys, yielding a response rate 
of 18%. Of the completed surveys 273 were used in the final analysis due to the fact that some 
respondents represented the same company and that others were real estate agents and not traditional 
trade allies that install equipment or provide energy efficiency services.  The number of respondents far 
exceeded expectations as past surveys typically had just over 100 trade allies completing the survey.  
 
 
1.1 Key Findings & Recommendations 
 
General Trade Ally Findings 
Of the 273 respondents representing unique firms, 154 reported themselves as mainly working in the 
Residential program, 60 in the Commercial, 38 in Solar PV and Solar Thermal, 9 in Industrial, and 5 in 
renewables.  Seven respondents categorized themselves as ‘Other’.  
 
General program demographics 
Nearly 60%t of trade allies indicated that they have been working with Energy Trust for more than three 
years, 15% for less than one year. Twenty-eight percent of respondents received over half of their 
revenues from projects involving Energy Trust incentives, and 58% of respondents intend to increase the 
proportion of projects that involve Energy Trust in 2011. 
 
 
Oregon Tax Credits, Green Streets and EBIX  
Trade ally awareness of the Oregon Business and Residential Energy Tax Credits is near universal with 
only 13%of responding trade allies being unaware of the tax credits. Energy Trust’s ongoing training in 
regards to the BETC/RETC appears to have had an impact.  
 
Energy Trust works with Umpqua Bank to offer financing to residential and commercial customers through 
the Green Street lending program. Most of the trade allies are aware of the program (75%) and 15% 
actively market if (25% of the solar trade allies).  
 
Recommendation 


• As a large number of trade allies are familiar with this program and many actively offer it, it is 
recommended that Energy Trust allow these services to continue. 


 
EBIX is a service that Energy Trust uses to track trade ally insurance status. This service received very 
low satisfaction ratings with less than half (44%) being satisfied with this service. Energy Trust is aware of 
many of these issues and has worked with EBIX to address them. It is anticipated that the insurance 
tracking function will be taken in-house once Energy Trust new Integrated Solutions Program (ISP) has 
been implemented in 2011. 
                                            
1 To clarify confusion with the nomenclature, the 2010 report covers the 2009 program year. 







 
Energy Trust Support 
Trade allies were asked to rate their interest in various types of Energy Trust support. Trade allies seem 
to be quite interested in cooperative advertising and in furthering their knowledge (via conferences, 
trainings, and regularly updated information) of energy efficiency, especially in their own trade. 
 
 
Training 
Sixty-four percent of responding trade allies reported that they had attended an Energy Trust sponsored 
training session in 2009 (or later); Over 60% of attending trade allies found the trainings ‘valuable’ or ‘very 
valuable’.  When asked what specific areas they would most like to be trained in, the most common 
responses were ODOE tax credits and savings calculation tools and program paperwork.  
 
Recommendation 


• Continue training programs that support trade allies’ efforts to work with the program and take 
advantage of state and federal tax credits. 


 
Roundtable Discussions 
Almost half of respondents indicated that they had attended a roundtable discussion (80%attendied in 
past year) and 42% reported that the events were either ‘useful’ or ‘very useful’.  As in previous years, the 
location of the roundtable discussions are an important issue that create a major barrier to trade ally 
attendance. 
 
Recommendations: 


• Energy Trust should continue to hold roundtable throughout the state on a regular basis.  Regular 
meetings with clear agendas with a timely notification should provide trade allies sufficient 
information to schedule the meeting.  


• Clearly delineate sessions by program and specific topics  to allow trade allies to attend those 
portions relevant to their business 


• Continue to develop and expand web-based roundtables 
 
Communication & the Insider Newsletter 
The majority of responding trade allies prefer to be notified about program updates via email from 
program staff at least once a month.  More than 3/4 of responding Trade Allies read the Insider newsletter 
occasionally and the majority find it to be at least ‘somewhat useful’.  
 
Recommendation 


• Continue offering the Insider as an electronic publication.  
• Continue to utilize email and other electronic communication avenues to communicate with trade 


allies. 
 
Website 
The majority of trade allies (84%) respondents visit Energy Trust’s website at least once a month with 
program forms and program incentives the two most frequented web pages. The majority felt that the 
newly redesigned website was as good (22%), if not better (52%), to navigate than the old site.  However 
the site could probably still be improved as the majority still does not believe that the site is very easy to 
navigate. Only a quarter of the respondents felt that a blog would be useful. 
  
Recommendation 


• In further efforts to upgrade the website a priority should be given to the forms and program 
incentives pages.  


 
 







 
Energy Efficiency Program Satisfaction 
Overall satisfaction levels of respondents reported by trade allies are higher on most counts. With solar 
trade allies year to year comparisons are hard to make due to the small number of respondents in 2009.   
 
Percent energy efficiency trade allies expressing ‘Satisfied’ or ‘Very satisfied’ responses for: 
         2010 2009 


• Overall        73% 67% 
• Incentive payment processing time    59% 57% 
• Turnaround time for paperwork     61% 61% 
• Interactions with staff      77% 69% 
• Response times to requests for information   73% 66% 
• Response times to requests for help on forms   73% 65% 
• Quality of responses to your requests    74% - 
• Knowledge of ETO programs and procedures.   80% - 
• Firms responding      217 86 


 
Percent solar trade allies expressing ‘Satisfied’ or ‘Very satisfied’ responses for: 
         2010 2009   


• Knowledge of Energy Trust programs and procedures  84% - 
• Incentive payment processing time    53% 72% 
• Turnaround time for incentive app./approval of paperwork 55%  72% 
• Interaction with Energy Trust program staff.   87% 75% 
• Response times to requests for information.   72% 51% 
• Response times to requests for assistance on forms  82% 66% 
• Quality of responses to your requests    86% - 
• Quality of Energy Trust inspections    66%  71% 
• Quality of your relationship with Energy Trust inspectors  75% 71% 
• Overall satisfaction with Energy Trust staff   79% 63% 
• Firms responding      38  8 


 
In the area of payment processing and program paperwork approval ratings remain relatively low 
especially in comparison with overall approval ratings.  Energy Trust is addressing these issues in 
multiple ways: 


• Energy Trust is looking at specific forms that are associated with longer processing times to 
determine how the paperwork can be simplified 


• Energy Trust is planning on developing metrics once the new ISP is implemented in 2011 to track 
processing times better  


• Some programs are considering piloting immediate payment processes in certain programs  
 
 
Residential and Commercial Product Findings 
In the residential market trade allies’ responses have indicated that some markets are changing. In the 
gas furnace market the majority of reported installations (90%) are condensing furnaces and over 80% of 
the total are >95% efficient furnaces. A similar trend in heat pumps was seen with the majority of heat 
pumps being installed were ≥9.0 HSPF (60%). With windows the market has also shifted with the majority 
of windows installed being U 0.30 or better. The reported availability of even more efficient windows has 
also increased. 
  
In the commercial market 32 lighting trade allies responded indicating that high performance T8’s T5s and 
CFLs made up the majority of their installations. However LED fixtures are becoming more prevalent (7%) 
in the market.  Improvements could be made in the area of controls as many systems appear not to be 
installed with controls. Almost half of the systems are reported to have some form of occupancy sensor 
and a smaller number (10%) have dimming controls. 








 


 


Final Report 


2010 Oregon Residential Awareness  
and Perceptions Study 


Funded By: 


 
 


Submitted To: 
Sarah Castor 


Philipp Degens, Ph.D. 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 


Prepared By:  


 


Jane S. Peters, Ph.D.  
Jun Suzuki, M.P.A. 


Mersiha Spahic 
Research Into Action, Inc. 


August 23, 2010 
  







 


2010 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS AND PERCEPTIONS STUDY 


ES  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 


This report provides the results of the 2010 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perception Study. 
This is the third consecutive year Research Into Action, Inc. and our subcontractor, Abt SRBI, 
Inc., have conducted an Oregon Residential Awareness and Perception Study for Energy Trust of 
Oregon (Energy Trust). The goal of this report is to provide findings and recommendations 
Energy Trust may use in its marketing and residential energy-saving programs.  
 
From May through July 2010, Abt SRBI, Inc. completed 956 interviews with Oregon households 
in Energy Trust’s service area – a change from previous years when residents were surveyed 
statewide. This year’s survey included purchased cell phone numbers to counteract a sampling 
challenge due to the increasing number of cell-phone-only households.  
 
The data suggest that almost half (48%) of the Oregon households within the Energy Trust 
service territory recognize the name of “Energy Trust.” This awareness has grown steadily since 
our first study in 2008; it is now 16% higher than just two years ago. We estimate the rate of 
participation in Energy Trust programs at 17%. This is a large increase since 2009, which we 
attribute partly to the improved measurement method. We continue to note significant 
discrepancies between the levels of urban and rural Oregonians' awareness of Energy Trust and 
participation in its programs.  
 
As in the past studies, we observe demographic and attitudinal differences between reported 
participants in Energy Trust programs and nonparticipants. Participants overwhelmingly were 
homeowners who lived in single-family homes that are older in age and larger in structure. 
Compared to nonparticipants, participants were more likely to heat their homes with natural gas, 
have a higher household income, and be more educated. They exhibited greater concern of 
human impact on the environment and stronger sense of responsibility to limit their energy use.  
 
We also studied specific home features and energy-using behaviors. The Oregon households we 
surveyed have an average of 2.2 television sets. Fifty-four percent of the surveyed households 
reported they had an air-conditioning system, of which 27% were room air-conditioners. We 
estimate a CFL penetration rate of 86%, which is virtually unchanged since 2009, but the number 
of CFLs installed has increased slightly. On average, about 56% of a respondent’s laundry loads 
were washed in cold water only, and only 15% of clothes were dried on a line or rack. The 
ENERGY STAR® label was recognized by 72% of the Oregon households surveyed (64% 
nationwide). 
 
We offer the following conclusions and recommendations: 


 Conclusion 1: The new sampling strategy largely remedied the sampling problem 
due to increasing cell-phone-only households. Demographic distributions of 







Page II EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  


 2010 OREGON RESIDENTIAL AWARENESS AND PERCEPTIONS STUDY  


completed samples were generally within reasonable ranges around the census even 
without post-weighting. The sampling strategy that combined landline RDD and a 
purchased list of random cell phone numbers, together with inclusion of key 
demographic quotas and post-weighting the results to reflect differential selection 
probabilities, resulted in a balanced sample overall.  


Recommendation: Continue to use this sampling and data collection method for large-
scale surveys for general households. The development of cell phone usage should be 
monitored, and sampling for future surveys needs to address the change accordingly.  


 Conclusion 2: Energy Trust’s marketing effort seems to be working well, since 
almost half of the households we contacted in the Energy Trust service area 
recognized the Energy Trust of Oregon name. Since 2009, the overall awareness 
level has increased by 7%. Although we observed more notable increases particularly in 
rural areas, the urban-rural gap in Energy Trust awareness still is prominent. Moreover, 
many of those aware still lack substantive knowledge of Energy Trust programs. 


 Conclusion 3: Overall, reported participation in Energy Trust programs is about 
17%. As we found in our analysis of general awareness of Energy Trust, urban 
households continue to participate in Energy Trust programs more frequently than do 
households in rural Oregon. The improved questionnaire seems to more accurately 
measure the self-reported participation rate.  


Recommendation: Self-reported participation should be compared with actual 
participation to confirm the validity of the new method to measure self-reported 
participation. While we believe that the new measurement better captures the participation 
rate, it is essential to assure the validity of the approach. 







 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: October 5, 2010 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Sarah Castor, Evaluation Project Manager 
Subject: Staff Response to the 2010 Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study 


 
The 2010 Oregon Residential Awareness and Perceptions Study is our third 
annual awareness survey. The goals of the study, as in previous years, were: 1) 
to gather information about the level of awareness Oregonians have of Energy 
Trust; 2) to test the effectiveness of marketing strategies and as an indicator of 
where investment is needed; 3) to compare awareness and participation with 
similar figures from last year’s study and 4) to better understand behaviors and 
perceptions surrounding the topics of energy and climate change.  
 
Unlike previous years’ surveys, this year only residential customers of utilities 
served by Energy Trust were contacted rather than residents statewide to 
exclude households that were not eligible for our services. The sample also 
included more customers of Cascade Natural Gas, since this relatively small 
customer group was poorly represented in previous years. 
 
Awareness among customers of our funding utilities increased again, to 48% in 
2010. We were also pleased to see that better crafted questions on participation 
reflected more accurate rates of self-reported participation – on average 17% 
territory-wide. Our own analysis of program participation relative to residential 
utility accounts indicates actual participation upwards of 20%. 
 
The effort we have put into the last year’s outreach activities, marketing and 
earned media in outlying areas is paying off, with significant increases in 
awareness and participation in Southern and Eastern Oregon. In addition, a third 
of those aware of Energy Trust learned about us through mass media channels, 
a significant increase from past years.  
 
As with last year, we are glad to see that the vast majority of our participants 
were satisfied with their experience and that many plan to participate in our 
residential programs again (as do many nonparticipants). We are also heartened 
to see that CFLs continue to hold their ground in Oregon household lighting 
despite a national decrease in shipments and sales due to the economic 
recession.  
 
 


Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


Telephone: 1.866.368.7878 
Facsimile: 503.546.6862 
energytrust.org 







 
We plan to continue the survey on an annual basis, to track awareness and 
participation, as well as provide an opportunity to explore different energy use 
behaviors and test new marketing messages. 












 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting October 13, 2010 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Jeff Bissonette, Fair and Clean Energy 
Coalition 
Paul Case, ORA 
Bruce Dobbs, NW Natural 
Andria Jacob, City of Portland 
Don Jones, Pacific Power 
Holly Meyer, NW Natural 
Kip Pheil, Oregon Department of Energy 
Lauren Shapton, Portland General 
Electric 
Moshrek Sobhy, Oregon Public Utility 
Council 
Steve Weiss, NWEC 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Tom Beverly 
Doug Boleyn 
Kacia Brockman 
Pete Catching 
Amber Cole 
Kim Crossman 
Diane Ferington 
Sue Fletcher 
Fred Gordon 
Hannah Hacker 
Margie Harris 
Susan Jamison 
Marshall Johnson 
Jed Jorgenson 
Betsy Kauffman 


Oliver Kesting 
Steve Lacey 
David McClelland 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Spencer Moersfelder 
Elaine Prause 
John Reynolds 
Thad Roth 
Jan Schaeffer 
John Volkman 
Peter West 
 
Others attending: 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
David Barnes, NW Natural 
Barbara Crinise, NW Natural 
Phil Damiano, PECI 
Kevin Duell, Nexant 
Bill Edmonds, NW Natural 
Theresa Gibney Corvallis Sustainability 
Coalition 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power 
Charlie Grist, NW Power Planning 
Council 
John Karasaki, PGE 
Paul Olson, Gale Contractor Services 
Lee Rahr, City of Portland 
Allie Robbins, PECI 
Allison Specter, Cascade Natural Gas 
Sandra Walden, OSEIA 
Marilyn Williamson, NW Natural 
 


1. Solar water heating presentation by NW Natural to CAC and RAC members 


Kacia Brockman did introductions and explained that solar water heating is considered an energy-
efficiency measure for Energy Trust purposes. SB 1149 defines solar electric projects as electrical 
producers and solar water heating as energy efficiency. 
 
The Oregon Department of Energy treats both technologies equivalently in their rules. We measure 
solar water heating based on cost effectiveness rules, but it barely passes the guidelines. As a 
result, we haven’t been driving the market very hard. 
 
This year, we expect over 1,000 solar electric installations, but far fewer for solar water heating. 
The market for solar water heating has been flat, and maybe even declining. NW Natural staff has 
proposed some new ways to approach this in their presentation. 
 


1 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


Bill Edmonds, Barbara Crinise and David Barnes presented NW Natural’s proposed solar water 
heating pilot, and are discussing a new tariff with the Oregon Public Utility Commission, which also 
has been discussed with the Energy Trust board. NW Natural proposes to offer leased systems to 
customers at fixed monthly rates, reaching as much as 3,000 customers over the next three years. 
See presentation slides. 
 
Additional notes from presentation: 
Customers are extremely interested in this pilot, and some even called NW Natural and asked to 
reopen the test of interest survey after it was closed. About 50 percent may be interested in 
installing solar water heating through an offering like this. 
 
NW Natural is testing a number of water heater technologies — integrated tanks, dual tanks and 
on-demand water heaters. 
 
The plan is to target customers who can use the tangible benefits. This will be a service to heat 
water. The benefits are better if you’re a larger household. It’s a tariff service and NW Natural will 
own the systems. 
 
One of the OPUC requests was to evaluate the pilot after two years, and NW Natural will budget 
accordingly. 
 
Moshrak Soby: The OPUC requested an evaluation, informally? 
A: Nothing has been officially proposed, but yes they requested it at the staff review level. 
 
Q: So with the same usage, the customer will get solar heated water, but how much more will they 
pay? 
A: There are two parts to the answer: one, a little more than what? You get a new water heater, 
and we’re comparing things energy to energy, which is not apples to apples. Two, what is the 
installation cost? Based on those costs, you’ll be paying, on average, about $20 more per month. 
For electric water heaters there could be more savings from solar. 
 
Q: Will it be an on-demand water heater? 
A: Not necessarily, we’re testing a few things – dual tanks, on-demand, and integrated. We’re 
trying to look at the right balance between cost and efficiency to meet the most customer needs. 
 
Q: What percentage of your gas supply customers use electric water heating? 
A: Slightly less than 50 percent. We don’t build load behind the meter, so switching isn’t a driver for 
this pilot. 
 
Q: Is there any thought beyond Energy Trust incentives, specifically about the Residential Energy 
Tax Credit or the Business Energy Tax Credit? How do they figure into the plans? 
A: The Residential Energy Tax Credit and the Business Energy Tax Credit sands are shifting under 
our feet. It will probably go to market as a Residential Energy Tax Credit, or at least at that level, 
even if it’s really a Business Energy Tax Credit. 
 
Sandra Walden: In selecting Imagine Energy for the delivery contractor, which was a good choice, 
there are other installers approved by SHUCO. Were they given consideration for the future? 
A: For simplicity’s sake, we’re going with a single supplier in the beginning. But, as good as 
Imagine Energy is, they won’t be able to do 3,000 systems. We’ll work with OSEIA to get other 
SHUCO installers. The idea is to build the infrastructure. 
 


2 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


Q: You’re asking for an increased tariff for this. Will the funds be available for both this pilot and the 
regular incentives? 
A: Yes, it will lead to a better incentive for customer-owned systems, too. 
 
Q: Will that cause a problem for Energy Trust’s energy efficiency budget? 
Kacia: No, we’re looking at this as part of the renewable budget. It won’t cause competition with 
energy efficiency resources. 
 
Q: How are you dealing with the differences between gas and electric incentives and costs? 
A: We’re looking at how to deal with discrepancies between gas and electric incentives for solar 
water heating. Without changing statute, we can’t do much to change how we deal with the two. 
 
Moshrek Sobhy: For the OPUC, how will this interact with the cost effectiveness test? 
A: It will remove the cost effectiveness test and look at the above market costs as with other 
renewable energy technologies. 
 
Q: Is there a parallel program with Cascade Natural Gas? 
A: There is no other program like it that we know of. 
 
Q: Will it fit well with Energy Trust if there is a parallel program? 
A: We welcome it, but that’s up to the utilities. 
 
Q: When will it launch? 
A: We would love to do it by next Earth Day, but it won’t go to market until all the technology 
evaluations are done. 
Bill Edmonds: The OPUC also controls that schedule, as they will have to approve it. 
 
Q: On the mechanics side, the funding goes to Energy Trust, so will you write NW Natural a check 
every time there’s an installation? 
Kacia: Something like that. NW Natural is still looking at it, and trying to levelize it out over time to 
make sense. The tax credits would belong to NW Natural, but they’ll be passed through. 
 
Q: Does all the funding go to Energy Trust? 
A: Platform costs go to NW Natural, incentive funding goes to Energy Trust. 
 
Q: Would it be incentives for all 3,000 systems to Energy Trust out of the gate? 
A: As customers come in on the service/pilot side, funds will come back to NW Natural. On the 
owner side, it would go back to the customer. It also depends on the tariff side when the money is 
collected and the flow of funds. 
 
Q: On the ownership model, I could install something besides SHUCO? 
A: It depends on Energy Trust’s requirements. It’s supposed to be for all NW Natural customers. If 
they are a gas customer, they will be eligible, even if they aren’t a gas water heating customer. 
 
Q: Will other people be able to use the utility mailers to advertise? 
A: No. 
 
Q: What happens to all of this at the time of sale of a home? 
A: It’s a contract for 10 years, so if you’re a homeowner, you can transfer the service. NW Natural 
will take a fixture lean, and the homeowner will have to transfer equipment. The new owner will be 
notified, and with their approval, they can transfer it. 
 


3 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


Q: After 10 years, who owns the equipment? 
A: NW Natural. Even though the equipment is depreciated, there is a requirement to replace things 
after 10 years, so it still won’t revert to the homeowner. This is a pilot, so we’ll look at whether or 
not it makes sense to sell the equipment to them. 
 
Q: Will there be an option for the homeowner to buy it after 10 years? It may be an interesting 
option. 
A: We’ll look at it, but we’re not thinking that way right now. Tax laws may cause problems. 
Ownership issues will be addressed through the two models. You need to own these systems to 
have the credit available. A buyout looks like a leveraged lease and could be a tax problem. 
 
Q: You would have the opportunity at 10 years to decide what to do with it? Renewal, removal, 
etc? 
A: Yes, there will be options. If we go beyond pilot phase, it may turn into a perpetual service 
instead of having just a 10-year life. 
Sandra: This encourages more quick movement. We learned from the feed-in tariff that people 
want renewable energy now, so it makes sense to move quickly. Thank you for leading on this. 
 
Peter: What about fuel switching? How often do you expect people to switch? 
A: We surveyed customers, and we don’t have data to support anything. It would be dishonest to 
say they won’t switch, but there’s not enough information to quantify it. We expect it to be remedied 
by the electric utilities if they are interested. The electrics will have some installation cost 
advantages depending on the layout of the house and system. Venting gas water heaters is an 
example, where electric ones don’t have to be vented. 
 
Q: The tariff applies to which customer classes? 
A: It’s intended as a residential pilot, and we’ll follow with a commercial pilot. It will be residential 
initially. 
 
Q: You can do this through tariff vs. reopening SB 1149? 
A: SB 1149 is an electric utility bill, so NW Natural can look at through the regular tariff process. 
 
Kari Greer: Where will you do the pilot? 
A: The focus is on the Portland metro area because of availability of contractors. Eventually it will 
be first come first served. We want to create a waiting list and get people signed up in advance. 
We’ll schedule people and let them know when they’re scheduled. Of course, this plan is subject to 
change. 


2. Program updates 


Peter West covered the dashboard presentation, showing where we are to date. See presentation 
slides. 
 
Additional presentation notes: 
We are ahead of pace in NW Natural and PGE territory, and slightly behind historic numbers in 
Cascade Natural Gas and Pacific Power territory. We are at 50 percent of where we expect to be in 
PGE territory, 45 percent in Pacific Power, 53 percent in NW Natural and 48 percent in Cascade 
Natural Gas. All numbers are booked savings. 
 
We usually get one-half or more of our savings in the last quarter. One of our themes was to lower 
this hockey stick, but we haven’t been able to do it. Short of putting a lot of money on the table 


4 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


earlier in the year, we found no way to improve that trend. We tried different marketing, outreach 
and utility collaboration. You won’t see this as a theme for 2011. 
 
Cascade Natural Gas 


Cascade Natural Gas is projected at 84 percent of stretch by year-end. The problem is that 
Cascade Natural Gas territory is the hardest hit by the economic downturn. It’s difficult on 
the industrial side, particularly with our information sharing agreement. We don’t hear until 
late in the game if we can work with industrial projects, and we run down many dry holes. 
Further, market transformation savings are down. We have been able to make things up in 
other areas. We are slightly down in the Existing Homes program. 
 
In the handout packet, there is a new page on market transformation to review. 
 
Allison Specter: What data don’t you have at this point that’s interfering with reaching 
customers? 
Kim Crossman: Not knowing who is on transport and who isn’t. We can’t serve those on 
transport. 
 
Allison: The data report lists rate schedules, so as long as you know which ones are which, 
you can sort through them. We can give you a key of rate schedules. 
Kim:  We can look at that. I will check in with our Planning department, and we’ll talk to 
them and get back to you. 
Allison: We can confirm whether or not a customer is on transport. I’ll send you contact info 
for Monica Foster, monica.foster@cng.com. She should be able to help you. 
 
Peter: Overall, Industrial and Existing Homes are reducing Cascade Natural Gas numbers. 
New Buildings and Products are way up. Market transformation savings forecasts are 
coming in at about one-half of what was expected. Also, there are problems due to a very 
slow housing market. 
 
Jim: Is that lower number because of what was predicted in the housing market? 
Fred: That’s it. 
 
Jim: Does the savings total include market transformation savings? The estimate includes 
transformation? 
Peter: For the IRP we can count the market transformation savings. 
 
Allison: What are you counting? 
Peter: About 60,000 therms are associated with market transformation; about 20 percent. 
 
Jim: Let’s go on, but I want to revisit how much is included for market transformation, and 
we can talk later with Matt. 


 
NW Natural 


For NW Natural, we’ll just meet our stretch goal for the year. See graph. We are 
successfully making up for the shift of OPOWER to 2011 from 2010. We haven’t made up 
for all of it. Like cereal, the contents will settle, so don’t completely bank on these numbers, 
yet. 
 
Market transformation for NW Natural is down, also, as shown on the back page. New 
Homes is the same as for Cascade Natural Gas, but furnaces are not. Rather than 50 
percent reduction, like Cascade Natural Gas, it’s 25 percent for NW Natural. 


5 
 



mailto:monica.foster@cng.com





CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


 
Holly: Did the furnace piece do what you expected? Or was it New Homes? 
Peter: Furnaces did what we expected. New Homes did not. Matt has the exact numbers. 


 
PGE 


PGE will be at 95 percent of stretch, and we’ve been mostly successful in making up for the 
shift of OPOWER; we are well past conservative goals. With PGE, we’re strong in all 
sectors; much higher than expected in New Buildings and slightly lower in Existing 
Buildings. There could be more shifting of this. It could go up or down. 


 
Pacific Power 


For Pacific Power, we’re at 104 percent of stretch, or 18.5 net average megawatts. There is 
a large pipeline of estimated projects. We have been here before with that amount of 
uncertain projects. It’s the third year in a row. Many are on the cusp, and can shift to next 
year. 
 
Barring problems we can still be within 90 percent of stretch. Increased light bulb sales, 
fridge recycling and energy saver kits have caused a big uptick. 


 
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 


For market transformation in 2010 from NEEA, as far as we know at this moment we are on 
track to get what we forecasted. It’s not the same story as with the gas companies. 


 
Charlie Grist: I was going to suggest, again, that with new residential, you are reporting against 
targets you might not be able to control. You may want to report it in terms of market share; add 
something that expresses penetration rate. 
Diane: Maybe report on permits pulled? We can get that information. 
Peter: We’re getting nearly 70 percent per square foot of new commercial buildings, The back 
page of the program-specific dashboards provides such detail by program. We can make sure we 
put that information there. We capture 16 percent on the New Homes side. Sixteen percent on 
New Homes is less than what we shot for, at 20 percent, but right now we’re getting a larger share 
of single-built, custom homes, instead of the larger developments. It’s 16 percent with this fractured 
market, which is a good achievement. 
 
Holly: This may be out of order, but on New Homes, it shows that Pacific Power and PGE are both 
exceeding stretch and NW Natural is not reaching ours. What is the high level reason for that?  
Diane: That’s New Homes and Products together. Refrigerators and lighting are driving it up for the 
electrics, but not for gas companies. 
 
3. Budget 
 
Overall 
Peter presented. This is a lot like last year’s presentation, since people thought that worked. This is 
the first shot, so everybody gets a chance to comment on it. There is a series of write ups on the 
website to provide more specific detail by program, and we also made copies here. 
 
This is part of the five-year strategic plan for Energy Trust. We’re at year two. See presentation 
slides. 
 
The budget includes more money for training and rating our trade allies. There is money for better 
web access, reaching people through social media, instant incentives, simpler forms and 
integrating delivery across programs. Our SB 838 partnerships have worked well, and our 


6 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


partnerships with gas companies, also. Doing dual outreach plans seems to have worked. A lot of 
it has to do with existing utility relationships. 
 
We will support efforts related to code changes for New Homes and New Buildings. 
 
You’ll see that our levelized costs are up. There are multiple reasons for this. Part of it is because 
there is a large NEEA change. Savings realization factors also lowered what we can count by 14-
15 percent. Further, in 2011, there is no comparable Oregon State University mega-project. It was 
very cheap, and we don’t have that this year to lower overall, net costs. There are larger Pacific 
Power projects, but not to that scale. 
 
Residential Sector 
Diane (see presentation slides): There is also the program plan available and it is more detailed. 
We attempt to triage the customer and get them to the right best “next step” based on where they 
are and what their goals are. Other technologies are coming into the programs, like more efficient 
windows, water heaters and extensive energy saver kit distribution. Shorter lived measures are in 
the kits, and we’ll maximize CFLs while they’re an option. Next year we’ll have results from 
OPOWER. Additionally, Clean Energy Works expansion will occur next year. We also intend to 
work with any community on their efforts. The Klamath Falls wood stove replacement is an 
example.  
 
New construction is focusing on distributors, insurance companies, mortgage brokers, better 
products and homes that are designed better. We’ll also work to promote consumer demand for 
EPS homes. We’ll have to prove these efficient homes work to get the codes improved even 
further the next time around. It’s fairly expensive to do. Appliances will include higher tiers, and 
we’ll expand fridge recycling. We’re over 25,000 fridges recycled thus far, and still expanding. 
 
Our realtor network is over 400 strong, and provides a great resource to promoting program 
solutions and will be valuable in disseminating EPS awareness and understanding among 
consumers. We are looking at EPS for Existing Homes by spring. As always, trade ally support will 
figure prominently in our 2011 plans. We’ll continue to work with them innovatively, and teach BPI 
concepts and expand to installation specific trainings. 
 
Holly: You have over 400 realtors? What does that mean? 
Diane: They have Earth Advantage® S.T.A.R. training, Energy Trust training, advertising support 
and our logo to use. They are technically a type of trade ally. The real estate network is helpful in 
sharing information with customers.  
 
Moshrek Soby: With regards to mortgage and insurance, what is being done? 
Phil Damiano: We have a dedicated resource looking for more green mortgage products. We are 
looking to buy down the rate for homes coming through the program and do credits at the time of 
closing. We’re working on the appraiser market to help them recognize the value of efficient 
homes, too. 
 
Business Sector 
Oliver Kesting (see presentation slides): Overall, the Business Sector is looking to streamline the 
application process, better incorporate solar offerings, and support market transformation savings 
through new codes and standards. 
 
The new 2010 Oregon Energy Code is on the books right now and new federal lighting standards 
will go into effect in mid 2012. The Business Sector needs to make some program changes in 2010 
and 2011 to be ready for the new baselines. 


7 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


 
For Existing Buildings, we’re looking towards expanding O&M and developing Strategic Planning 
pilots. We’re also working with NEEA to ensure development of templates, lighting design tools 
and certification plans for lighting professionals to enable advanced design that exceeds the new 
baselines. 
 
We also are looking at seasonal incentives and specific technologies like the T12 to T8 conversion 
pilot. 
 
New Buildings is coordinating with NEEA on training and helping customers understand how to 
meet and exceed new buildings codes. 
 
With Multifamily, we just finished the RFP process for services and are moving into negotiations on 
a new contract. We expect to expand the portfolio management approach, launch a new custom 
approach, expand partnerships and leverage existing funds.   
 
Q: I noticed with new codes and standards, many things are changing. National energy codes, 
hydronic economizers, things we have incentivized in the past. Are we going to incentivize the 
incremental cost, the full cost or what? 
Oliver: If it’s required by code we wouldn’t give an incentive. In Existing Buildings, if a retrofit 
triggers code, use the incremental savings from the code to calculate incentives. 
 
Q: You mentioned R5 windows, are you going with that? 
Oliver: We’re working on that in negotiations for the contract. 
 
Industry and Agriculture Sector 
Kim Crossman (see presentation slides): We’ll follow the fie-year plan presented at the last CAC 
meeting (as shown on the slide). Basically, we have a custom track, prescriptive and calculated. 
We use technical services and studies, then incentives to drive implementation. Those two lumps 
are where most of our money goes.  
 
We have four program delivery contractors, who reach out regionally and to assigned industries. 
We also have two other PDCs, one dedicated to the small industrial initiative with a trade ally 
delivery model and one working with trade allies on industrial lighting. As we move out of the pilot, 
they show up in overall estimates for next year. We’ll continue with the Industrial Energy 
Improvement and Kaizen Blitz, but these are out of pilot stage and now being delivered through the 
normal program.  
 
Average measure life drops really show in the industrial program; about 9.4 years in 2010 budget, 
down to 8.4 years in 2011 budget, on average, because O&M measures have a lifespan of about 
three years. We’re hitting high goals, but there’s an impact on levelized cost. We win out in the 
near term. 
 
Overall 
Peter: Here are the numbers (see presentation slides): The overall budget is $106.8 million, but 
probably will be lower when all is said and done. It’s $17 million above the 2010 budget, which is a 
19 percent increase. Savings are down. NEEA is a big part of the drop. Other reasons are that we 
have no big OSU project and a lower IRP with Pacific Power, overall. Levelized costs are higher, 
and are close to our limit with the OPUC, so we’ll have to discuss it with them. 
 
There is more emphasis on the Business Sector going forward, as they were underserved based 
on what they put into the mix before. 


8 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


 
With this budget, we meet the IRP goal for Pacific Power in 2011, making up for the loss from 
NEEA. There is significant growth in the residential sector. If you take out OSU and NEEA, the 
programs are growing by 15 percent. 
 
In PGE, there is strong growth across all sectors, but we end up below IRP by 2.7 average 
megawatts. NEEA is 2.3 of that. We did expect some change in the IRP for PGE, but it turns out 
that it’s not planned to be changed. We need to discuss it with PGE and the OPUC. 
 
On the gas side, there is still a relatively large chunk of low-cost savings out there. Savings and 
budget will be about the same as last year, only about $400,000 higher. This doesn’t include 
another $1 million that could go to a range of items currently being considered by NW Natural and 
Energy Trust. Between now and December, there will be more therms and funding on the NW 
Natural side. Overall, levelized cost is 13 percent higher. 
 
Moshrek: On the revenue by customer class, that’s from the OPUC? I think there may be more 
recent revenue breakdowns available; it may be on your report to the commission. 
Peter: 2007 was the last one we had. If you have 2008, I would love to see it. 
Sue Meyer Sample: Fred may have 2009, but it doesn’t break out commercial and industrial, they 
are lumped together. 
 
Overall for Cascade Natural Gas, it’s slightly lower than 2010 forecasts, but walking back to actual 
achievements this year, it shows growth. 2011 is what we think we can get. There is a reduction in 
Existing Buildings, but it’s up in New Buildings to offset it. New Homes and Products are up 
significantly. Market transformation is down. We’re $38,000 in the red, and that can be fixed. 
Levelized cost is within the benchmark, but more expensive to serve Cascade Natural Gas service 
territory, particularly on the homes and products side. 
 
Jim: I’m going back to the assumed budget from August that had 2011 goals. It showed overall 
savings at 515,000 therms. This is pretty substantial going into 2011, with a healthy increase in 
levelized cost. We’ll need to drill down into this and follow up with the math offline. It’s important 
given the timing of our regulatory work. 
Peter: I don’t recall the numbers you mentioned, but we do need to huddle and talk about it. 
Jim: In anticipation of our filings, we had some proposed budgets in terms of expenditures and 
savings, and I want to come back to those. 
Peter: Yes we’ll do that, and this is the point of doing this preliminary round of presentations. 
 
For NW Natural we are proposing growth in all sectors, except market transformation. 2010 
numbers aren’t there, and it carries forward. There is 28 percent growth for the base programs. 
Washington isn’t included in these numbers. There are more therms and more costs to come. 
 
Kim Crossman: Industrial firm and interruptible budget is a work in progress. We are assuming at 
this time that serving firm customers continues in 2011, and there isn’t much resource potential at 
firm sites served by the Existing Buildings program, it’s primarily industrial. Numbers are for firm 
only, and we’re on hold about whether serving interruptible customers will continue. We’ll hope to 
have word soon. The 2011 budget and goal for NW Natural Industrial DSM is related to firm 
customers unless that happens. 
 
Peter: The program plans — words behind these numbers — are on the web for review. 
 
See next steps slide for dates and review levels. The timing is very close to last year – just add 
two days to each step. 


9 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


 
Charlie: If you look historically at NEEA market transformation savings, it’s dominated by big 
projects that taper off. Keep in mind that they may have future lumps in their savings; if their TV 
work starts to produce, for example. There is a lumpiness to all of these, including what NEEA 
does. Look over a long timeframe to get a good sense. 
 
Peter: If you look at anything like NEEA, it’s the end of some things and beginning of new projects, 
and we’re in a trough right now. That makes things tough to forecast. CFLs taking off were a good 
example. No one could have forecasted them taking off the way they did. 
 
Charlie: The trend line is a good thing, but maybe it should be tracked separately. 
 
Fred: NEEA has over-delivered for many years, and they can’t always do it, so we have to hedge 
our predictions for IRP purposes. If you don’t know when they’ll hit the jackpot, and you are 
accountable for year by year delivery, you have to be careful. 
 
Moshrek: Are you expecting the additional gas savings yet to be identified to come from all the 
sectors? The budget will be higher, but are you expecting a particular source? 
 
Holly: We have some options, and we’ve been in communication about it. We may want to talk 
about it offline. Some projects like low income in Eugene and a possible EAAST pilot. The savings 
will map pretty easily to the existing lines. 


4. New Buildings program enhancements 


Jessica Rose presented. This is a recap of the New Buildings enhancements. We gave a broad 
overview last time we met, and looked at ways to support the market and address the needs. The 
council wanted more of a comparison between 2007 code (now) and 2010 code projects. See 
presentation slides. 
 
The overall theme is to simplify processes, be flexible, scale the support to the project and reward 
projects that push beyond code. We want to help the customers depending on what they need to 
achieve aggressive savings by supporting complex projects and by providing simple off-the-shelf 
approaches. Today we’re zeroing in on the key elements of the change by providing you with a 
side-by-side comparison of the program under the 2007 code and the 2010 code. 
 
For the remaining set of slides I’ll first address our standard incentives that we have prescriptive 
incentives for — there isn’t much change here, some transition to a calculated savings approach 
for a couple of measures. 
 
I’ll first address our standard incentives that we have prescriptive incentives for. Right now we pay 
per unit and will continue to pay per unit with the exception of HVAC and lighting where we are 
transitioning to a calculated approach. For these we have developed calculators to help customers 
get there.  
 
Now, on to modeled savings for projects undergoing building modeling. Our goal is to get in early 
in the design process where the costs of incorporating energy efficiency measures are at the 
lowest point and the opportunity for efficiency is greatest.  
 
For projects that are aggressive and complex, we allow some flexibility through early design 
assistance and energy modeling assistance. The cap remains the same at $25,000, but we’ll 


10 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


provide at least 50 percent of the costs of modeling, based on estimated savings ($0.075/kWh and 
$0.40/therm). We pay a floor of 50 percent, with a cap of $25,000. 
 
On to modeled incentives to support the early design and modeling. The goal with the new 
incentives is to provide incentives that motivate project owners to keep high-efficiency elements in 
the project because the reward for installing them is high. We’re going from $0.10/kWh and 
$0.80/therm to $0.15/kWh. Modeled incentives have an additional 1 cent per kWh savings that 
kicks-in once they are 15 percent above code. A building that is 16 percent beyond code would 
receive $0.16/kWh on up to an overall per project cap that we have always had in place of 
$500,000. 
 
Jim: Why doesn’t the therm rate go up between before and after cases? 
Jessica: We saw more of a need to increase it on the electric side, rather than the gas side. Code 
increase was a 15 percent whole building, 11 percent of that is electric baseline shift and the other 
four percent is gas. 
 
Jim: If you’re not increasing it on the gas side, does that mean you’re not seeing any incremental 
gas savings? If you had $0.80 per therm before, and you went to $1 per therm after, are you 
saying you’re not seeing any incremental savings? 
Charlie: If your theory is that you want people to go deeper using synergies between fuels, and the 
bar has been raised, why don’t you put more money in for both? 
Several: The bar was raised more on the electric side and not so much on the gas side. 
 
Fred: This is a hardware incentive after you model. Is the hardware going to cost more? People are 
saying that they would still do a lot of the measures they would have done last year. 
Don Jones: I would suggest you raise the incentives for both fuels to get people to go deeper on 
both sides. 
 
Peter: If you are still going to put in the same things, raising your incentive isn’t raising the value 
proposition for that measure. However, we could go back to make sure this is not the case and will 
consider how to incent innovation on the gas side. 
Don: It would send the signal to the design team to get more savings, especially for shell 
measures. 
 
Charlie: If you could take us through windows, there are many gradations of savings. 
 
Don: The design teams are peripheral to the project and they can get disconnected and ticked off 
at us as we adjust numbers. 
 
Jessica: The question that I am hearing is you would like us to review and provide an explanation 
on is: Will more incentives for gas get us more savings? 
Steve Weiss: With an extra penny per therm, you may be able to get people to go deeper. 
 
Jim: If you are getting in early on in the design phase, it’s important to show similarity between the 
fuels. 
Jessica: We can look into it and look at in light of code and changes that are happening. We can 
look at the models. 
 
Jim: When you’re looking at making substantial changes, are you looking at the fuel sources in 
isolation, or are you looking at the best ways to meet the overall energy needs of the building? 


11 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


Allie: When we’re looking at the design phase, we are looking at the whole building, but savings 
are dictated by what is chosen, and avoiding fuel switching. We try to help them choose the best 
systems and reduce the overall usage for the building. 
 
Jim: It is important to show some escalation in gas incentives if we increase electric. 
Jessica: We’ll look into it and get back to you. Let’s move to the last significant piece and look at 
ENERGY STAR® next. 
 
Right now we offer up to $30,000 in incentives for the ENERGY STAR track. We dropped to a 
$3,000 cap, which is very significant. The way it works is ENERGY STAR is a rating based on a 
nationwide data set of existing buildings, not new buildings, and it is therefore difficult to define 
where the Oregon code baseline would fall across all building types. We think it is valuable – 
especially as a post-occupancy tool.  
 
As buildings are constructed and occupied it becomes really important from a savings standpoint 
that they operate as designed — even when loaded up with people and equipment. We use the 
Portfolio Manager in the Existing Buildings program as a tool without an incentive or savings 
attached and it is very popular for managing energy. We are working out ways to use ENERGY 
STAR across the commercial sector and don’t want to claim savings through the New Buildings 
program but view it as an important step to continued energy management. Even at the new 
incentive levels, and we did research on the costs because the ENERGY STAR requires a 
professional engineer stamp, our incentive falls right in the range of costs that are typically 
between $3,500 and $8,000 so we’re offering to cover a portion with incentives at $1,000 to 
$3,000.  
 
Bruce Dobbs: We’re benchmarking against like-buildings when we use it. Is that what you’re saying 
with this system? 
Jessica: Right, but we’re not claiming savings, just encouraging energy management, because it’s 
a little tough to verify. 
 
Don: As you enter more buildings into the ENERGY STAR database, the data set changes? 
Allie: They update the data set about every two years, so it’s basically a static data set. 
 
Oliver: This is also a good entry to hand projects off to Existing Buildings, to ensure buildings 
continue performing as designed and to identify new retrofit opportunities.  
 
Bruce: We use it strictly as a benchmarking tool; we never claimed savings, but it allows people to 
compare against similar buildings and previous years. 
 
Jessica: Costs for the PE stamp are from $3,500 to $8,000, and that’s where we set the incentive. 
 
Allison: This is a $1,000 to $3,000 investment to try to get deeper into the facility and try to get 
more measures. But there is really no savings from the investment? 
Jessica: No additional savings because we can’t verify it at this point. 
 
Allison: You are seeing it as more of a marketing or outreach cost? 
Jessica: We are using it as a tool to get people in touch with how their building is performing and 
the fluctuations so they can manage it. 
 
Don: Is there are requirement to run it each year? 
Allie: They do have to run it one additional time, right now. If past history is correct, they often don’t 
perform as well as expected and go to the Existing Buildings program for more help. 


12 
 







CAC Notes                                                                                                             October 13, 2010                     


13 
 


 
Bruce: Anecdotally, everything can look great with the building, but if you don’t run the building 
right, it won’t save as much. This is a good tool to get people to pay attention to it. 
 
Allison: This is a physical tool they put into place? 
Jessica: This is an actual online tool that they use to load all their information and it benchmarks 
against similar buildings. If they achieve a 75 score, we have to verify it, they get a PE stamp and 
the ENERGY STAR label. Our incentive supports the cost of the engineer stamp. 
 
Holly: It’s not a cash incentive to the owner? 
Jessica: We can cut the check either way and either way it reduces the cost of the stamp. 
 
Bruce: Do you verify it with a copy of the invoice of the consulting engineer? 
Jessica: Yes, we look at those costs. We interviewed a lot of people to decide on the new incentive 
design, so it’s very well informed. 
 
Charlie: We didn’t talk much about major renovations. Are you doing modeling on them? Would 
they have to be on new code, and would the incentives be tiered? 
Jessica: If they want early design and modeling assistance, yes, they would have to model their 
new building. The incentives for major renovation would be tiered based on the percentage beyond 
code just like new construction. The base incentive is $0.25/kWh and for tiering to kick-in the major 
renovation would have to achieve 25 percent beyond code. 
 
Charlie: So there are paths for deeper renovations? 
Peter: If you don’t match the incentives for renovations, you don’t get the deeper renovations. 
 
Allison, Jim and Peter will get together for budget and revenue discussions. 


5. Public comment 


No public comments. 


6. Meeting adjournment 


Meeting adjourned at 3:50 p.m. with no further questions. The next meeting is November 17, 2010, 
which is also the last meeting of the year. 
 








 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting September 15, 2010 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Brent Barclay, BPA 
Paul Case, Oregon Remodelers 
Association 
Holly Meyer, NW Natural 
Kip Pheil, ODOE 
Stan Price, NEEC 
Lauren Shapton, Portland General 
Electric 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Pete Catching 
Kim Crossman  
Phil Degens 
Diane Ferington 
Sue Fletcher 
Lakin Garth  
Ashley Jackson 
Marshall Johnson 
Oliver Kesting 
Ted Light 
Spencer Moersfelder 


Nick O’Neil 
Jessica Rose 
Paul Sklar 
Eric Wilson 
 
Others attending: 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Phil Damiano, PECI 
Tim Davis, CSG 
Carollyn Farrar, NW Natural 
Doug Findlay, PGE 
Theresa Gibney, Corvallis Sustainability 
Coalition 
Matt Iacovone, CSG 
Emily Moore, PECI 
Dan Morehouse, EWEB 
Allie Robins, PECI 
Andrew Rogers, Rogers 
John Wallner, NEEA 
David Whitmore, Cascade Energy 
Engineering  
 


 
1. Welcome and introductions 
 
Diane Ferington asked for introductions from the group.  
 
2. Industrial Energy Improvement evaluation 
Phil Degens introduced the IEI pilot to the group. The pilot is a one year continuous 
improvement process. It involved monthly networking/training workshops and one-on-
one coaching between workshops. Energy savings were obtained through the pilot and 
these primarily operations and maintenance, low cost and no cost measures, received a 
$0.02 kilowatt hour Energy Trust cash incentive. 
 
Customers were motivated by energy cost reductions. Corporate sustainability and 
energy management encouraged them to participate. There was a high level of 
satisfaction with the pilot.  
 
Most savings came from low-cost and no-cost changes. The pilot achieved higher than 
expected savings. We were looking at overall savings at the meter level rather than 
savings analyzed by measure. The savings were normalized for facility production and 
output.  
 
Participants valued the energy tracking and reporting capabilities (support by contractor 
SEG), employee engagement and learning how to identify energy-saving opportunities. 
Some firms felt that some of the training topics were redundant. 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


 
The main elements of IEI success were corporate support and leadership, corporate 
culture and availability of time and resources.  
 
Some of the activities participants engaged in included the development of energy 
teams, compressed air improvements, HVAC, lighting, energy audits and the installation 
of some gas measures.  
 
Part of the activity is the monitoring and tracking, M&T, of savings. Developing M&T 
processes was covered in later workshops and IEI training. In the second round of 
participants (the second cohort), M&T processes were developed in earlier workshops. 
Some of the savings came from behavioral changes (CA leak detection process 
implementation), others through management such as optimizing workflow. Results were 
not individually tracked as overall savings are seen at the meter level.   
 
Suggestions for seminar improvement included more in-person meetings rather than 
webinars. Overall, people became very engaged though workshops and site visits at 
other participant’s plants  
 
Study conclusions show that many participants thought IEI was valuable and most 
reached their savings goals. Participants thought that the IEI tools would leverage 
additional savings in the future and they had a high level of satisfaction with SEG 
support.  
 
The evaluation recommendation is that IEI should become a regular component of the 
Production Efficiency program. Recruiting is happening now for the third cohort of IEI, 
which will begin in October. Another recommendation is to review the content of the 
training to ensure it is not redundant, and establish a baseline and energy model for 
participants earlier in the process.  
 
Evaluation staff plan to follow up with cohort one after one year and do the same with 
cohort two. 
 
3. Kaizen Blitz pilot evaluation 
 
The study period for the Kaizen Blitz pilot was May 2008 – June 2010 and the evaluation 
contractor was Navigant Consulting. There were eight firms interviewed, three staff 
interviewed and a review of documents.  
 
The initial pilot was an onsite tune-up which identified low- or no-cost opportunities.  
Findings from the first site visit were captured in a final report, which documents the 
energy savings and action plan for the following year. The second cohort also received 
energy tracking software. Technical support was provided for a year to track and assist 
with action items and help develop a tracking system.  
 
The evaluation showed that low-cost and no-cost measures resulted in significant 
savings of five to eight percent per site.  
 
Two reports were reviewed by consultants and the findings included questions on 
defining the baseline, how to adjust for trends and improving clarity in describing action 
items and savings. A high level of expertise was conveyed to each participant without 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


bogging down projects and providing too many details. The level of detail provided in 
reports was adequate.  
 
Interview findings show that participants were motivated by energy savings, corporate 
sustainability, employee awareness of energy efficiency, success of project, respect for 
the technical service provider Cascade Energy Engineering and identifying opportunities 
for energy efficiency. Once they realized the savings, they were motivated to do more. 
Cascade Energy Engineering helped bring in customers. The evaluation showed that the 
incentive levels were adequate to motivate action. The energy tracking software was 
deemed to be of value. Participants would likely do more energy-efficiency 
improvements in the future. 
 
Participant concerns that might affect the success of the program included cost, staff 
buy-in and equipment failure due to aggressive energy-efficiency interventions.  
 
Savings persistence will be helped by updating procedures and set points, conducting a 
system audit to check set points, work orders for maintenance of equipment and placing 
locks on thermostats.  
 
Recommendations are to continue to offer Kaizen Blitz services as part of the Production 
Efficiency program, consider shortening the implementation time to six to nine months 
while considering seasonal operations and budgeting cycles, continue the 90 x 90 
incentive push while considering removing the cost sharing requirement and continue 
Cascade Energy Engineering’s role as the Kaizen Blitz service provider.  
 
All of the technical service costs are now covered by Energy Trust. Previously 50 
percent of the costs were covered, but it was found that was too great a barrier to 
participation. Cash incentives are still capped at 50 percent of implementation costs.  
 
This was a successful pilot that achieved savings and satisfied customers. The pilot is 
actively working on improving reports and documentation of baselines and adopting new 
components and will continue to widen the scope of future plants. The service offerings 
are well suited for inclusion in the regular Production Efficiency program.  
 
4. Industry and Agriculture Strategic Sector Plan 
 
Kim Crossman thanked the audience and contractors for coming. 
 
The Industry and Agriculture Sector has been in an innovation cycle for five years.  
 
In our current state, Energy Trust serves the industry on a site-by-site basis. Oregon is 
the third most industrial state in the nation and industry is huge although there is often 
not a high awareness. Agriculture is a much smaller portion, but Oregon is still the ninth 
most agricultural state as part of our economy.  
 
The budget for this sector in 2010 is $25 million and the stretch savings goal is  
11.9 aMW and 900,000 therms.  
 
The 2010 pipeline is looking strong and the current project pipeline shows us in excess 
of stretch goals by 10 percent. Projects start to push into next year starting in a month or 
two, but we hope to finish the year close to the stretch goal.  


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


 
The Industry and Agriculture Sector is run in-house and without a Program Management 
Contractor. Program Delivery Contractors, PDCs, are outward-facing teams and bring 
the programs to market, develop customer relationships and are the ones who have 
individual savings goals that role up to what we are trying to accomplish. Allied Technical 
Assistance Contractors, ATACs, are engineering consultants, and perform technical 
studies and savings verification.  Industrial Technical Service Providers, ITSPs, are 
consultants who provide Strategic Energy Management services or other similar direct 
technical services and we currently have an RFP out right now.  
 
Savings come from three basic sources. Custom track projects include major retrofits, 
unique process changes and O&M measures. They also included Strategic Energy 
Management such as IEI and Kaizen Blitz. Calculated savings measures include the 
Small Industrial initiative and the lighting Trade Ally Network. Prescriptive measures 
have a limited pool because of difficulties of a broad range of applications.  
 
A mega project is one that receives over $500,000 in incentives and therefore has  
different requirements, including needing to get incentives approved by the board.  
 
SEM is an umbrella term referring to a variety of management practices, including using 
data to tune operations and reduce energy intensity, continuous improvement 
approaches and tools for engaging employees. IEI is one of Energy Trust’s two-year-old 
SEM pilots.  
 
The 90 x 90 offer (which came before CAC for input) recently ended enrollment on 
August 31, 2010. It brought in 54 new projects, 80 percent of which were compressed air 
O&M measures. We believe that this offer is providing us with a short-term lever to 
achieve savings. This is something that we didn’t have prior. It is resulting in large 
average savings for a low cost per project.  
 
The measure life of O&M is three years. An additional benefit of O&M is that we could go 
back and follow up with these customers after three years and reengage them in the 
programs.  
 
Gas efficiency is new for the Industrial and Agriculture Sector and has been around for 
two years. The interesting thing about gas efficiency is some do not pay into the public 
purpose charge, like many large industrials. Nurseries typically do pay into the public 
purpose charge and we can now reach these customers and get gas savings. Two 
projects in Cascade Natural Gas territory brought in 50,000 therms of savings. NW 
Natural industrial DSM pilot for firm and interruptible customers began last year.  
 
There is a lot of efficiency to gain and to be found. Agriculture has a small resource 
potential but we think there are more savings to be had from that sector beyond what 
was modeled in the resource potential. The Planning team will be looking at new 
numbers over the next few years. Industrial lighting is not as big as commercial, but this 
is still a great area with lots of savings. There are also plenty of savings on the gas side. 
 
Our goal is to maintain strong relationships with participants and continue to gain 
success. Another basis of the sector is that we work in a custom way to produce savings 
within the sites. We want to develop additional cost-effective services to bring the benefit 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


of efficiency to small industrial and agricultural business. As we go after savings in large 
industrial sites, they are so cost effective, we can invest more in small industrial. 
 
The key activities for the industrial program include tuned custom track services and 
incentives to continue to provide PDCs with compelling offers, staying nimble and 
flexible, expanding O&M and strategic energy offerings, growing the number and types 
of measures available, and using a marketing approach rather than a sales approach to 
reach some customers. An internally managed program gives us the ability to quickly 
design and launch a new plan.  
 
We plan to grow the impacts in agriculture and small industrial by increasing the number 
and types of measures, engaging new trade allies and providing a new targeted market 
outreach.  
 
Other key organizations we are working with are NEEA, Oregon Department of Energy, 
Bonneville Power Administration, OMEP, HPEC, NW FPA, US EPA, US DA and US 
DOE. 
 
The benefits of this strategic direction are the low or no investment cost, and O&M 
offerings helped offset the issue of the economy. It is highly cost effective and drives 
additional capital projects by removing organizational barriers and encourages 
customers to re-invest.  
 
The risks include the volatility of industry, complexity of offerings and the effect of a 
highly customized approach on our internal management systems. We have quarterly 
meetings to discuss what we have learned. We address risks with custom projects by 
only taking a 10-year measure life while most projects are really a 20-year measure life. 
Another way to look is there is 50 percent cost share. No one will invest the money if 
they think things will change. Our Evaluations team will do a study on this so we can 
learn more.  
 
Capital projects will still be the bulk of the savings and we have great contractor 
expertise in that area. Most participants repeat with us.  
 
It is important to assess the willingness of industry to invest in capital projects. 
Customers will invest in projects that bring them direct benefits.  
 
The biggest challenges are policy barriers, which are outside, we cannot manage and 
we can only design around it. SB 838 created a spending limitation for sites greater than 
1 aMW. We may or may not be able to do mega projects in the future.  
 
The Business Energy Tax Credit sunset and uncertainty is a real impact for the sector. 
The Business Energy Tax Credit is part of the equation for a huge chunk of our savings 
— approximately 65 percent of the projects done in Production Efficiency also receive a 
Business Energy Tax Credit. In the near term, we are seeing affects from the uncertainty 
of the Business Energy Tax Credit sunset as participants are not sure they can get 
projects done in time. We are limited in answering questions on what we can do until we 
find out more.  
 
There is limited eligibility for gas incentives. We cannot serve those on transport, and we 
don’t have the visibility of who is in fact on transport as data is limited in this area; 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


targeting eligible customers is tough. Every site that can be served is available on the 
electric side. It appears that less than half are eligible for gas incentives.  
 
There will be transformations in the market by 2015. The attitude of industry toward 
energy has shifted and energy is beginning to be understood as a manageable cost. IEI 
recruiting was easy with 16 good candidates in the third cohort. Larger industry is ready 
but smaller industry may not be. We will also likely see an emergence of standards, 
supply chain and market pull for certification. As those standards are put in place, that 
will impact our programs.  
 
In the future there will be energy management standards in place and this new ISO 
standard will probably come out in the spring time. We have a good track record and 
verified savings using these approaches already. We may also see some shift in the 
manufacturing sector in Oregon and are specifically interested in seeing how the growth 
of clean technology industries in Oregon will affect other local manufacturers who may 
act as their local suppliers of materials.  
 
Current approaches to working with industry in custom and calculated tracks are 
effective. Recent years have been a period of innovation and we’ll continue to develop 
SEM and balance the complexity of a highly customized customer-centered program 
with transparency, simplicity and efficiency of program administration. 
 
Q. Stan Price: Is the impact attributed to uncertainties around the Business Energy Tax 
Credit anecdotal or do you have data that shows this?  
 
A. Kim Crossman: We have asked about the importance in our last few evaluations and 
have heard back clearly that both the Energy Trust incentive and the Business Energy 
Tax Credit are important for projects to move forward. We also get direct feedback about 
the Business Energy Tax Credit. We always helped customers prepare to apply for a 
Business Energy Tax Credit and we help with studies, we help fill out forms and they 
send them in. O&M projects are at less risk due because they are not eligible for a 
Business Energy Tax Credit.  
 
Q. Holly Meyer: Why haven’t we done SEM in the past?  
 
A. Kim Crossman: We didn’t know how to do this. NEEA piloted CEI for five years before 
we got started and the offerings they developed formed the basis of what we are doing 
in the IEI. Also, we are hungrier – as our goals continue to grow dramatically, we have to 
be more creative about sources of savings. Finally, this is a natural outgrowth of the 
program’s maturity. The PDCs are also now seen as a trusted advisor and have 
significant customer relationships. Most of the O&M work is addressing behavior change 
and it takes trusting someone to move forward with O&M changes. 
 
Brent Barclay mentioned this is great and not easy. Bonneville would like to keep 
channels open, and maybe align. Maybe Bonneville and Energy Trust can work jointly 
on initiatives.  
 
5. New Buildings redesign  
 
Jessica Rose stated that the program redesign was launched with two main objectives: 
address a market need and respond to a significant increase in Oregon Energy Code 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


requirements, and address customer feedback on the perceived complexity—we want to 
make it easy for customers applying for simple measures that are moving quickly and 
offer more support for more complex projects that can drive more savings. 
 
Redesign framework: Jessica displayed a chart to display the redesign framework 
comprehensively. We want the easy things to be really easy for customers to grab onto. 
This allows us to redirect our resources to support complex projects that can drive a 
significant portion of our savings pie. There are two paths: EZ and Comprehensive. EZ 
will be packaged for trade allies to support, with simple calculated approaches and 
process. Comprehensive will support modeled buildings, with early design assistance 
and technical assistance. What we expect: EZ is volume driven; Comprehensive is 
significant savings from aggressive projects. As the design team progresses into later 
stages of development, our opportunity ban narrows and we can see that consequently 
driving changes at a later stages drives up costs. We want to avoid that, as do 
customers. Early Design is our golden opportunity to influence the design and savings. 
 
Q. Council: Where are you right now in this framework or along that curve, shown on 
slide four of your presentation?  
 
A. Jessica: We are in the area of design development/major influence depending on the 
project, but we need to get in a little earlier. A big reason is the code change of a 15 
percent increase this year in overall efficiency. We will see a lot of customers struggling 
with this at first. We have to go beyond the code and we think our opportunities are 
greater early on before design development where we will explore the project and can 
talk about many options; building orientation, more complex modeling so we want to 
reach further beyond code.  
 
Q. Stan Price: How do you know if there is going to be a building project at that stage? If 
you are waiting for permitting process, then do you know? How do you figure out the 
existence of projects in the early stage? 
 
A. Allie Robbins: This is a challenge. We often do know about projects early. We receive 
leads from the architects we work closely with. People want something at the table, they 
want a specific something to offer that they can count on as they start the design.  
 
Q. Holly Meyer: What percent increase in efficiency levels were we looking at before the 
code change? 
 
A. Allie Robbins: It varied by project. From looking at a small sample, it looks like it was 
at 10-11 percent. 
 
Q. Holly Meyer: If Energy Trust was trying to get 10 percent savings, is there a better 
use of effort and money? Or are we obligated to have a New Buildings program? 
 
A. Jessica: Builders need to know how to work through the code and we still need to be 
supporting this change and to continue the push in the market. 
 
Diane Ferington mentioned we still need to be engaged in the market and help transform 
it.  
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


Oliver Kesting commented that there is a role for the New Buildings program to help 
customers understand the new code change.  
 
Five key changes in the program are to: 


1. Enhance early support (address opportunity costs for support in early stage) 
a. Early support in the program means offering early design assistance, 


project plan reviews, project scoping and engineering support. We do 
some in-depth engineering review now but we are looking to expand 
when appropriate; we look at how much savings opportunities there are, 
and then we can come in and provide engineering support.  


2. Improve technical assistance  
a. Our plans to improve technical assistance are limited to modeled projects. 


We currently have a cap but we don’t set a floor for what we would offer. 
By providing an incentive floor we reduce the risk to the owner because 
they will receive an agreed-upon amount for modeling. Right now, it all 
depends on savings, which can fluctuate, so people are not comfortable 
designing and modeling because they don’t always know what amount to 
count on. We will set a floor which they can count on and provide 50 
percent of the modeling cost. We are do quality control the process so we 
are modeling appropriately.  


3. Offer tiered incentives for “deeper savings” modeling projects 
a. We are increasing electric savings with the code increases. We will 


evaluate this and see how far customers are able to go beyond code. The 
incentives are $0.15 per kWh, and for modeled projects beating code by 
more than 15 percent, they increase by one cent/kWh for every percent 
beyond code. This keeps them moving up the ladder. 


4. Increase post-construction participation (as they construct, commission and 
occupy the building we want them to perform as designed)  


a. Post-construction incentives require acceptance testing for controls 
measures and modeled projects. All other projects may opt-out for a 
reduced incentive. In 2011, we plan to develop two tiers of Cx for 
comprehensive projects.  


b. Post-occupancy incentives include continuing with ENERGY STAR.  
i. The goal of offering ENERGY STAR incentive is to motivate 


project owners to manage their energy after construction.  
ii. It also provides a bridge to the Existing Buildings program and a 


means to refer projects to Existing Buildings if the building is not 
earning the ENERGY STAR. 


iii. ENERGY STAR is a rating system; if they achieve 75 points out of 
100 points, they get the ENERGY STAR incentive. The higher 
they rate, the greater the incentive. 


c. This is something to help customers meet code and help throughout the 
construction phase.  


d. There will be a reduced incentive of $1,000-$3,000.  


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


5. Simplify forms 


Q. Holly Meyer: What does 20,000 mean? 
 
A. Jessica: The $30,000 cap went down to $3,000. There is not a lot of uptake in 
ENERGY STAR so the impacts are not significant. What we are doing is reducing the 
cap to $3,000. It is support to keep participants working through the post-occupancy 
phase, operating at the designed load. We want to reduce the risk in capturing savings 
where the baseline used through the Portfolio Manager tool is not very accurate.  
 
Q. Brent Barclay: Do you ask customers to provide cost data over what the code 
investment would have been?  
 
A. Jessica: We do collect isolated cost data, building parameters and attributes.  
 
The program cap is $500,000 per project. 
 
Q. Jim Abrahamson: How will this impact Cascade Natural Gas territory?  
 
A. Jessica: There are quite a few opportunities on the gas side and many are straight 
forward and alive in the program; boilers and furnaces, for example, are still in the mix 
for 2011 and moving forward.  
 
Jim hopes this idea comes back to CAC, and the end of the year will be the decision-
making process.  
 
Holly is interested is having a refresher of the New Buildings program and Jessica will 
follow up with both Jim and Holly.  
 
Jessica mentioned the need for the redesign is due to a new need in the market, the 
beneficial and significant code change. It is going to be harder for customers to reach 
code and we want to work with customers more, have a seat at the table when they are 
developing plans and goals because this is where the greatest opportunity to impact 
savings potential occurs. We don’t just want to be the person at the end.  
 
Allie stated the redesign won’t feel entirely new at the end. The goal is to shift our effort 
upfront and make the program easier to understand.  
 
Jim mentioned the change is earlier in the planning process. You will need to bring plans 
or ideas early in the process. It seems like there will be a change in improving technical 
assistance and there are several moving parts.  
 
Jessica explained technical assistance is the foot in the door. If they can count on us to 
support 50 percent of the modeling cost, we will be able to work closely with them 
throughout the project lifecycle to maximize savings. This redesign enhances the 
technical assistance that was offered before and adjusts based on the code changes. 
The new 2010 code is here.  
 
We will plan additional time in the future to provide updates. 
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


6. Reportable savings 
 
Phil Degens explained where Energy Trust comes up with reportable savings. Typically 
we come up with working savings and then go out in evaluation for the realization rate to 
determine what are the actual savings of the installed equipment. We also adjust this 
with market effects, free rider rate, spillover rate (participant, non participant). We adjust 
for other externalities such as line losses.  
 
We come up with the evaluation factor, which is what we expect the programs to save in 
the next year. It was 82 percent and it is now 71 percent. The free rider rate reduced the 
number. For gas it is 70 percent. For the Industry and Agriculture Sector it is 75 percent. 
New Buildings is in a period of market transformation and more savings will be attributed 
to code.  
 
We are using a rolling average for our anticipated realization rate. There is often a year-
to-year variation. Through the free rider numbers we are trying to adjust the moving 
average. Often times we are only talking to 50 participants to get free rider numbers. We 
are trying to use a moving average.  
 
We have an overall market effects column that is used to adjust the realization factor, 
which leads to the evaluation factor and what the program should be saving in the 
following year.  
 
Q. Stan Price: What are the criteria around when a measure is taken as free ridership? 
 
A. Phil: We ask participants if they have a budget for the project. We ask what they 
would have done if the program would not have existed; would they keep the same 
equipment or would they not have gone forward with the project at all? From there they 
can decide which ones they answer. We ask them to rate it from 1-5 on a scale and ask 
if facilitation of the program had an effect. We ask if the study had an influence. We wait 
and then come up with the free rider. 
 
Q. Stan Price: Have you benchmarked this in other areas of the country? 
 
A. Phil: Some places are higher and some are lower. There is a large variance. 
Typically, 30 percent free ridership isn’t going to kill a program because there are lots of 
factors. We look at how it’s changing over time. Your program should be redesigned if 
the number is 80 percent.  
 
Q: Stan Price: Have you tracked the high and low cost areas? Is there any correlation in 
free ridership? 
 
A: Phil: We have not done that yet. We look at how they estimate free rider rates and 
each place uses different ways to calculate this. Ours versus California is slightly 
different so it’s best to look at how ours is changing from year to year. We look how we 
should redesign a program or see if program changes are needed. We ask what would 
you have done in this program? Are there policies that already mandate you to invest in 
these types of technologies? 
 
Q. Brent: Is there a time dimension on what the participant would have done? 
 


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


A. Phil: It is more than a year. We don’t count it as something they would have done. We 
don’t put any value on that. If they don’t know anything about any of them, we try to 
allow for people to be inconsistent. They would have cancelled the project or replaced 
certain equipment. We allow folks to answer as they will.  
 
We did billing analysis for residential measures. We haven’t received a big enough 
sample of electrically heated homes to include. We provided a list of changes to the 
deemed savings in the residential program. Duct sealing and gas water heater haven’t 
changed much. The old numbers are from the original 2003-2004 evaluation. We are 
using the 2006-2007 evaluation going forward until we come up with the new numbers. 
We roll the old numbers in and have a moving average.  
 
Q. Jim Abrahamson: With changes in therm savings, there is a reduction in 40 therms if 
you installed all measures, so we’re going into a world where incentives will go down. As 
Energy Trust is building budgets, you need to be doing more homes to meet your goals. 
How is this going to work in Cascade territory? Energy Trust is not covering the entire 
area. 
 
A: Phil Degens: This is a program question. Measures are moving forward and will be 
cost effective. We don’t anticipate incentive changes in 2011.  
 
Q: Jim Abrahamson: There may be no change in 2011 on incentives, but maybe on 
therm savings, we might have additional measures? 
  
A: Phil Degens: In electric we don’t have a large enough sample. Typically we have a 
large sample of people who installed three measures. Usually we are looking at a bundle 
of measures. 
 
Part of the change is how the estimates were done before. Also we are looking at actual 
numbers. We are coming up with program wide averages for customers who did one 
measure or the whole house. It is hard to come up with good numbers with small 
samples sizes. We are confident in these numbers because we are looking at thousands 
of homes. We also are developing greater confidence in these numbers as we compute 
them over time. 
 
Incentives are paid per square foot.  
 
7. New residential measures  
 
Water heaters 
One of three new measures coming out is EF 0.67 water heaters. This is a new product 
just coming out on the market and has improved insulation, electronic ignition and 
electronically controlled flue damper to reduce heat lost.  
 
The incentive is $100 for EF 0.67 gas storage water heaters. An additional $150 
incentive is available to water heater distributors until the end of 2010, and $100 in 2011.  
We’ve been working with manufacturers for years to get this available. This already 
happened at the beginning of this month. Our target market is contractors. Studies show 
that most replacement water heaters are replaced the month after the old one breaks.  
This water heater will use 29 fewer therms. The big difference in the cost between the 
two models on average will be $250.  


 







CAC Notes                                                                                                        September 15, 2010                     


 


 
Marshall Johnson mentions that we want to get this in our market because water heaters 
are replaced in emergency situations and customers take what is on the market. We are 
doing what we can to get these available. We’re paying based on stocking not on selling 
and the expectation is that this will sell. 
 
Windows 
High-performance windows are the next new measure. The U-factor measures the 
thermal conductance of the window. Energy Trust defines high-performance windows as 
a U-factor equal to or less than 0.22. High-performance windows are equivalent to US 
DOE R5 windows.  
 
The high-performance windows will be a replacement window for existing single-family 
and manufactured homes. New single-family homes will use the Energy Performance 
Score.  
 
The scope is to change the basis of the windows measure from a deemed savings 
amount to a savings amount dependent on the square footage of the glazing. Tier I, 
efficient windows, have a U-factor between 0.30 and 0.22. Tier II, high-performance 
windows, have a U-factor less than or equal to 0.22. 
 
The incentive for the U-factor less than or equal to 0.22 is $3.50 per square foot. This is 
intended to create a market for the high-performance windows. It compares to an 
incentive of $2.25 per sq ft for windows with a U-factor between 0.30 and 0.22. 
 
Intermittent ignition gas hearths 
Intermittent ignition gas hearths for new and existing homes is targeting homes using 
fireplaces for a primary heating source. We offered an incentive for fireplaces and we 
are continuing with the measure. Since then, information has become available to 
estimate savings of hearths using intermittent pilot lights over standing pilot lights. There 
is a 20-year measure life, the incremental cost is $120 and the Energy Trust incentive is 
$100.  
 
For questions, contact Paul Sklar.  
 
NW Natural proposal is to combine RAC and CAC next month.  
 
8. Meeting adjournment  
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:20 p.m. The next meeting is October 13, 2010. 








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/20/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2010
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 4,996,250  3,150,353  1,845,896Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 3,898,343  2,372,156  1,526,186Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  3,584,868  35,771,932 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2010  6,608,013  4,417,909  2,190,104 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 HES PMC  6,601,411  3,957,183  2,644,228 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2010  5,717,899  3,228,046  2,489,853 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2010 NBE PMC  4,629,693  2,892,710  1,736,983 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2010  1,410,204  1,006,562  403,642 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2010  1,126,716  708,158  418,558 1/1/10 12/31/10Medford


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010  1,099,298  592,093  507,205 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


OPOWE, Inc. OPOWER Agreement  977,000  405,000  572,000 3/2/10 9/2/11Arlington


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2009  965,970  941,663  24,307 1/1/09 12/31/11Medford


Conservation Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 MF PMC  937,849  356,337  581,512 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2009  883,586  861,879  21,707 1/1/09 12/31/11Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2009  665,508  647,008  18,500 1/1/09 12/31/11Walla Walla


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010 Small 


Industrial


 639,051  447,530  191,521 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2010  614,551  430,072  184,479 1/1/10 12/31/10San Francisco


NW Natural Industrial DSM Transfer 


Agrmt


 500,000  485,108  14,892 3/1/09 2/28/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc 2008 PE Evaluation  495,000  469,347  25,653 10/22/08 7/30/10Boulder


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2010  475,155  302,330  172,825 1/1/10 12/31/10Tigard


SBW Consulting, Inc. Impact Eval 2008-09 BE 


Program


 413,000  171,583  241,417 1/1/10 3/31/11Bellevue


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative  400,000  0  400,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit 


provider


 319,000  245,509  73,491 5/1/08 4/30/11Tucker


The Cadmus Group Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation  295,000  200,315  94,686 1/1/10 12/31/11Watertown


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009 Hitech 


Pilot


 293,880  245,570  48,310 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  280,000  241,337  38,663 1/1/08 12/31/10Columbia City


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009  210,734  193,837  16,897 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 198,020  140,318  57,702 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program  153,000  87,843  65,157 10/1/07 12/31/10Salem


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2009 NWN WA PMC  146,700  56,237  90,463 10/1/09 9/30/10Westborough


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Eff Refrigerator Replace 


Proj


 142,000  47,570  94,430 1/1/09 4/1/10Roseburg


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/10Portland


Edgar L. Wales Gov't acct management 


services


 122,500  35,936  86,564 5/17/10 4/30/11Canby


Research Into Action, Inc. Eval of 2009-10 BE 


Program


 100,000  85,331  14,669 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


PMConsulting, Inc. EE Consultant Services  100,000  60,411  39,589 4/1/09 3/31/11Portland


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/20/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2010
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Merit Service Center LLC Refrigerator Pilot - K 


Falls


 92,800  92,980 -180 8/15/09 8/31/10Klamath Falls


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2010


 85,000  23,250  61,750 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Stellar Processes, Inc. EE Resource 


Assessment


 75,690  45,683  30,008 3/1/10 9/30/10Portland


PWP, Inc. NBE Process Evaluation  75,000  63,037  11,963 1/1/10 12/31/10Gaithersburg


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot  72,000  69,694  2,306 10/1/09 9/30/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Fast Feedback Survey  72,000  44,738  27,263 2/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 70,000  61,895  8,105 6/18/09 11/30/10Portland


Walt Mintkeski PE PDC Technical 


Manager


 65,000  32,497  32,503 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  8,871  40,129 11/1/09 12/31/11Watertown


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  44,000  21,840  22,160 8/5/09 12/31/10Fairfax


Navigant Consulting Inc Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  12,283  27,717 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  40,000  5,790  34,210 3/1/09 12/31/10Goldendale


University of Oregon UofO ESBL Net Zero 


Pilot


 39,695  19,316  20,379 2/1/10 1/15/11Eugene


ICF Resources, LLC Comm. windows savings 


tool


 39,400  2,625  36,775 5/24/10 12/31/10Fairfax


NW Natural Info Transfer & 


Reimbursement


 35,000  0  35,000 7/12/10 9/2/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Prgm Modeling & Data 


Collect


 35,000  12,890  22,110 7/10/09 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Solarize SE PDX Eval.  35,000  21,653  13,348 3/25/10 8/31/10Watertown


Research Into Action, Inc. DSM Metrics  30,000  0  30,000 9/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. evaluation contractor  30,000  21,545  8,455 4/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Seattle City Light Lighting design lab 


sponsorshi


 30,000  30,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/10Seattle


Navigant Consulting Inc IEI Pilot Review  30,000  7,192  22,809 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 25,000  25,000  0 8/28/09 8/31/10White Salmon


Evoworx Inc. Online Audit Service 


Trial


 24,995  0  24,995 8/1/10 12/31/10Seattle


Energy Center of Wisconsin Billing Analysis 


Evaluation


 20,000  0  20,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Madison


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Process  20,000  1,313  18,688 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


Georgia Pacific Georgia Pacific Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/5/11Camas


Boise Cascade LLC Boise Cascade Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/7/11Saint Helens


Landerholm, Memovich, 


Lansverk & Whitesides P.S.


Legal Advice  20,000  12,181  7,819 5/30/07 12/31/10Vancouver


Watershed Sciences Inc Airborne Thermal 


Infrared Data


 18,600  0  18,600 11/25/09 5/31/11Corvallis


Ecos IQ, Inc. Set Top Box Timer 


Study


 16,000  1,674  14,326 2/1/10 8/15/10Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2010  14,375  368  14,007 7/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lane Community College, NEEI 


Science Division


2010 Scholarship Grant  13,600  2,400  11,200 7/8/10 12/31/10Eugene


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


DCV Gas Savings Tech 


Brief


 9,980  0  9,980 9/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Strategic Engagement 


Tool


 9,900  0  9,900 6/15/10 9/30/10Walla Walla


Klamath & Lake Community 


Action Services


Refrigerator Pilot - K 


Falls


 9,600  9,420  180 9/1/09 8/31/10Klamath Falls


AIA/Portland Premier Allied Partner 


2010


 5,000  5,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI EPS Task Force 


Support


 3,000  2,993  8 5/24/10 10/31/10Portland


 78,499,673  28,263,952  50,235,721Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/20/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2010
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Joint Programs
Umpqua Bank Co-branding agreement  160,000  37,065  122,935 9/1/08 8/31/10Portland


The Iris Group Marketing Manager 


Comm/Ind/Ag


 120,000  80,304  39,696 1/1/10 10/31/10Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Planning services  95,375  79,621  15,754 9/15/08 9/14/10Boulder


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  76,757  50,407  26,350 1/1/06 12/31/10Portland


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services  76,130  71,688  4,442 4/19/07 12/31/10Fairfax


Research Into Action, Inc. EE/RE Residential 


Awareness


 60,000  54,621  5,379 4/1/10 1/31/11Portland


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 20,000  16,540  3,460 9/1/09 12/31/10Portland


 608,262  390,247  218,015Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Sunway 3, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  3,396,044  8,956 9/30/08 9/30/28


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  803,566  881,522 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  0  1,000,000 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  114,162  456,598 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


Oregon Institute of Technology Geothermal Resource 


Funding


 487,000  487,000  0 3/2/10 3/2/30Klamath Falls


K2A Properties, LLC Doerfler Farms Wind 


Farm


 230,000  0  230,000 5/20/10 5/20/30Aumsville


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 174,000  161,524  12,476 6/15/07 12/31/10Portland


Northwest Dairy Assocation LOA - Feasibility Studies  140,000  129,625  10,375 11/13/08 11/30/09Seattle


Ronald Burden Solar Program Inspector  120,000  0  120,000 8/23/10 7/31/12Portland


Steven E Ault Solar Inspector  120,000  0  120,000 8/23/10 7/31/12Sisters


Farmers Irrigation District Indian Creek Corridor 


Project


 100,000  0  100,000 1/5/10 1/4/29Hood River


Oregon State University OSU Wind Program  85,670  0  85,670 7/1/10 6/30/11Corvallis


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 60,000  15,798  44,202 8/22/08 12/31/10Bend


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


Waste water workshops  45,000  13,000  32,000 4/1/10 3/31/11


Solar Oregon Grant Agreement  39,000  39,000  0 1/1/10 10/31/10Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant  38,756  22,532  16,224 3/1/10 3/31/11Boulder


Bloomberg LP Solar & Bio Insight 


services


 37,500  37,500  0 4/1/10 4/1/11San Francisco


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant Services  35,000  31,410  3,590 5/6/09 12/31/10Boulder


Northwest SEED Wind Program Outreach  34,865  24,865  10,000 12/1/09 11/30/10Seattle


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


Keith Rossman Solar Program 


Contractor


 30,000  13,700  16,300 2/1/10 2/1/11Portland


Renewable Energy Solutions, 


LLC


Hydro & small conduit 


study


 29,640  21,030  8,610 4/19/10 11/12/10Enterprise


Oregon Community Wind LLC Anemometer Equipment 


Incentive


 28,321  28,321  0 1/15/10 1/14/13Portland


Eshbach Consulting LLC Transmission Services  24,999  1,875  23,124 8/15/10 11/30/10Eugene


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  2,715  21,410 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Associated Master Inspectors 


LLC


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 24,000  3,266  20,734 2/22/10 1/31/11Tigard


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 9/20/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 9/1/2010
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Solar Oregon Solar Energy Outreach 


& Mktg


 24,000  16,000  8,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


City of Dundee Anaerobic Digester 


Feasibility


 20,000  0  20,000 11/11/09 7/31/10Dundee


Oregon Small Wind Energy 


Assocation


Wind Program Grant 


Agreement


 20,000  0  20,000 6/1/10 5/30/11Portland


Glenn Montgomery Marketing & Comm 


Consultant


 18,920  16,304  2,616 3/1/09 12/31/10Portland


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Renewable Energy 


Consultant


 14,700  1,000  13,700 11/1/09 10/31/11Corvallis


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  3,089  10,061 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools PV - 


2011


 7,800  0  7,800 7/30/10 7/30/11Portland


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC Decommission 


Anemometer


 7,218  0  7,218 9/8/10 12/31/10


Madison Farms Small Hydro regen test 


on farm


 5,381  0  5,381 4/23/10 11/30/10Echo


 10,875,958  6,992,013  3,883,945Renewable Energy Program Total:


 98,878,486  41,168,722  57,709,764Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/23/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2010
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 5,039,889  3,260,187  1,779,701Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 3,348,379  2,153,834  1,194,545Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  3,350,219  36,006,581 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2010  6,608,013  3,908,615  2,699,398 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 HES PMC  6,601,411  3,426,484  3,174,927 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2010  5,717,899  2,750,796  2,967,103 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2010 NBE PMC  4,629,693  2,511,969  2,117,724 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2010  1,410,204  880,776  529,428 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2010  1,126,716  614,766  511,950 1/1/10 12/31/10Medford


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010  1,099,298  484,791  614,507 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


OPOWE, Inc. OPOWER Agreement  977,000  405,000  572,000 3/2/10 9/2/11Arlington


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2009  965,970  941,663  24,307 1/1/09 12/31/11Medford


Conservation Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 MF PMC  937,849  313,648  624,201 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2009  883,586  861,879  21,707 1/1/09 12/31/11Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2009  665,508  647,008  18,500 1/1/09 12/31/11Walla Walla


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010 Small 


Industrial


 639,051  411,443  227,608 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2010  614,551  400,557  213,994 1/1/10 12/31/10San Francisco


NW Natural Industrial DSM Transfer 


Agrmt


 500,000  485,108  14,892 3/1/09 2/28/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc 2008 PE Evaluation  495,000  469,347  25,653 10/22/08 7/30/10Boulder


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2010  475,155  304,401  170,754 1/1/10 12/31/10Tigard


SBW Consulting, Inc. Impact Eval 2008-09 BE 


Program


 413,000  171,583  241,417 1/1/10 3/31/11Bellevue


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative  400,000  0  400,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit 


provider


 319,000  245,509  73,491 5/1/08 4/30/11Tucker


The Cadmus Group Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation  295,000  132,796  162,205 1/1/10 12/31/11Watertown


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009 Hitech 


Pilot


 293,880  245,570  48,310 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  280,000  231,799  48,201 1/1/08 12/31/10Columbia City


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009  210,734  193,837  16,897 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 198,020  140,318  57,702 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program  153,000  87,843  65,157 10/1/07 12/31/10Salem


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2009 NWN WA PMC  146,700  54,149  92,551 10/1/09 9/30/10Westborough


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Eff Refrigerator Replace 


Proj


 142,000  47,570  94,430 1/1/09 4/1/10Roseburg


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/10Portland


Edgar L. Wales Gov't acct management 


services


 122,500  26,553  95,947 5/17/10 4/30/11Canby


Research Into Action, Inc. Eval of 2009-10 BE 


Program


 100,000  78,043  21,957 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


PMConsulting, Inc. EE Consultant Services  100,000  56,397  43,603 4/1/09 3/31/11Portland


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/23/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2010
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Merit Service Center LLC Refrigerator Pilot - K 


Falls


 92,800  92,980 -180 8/15/09 8/31/10Klamath Falls


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2010


 85,000  18,231  66,769 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Stellar Processes, Inc. EE Resource 


Assessment


 75,690  45,683  30,008 3/1/10 9/30/10Portland


PWP, Inc. NBE Process Evaluation  75,000  43,802  31,198 1/1/10 12/31/10Gaithersburg


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot  72,000  53,155  18,845 10/1/09 9/30/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Fast Feedback Survey  72,000  31,763  40,238 2/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 70,000  45,320  24,680 6/18/09 11/30/10Portland


Walt Mintkeski PE PDC Technical 


Manager


 65,000  31,044  33,956 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  8,871  40,129 11/1/09 12/31/11Watertown


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  44,000  21,840  22,160 8/5/09 12/31/10Fairfax


Navigant Consulting Inc Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  12,283  27,717 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  40,000  5,158  34,842 3/1/09 12/31/10Goldendale


University of Oregon UofO ESBL Net Zero 


Pilot


 39,695  19,316  20,379 2/1/10 1/15/11Eugene


ICF Resources, LLC Comm. windows savings 


tool


 39,400  2,625  36,775 5/24/10 12/31/10Fairfax


NW Natural Info Transfer & 


Reimbursement


 35,000  0  35,000 7/12/10 9/2/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Prgm Modeling & Data 


Collect


 35,000  12,890  22,110 7/10/09 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Solarize SE PDX Eval.  35,000  21,653  13,348 3/25/10 8/31/10Watertown


Seattle City Light Lighting design lab 


sponsorshi


 30,000  30,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/10Seattle


Navigant Consulting Inc IEI Pilot Review  30,000  7,192  22,809 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 25,000  25,000  0 8/28/09 8/31/10White Salmon


Energy Center of Wisconsin Billing Analysis 


Evaluation


 20,000  0  20,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Madison


Boise Cascade LLC Boise Cascade Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/7/11Saint Helens


Research Into Action, Inc. evaluation contractor  20,000  19,568  433 4/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Process  20,000  1,313  18,688 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


Georgia Pacific Georgia Pacific Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/5/11Camas


Landerholm, Memovich, 


Lansverk & Whitesides P.S.


Legal Advice  20,000  12,181  7,819 5/30/07 12/31/10Vancouver


Watershed Sciences Inc Airborne Thermal 


Infrared Data


 18,600  0  18,600 11/25/09 5/31/11Corvallis


Ecos IQ, Inc. Set Top Box Timer 


Study


 16,000  1,674  14,326 2/1/10 5/31/10Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2010  14,375  0  14,375 7/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lane Community College, NEEI 


Science Division


2010 Scholarship Grant  13,600  0  13,600 7/8/10 12/31/10Eugene


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


DCV Gas Savings Tech 


Brief


 9,980  0  9,980 9/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Strategic Engagement 


Tool


 9,900  0  9,900 6/15/10 9/30/10Walla Walla


Klamath & Lake Community 


Action Services


Refrigerator Pilot - K 


Falls


 9,600  9,420  180 9/1/09 8/31/10Klamath Falls


AIA/Portland Premier Allied Partner 


2010


 5,000  5,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI EPS Task Force 


Support


 3,000  0  3,000 5/24/10 10/31/10Portland


 78,434,678  25,518,624  52,916,054Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


Joint Programs
Umpqua Bank Co-branding agreement  160,000  37,065  122,935 9/1/08 8/31/10Portland


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/23/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2010
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


The Iris Group Marketing Manager 


Comm/Ind/Ag


 120,000  75,820  44,180 1/1/10 10/31/10Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Planning services  95,375  79,621  15,754 9/15/08 9/14/10Boulder


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  76,757  50,407  26,350 1/1/06 12/31/10Portland


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services  76,130  71,688  4,442 4/19/07 12/31/10Fairfax


Research Into Action, Inc. EE/RE Residential 


Awareness


 55,000  10,999  44,001 4/1/10 1/31/11Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. BE Lighting Measure 


Analysis


 35,000  30,976  4,024 9/20/09 6/3/10Watertown


The Cadmus Group Inc. Corvallis Evaluation  24,000  23,091  909 3/23/09 4/15/10Watertown


The Cadmus Group Inc. CBSA 2007 Analysis  20,000  4,525  15,475 9/1/09 8/31/10Watertown


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 20,000  12,700  7,300 9/1/09 12/31/10Portland


 682,262  396,892  285,370Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Sunway 3, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  3,396,044  8,956 9/30/08 9/30/28


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  803,566  881,522 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  0  1,000,000 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  114,162  456,598 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


Oregon Institute of Technology Geothermal Resource 


Funding


 487,000  487,000  0 3/2/10 3/2/30Klamath Falls


K2A Properties, LLC Doerfler Farms Wind 


Farm


 230,000  0  230,000 5/20/10 5/20/30Aumsville


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 174,000  146,240  27,760 6/15/07 12/31/10Portland


Black Rock Consulting Eval of Irrig Water 


Providers


 100,000  96,289  3,711 1/20/10 8/31/10Bend


Farmers Irrigation District Indian Creek Corridor 


Project


 100,000  0  100,000 1/5/10 1/4/29Hood River


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


Ecofys US, Inc. Interconnection 


Consulting


 67,000  56,707  10,294 5/5/09 6/30/10Corvallis


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 60,000  15,798  44,202 8/22/08 12/31/10Bend


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


Waste water workshops  45,000  13,000  32,000 4/1/10 3/31/11


Solar Oregon Grant Agreement  39,000  39,000  0 1/1/10 10/31/10Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant  38,756  18,481  20,275 3/1/10 3/31/11Boulder


Bloomberg LP Solar & Bio Insight 


services


 37,500  37,500  0 4/1/10 4/1/11San Francisco


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant Services  35,000  31,410  3,590 5/6/09 12/31/10Boulder


Northwest SEED Wind Program Outreach  34,865  24,865  10,000 12/1/09 11/30/10Seattle


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


Keith Rossman Solar Program 


Contractor


 30,000  12,720  17,280 2/1/10 2/1/11Portland


Renewable Energy Solutions, 


LLC


Hydro & small conduit 


study


 29,640  9,550  20,090 4/19/10 11/12/10Enterprise


Oregon Community Wind LLC Anemometer Equipment 


Incentive


 28,321  28,321  0 1/15/10 1/14/13Portland


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools RE 


Education


 25,065  22,280  2,785 10/22/09 10/21/10Portland


Pueblo Valley Geothermal, LLC Geothermal Study 


Harney County


 25,000  0  25,000 10/28/09 6/30/10Klamath Falls


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 8/23/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 8/1/2010
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  2,715  21,410 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Associated Master Inspectors 


LLC


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 24,000  2,776  21,224 2/22/10 1/31/11Tigard


Solar Oregon Solar Energy Outreach 


& Mktg


 24,000  14,000  10,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


City of Dundee Anaerobic Digester 


Feasibility


 20,000  0  20,000 11/11/09 7/31/10Dundee


Oregon Small Wind Energy 


Assocation


Wind Program Grant 


Agreement


 20,000  0  20,000 6/1/10 5/30/11Portland


Glenn Montgomery Marketing & Comm 


Consultant


 18,920  16,304  2,616 3/1/09 12/31/10Portland


CIty of Pendleton Pendleton Feasibilty 


Study


 17,500  0  17,500 5/4/09 9/30/10Pendleton


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Renewable Energy 


Consultant


 14,700  730  13,970 11/1/09 10/31/11Corvallis


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  3,089  10,061 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools PV - 


2011


 7,800  0  7,800 7/30/10 7/30/11Portland


Madison Farms Small Hydro regen test 


on farm


 5,381  0  5,381 4/23/10 11/30/10Echo


 10,612,636  7,001,233  3,611,403Renewable Energy Program Total:


 98,117,844  38,330,771  59,787,073Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 10/25/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 10/1/2010
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 5,908,402  3,208,370  2,700,032Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 3,896,329  2,551,270  1,345,059Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  4,292,038  35,064,762 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2010  6,608,013  5,009,169  1,598,844 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 HES PMC  6,601,411  4,530,498  2,070,913 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2010  5,717,899  3,619,150  2,098,749 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2010 NBE PMC  4,648,693  3,238,655  1,410,038 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2010  1,410,204  1,133,420  276,784 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2010  1,126,716  785,275  341,441 1/1/10 12/31/10Medford


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010  1,099,298  689,220  410,078 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


OPOWE, Inc. OPOWER Agreement  977,000  405,000  572,000 3/2/10 9/2/11Arlington


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2009  965,970  941,663  24,307 1/1/09 12/31/11Medford


Conservation Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 MF PMC  937,849  409,140  528,709 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2009  883,586  861,879  21,707 1/1/09 12/31/11Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2009  665,508  647,008  18,500 1/1/09 12/31/11Walla Walla


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010 Small 


Industrial


 639,051  497,748  141,303 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2010  614,551  469,712  144,839 1/1/10 12/31/10San Francisco


Navigant Consulting Inc 2008 PE Evaluation  495,000  481,231  13,769 10/22/08 7/30/10Boulder


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2010  475,155  338,624  136,531 1/1/10 12/31/10Tigard


SBW Consulting, Inc. Impact Eval 2008-09 BE 


Program


 413,000  271,375  141,625 1/1/10 3/31/11Bellevue


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative  400,000  0  400,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit 


provider


 319,000  261,843  57,157 5/1/08 12/31/10Tucker


The Cadmus Group Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation  295,000  223,037  71,963 1/1/10 12/31/11Watertown


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009 Hitech 


Pilot


 293,880  245,570  48,310 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  280,000  248,947  31,054 1/1/08 12/31/10Columbia City


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2009  210,734  193,837  16,897 1/1/09 12/31/11San Francisco


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 198,020  177,330  20,690 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program  153,000  89,013  63,987 10/1/07 12/31/10Salem


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2009 NWN WA PMC  146,700  65,038  81,662 10/1/09 12/31/10Westborough


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Eff Refrigerator Replace 


Proj


 142,000  47,570  94,430 1/1/09 4/1/10Roseburg


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/10Portland


Edgar L. Wales Gov't acct management 


services


 122,500  44,848  77,652 5/17/10 4/30/11Canby


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 115,000  68,263  46,737 6/18/09 5/31/11Portland


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot  101,975  81,012  20,963 10/1/09 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Eval of 2009-10 BE 


Program


 100,000  90,161  9,839 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 10/25/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 10/1/2010
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


PMConsulting, Inc. EE Consultant Services  100,000  63,960  36,040 4/1/09 3/31/11Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2010


 85,000  25,960  59,040 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Stellar Processes, Inc. EE Resource 


Assessment


 75,690  58,163  17,528 3/1/10 9/30/10Portland


PWP, Inc. NBE Process Evaluation  75,000  70,007  4,993 1/1/10 12/31/10Gaithersburg


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  72,000  29,565  42,435 8/5/09 12/31/10Fairfax


Research Into Action, Inc. Fast Feedback Survey  72,000  58,423  13,578 2/1/10 12/31/10Portland


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 71,667  71,667  0 8/28/09 12/31/11White Salmon


Walt Mintkeski PE PDC Technical 


Manager


 65,000  39,470  25,530 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  8,871  40,129 11/1/09 12/31/11Watertown


Navigant Consulting Inc Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  17,251  22,749 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  40,000  5,790  34,210 3/1/09 12/31/10Goldendale


University of Oregon UofO ESBL Net Zero 


Pilot


 39,695  25,601  14,094 2/1/10 1/15/11Eugene


ICF Resources, LLC Comm. windows savings 


tool


 39,400  24,605  14,795 5/24/10 12/31/10Fairfax


NW Natural Info Transfer & 


Reimbursement


 35,000  0  35,000 7/12/10 9/2/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Prgm Modeling & Data 


Collect


 35,000  12,890  22,110 7/10/09 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Solarize SE PDX Eval.  35,000  21,653  13,348 3/25/10 8/31/10Watertown


Seattle City Light Lighting design lab 


sponsorshi


 30,000  30,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/10Seattle


Research Into Action, Inc. DSM Metrics  30,000  5,155  24,845 9/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. evaluation contractor  30,000  23,275  6,725 4/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc IEI Pilot Review  30,000  9,729  20,271 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


Evoworx Inc. Online Audit Service 


Trial


 24,995  0  24,995 8/1/10 12/31/10Seattle


Energy Center of Wisconsin Billing Analysis 


Evaluation


 20,000  0  20,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Madison


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Process  20,000  1,313  18,688 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


Georgia Pacific Georgia Pacific Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/5/11Camas


Boise Cascade LLC Boise Cascade Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/7/11Saint Helens


Landerholm, Memovich, 


Lansverk & Whitesides P.S.


Legal Advice  20,000  12,181  7,819 5/30/07 12/31/10Vancouver


Watershed Sciences Inc Airborne Thermal 


Infrared Data


 18,600  0  18,600 11/25/09 5/31/11Corvallis


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Gas Seed 


Funding


 15,000  15,000  0 8/31/10 7/1/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2010  14,375  1,088  13,287 7/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lane Community College, NEEI 


Science Division


2010 Scholarship Grant  13,600  2,400  11,200 7/8/10 12/31/10Eugene


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


DCV Gas Savings Tech 


Brief


 9,980  0  9,980 9/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Strategic Engagement 


Tool


 9,900  9,900  0 6/15/10 9/30/10Walla Walla


AIA/Portland Premier Allied Partner 


2010


 5,000  5,000  0 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI EPS Task Force 


Support


 3,000  2,993  8 5/24/10 10/31/10Portland


 78,064,915  31,169,405  46,895,510Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


Joint Programs
Umpqua Bank Co-branding agreement  160,000  37,065  122,935 9/1/08 8/31/10Portland


The Iris Group Marketing Manager 


Comm/Ind/Ag


 120,000  90,228  29,773 1/1/10 12/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc Planning services  95,375  79,621  15,754 9/15/08 9/14/10Boulder


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  76,757  50,407  26,350 1/1/06 12/31/10Portland


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 10/25/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 10/1/2010
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services  76,130  71,688  4,442 4/19/07 12/31/10Fairfax


Research Into Action, Inc. EE/RE Residential 


Awareness


 60,000  61,151 -1,151 4/1/10 1/31/11Portland


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 20,000  16,540  3,460 9/1/09 12/31/10Portland


 608,262  406,700  201,562Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Sunway 3, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  3,396,044  8,956 9/30/08 9/30/28


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  803,566  881,522 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  0  1,000,000 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  114,162  456,598 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


Oregon Institute of Technology Geothermal Resource 


Funding


 487,000  487,000  0 3/2/10 3/2/30Klamath Falls


K2A Properties, LLC Doerfler Wind Farm 


Project


 230,000  0  230,000 5/20/10 5/20/30Aumsville


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 174,000  161,524  12,476 6/15/07 12/31/10Portland


Northwest Dairy Assocation LOA - Feasibility Studies  140,000  129,625  10,375 11/13/08 11/30/09Seattle


Steven E Ault Solar Inspector  120,000  2,135  117,865 8/23/10 7/31/12Sisters


Ronald Burden Solar Program Inspector  120,000  4,540  115,460 8/23/10 7/31/12Portland


Farmers Irrigation District Indian Creek Corridor 


Project


 100,000  0  100,000 1/5/10 1/4/29Hood River


Oregon State University OSU Wind Program  85,670  0  85,670 7/1/10 6/30/11Corvallis


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


Robert Andrew Volkman Project Finanace 


Consultant


 62,500  0  62,500 10/1/10 12/31/11Portland


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 60,000  18,065  41,935 8/22/08 12/31/10Bend


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


Waste water workshops  45,000  19,500  25,500 4/1/10 3/31/11


MC Energy LLC Small Wind Incentive  43,250  0  43,250 9/21/10 9/21/25Spokane


ECONorthwest Economic Impact 


Analysis


 40,000  0  40,000 10/13/10 5/31/11Eugene


Solar Oregon Grant Agreement  39,000  39,000  0 1/1/10 10/31/10Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant  38,756  32,455  6,301 3/1/10 3/31/11Boulder


Bloomberg LP Solar & Bio Insight 


services


 37,500  37,500  0 4/1/10 4/1/11San Francisco


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant Services  35,000  31,410  3,590 5/6/09 12/31/10Boulder


Northwest SEED Wind Program Outreach  34,865  24,865  10,000 12/1/09 11/30/10Seattle


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


Keith Rossman Solar Program 


Contractor


 30,000  15,440  14,560 2/1/10 2/1/11Portland


Renewable Energy Solutions, 


LLC


Hydro & small conduit 


study


 29,640  21,030  8,610 4/19/10 11/12/10Enterprise


Oregon Community Wind LLC Anemometer Equipment 


Incentive


 28,321  28,321  0 1/15/10 1/14/13Portland


SPS of Oregon Inc Allen Canyon Microhydo  25,000  0  25,000 7/23/10 7/23/30Wallowa


Eshbach Consulting LLC Transmission Services  24,999  15,450  9,549 8/15/10 11/30/10Eugene


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  4,595  19,530 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Solar Oregon Solar Energy Outreach 


& Mktg


 24,000  18,000  6,000 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Associated Master Inspectors 


LLC


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 24,000  3,266  20,734 2/22/10 1/31/11Tigard


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 10/25/2010Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 10/1/2010
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Oregon Small Wind Energy 


Assocation


Wind Program Grant 


Agreement


 20,000  20,000  0 6/1/10 5/30/11Portland


Glenn Montgomery Marketing & Comm 


Consultant


 18,920  16,304  2,616 3/1/09 12/31/10Portland


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Renewable Energy 


Consultant


 14,700  1,000  13,700 11/1/09 10/31/11Corvallis


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  3,089  10,061 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Western Community Energy 


LLC


Anemometer Agreement  10,016  0  10,016 9/29/10 9/29/12Portland


Darrin Kite RE Consultant Services  10,000  944  9,057 9/1/10 1/31/11Portland


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools PV - 


2011


 7,800  0  7,800 7/30/10 7/30/11Portland


Oregon Power Solutions, LLC Decommission 


Anemometer


 7,218  0  7,218 9/8/10 12/31/10


Madison Farms Small Hydro regen test 


on farm


 5,381  0  5,381 4/23/10 11/30/10Echo


City of Klamath Falls Klamath Falls Proj 


Developer


 1,250  0  1,250 9/28/09 10/30/09Klamath Falls


Crook County Crook County Data 


License


 150  0  150 9/15/10 10/15/10Prineville


 11,048,124  7,057,518  3,990,606Renewable Energy Program Total:


 99,526,031  44,393,263  55,132,769Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








 


Evaluation Committee Meeting Report – September 2010  
September 24, 2010 10:05am-12:51pm 


 
Attendees: 
Debbie Kitchin, Board Member – Committee Chair 
Alan Meyer, Board Member 
Dan Enloe, Board Member (by phone) 
Daniel Davis, Board Member 
Tom Eckman, Expert Outside Reviewer, Northwest Power and Conservation  Council 
Jessica Rose, New Buildings Program Manager 
Spencer Moersfelder, Existing Buildings Program Manager 
Fred Gordon, Director of Planning and Evaluation 
Steve Lacey, Director of Operations 
Allie Robbins, New Buildings Program - PECI 
Glenn Hanson, New Buildings Program - PECI 
Diane Ferington, Residential Sector Lead 
Pete Catching, Manager of Planning & Economic Analysis 
Peter West, Director of Energy Programs 
Matt Braman, Planning Program Manager 
Susan Jamison, Residential Marketing Manager 
Sue Fletcher, Communications and Customer Services Sr. Manager 
Oliver Kesting, Business Sector Lead 
Amber Cole, Director of Communications and Customer Service 
Phil Degens, Evaluation Manager 
Jason Christensen, Evaluation Intern 
Sarah Castor, Evaluation Project Manager 
Brien Sipe, Evaluation Project Manager 
 
Meeting began at 10:05am 
 
Topics Covered: 


1. Evaluation Schedule and Ongoing Project Summary 
2. 2010 Residential Awareness Study 
3. Clean Energy Works Portland Process Evaluation 
4. 2008 New Building Impact Evaluation 
5. Next meeting date (Friday October 29th 10am-1pm) and tentative agenda 


 
1. Evaluation Schedule and Ongoing Project Summary 
Sarah presented an overview of the current evaluation projects. 
 


• Existing Buildings 2009-2010 Process and 2008-2009 Impact evaluations nearing 
completion 


• New Buildings 2008-2009 Process and 2008 Impact evaluation completed 
• NEEA Residential Building stock assessment underway 
• NEEA Commercial Building stock assessment developing scope of work 
• Fast Feedback pilot completed and continuing  







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


• Plant Closure Study developing Statement of Work.  
 
Alan asked for clarification on what the plant closure study would focus on; staff have been 
discussing the scope of work and it continues to evolve. Currently, industrial projects utilize a 
ten year measure life on plant equipment and processes, this is an assumed average. The 
closure study may help to revise this figure (either up or down). Debbie asked if a review of 
other evaluation practices in other programs would be worthwhile. Fred mentioned that there 
isn’t much literature in the field, and comparisons haven’t been that worthwhile. Dan E. 
reiterated that the investments made by customers are in good faith, as they are putting up 
substantial amounts of their own capital, and shutdowns aren’t intentional or foreseen. Fred 
indicated we don’t have punitive measures in our contracts, except with mega-projects, which 
may have clauses to protect Energy Trust funds if such large scale projects go sour. 
 
2. 2010 Residential Awareness Study 
Contractor: Research Into Action 
 
Sarah presented the study findings for the third and latest Residential Awareness Survey (RAS). 
The purpose of the study is to understand customers’ general level of interest/awareness in 
energy efficiency, help design marketing and programs, and track trend over time. This year we 
decided to survey only households served by our funding utilities. We also oversampled in 
Cascade Natural Gas territory, since that customer base is small and proportional sampling 
would provide imprecise results. Overall, the sample was weighted to be representative of our 
customers in terms of region of the state, home ownership status and age.  
 
To the survey this year, we added BPA’s “gearbox” questions for segmentation – mostly 
attitudinal questions, along with some demographics. Adopting BPA’s gearbox approach offers 
more opportunities for comparable analysis across Northwest DSM programs and collaboration 
in marketing campaigns. The segmentation of our survey respondents has not been completed 
yet (this will be done in house). We also added questions to test perceptions of Energy Trust 
and various marketing messages.  
 
Awareness and reported participation 
Caveat on overall awareness of Energy Trust: 2009 and 2010 awareness levels are not directly 
comparable as presented in the report, because the 2009 study surveyed Oregon residents in 
areas not eligible for our services. The correct, comparable results on overall awareness are 
43% in 2009 and 48% in 2010.  
 
In addition, the decrease in awareness in Cascade territory from 2009 to 2010 is not statistically 
significant as the 2009 sample was around 30 individuals, compared to nearly 100 people in 
2010, lending more confidence to 2010’s finding. It was further noted that 2010 represents a 
substantial increase over awareness in the 2008 survey in Cascade’s territory (with once again, 
a limited sample size). 
 
There was an increase this year in the proportion of respondents who heard about Energy Trust 
through mass media – this was the top channel, over the typical utility channels. Diane indicated 
Senate Bill 838 funds spent on marketing may have resulted in the increase in individuals 
hearing about Energy Trust through mass media in 2010 compared to 2009. Amber indicated 
that there is limited real estate in utility mailers, and Energy Trust doesn’t have that many 
opportunities to get collateral out through that channel. Alan indicated that the mass media jump 
is pretty astounding, as it went from 3rd to 1st in the way people reportedly first heard about 
Energy Trust. 


2 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


 
Overall, reported participation (not actual participation which will be covered below) was up from 
7% in 2009 to 17% in 2010, likely due in part to better crafted questions about participation. 
Alan asked about why the reported participation of Pacific Power customers is so much lower 
than other utilities served. A few explanations are worth exploring: Pacific Power funds tend to 
be more focused on industrial and commercial projects. In addition, many Pacific Power 
customers in southern Oregon are heated by Avista gas, resulting in less opportunity for 
residential customers to participate.  
 
Alan also inquired about how participant homes line up to that of Oregon’s housing stock 
overall. Awareness survey results indicate Energy Trust programs seem to be attracting a 
disproportionate amount of older homes, where there are more opportunities for weatherization. 
Reported participants are more likely than average to have natural gas heated homes, with 
Amber explaining that NW Natural is getting better at mailing out inserts for Energy Trust, and 
Fred noting our long history with gas furnace incentives. 
 
Attitudes and perceptions 
Overall, reported participants were slightly more likely to display a “global” view of energy, but 
there were no other differences in attitudes and perceptions between reported participants and 
nonparticipants. When asked to rate the effectiveness of several actions in protecting the 
environment, recycling was rated more effective than energy efficient actions, but Peter noted 
that this may be true in certain contexts, and there is no way to conclusively compare the two. 
These questions will be used mostly in the segmentation. 
 
Respondents were also asked to rate different marketing messages on their effectiveness at 
motivating them to take action in their home, on a scale from 1 (would not motivate) to 5 (highly 
motivating). Our most commonly used “You can save energy and money” came in at the top. 
Amber indicated that recently, messaging has been shifted to focus more on saving money, and 
found the results interesting as the energy cost-related message “invest now and watch savings 
add up later” was lower on the list of motivators than environment-related messaging. 
 
Due to interest in a possible cold water detergent incentive, the survey asked what percent of 
laundry loads the respondent washed in cold water only, and average was about 50%. Debbie 
asked if this measure would be educational only. The residential programs are still trying to 
figure out a delivery method, but the incentive would be for the detergent itself, or possible 
providing the detergent during Home Energy Reviews. California has had success in laundry 
behaviors by delivering samples. Daniel D. asked if there is a definitive study on the efficacy of 
the detergents, and there have been some studies that show savings, but some also show that 
the cold water detergents may work better in non-front loading (i.e. less energy efficient) 
washers.  
 
In terms of actions respondents would like to take in their homes, 34% would like to weatherize 
and 27% would like to install new windows. Phil recommended continuing to give some 
incentive on windows, even with their less-than cost-effectiveness, to keep a presence in the 
market and provide visibility to efficient windows. He also recommends developing a stand-
alone windows measure that does not require a second measure installation. This second 
measure requirement for windows is the one of the top residential complaints about our 
program. 
 
 
 


3 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


Actual participation 
The analysis of actual participation for 2010 respondents follows one done for the 2008 and 
2009 surveys by Matthew Taylor, former evaluation intern, and Research Into Action. As with 
2009 respondents, 2010 respondents underreport their actual participation in the program. 
Overall, we found 26% of the valid addresses of survey respondents in our FastTrack system as 
participants, compared to only 17% reported participation.  
 
 
Alan asked if NW Natural more actively promotes our programs, due to the high level of actual 
participation (37%). Phil responded that NW Natural customers are also likely to be Pacific 
Power or PGE customers and so have more opportunities to participate in our programs. Fred 
asked about the uptick in actual participation (from 19% for 2009 respondents) , and asked if 
FastTrack backs up the increase in participation. Phil indicated that analysis earlier this year 
showed participation at around 23% of residential utility accounts, so this is within a reasonable 
range. The main conclusion was that asking respondents to self-report can provide a certain 
context for gauging participation, but may not necessarily be that accurate. 
 
Phil indicated that the plan is to repeat the survey next year with a smaller sample. The study is 
relatively inexpensive and the residential programs and communications staff always have new 
questions they would like to ask each year. Amber said the new ISP system may make applying 
segmentation findings easier, as the customer database will be able to include more 
personalized information. 
  
Alan asked what the value is of doing the survey every year. In addition to the information from 
new questions each year, Diane feels that this study is like an impact evaluation in that it 
assesses the effectiveness of marketing and program activities in reaching customers. The cost 
of the residential awareness studies is easily made up for by bringing residential billing analysis 
in-house.  
 
Amber also responded that the timing of the study and the findings are very helpful for 
marketing budgeting purposes, and are used to adjust strategy for the next year. Alan sees 
value in this approach too. Diane noted there was a large investment in PR in southern Oregon, 
and the awareness results indicate that the marketing push has paid off. 
 
Daniel D. expressed some concern about the disparity between reported versus actual 
participation, and that the amount of time spent exploring this issue (in the presentation and 
analysis) makes it seem very important. Sarah indicated that less time can be spent on asking 
people about self-reported participation in future surveys, and simply use program tracking data 
to assess residential participation levels. 
 
3. Clean Energy Works: Portland (CEWP) process evaluation 
Contractor: Research Into Action 
 
Phil presented the results of the draft report on the CEWP pilot; slides from evaluations of early 
phases were presented at previous Evaluation Committee meetings. The pilot is on its way to 
completing its goal of weatherizing 400 homes, using 16 BPI-certified contractors. A federal 
grant of $20 million has been received to expand statewide. A new nonprofit, Clean Energy 
Works Oregon (CEWO) has now been formed to implement the statewide program. 
 
Debbie asked about the goals of the pilot. Diane reported that pilot goals are 500 homes in total, 
with 400 being recruited by Energy Trust, and 100 recruited through a community action group 


4 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


in the Cully neighborhood. Alan asked if we’re on track to hit to the 400, and Diane indicated we 
will go over 400, as there is no time limit on the pilot.  
 
This report includes results from participant and drop-out surveys (81 and 33 respondents, 
respectively); interviews of staff, contractors and stakeholders; and a review of documents. Phil 
suggested surveys as a useful way to identify other services for the 582 applicants who fell out 
after being screened in. Debbie indicated a standard sales approach to channel these drop outs 
into other programs could be very successful (e.g., GreenStreet lending, standard Home Energy 
Solutions offerings, etc.). 
 
Participants that successfully completed projects have a median income of $65,000, median 
square footage of 1,300, and 1936 is the average year the home was built. They were highly 
motivated by saving energy, lowering heating bills and increasing home comfort. Alan asked 
about the respondents who reported wanting to save energy by participating, but the responses 
didn’t indicate why they wanted to save energy (e.g. to save money?). Staff responded that the 
survey did not ask them to specify. Participants highly valued the services of the program 
Energy Advocate; they were slightly less satisfied with the contractor, but still mostly happy. 
Almost all would recommend the program to friends or family. 
 
Debbie asked for a modification of the evaluation report to clarify at the beginning that a 
customer does not pay for the home assessment upfront – it is rolled into the loan if a 
participant goes forward. Energy Trust spends $600 dollars for each ‘test-in’ that does not result 
in a signed contract following a ‘test-out’: $300 to the contractor for the assessment and $300 to 
the Energy Advocate for services. Despite the high cost of drop-outs, Diane reported there is an 
80% close rate on projects that are screened in. 
 
Comments from participants outlined a need for more program transparency and flexibility, and 
more clarity on the financing details and fees included in the loan. Debbie observed that many 
participant complaints were about the cost of the measures and the lack of a competitive 
bidding process. Phil reiterated that generating off-ramps for drop outs to enter other programs 
would be useful to present to these folks (channeling into Greenstreet lending offerings, 
standard HES track incentives, where they can get multiple bids and minimize total costs). 
The group discussed the elements of the program that drive up costs, such as the requirements 
to pay prevailing wages. Alan asked about the requirement of only one contractor bid, which can 
lead to higher costs to consumers and eliminate competition. Staff indicated that multiple bids 
could result in multiple ‘test-ins’ resulting in even higher costs from dry holes, and complications 
with having a second contractor use a first’s ‘test-in’ findings. 
 
Pilot drop-outs were those that decided not to go forward with the project and or financing after 
being screened into the pilot. Most had gone through the home assessment and received a bid 
from the contractor. On average, these respondents have a median income of $75,000, median 
square footage of 1,600, and 1940 is the average year the home was built. Surveys found that 
most are continuing with or plan to do energy savings projects outside the pilot.  
 
They were slightly less satisfied than participants with the services of the Energy Advocate and 
contractor. Comments highlighted their desire for more financing options and greater flexibility in 
selecting a contractor and choosing the size of the project. They were also more skeptical of 
program fees and the role of the Advocate.  
 
Debbie said that more screening would be useful to see if the potential client is a good fit for the 
program, just as individual businesses do when they talk with a client initially; the CEWP 


5 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


program is not the right program for everyone. Diane suggested charging the $300 for the home 
assessment, but refunding it if the participant completed the project.  
 
The group turned to a discussion of the financing mechanism. Originally, the program intended 
to attach the debt to the meter, so there was security on payback. Currently the loan is 
underwritten by Shorebank, leading to more risk. Fred indicated that the program is still evolving 
and isn’t quite to the point of the original pilot plan. 
 
The group discussed the fact that drop-outs had more contact with Energy Advocates, which 
increases the money lost when someone drops-out. The evaluator recommended tracking all 
contact with pilot participants and drop-outs to better quantify costs.  
 
The report also noted some complaints from participants and drop-outs that they did not receive 
their home assessment report or an itemized list of measure costs and savings. Steve indicated 
that all consumers need to receive a cost and savings report after the test-in, as it is a part of 
the EEAST legislation. 
 
Tom asked about how much deeper the CEWP projects are than the standard Home 
Performance with Energy Star (HPwES) or the Home Energy Solutions (HES) program tracks. 
Phil said that CEWP participants are undertaking more early replacements on equipment such 
as furnaces. Tom indicated that savings sooner is fine, but savings over time will be unchanged. 
Steve noted that there is a significant difference between CEWP project and HES projects. 
CEWP and HPwES are very similar. Tom suggested looking at the time and cost investments 
for each of these programs relative to the savings achieved. Many folks may install measures 
over time piecemeal, and in a cheaper way (relative to CEWPs high touch model), and 
wondered how much value added the CEWP approach is generating. 
 
Debbie suggested that an account rep could help you choose a program path as a first touch. 
But even in this case, the prospective participant may not know what they want, and intention 
and action will still be disconnected. Fred indicated that the program is beginning to utilize 
online forms and call center resources to communicate with potential participants to help lower 
costs (rather than face to face interactions with energy advocates at a potential participant’s 
home). 
 
Fred raised the issue of larger capital investments in the program, such as furnaces and water 
heaters; there are negligible savings on the water heating side, and 95% efficient furnaces are 
becoming the baseline due to federal tax incentives. Early retirement of these appliances can 
help increase the efficacy of the program; if this is not the case, Fred said supporting this 
delivery mechanism could become a financial issue. 
 
Alan asked about Energy Trust’s involvement in CEWO. Diane said that the agency will be 
collaborating with the statewide program. Individual communities may use CAP agencies to 
provide the services, but if Energy Trust services are used, Energy Trust energy advocates will 
be meeting with potential participants. Diane also noted the weekly CEWP meetings to discuss 
how the program is operating. Amber noted that committees have been formed to share 
learnings from the CEWP pilot to apply to the CEWO program. Next year, CEWP will be 
absorbed into the larger CEWO. 
 
As far as progress on CEWO, Diane indicated that ETO advocacy services will continue through 
Q1 2011. The CEWO intake form is in beta form and is being prepared for a launch in late Q1 or 
early Q2 2011. Communities may identify their own banks to provide financing, and have 


6 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


flexibility in how they choose to work with the program. All initial CEWO projects outside 
Portland will be rolled out in a pilot context to attempt to learn the best way to operate this sort 
of program. 
 
Final study recommendations were to clarify the role of the energy advocate and change the 
term advocate to avoid implying that they are negotiating solely for the benefit of the 
homeowner. Debbie noted that if they are to play a “general contractor” role in projects, there is 
a legal requirement for liability insurance and licensing. The evaluator also recommended 
lowering the energy intensity requirement for participation and possibly reducing the credit 
screening to bill payment history.  
 
 
4. Draft 2008 New Buildings impact evaluation 
Contractor: The Cadmus Group 
 
Sarah presented the results from the New Buildings program process/impact evaluations. SAIC 
was the PMC during 2008; PECI became the PMC as of the 2009 program year. For the 
evaluation, site visits were made to 48 buildings completed in the 2008 program year, 
representing a mix of building types and measures. Engineering review and analysis were 
performed with data collected. Short term metering and energy simulation modeling were used 
on select projects. Overall, the program realization rate was 86% for electric measures and 93% 
for gas measures.  
 


Realization Rates by Measure Category 


Measure 
Category Measures 


Reported 
Electric 
Savings 
(kWh) 


Reported 
Gas 


Savings 
(therms) 


Electric 
Realization 


Rate 


Gas 
Realization 


Rate 
Standard 
Lighting  546 6,731,354 0 121% - 


Standard Motors  62 1,922,886 0 95% - 
Standard HVAC  245 1,025,395 77,860 106% 119% 
Standard Other  56 141,343 58,090 86% 63% 
Custom  64 4,454,088 116,881 92% 72% 
Custom Gas  10 0 58,191 - 96% 
Custom HVAC  13 3,319,194 51,034 20% 93% 
Custom Lighting  52 10,961,855 0 92% - 
Custom Motor  10 1,443,220 0 34% - 
LEED  15 3,138,759 102,849 66% 115% 


Total  1,073 33,138,094 464,905 86% 93% 
  
Higher-than-assumed operating hours resulted in a realization rate of more than 100% for 
standard lighting measures. Some standard motors were found to be installed in applications 
where efficiency was code, resulting in no savings for those measures. Spencer asked about 
the average incentives for the code motors which received no savings, indicating that there was 
a $3,000 threshold for doing a post-install inspection to verify the application. PECI checks the 
motor application when determining incentives. Steve asked if they metered motors, Sarah said 


7 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


they did not. Various participants noted that federal standard for motors have changed in the 
last few years.  
 
Within standard HVAC measures, some of the demand control ventilation (DCV) measures 
were found to have been calculated incorrectly, resulting in realization rates over 1,000%. 
Because these were not characteristic of other standard HVAC measures in the program, the 
realization rates were not included in the category average. Dan E. asked about demand control 
ventilation, and Glenn explained that a CO2 sensor is used to monitor occupancy and adjust the 
amount of outside air allowed in to maintain air quality. 
 
Spencer asked if the evaluation explored code and standard practice for lighting measures. 
Sarah reported the contractor did not examine lighting power density for standard measures, but 
did for custom lighting. For all lighting measures, standard practice was used to assess savings. 
Spencer indicated that the program was nervous about incenting lighting projects in 2008 that 
may have been code or standard practice. The study results for lighting indicate that those fears 
appear to be unfounded and the program performed well. 
 
As category labels, “Custom” and “Custom Gas” need to be replaced by labels that better 
describe the measure type, since the current labels encompass a mix of measure types. As with 
standard motors, the realization rate for custom motors was reduced due to variable speed 
drives (VSDs) installed in applications where they were code. Alan asked about the sampling 
methodology for VSDs, Phil indicated that the sampling plan examined all groups of measures 
and code installations can result in very low RRs. 
 
On the largest project of 2008, a custom HVAC system, the savings were miscalculated and 
resulted in a loss of 8 percent of total program savings for 2008. The simple calculation error 
could have been caught with a second internal review of the measures, and this is now routinely 
done by PECI for large projects.  
 
On LEED projects, realization rates varied substantially, due in part to low occupancy rates. 
Debbie expressed concern on the LEED buildings disparity in electric and gas realization rates. 
Steve asked for clarification on realization rates and low occupancy, and Phil noted this is an 
ongoing evaluation discussion. Should the savings be adjusted to account for a lack of full 
occupancy for the first few years? Or take a middle point of full and partial occupancy savings, 
and pro-rate? Steve and Tom indicated that the agency should have a written consistent 
procedure for dealing with occupancy issues, similar to the policy for reduced production in the 
industrial programs. Phil indicated the preference is to keep this calculation simple, rather than 
having a need to go back and do expensive site visits. Debbie highlighted the importance of 
economic effects and how long they last. Phil indicated one method would be applying long term 
occupancy rates for all buildings (95%). Tom indicated that the long term occupancy rate is the 
best way to go.  
 
Also on LEED projects, some projects were not built as modeled, reducing project savings. Phil 
said that the building calculations should reflect the as-built conditions, and if the model is not 
reflective of as-built, new modeling is needed. 
 
PECI has already implemented several of the study recommendations, including developing a 
more robust DCV calculator, implementing a second review on large measures, discontinuing 
the incentive for LED exist signs (now standard practice), and checking motors applications 
against code.  
 


8 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  September 24, 2010 


9 
 


5. Next meeting scheduled for Friday October 29th 10am-1pm. 
Tentative agenda items: 


• Billing Analysis: 2008 Existing single family program 
• Multifamily Non-energy benefits study 
• Fast Feedback 
• EB Process Evaluation 
• NB Process Evaluation 


 
Meeting adjourned at 12:51pm. 
 








Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
August 31, 2010


(Unaudited)


AUG JUL DEC Change from Change from
2010 2010 2009 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 72,915,581 70,944,201 63,059,796 1,971,380 9,855,785
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 1,514,031 1,513,710 5,533,972 321 (4,019,941)
  Investments 10,050,118 10,050,118 0 10,050,118
  Receivables 20,922 19,760 106,937 1,161 (86,015)
  Prepaid Expenses 314,333 302,849 182,941 11,484 131,392
  Advances to Vendors 1,177,606 1,412,257 39,065 (234,652) 1,138,541


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
   Total Current Assets 85,992,590 84,242,896 68,922,710 1,749,695 17,069,880


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 101,675 101,675 101,675 0 0
  Computer Hardware and Software 1,034,466 1,028,781 1,010,947 5,684 23,519
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 22,382 22,382 0 0
  Office Equipment and Furniture 127,354 127,354 127,354 0 0


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,285,877 1,280,193 1,262,358 5,684 23,519
  Less Depreciation (1,070,189) (1,061,958) (991,562) (8,232) (78,627)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 215,688 218,235 270,796 (2,547) (55,108)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 28,000 28,000 26,000 0 2,000
  Deferred Compensation Asset 185,792 181,218 144,451 4,574 41,341


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
T t l Oth A t 213 792 209 218 170 451 4 574 43 341     Total Other Assets 213,792 209,218 170,451 4,574 43,341


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Assets 86,422,070 84,670,348 69,363,957 1,751,722 17,058,113


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 6,676,624 6,635,083 10,090,054 41,541 (3,413,431)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 442,587 479,500 393,467 (36,913) 49,120


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 7,119,211 7,114,583 10,483,521 4,627 (3,364,310)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 73,235 77,194 104,910 (3,959) (31,676)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 185,792 181,218 144,451 4,574 41,341
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 2,310 2,310 2,310 0 0


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 261,336 260,722 251,671 614 9,665


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities 7,380,547 7,375,305 10,735,192 5,242 (3,354,645)


Net Assets
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,514,031 1,513,710 5,611,283 321 (4,097,251)
  Unrestricted Net Assets 77,527,492 75,781,333 53,017,482 1,746,158 24,510,009


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Net Assets 79,041,523 77,295,043 58,628,765 1,746,480 20,412,758


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 86,422,070 84,670,348 69,363,957 1,751,722 17,058,113


============= ============= ============= ============= =============







 January February March April May June July August Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 6,671,534$    6,662,197$    3,652,827$    1,697,273$    3,976,963$    (161,844)$      (3,832,674)$   1,746,479$    20,412,755$  


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 27,217           6,882             7,129             7,129             7,128             7,627             7,284             8,231             78,627           
Deferred Rent Amortization (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (31,675)          


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable -                 -                 -                 -                 (4,583)            (3,235)            (1,223)            (1,161)            (10,202)          
Other Receivables 17,555           74,099           9,233             (176)               (5,919)            12,145           (10,719)          -                 96,218           
Advances to Vendors (1,002,211)     501,106         (1,095,623)     532,244         75,243           (1,057,054)     673,107         234,651         (1,138,537)     
Other Assets (251,530)        37,463           35,867           8,968             (19,665)          35,254           (5,031)            (16,058)          (174,732)        
A/P - Program Subcontracts 2,726,635      (924,690)        (610,450)        58,816           349,188         744,417         681,872         86,496           3,112,284      
A/P - Incentives (6,885,189)     (26,469)          (265,925)        98,997           (418,882)        467,634         366,154         82,426           (6,581,254)     
A/P - Professional Services (6,449)            8,278             1,324             (2,323)            (22,314)          16,370           185,953         (171,457)        9,382             
A/P - Operations 299,797         (261,864)        29,915           (64,433)          (23,085)          (37,651)          59,396           44,076           46,151           
Payroll and related accruals 31,960 24,388 20,992 11,748 23,890 14,157 (4,335) (32,339) 90,461


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2010


Payroll and related accruals 31,960           24,388          20,992         11,748         23,890         14,157          (4,335)          (32,339)        90,461         
Other liabilities 75 (75)                 -                 -                 


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,781,330      2,344,285      3,933,929      33,861           (1,884,176)     1,977,385      15,909,477    


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (8,880)            (8,953)            (5,684)            (23,517)          
Cash used in Investing Activities -                 -                 (8,880)            -                 (8,953)            -                 -                 (5,684)            (23,517)          


Cash at beginning of Period 68,593,768    70,219,203    76,316,633    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,344    84,392,205    82,508,029    68,593,768    


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,772,450      2,344,285      3,924,976      33,861           (1,884,176)     1,971,701      15,885,962    


Cash at end of period 70,219,203$  76,316,633$  78,089,083$  80,433,368$  84,358,344$  84,392,205$  82,508,029$  84,479,730$  84,479,730$  







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Budget & 2011 Proj


2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding 11,690,306    13,889,322    12,086,703    11,388,192    10,685,728    9,520,031      8,757,487      9,194,794      9,242,957      8,850,275      9,012,401      10,256,000    
  Self Direct Repayments -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
  Investment Income 38,104           37,450           41,434           33,616           39,607           33,901           33,871           19,891           9,237             7,770             6,152             3,707             


Total cash in 11,728,410    13,926,772    12,128,137    11,421,808    10,725,335    9,553,932      8,791,358      9,214,685      9,252,194      8,858,045      9,018,552      10,259,708    


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts 903,376         3,103,658      4,884,422      2,593,437      1,996,940      3,178,173      1,816,159      2,326,255      3,171,574      2,761,022      2,785,906      3,520,064      
    Incentives 8,264,022      3,417,690      4,037,383      5,100,739      3,453,860      4,583,261      7,686,532      3,542,187      5,986,254      9,491,097      10,064,415    15,096,401    
    Salaries and related expense 513,577         551,487         561,974         559,376         584,684         580,094         644,158         572,273         643,463         643,463         643,463         643,463         
    Professional services 345,002         411,181         785,365         614,972         589,352         1,053,937      450,155         730,193         558,736         1,074,862      1,101,758      1,101,798      
    General operating expenses 76,998           345,327         86,543           209,000         175,522         124,607         78,533           72,077           204,284         189,577         190,338         204,229         


Total cash out 10,102,976    7,829,343      10,355,687    9,077,523      6,800,358      9,520,071      10,675,537    7,242,985      10,564,311    14,160,021    14,785,880    20,565,955    
Net cash flow for the month 1,625,434      6,097,429      1,772,450      2,344,285      3,924,977      33,861           (1,884,179)     1,971,700      (1,312,116)     (5,301,977)     (5,767,328)     (10,306,247)   


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 68,593,768    70,219,203    76,316,632    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,345    84,392,205    82,508,029    84,479,731    83,167,615    77,865,638    72,098,310    
Ending cash & MM 70,219,203    76,316,632    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,345    84,392,205    82,508,029    84,479,731    83,167,615    77,865,638    72,098,310    61,792,063    


Dedicated funds Adjustment (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (21,837,922)   (21,837,922)   (21,837,922)   (21,837,922)   (21,837,922)   (8,076,152)     


Budget 2010-B-2.2Actual


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted 
by Dedicated Funds 52,934,347    59,031,776    60,804,227    63,148,512    67,073,489    67,107,349    60,670,107    62,641,809    61,329,692    56,027,716    50,260,388    53,715,911    


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 5,533,972      1,806,031      1,806,724      1,693,273      1,594,696      1,595,373      1,596,029      1,513,710      1,514,031      1,514,978      1,383,883      1,384,748      
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (3,728,733)     -                     (114,182)        (99,242)          -                     -                     (82,648)          -                     -                     (132,000)        -                     -                     
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 792                693                731                665                677                656                329                321                946                906                865                865                
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Ending Escrow Balance1


1,806,031      1,806,724      1,693,273      1,594,696      1,595,373      1,596,029      1,513,710      1,514,031      1,514,978      1,383,883      1,384,748      1,385,614      
1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


January 2010 Net Escrow includes the closing of Goodnoe Escrow Account due to project not occuring. Funds were returned to Genearl Operating account.







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Budget & 2011 Proj


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding
  Self Direct Repayments
  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts
    Incentives
    Salaries and related expense
    Professional services
    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM
Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011
January February March April May June July August September October November December


13,999,836    16,124,289    14,323,135    13,610,869    12,083,051    10,667,848    9,979,823      10,430,819    10,443,974    10,039,741    10,116,577    11,422,549    
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


12,611           10,989           12,002           12,019           11,833           11,529           10,431           9,692             9,237             7,770             6,152             3,707             


14,012,448    16,135,278    14,335,137    13,622,888    12,094,884    10,679,377    9,990,254      10,440,510    10,453,212    10,047,511    10,122,729    11,426,256    


2,807,046      3,025,212      3,079,058      3,069,870      3,132,328      3,135,578      3,138,050      3,157,611      3,213,833      3,217,033      3,203,148      3,201,598      
6,144,462      3,219,287      3,749,012      5,493,475      4,538,205      5,241,684      5,897,857      5,953,849      8,358,637      8,144,003      8,674,456      14,731,071    


674,382         674,382         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         
1,144,713      860,382         860,447         896,077         907,263         907,263         952,828         937,977         937,977         973,477         1,040,223      1,040,223      


258,664         195,997         216,837         174,544         177,621         926,198         192,155         174,417         183,425         176,002         181,164         188,116         


11,029,266    7,975,260      8,580,575      10,309,188    9,430,638      10,885,944    10,856,111    10,899,075    13,369,094    13,185,737    13,774,212    19,836,228    
2,983,182      8,160,018      5,754,563      3,313,701      2,664,246      (206,567)        (865,857)        (458,565)        (2,915,882)     (3,138,226)     (3,651,483)     (8,409,972)     


61,792,063    64,775,245    72,935,263    78,689,825    82,003,526    84,667,772    84,461,205    83,595,348    83,136,783    80,220,901    77,082,674    73,431,192    
64,775,245    72,935,263    78,689,825    82,003,526    84,667,772    84,461,205    83,595,348    83,136,783    80,220,901    77,082,674    73,431,192    65,021,220    


(8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (8,076,152)     (2,590,494)     


Projection 2011-P-2.2


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted 
by Dedicated Funds


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


56,699,093    64,859,111    70,613,674    73,927,374    76,591,620    76,385,053    75,519,196    75,060,631    72,144,749    69,006,523    65,355,040    62,430,726    


1,385,614      1,386,480      1,387,346      1,281,930      1,282,731      1,283,533      1,284,335      1,285,138      1,285,941      1,286,745      1,287,549      1,288,354      
-                     -                     (106,250)        -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


866                867                834                801                802                802                803                803                804                804                805                805                
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


1,386,480      1,387,346      1,281,930      1,282,731      1,283,533      1,284,335      1,285,138      1,285,941      1,286,745      1,287,549      1,288,354      1,289,159      







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


August YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,684,426 3,037,156 (352,729) 23,725,039 25,891,612 (2,166,574)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,690,808 1,803,915 (113,107) 14,789,958 14,412,923 377,035


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 821,799 849,312 (27,513) 20,490,428 19,559,323 931,106


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 130,325 53,014 77,311 748,783 1,505,815 (757,032)


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 0 0 0 0 (11,547) 11,547


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 5,327,359 5,743,397 (416,038) 59,754,208 61,358,126 (1,603,918)


Incremental Funds - PGE 2,084,286 1,705,724 378,562 13,451,301 13,538,860 (87,559)


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 1,637,316 1,616,941 20,375 12,512,683 13,464,829 (952,147)


NW Natural - Industrial DSM 145,833 145,833 (0) 998,079 1,025,000 (26,921)


NW Natural - Washington 0 45,278 (45,278) 495,208 410,322 84,886


Contributions 0 0 0 1,085 0 1,085


Revenue from Investments 21,052 9,692 11,361 288,076 91,105 196,971
---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 9,215,846 9,266,864 (51,019) 87,500,640 89,888,242 (2,387,603)
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,647,402 3,135,179 487,776 22,872,382 24,191,011 1,318,629


Incentives 3,624,613 5,125,737 1,501,124 33,504,418 42,768,357 9,263,939


Salaries and Related Expenses 539,934 643,463 103,529 4,658,084 5,146,108 488,024


Professional Services 558,736 1,032,987 474,251 4,989,539 8,112,289 3,122,751


Supplies 2,470 6,522 4,052 30,389 50,511 20,123


Telephone 562 6,658 6,096 20,608 53,267 32,659


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,004 3,458 2,454 8,844 27,667 18,823


Occupancy Expenses 33,812 41,886 8,074 268,345 331,091 62,747


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 4,252 59,843 55,592 233,936 391,033 157,097


Call Center 15,942 14,755 (1,187) 115,037 134,884 19,847


Printing and Publications 11,898 17,958 6,061 77,528 143,667 66,138


Travel 4,125 17,017 12,893 69,267 141,640 72,372


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 12,247 39,478 27,231 105,752 255,624 149,872


Interest Expense and Bank Fees (74) 0 74 0 0 0


Insurance 4,933 7,500 2,567 50,661 60,000 9,339


Miscellaneous Expenses 43 215 172 4,298 1,717 (2,582)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 7,469 10,692 3,224 78,793 87,960 9,167


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 7,469,366 10,163,350 2,693,984 67,087,882 81,896,825 14,808,943


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 1,746,480 (896,486) 2,642,965 20,412,758 7,991,417 12,421,341
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2010


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications & Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delive 45,391,544 10,985,256 56,376,800 56,376,800
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,072,929 592,804 1,665,733 1,064,990 307,099 1,372,088 3,037,821
Outsourced Services 2,686,538 583,879 3,270,417 181,732 469,693 651,425 3,921,842
Planning and Evaluation 813,379 121,006 934,385 16,858 11,812 28,671 963,056
Customer Service Management 517,680 66,346 584,026 0 584,026
Trade Allies Network 205,163 21,136 226,299 0 226,299


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------------- -------------------- -------------------------
Total Program Expenses 50,687,232 12,370,428 63,057,660 1,263,580 788,604 2,052,184 65,109,844


Program Support Costs


Supplies 6,799 3,366 10,166 6,357 2,516 8,874 19,039
Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,835 930 2,765 2,148 566 2,714 5,479
Telephone 2,206 1,479 3,684 2,210 556 2,766 6,451
Printing and Publications 47,112 9,740 56,852 2,714 11,960 14,674 71,526
Occupancy Expenses 65,560 33,227 98,787 51,433 20,240 71,673 170,460
Insurance 12,377 6,273 18,650 9,710 3,821 13,531 32,181
Equipment 2,176 30,950 33,126 1,707 2,446 4,153 37,279
Travel 19,593 16,168 35,761 14,958 975 15,933 51,694
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 15,086 9,403 24,490 47,400 4,634 52,033 76,523
Depreciation & Amortization 2,903 14,394 17,297 2,278 896 3,174 20,472
Dues, Licenses and Fees 43,584 17,037 60,621 10,208 2,678 12,885 73,506
Miscellaneous Expenses 566 1,606 2,172 114 22 136 2,308
IT Services 925,581 138,835 1,064,416 246,297 100,407 346,704 1,411,120


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------------- -------------------- -------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,145,379 283,407 1,428,786 397,533 151,719 549,252 1,978,037


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------------- -------------------- -------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 51,832,611 12,653,835 64,486,446 1,661,113 940,323 2,601,436 67,087,882


============ ============ ============ =========== =============== =========== ==============


OPUC measure, versus 11% 5%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Total NW WA


NWN 
Industrial 


DSM NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $18,480,035 $11,361,127 $29,841,163 $20,490,428 $748,783 $51,080,373 $5,245,004 $3,428,831 $8,673,835 $59,754,208
Incremental Funding 13,451,301 12,512,683 25,963,984 495,208 998,079 27,457,271 27,457,271
Self Direct Repayment
Contributions 1,085 1,085
Revenue from Investments 288,076 288,076


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 31,931,336 23,873,810 55,805,146 495,208 998,079 20,490,428 748,783 78,537,644 5,245,004 3,428,831 8,673,835 289,161 87,500,640


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,402,791 840,553 2,243,344 22,780 19,324 677,334 43,160 5 3,005,947 340,313 254,158 594,471 3,600,418
  Program Delivery 9,522,289 6,279,783 15,802,071 75,158 240,180 2,708,251 264,209 45 19,089,915 59,976 82,055 142,031 19,231,946
  Incentives 11,199,046 6,630,736 17,829,782 109,564 125,038 4,282,206 316,213 57 22,662,859 6,951,429 3,890,130 10,841,559 33,504,418
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 944,887 584,383 1,529,270 9,207 10,628 355,256 32,241 3 1,936,604 87,114 63,329 150,444 2,087,047
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,068,341 664,540 1,732,881 26,854 1,907 622,936 40,056 10 2,424,644 64,356 32,593 96,949 2,521,592
  Program Quality Assurance 23,493 17,310 40,802 840 0 29,670 1,307 0 72,619 0 7,725 7,725 80,344
  Outsourced  Services 351,360 123,755 475,115 1,500 546 288,668 5,942 0 771,771 263,698 186,054 449,752 1,221,523
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 305,246 185,374 490,619 6,692 1,527 212,831 11,172 1 722,843 58,708 28,774 87,482 810,325
  IT Services 422,081 255,444 677,525 6,546 4,554 221,557 15,396 2 925,581 81,293 57,543 138,835 1,064,416
  Other Program Expenses 94,490 60,494 154,984 7,449 1,635 51,923 3,837 1 219,829 85,796 58,791 144,587 364,417


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 25,334,023 15,642,371 40,976,394 266,590 405,339 9,450,633 733,533 124 51,832,611 7,992,683 4,661,152 12,653,835 64,486,446


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 652,582 402,934 1,055,515 6,867 10,441 243,440 18,895 3 1,335,162 206,272 119,679 325,952 1,661,113
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 369,413 228,092 597,506 3,887 5,911 137,806 10,696 2 755,808 116,767 67,748 184,515 940,323


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,021,995 631,026 1,653,021 10,754 16,352 381,246 29,591 5 2,090,970 323,039 187,427 510,466 2,601,436


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 26,356,018 16,273,397 42,629,415 277,344 421,691 9,831,879 763,124 129 53,923,581 8,315,722 4,848,579 13,164,301 67,087,882


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ -------------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 5,575,318 7,600,413 13,175,731 217,864 576,388 10,658,549 (14,341) (129) 24,614,063 (3,070,718) (1,419,748) (4,490,466) 289,161 20,412,758


========== ========== ========== ======= =========== ========== ======= ====== ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/09 (Note 4) 15,974,053 (3,722,624) 12,251,429 402,975 583,282 (2,370,484) 435,084 25,458 11,327,745 25,411,648 11,987,317 37,398,965 9,902,055 58,628,765
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) 1,740,000


========== ========== ========== ======= =========== ========== ======= ====== ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 21,549,371 5,037,789 26,587,160 620,839 1,159,670 13,288,066 420,743 25,330 42,101,808 22,340,930 12,267,569 34,608,499 2,331,216 79,041,523


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2009 reflects audited results.







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


PGE
Pacific 
Power


Elec. 
Utilities


Northwest 
WA


Industrial 
DSM


NW Natural 
Gas Cascade Avista


Gas 
Providers Total Budget Difference


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $6,564,758 $2,653,566 $9,218,325 $130,215 $82,479 $1,625,243 $68,920 $1,906,856 $11,125,181 $13,353,265 $2,228,084
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,413,060 2,021,546 4,434,606 1,698,645 273,584 1,972,229 6,406,835 8,711,425 2,304,590
Market Transformation (NEEA) 757,958 571,793 1,329,750 1,329,750 1,710,587 380,837


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------
  Total Commercial 9,735,776 5,246,904 14,982,681 130,215 82,479 3,323,887 342,505 3,879,086 18,861,766 23,775,277 4,913,511


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 5,540,092 3,576,075 9,116,167 339,212 90,704 41,506 471,422 9,587,589 12,407,851 2,820,262
Market Transformation (NEEA) 145,667 109,889 255,556 255,556 806,430 550,874


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------
  Total Industrial 5,685,759 3,685,964 9,371,723 339,212 90,704 41,506 471,422 9,843,145 13,214,281 3,371,136


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 4,005,462 2,967,394 6,972,856 146,709 5,156,966 225,022 5,528,696 12,501,552 15,066,282 2,564,729
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 5,675,223 3,427,287 9,102,510 421 1,260,322 154,092 129 1,414,963 10,517,472 9,494,456 (1,023,017)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,253,798 945,848 2,199,646 2,199,646 2,076,147 (123,499)


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------
T t l R id ti l 10 934 483 7 340 528 18 275 011 147 129 6 417 288 379 113 129 6 943 659 25 218 670 26 636 884 1 418 214  Total Residential 10,934,483 7,340,528 18,275,011 147,129 6,417,288 379,113 129 6,943,659 25,218,670 26,636,884 1,418,214


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 26,356,018 16,273,397 42,629,415 277,344 421,691 9,831,879 763,124 129 11,294,166 53,923,581 63,626,442 9,702,861


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------


Renewables


Biopower 200,217 408,455 608,672 608,672 797,778 189,106
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 5,156,470 2,501,064 7,657,534 7,657,534 8,304,433 646,899
Other Renewable 2,959,035 1,939,060 4,898,095 4,898,095 9,168,173 4,270,078


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------
  Renewables Program Costs 8,315,722 4,848,579 13,164,301 13,164,301 18,270,383 5,106,083


---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------- --------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------


========= ========= ========== ========= ========== ========= ======= ===== ========== ========== ========== =========
  Cost Grand Total 34,671,740 21,121,976 55,793,715 277,344 421,691 9,831,879 763,124 129 11,294,166 67,087,882 81,896,825 14,808,943


========= ========= ========== ========= ========== ========= ======= ===== ========== ========== ========== =========


PUC-Proj-ST-07-B







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended August 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD QTD QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $21,982 $109,188 $87,206 $176,544 $345,569 $169,025 $124,149 $227,704 $103,555 $469,683 $597,211 $127,528


Legal Services 16,250 16,250 5,164 43,333 38,170


Salaries and Related Expenses 262,551 430,010 167,459 1,064,990 1,145,913 80,924 73,157 137,311 64,154 307,099 366,164 59,065


Supplies 69 1,125 1,056 1,162 3,000 1,838 750 750 472 2,000 1,528


Telephone 211 1,400 1,189 893 2,400 1,507 38 (38)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 307 750 443 708 2,000 1,292 2,500 2,500 6,667 6,667


Noncapitalized Equipment 500 500 1,774 1,333 (441)


Printing and Publications 43 125 82 198 333 136 6,135 6,250 115 10,970 16,667 5,696


Travel 3,443 8,270 4,827 14,939 22,053 7,114 2,500 2,500 967 6,667 5,699


Conference, Training & Mtngs 6,546 30,023 23,477 47,346 80,061 32,715 (185) 3,250 3,435 4,612 8,667 4,054


Miscellaneous Expenses 19 19 59 50 (9)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 5,275 1,469 (3,806) 10,112 6,337 (3,775) 534 2,500 1,966 2,640 6,667 4,027


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 19,789 35,595 15,806 75,845 94,147 18,302 6,470 15,188 8,718 29,847 40,171 10,324


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 64,487 156,914 92,427 246,297 397,616 151,319 26,289 63,969 37,680 100,407 162,096 61,688


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 4,231 9,631 5,400 16,858 25,079 8,221 2,965 6,774 3,810 11,812 17,641 5,828


--------------- ---------------------- -------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ --------------- ------------------------ -------------------- --------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 388,933 800,769 411,836 1,661,113 2,167,892 506,779 239,514 469,196 229,682 940,323 1,231,948 291,626


======== ============= =========== ========= ========= ========== ======== ============== =========== ======== ========= ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-002







$-
$10 
$20 
$30 
$40 
$50 
$60 
$70 
$80 
$90 


$100 


JanuaryFebruary March April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


JanuaryFebruaryMarch April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$16 


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010


$40
$45 


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


$-
$10 
$20 
$30 
$40 
$50 
$60 
$70 
$80 
$90 


$100 


JanuaryFebruary March April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


JanuaryFebruaryMarch April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$2 


$4 


$6 


$8 


$10 


$12 


$14 


$16 


January February March April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010


Budget


Actual


Last Yr


$-
$5 


$10 
$15 
$20 
$25 
$30 
$35 
$40 
$45 


JanuaryFebruary March April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


Budget


Actual
Last Yr





		BALANCE SHEET

		Cashflow Statement YTD-Indirect

		Cashflow Forecast

		Income Statement

		SFE

		IS ST

		Exp by ST

		Admin Exp

		Graphs






The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


July 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


JUL JUN DEC Change from Change from
2010 2010 2009 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 70,944,201 77,776,066 63,059,796 (6,831,865) 7,884,405
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 1,513,710 1,596,029 5,533,972 (82,319) (4,020,262)
  Investments 10,050,118 5,020,111 5,030,007 10,050,118
  Receivables 19,760 7,818 106,937 11,943 (87,176)
  Prepaid Expenses 302,849 303,393 182,941 (544) 119,908
  Advances to Vendors 1,412,257 2,085,360 39,065 (673,103) 1,373,192


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
   Total Current Assets 84,242,896 86,788,776 68,922,710 (2,545,881) 15,320,186


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 101,675 101,675 101,675 0 0
  Computer Hardware and Software 1,028,781 1,028,781 1,010,947 0 17,834
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 22,382 22,382 0 0
  Office Equipment and Furniture 127,354 127,354 127,354 0 0


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,280,193 1,280,193 1,262,358 0 17,834
  Less Depreciation (1,061,958) (1,054,674) (991,562) (7,284) (70,395)


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 218,235 225,519 270,796 (7,284) (52,561)


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 28,000 28,000 26,000 0 2,000
  Deferred Compensation Asset 181,218 175,644 144,451 5,574 36,767


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Other Assets 209,218 203,644 170,451 5,574 38,767


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Assets 84,670,348 87,217,939 69,363,957 (2,547,591) 15,306,392


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 6,635,083 5,341,707 10,090,054 1,293,376 (3,454,971)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 479,500 489,409 393,467 (9,909) 86,034


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 7,114,583 5,831,116 10,483,521 1,283,467 (3,368,938)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 77,194 81,154 104,910 (3,959) (27,716)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 181,218 175,644 144,451 5,574 36,767
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 2,310 2,310 2,310 0 0


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 260,722 259,107 251,671 1,614 9,051


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities 7,375,305 6,090,223 10,735,192 1,285,082 (3,359,887)


Net Assets
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,513,710 1,596,029 5,611,283 (82,319) (4,097,573)
  Unrestricted Net Assets 75,781,333 79,531,688 53,017,482 (3,750,354) 22,763,851


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Net Assets 77,295,043 81,127,716 58,628,765 (3,832,673) 18,666,278


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 84,670,348 87,217,939 69,363,957 (2,547,591) 15,306,392


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
BS-Acct-YTD-001







 January February March April May June July Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 6,671,534$    6,662,197$    3,652,827$    1,697,273$    3,976,963$    (161,844)$      (3,832,674)$   18,666,276$    


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 27,217           6,882             7,129             7,129             7,128             7,627             7,284             70,396            
Deferred Rent Amortization (3,959)           (3,960)           (3,959)           (3,959)           (3,960)           (3,959)           (3,960)           (27,716)           


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable -                -                -                -                (4,583)           (3,235)           (1,223)           (9,041)             
Other Receivables 17,555           74,099           9,233             (176)              (5,919)           12,145           (10,719)          96,218            
Advances to Vendors (1,002,211)     501,106         (1,095,623)     532,244         75,243           (1,057,054)     673,107         (1,373,188)       
Other Assets (251,530)        37,463           35,867           8,968             (19,665)          35,254           (5,031)           (158,674)         
A/P - Program Subcontracts 2,726,635      (924,690)        (610,450)        58,816           349,188         744,417         681,872         3,025,788        
A/P - Incentives (6,885,189)     (26,469)          (265,925)        98,997           (418,882)        467,634         366,154         (6,663,680)       
A/P - Professional Services (6,449)           8,278             1,324             (2,323)           (22,314)          16,370           185,953         180,839           
A/P - Operations 299,797         (261,864)        29,915           (64,433)          (23,085)          (37,651)          59,396           2,075              
Payroll and related accruals 31,960           24,388           20,992           11,748           23,890           14,157           (4,335)           122,800           
Other liabilities 75 (75)                -                -                 


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,781,330      2,344,285      3,933,929      33,861           (1,884,176)     13,932,092      


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (8,880)           (8,953)           (17,833)           
Cash used in Investing Activities -                -                (8,880)           -                (8,953)           -                -                (17,833)           


Cash at beginning of Period 68,593,768     70,219,203     76,316,633     78,089,083     80,433,368     84,358,344     84,392,205     68,593,768      


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,772,450      2,344,285      3,924,976      33,861           (1,884,176)     13,914,259      


Cash at end of period 70,219,203$   76,316,633$   78,089,083$   80,433,368$   84,358,344$   84,392,205$   82,508,029$   82,508,029$    


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2010







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Budget & 2011 Proj


2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding 11,690,306      13,889,322      12,086,703      11,388,192      10,685,728      9,520,031        8,757,487        9,257,173        9,242,957        8,850,275        9,012,401        10,256,000      
  Self Direct Repayments -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
  Investment Income 38,104             37,450             41,434             33,616             39,607             33,901             33,871             9,692              9,237              7,770              6,152              3,707              


Total cash in 11,728,410      13,926,772      12,128,137      11,421,808      10,725,335      9,553,932        8,791,358        9,266,864        9,252,194        8,858,045        9,018,552        10,259,708      


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts 903,376           3,103,658        4,884,422        2,593,437        1,996,940        3,178,173        1,816,159        2,708,843        3,487,374        2,761,022        2,785,906        3,520,064        
    Incentives 8,264,022        3,417,690        4,037,383        5,100,739        3,453,860        4,583,261        7,686,532        5,125,737        5,986,254        9,491,097        10,064,415      15,096,401      
    Salaries and related expense 513,577           551,487           561,974           559,376           584,684           580,094           644,158           643,463           643,463           643,463           643,463           643,463           
    Professional services 345,002           411,181           785,365           614,972           589,352           1,053,937        450,155           636,108           1,032,987        1,074,862        1,101,758        1,101,798        
    General operating expenses 76,998             345,327           86,543             209,000           175,522           124,607           78,533             134,867           315,303           189,577           190,338           204,229           


Total cash out 10,102,976      7,829,343        10,355,687      9,077,523        6,800,358        9,520,071        10,675,537      9,249,018        11,465,381      14,160,021      14,785,880      20,565,955      
Net cash flow for the month 1,625,434        6,097,429        1,772,450        2,344,285        3,924,977        33,861             (1,884,179)       17,846             (2,213,187)       (5,301,977)       (5,767,328)       (10,306,247)     


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 68,593,768      70,219,203      76,316,632      78,089,083      80,433,368      84,358,345      84,392,205      82,508,029      82,525,875      80,312,688      75,010,712      69,243,384      


Ending cash & MM 70,219,203      76,316,632      78,089,083      80,433,368      84,358,345      84,392,205      82,508,029      82,525,875      80,312,688      75,010,712      69,243,384      58,937,137      


Dedicated funds Adjustment (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (17,284,856)     (9,006,843)       


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted 
by Dedicated Funds 52,934,347    59,031,776    60,804,227    63,148,512    67,073,489    67,107,349    65,223,173    65,241,019    63,027,832    57,725,856    51,958,528    49,930,294    


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 5,533,972        1,806,031        1,806,724        1,693,273        1,594,696        1,595,373        1,596,029        1,513,710        1,514,657        1,515,603        1,384,509        1,385,375        
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (3,728,733)       -                     (114,182)          (99,242)           -                     -                     (82,648)           -                     -                     (132,000)          -                     -                     
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 792                 693                 731                 665                 677                 656                 329                 946                 947                 906                 865                 866                 
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


Ending Escrow Balance1
1,806,031        1,806,724        1,693,273        1,594,696        1,595,373        1,596,029        1,513,710        1,514,657        1,515,603        1,384,509        1,385,375        1,386,240        


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


January 2010 Net Escrow includes the closing of Goodnoe Escrow Account due to project not occuring. Funds were returned to Genearl Operating account.


Actual Budget 2010-B-2.2







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Budget & 2011 Proj


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding
  Self Direct Repayments
  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts
    Incentives
    Salaries and related expense
    Professional services
    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted 
by Dedicated Funds


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011
January February March April May June July August September October November December


13,999,836      16,124,289      14,323,135      13,610,869      12,083,051      10,667,848      9,979,823        10,430,819      10,443,974      10,039,741      10,116,577      11,422,549      
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


12,611             10,989             12,002             12,019             11,833             11,529             10,431             9,692              9,237              7,770              6,152              3,707              


14,012,448      16,135,278      14,335,137      13,622,888      12,094,884      10,679,377      9,990,254        10,440,510      10,453,212      10,047,511      10,122,729      11,426,256      


2,807,046        3,025,212        3,079,058        3,069,870        3,132,328        3,135,578        3,138,050        3,157,611        3,213,833        3,217,033        3,203,148        3,201,598        
6,144,462        3,219,287        3,749,012        5,493,475        4,538,205        5,241,684        5,897,857        5,953,849        8,358,637        8,144,003        8,674,456        14,731,071      


674,382           674,382           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           675,222           
1,144,713        860,382           860,447           896,077           907,263           907,263           952,828           937,977           937,977           973,477           1,040,223        1,040,223        


258,664           195,997           216,837           174,544           177,621           926,198           192,155           174,417           183,425           176,002           181,164           188,116           


11,029,266      7,975,260        8,580,575        10,309,188      9,430,638        10,885,944      10,856,111      10,899,075      13,369,094      13,185,737      13,774,212      19,836,228      
2,983,182        8,160,018        5,754,563        3,313,701        2,664,246        (206,567)          (865,857)          (458,565)          (2,915,882)       (3,138,226)       (3,651,483)       (8,409,972)       


58,937,137      61,920,318      70,080,336      75,834,899      79,148,599      81,812,845      81,606,278      80,740,421      80,281,857      77,365,974      74,227,748      70,576,265      


61,920,318      70,080,336      75,834,899      79,148,599      81,812,845      81,606,278      80,740,421      80,281,857      77,365,974      74,227,748      70,576,265      62,166,293      


(9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (9,006,843)       (4,100,177)       


52,913,475    61,073,493    66,828,056    70,141,756    72,806,002    72,599,435    71,733,578    71,275,014    68,359,131    65,220,905    61,569,422    58,066,116    


1,386,240        1,387,107        1,387,974        1,282,558        1,283,360        1,284,162        1,284,964        1,285,767        1,286,571        1,287,375        1,288,180        1,288,985        
-                     -                     (106,250)          -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


866                 867                 834                 802                 802                 803                 803                 804                 804                 805                 805                 806                 
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


1,387,107        1,387,974        1,282,558        1,283,360        1,284,162        1,284,964        1,285,767        1,286,571        1,287,375        1,288,180        1,288,985        1,289,790        


Projection 2011-P-2.2







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


July YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,638,823 2,961,155 (322,332) 21,040,613 22,854,457 (1,813,844)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,629,604 1,635,364 (5,760) 13,099,150 12,609,007 490,142


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 934,921 924,672 10,248 19,668,630 18,710,011 958,619


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 35,972 63,250 (27,277) 618,457 1,452,801 (834,343)


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 0 0 0 0 (11,547) 11,547


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 5,239,320 5,584,442 (345,121) 54,426,849 55,614,729 (1,187,879)


Incremental Funds - PGE 1,742,867 1,649,436 93,432 11,367,015 11,833,137 (466,122)


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 1,541,758 1,452,206 89,552 10,875,367 11,847,888 (972,521)


NW Natural - Industrial DSM 145,833 145,833 (0) 852,246 879,167 (26,921)


NW Natural - Washington 87,708 45,278 42,430 495,208 365,044 130,164


Contributions 0 0 0 1,085 0 1,085


Revenue from Investments 35,094 10,431 24,664 267,024 81,413 185,610
------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 8,792,581 8,887,625 (95,044) 78,284,794 80,621,378 (2,336,584)
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 3,160,415 3,092,610 (67,805) 20,224,980 21,055,833 830,853


Incentives 8,052,686 7,473,961 (578,724) 29,879,805 37,642,620 7,762,815


Salaries and Related Expenses 639,823 643,463 3,641 4,118,150 4,502,645 384,495


Professional Services 636,108 1,032,947 396,839 4,430,803 7,079,302 2,648,499


Supplies 6,039 6,522 484 27,919 43,989 16,070


Telephone 4,450 6,658 2,208 20,046 46,608 26,562


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,975 3,458 1,484 7,840 24,208 16,369


Occupancy Expenses 31,949 41,886 9,937 234,533 289,205 54,673


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 32,848 44,843 11,996 229,684 331,190 101,505


Call Center 15,313 12,215 (3,098) 99,096 120,129 21,033


Printing and Publications 11,428 17,958 6,530 65,631 125,708 60,078


Travel 7,368 17,017 9,650 65,143 124,622 59,480


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 5,709 30,878 25,169 93,506 216,146 122,640


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 74 0 (74) 74 0 (74)


Insurance 5,870 7,500 1,630 45,728 52,500 6,772


Miscellaneous Expenses 0 215 215 4,255 1,502 (2,753)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 13,201 10,692 (2,508) 71,325 77,267 5,943


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 12,625,254 12,442,826 (182,428) 59,618,515 71,733,475 12,114,959


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (3,832,673) (3,555,201) (277,472) 18,666,278 8,887,903 9,778,375
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2010


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications & Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 39,860,981 10,243,804 50,104,785 0 50,104,785
Payroll and Related Expenses 946,631 524,492 1,471,123 942,918 274,075 1,216,992 2,688,115
Outsourced Services 2,386,355 529,016 2,915,370 174,867 408,295 583,162 3,498,532
Planning and Evaluation 716,656 106,617 823,273 14,854 10,408 25,261 848,534
Customer Service Management 439,375 57,445 496,819 0 496,819
Trade Allies Network 200,026 20,607 220,633 0 220,633


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ------------------------
Total Program Expenses 44,550,024 11,481,980 56,032,004 1,132,638 692,777 1,825,415 57,857,419


Program Support Costs


Supplies 6,210 3,082 9,292 5,759 2,388 8,148 17,440
Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,663 847 2,510 1,688 528 2,216 4,726
Telephone 2,036 1,381 3,417 2,055 553 2,608 6,025
Printing and Publications 42,694 9,297 51,991 2,409 5,759 8,168 60,159
Occupancy Expenses 57,245 29,148 86,394 44,279 18,184 62,463 148,857
Insurance 11,161 5,683 16,844 8,633 3,545 12,179 29,023
Equipment 1,982 27,247 29,229 1,533 2,404 3,937 33,166
Travel 17,979 15,599 33,578 14,201 975 15,177 48,755
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 14,946 7,827 22,773 41,914 4,634 46,548 69,321
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 18 9 27 14 6 20 47
Depreciation & Amortization 2,538 12,599 15,138 1,963 806 2,769 17,907
Dues, Licenses and Fees 41,974 13,912 55,886 8,806 2,145 10,951 66,837
Miscellaneous Expenses 556 1,600 2,156 105 19 124 2,281
IT Services 824,197 123,628 947,825 219,318 89,409 308,728 1,256,553


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,025,200 251,861 1,277,061 352,680 131,355 484,035 1,761,096


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------- -------------------------- ------------------- ------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 45,575,223 11,733,842 57,309,065 1,485,318 824,132 2,309,450 59,618,515


============ ============ ============ =========== =============== =========== ==============


OPUC measure, versus 11% 5%


Exp-Acct-YTD-002







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Total NW WA


NWN 
Industrial 


DSM NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $16,390,066 $10,062,097 $26,452,163 $19,668,630 $618,457 $46,739,249 $4,650,547 $3,037,053 $7,687,600 $54,426,849
Incremental Funding 11,367,015 10,875,367 22,242,382 407,500 852,246 23,502,128 23,502,128
Self Direct Repayment (0) (0)
Contributions 1,085 1,085
Revenue from Investments 267,024 267,024


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 27,757,080 20,937,464 48,694,544 407,500 852,246 19,668,630 618,457 70,241,377 4,650,547 3,037,053 7,687,600 268,109 78,197,086


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,216,406 748,005 1,964,412 17,549 17,152 594,521 39,524 6 2,633,164 299,690 226,261 525,950 3,159,114
  Program Delivery 8,349,916 5,645,874 13,995,790 60,461 196,307 2,415,110 245,088 45 16,912,801 54,536 84,400 138,936 17,051,737
  Incentives 9,683,502 5,721,414 15,404,916 81,185 123,844 3,869,318 297,076 57 19,776,395 6,477,488 3,625,922 10,103,410 29,879,805
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 811,450 503,572 1,315,022 6,638 10,081 280,337 26,957 3 1,639,037 74,302 54,867 129,169 1,768,206
  Program Marketing/Outreach 925,448 591,054 1,516,502 24,737 1,717 554,767 36,919 10 2,134,652 62,286 31,609 93,895 2,228,547
  Program Quality Assurance 19,793 15,090 34,883 734 0 25,696 1,137 0 62,449 0 7,725 7,725 70,174
  Outsourced  Services 336,956 117,453 454,410 1,191 491 289,651 6,351 0 752,094 242,441 162,387 404,828 1,156,922
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 267,218 166,536 433,754 5,533 1,478 188,535 10,100 2 639,400 52,352 25,700 78,052 717,452
  IT Services 369,584 230,120 599,704 5,291 4,169 200,354 14,677 2 824,197 72,381 51,247 123,628 947,825
  Other Program Expenses 85,596 55,503 141,100 7,228 1,497 47,455 3,754 1 201,034 75,850 52,400 128,249 329,283


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 22,065,869 13,794,622 35,860,491 210,546 356,736 8,465,743 681,582 124 45,575,223 7,411,324 4,322,518 11,733,842 57,309,065


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 571,896 357,525 929,421 5,457 9,246 219,412 17,665 3 1,181,204 192,456 111,657 304,114 1,485,318
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 317,318 198,373 515,691 3,028 5,130 121,742 9,801 2 655,394 106,785 61,953 168,738 824,132


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
Total Administrative Costs 889,214 555,898 1,445,112 8,485 14,376 341,154 27,467 5 1,836,598 299,241 173,611 472,852 2,309,450


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 22,955,083 14,350,520 37,305,603 219,031 371,112 8,806,897 709,049 129 47,411,821 7,710,565 4,496,129 12,206,694 59,618,515


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------ ----------------- ------------------ -------------- ---------- ---------------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------- --------------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 4,801,997 6,586,944 11,388,941 188,469 481,134 10,861,732 (90,592) (129) 22,829,556 (3,060,018) (1,459,076) (4,519,094) 268,109 18,578,570


========== ========== ========== ======= ========= ========== ======= ====== ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/09 (Note 4) 15,974,053 (3,722,624) 12,251,429 402,975 583,282 (2,370,484) 435,084 25,458 11,327,745 25,411,648 11,987,317 37,398,965 9,902,055 58,628,765
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) 1,740,000


========== ========== ========== ======= ========= ========== ======= ====== ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 20,776,050 4,024,320 24,800,370 591,445 1,064,416 13,491,249 344,492 25,329 40,317,300 22,351,630 12,228,241 34,579,871 2,310,164 77,207,335


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2009 reflects audited results.







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory


For the Seven Months Ending July 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


PGE
Pacific 
Power


Subtotal Elec. 
Utilities NWN WA


NWN Industrial 
DSM


NW Natural 
Gas Cascade Avista


Subtotal Gas 
Providers Total Budget Difference


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $5,481,034 $2,379,734 $7,860,768 $86,099 $76,354 $1,502,128 $59,023 $1,723,604 $9,584,372 $11,362,170 $1,777,798
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 1,944,388 1,779,671 3,724,059 0 1,449,296 276,838 1,726,134 5,450,193 7,769,221 2,319,028
Market Transformation (NEEA) 723,228 545,593 1,268,821 0 0 1,268,821 1,485,300 216,479


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------
  Total Commercial 8,148,650 4,704,998 12,853,648 86,099 76,354 2,951,424 335,860 3,449,737 16,303,386 20,616,690 4,313,305


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 4,973,062 2,978,265 7,951,327 294,758 75,837 31,578 402,173 8,353,500 10,241,712 1,888,212
Market Transformation (NEEA) 145,973 110,120 256,092 0 0 256,092 700,247 444,155


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------
  Total Industrial 5,119,035 3,088,384 8,207,419 294,758 75,837 31,578 402,173 8,609,592 10,941,958 2,332,366


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 3,545,271 2,713,539 6,258,810 132,932 0 4,641,523 204,188 4,978,642 11,237,453 13,290,527 2,053,074
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 4,996,886 2,979,644 7,976,530 0 1,138,114 137,422 129 1,275,665 9,252,195 8,141,972 (1,110,223)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,145,241 863,955 2,009,196 0 0 2,009,196 1,802,613 (206,583)


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------
  Total Residential 9,687,399 6,557,137 16,244,536 132,932 0 5,779,636 341,610 129 6,254,307 22,498,844 23,235,112 736,268


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 22,955,083 14,350,520 37,305,603 219,031 371,112 8,806,897 709,049 129 10,106,218 47,411,821 54,793,761 7,381,939


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------


Renewables


Biopower 175,946 385,370 561,316 0 0 561,316 720,584 159,269
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 4,617,819 2,243,557 6,861,375 0 0 6,861,375 7,283,066 421,691
Other Renewable 2,916,801 1,867,202 4,784,003 4,784,003 8,936,064 4,152,061


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------
  Renewables Program Costs 7,710,565 4,496,129 12,206,694 0 0 12,206,694 16,939,714 4,733,020


------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------ ------------------------------- ---------------


======== ======== ========== ======== ============ ========== ====== ===== ========== ======== ========= ========
  Cost Grand Total 30,665,649 18,846,648 49,512,297 219,031 371,112 8,806,897 709,049 129 10,106,218 59,618,515 71,733,475 12,114,959


======== ======== ========== ======== ============ ========= ====== ===== ========== ======== ======== ========


PUC-Proj-ST-07-B







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Month and Year to Date Ended July 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER YTD
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $15,117 $109,188 $94,072 $169,679 $309,173 $139,494 $62,752 $227,704 $164,953 $408,285 $521,309 $113,024


Legal Services 16,250 16,250 5,164 37,917 32,753


Salaries and Related Expenses 140,479 430,010 289,531 942,918 1,002,576 59,659 40,133 137,311 97,178 274,075 320,393 46,319


Supplies 1,125 1,125 1,093 2,625 1,532 750 750 472 1,750 1,278


Telephone 120 1,400 1,280 802 2,100 1,298 38 (38)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 750 750 402 1,750 1,348 2,500 2,500 5,833 5,833


Noncapitalized Equipment 500 500 1,774 1,167 (608)


Printing and Publications 54 125 71 209 292 83 20 6,250 6,230 4,855 14,583 9,728


Travel 2,686 8,270 5,584 14,182 19,297 5,114 2,500 2,500 967 5,833 4,866


Conference, Training & Mtngs 1,061 30,023 28,962 41,861 70,053 28,192 (185) 3,250 3,435 4,612 7,583 2,971


Miscellaneous Expenses 19 19 59 44 (15)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 3,875 1,469 (2,406) 8,712 5,847 (2,865) 2,500 2,500 2,106 5,833 3,727


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 10,010 35,595 25,585 66,066 82,282 16,216 3,753 15,188 11,434 27,131 35,108 7,978


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 37,509 156,914 119,405 219,318 344,270 124,952 15,291 63,969 48,678 89,409 140,348 50,939


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 2,226 9,631 7,404 14,854 21,857 7,003 1,560 6,774 5,214 10,408 15,374 4,966


------------------ ---------------------- -------------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ------------------ ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 213,137 800,769 587,631 1,485,318 1,900,082 414,764 123,324 469,196 345,872 824,132 1,075,116 250,984


========== ============= =========== ========= ========= ========== ========== ============= =========== ======== ========= ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 1st Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-001







$-


$10 


$20 


$30 


$40 


$50 


$60 


$70 


$80 


$90 


January February March April May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


January February March April May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$16 


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010
$40 


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


$-


$10 


$20 


$30 


$40 


$50 


$60 


$70 


$80 


$90 


January February March April May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


January February March April May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$2 


$4 


$6 


$8 


$10 


$12 


$14 


$16 


January February March April May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010


Budget


Actual


Last Yr


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


$30 


$35 


$40 


January February March April May June July


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


Budget
Actual
Last Yr








Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


September 30, 2010
(Unaudited)


SEP AUG DEC Change from Change from
2010 2010 2009 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 72,328,765 72,915,581 63,059,796 (586,816) 9,268,969
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 1,514,342 1,514,031 5,533,972 311 (4,019,629)
  Investments 10,050,118 10,050,118 0 10,050,118
  Receivables 21,836 20,922 106,937 914 (85,101)
  Prepaid Expenses 363,180 314,333 182,941 48,847 180,239
  Advances to Vendors 2,274,664 1,177,606 39,065 1,097,058 2,235,599


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
   Total Current Assets 86,552,905 85,992,590 68,922,710 560,315 17,630,195


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 101,675 101,675 101,675 0 0
  Computer Hardware and Software 1,070,691 1,034,466 1,010,947 36,226 59,744
  Software Development 397,503 397,503 397,503
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 22,382 22,382 0 0
  Office Equipment and Furniture 127,354 127,354 127,354 0 0


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,719,606 1,285,877 1,262,358 433,729 457,247
  Less Depreciation (1,078,638) (1,070,189) (991,562) (8,448) (87,075)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 640,968 215,688 270,796 425,280 370,172


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 28,000 28,000 26,000 0 2,000
  Deferred Compensation Asset 191,616 185,792 144,451 5,824 47,165


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Other Assets 219,616 213,792 170,451 5,824 49,165


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Assets 87,413,489 86,422,070 69,363,957 991,419 18,049,532


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 8,303,281 6,676,624 10,090,054 1,626,658 (1,786,773)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 439,345 442,587 393,467 (3,242) 45,878


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 8,742,626 7,119,211 10,483,521 1,623,416 (1,740,894)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 69,275 73,235 104,910 (3,959) (35,635)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 191,616 185,792 144,451 5,824 47,165
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 2,290 2,310 2,310 (20) (20)


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 263,181 261,336 251,671 1,844 11,510


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities 9,005,807 7,380,547 10,735,192 1,625,260 (1,729,385)


Net Assets
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,514,342 1,514,031 5,611,283 311 (4,096,940)
  Unrestricted Net Assets 76,893,339 77,527,492 53,017,482 (634,153) 23,875,857


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Net Assets 78,407,681 79,041,523 58,628,765 (633,841) 19,778,917


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 87,413,489 86,422,070 69,363,957 991,419 18,049,532


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
BS-Acct-YTD-001







 January February March April May June July August September Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 6,671,534$    6,662,197$    3,652,827$    1,697,273$    3,976,963$    (161,844)$      (3,832,674)$   1,746,479$    (633,843)$      19,778,912$  


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 27,217           6,882             7,129             7,129             7,128             7,627             7,284             8,231             8,449             87,076           
Deferred Rent Amortization (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (35,635)          


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable -                 -                 -                 -                 (4,583)            (3,235)            (1,223)            (1,161)            319                (9,883)            
Other Receivables 17,555           74,099           9,233             (176)               (5,919)            12,145           (10,719)          -                 (1,233)            94,985           
Advances to Vendors (1,002,211)     501,106         (1,095,623)     532,244         75,243           (1,057,054)     673,107         234,651         (1,097,058)     (2,235,595)     
Other Assets (251,530)        37,463           35,867           8,968             (19,665)          35,254           (5,031)            (16,058)          (54,671)          (229,403)        
A/P - Program Subcontracts 2,726,635      (924,690)        (610,450)        58,816           349,188         744,417         681,872         86,496           85,676           3,197,960      
A/P - Incentives (6,885,189)     (26,469)          (265,925)        98,997           (418,882)        467,634         366,154         82,426           1,538,297      (5,042,957)     
A/P - Professional Services (6,449)            8,278             1,324             (2,323)            (22,314)          16,370           185,953         (171,457)        (12,003)          (2,621)            
A/P - Operations 299,797         (261,864)        29,915           (64,433)          (23,085)          (37,651)          59,396           44,076           14,687           60,838           
Payroll and related accruals 31,960           24,388           20,992           11,748           23,890           14,157           (4,335)            (32,339)          2,582             93,043           
Other liabilities 75 (75)                 -                 (20)                 (20)                 


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,781,330      2,344,285      3,933,929      33,861           (1,884,176)     1,977,385      (152,778)        15,756,699    


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (8,880)            (8,953)            (5,684)            (433,728)        (457,245)        
Cash used in Investing Activities -                 -                 (8,880)            -                 (8,953)            -                 -                 (5,684)            (433,728)        (457,245)        


Cash at beginning of Period 68,593,768    70,219,203    76,316,633    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,344    84,392,205    82,508,029    84,479,730    68,593,768    


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,772,450      2,344,285      3,924,976      33,861           (1,884,176)     1,971,701      (586,505)        15,299,456    


Cash at end of period 70,219,203$  76,316,633$  78,089,083$  80,433,368$  84,358,344$  84,392,205$  82,508,029$  84,479,730$  83,893,225$  83,893,225$  


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2010







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Budget & 2011 Proj


2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding 11,690,306    13,889,322    12,086,703    11,388,192    10,685,728    9,520,031      8,757,487      9,194,794      9,549,296      8,850,275      9,012,401      10,256,000    
  Self Direct Repayments -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
  Investment Income 38,104           37,450           41,434           33,616           39,607           33,901           33,871           19,891           16,601           7,770             6,152             3,707             


Total cash in 11,728,410    13,926,772    12,128,137    11,421,808    10,725,335    9,553,932      8,791,358      9,214,685      9,565,897      8,858,045      9,018,552      10,259,708    


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts 903,376         3,103,658      4,884,422      2,593,437      1,996,940      3,178,173      1,816,159      2,326,255      4,234,752      2,771,405      2,785,906      3,520,064      
    Incentives 8,264,022      3,417,690      4,037,383      5,100,739      3,453,860      4,583,261      7,686,532      3,542,187      3,895,762      9,491,097      10,064,415    15,096,401    
    Salaries and related expense 513,577         551,487         561,974         559,376         584,684         580,094         644,158         572,273         621,579         643,463         643,463         643,463         
    Professional services 345,002         411,181         785,365         614,972         589,352         1,053,937      450,155         730,193         753,352         741,349         1,101,758      1,101,798      
    General operating expenses 76,998           345,327         86,543           209,000         175,522         124,607         78,533           72,077           646,957         171,139         190,338         204,229         


Total cash out 10,102,976    7,829,343      10,355,687    9,077,523      6,800,358      9,520,071      10,675,537    7,242,985      10,152,402    13,818,454    14,785,880    20,565,955    
Net cash flow for the month 1,625,434      6,097,429      1,772,450      2,344,285      3,924,977      33,861           (1,884,179)     1,971,700      (586,505)        (4,960,409)     (5,767,328)     (10,306,247)   


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 68,593,768    70,219,203    76,316,632    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,345    84,392,205    82,508,029    84,479,731    83,893,227    78,932,818    73,165,490    
Ending cash & MM 70,219,203    76,316,632    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,345    84,392,205    82,508,029    84,479,731    83,893,227    78,932,818    73,165,490    62,859,243    


Dedicated funds Adjustment (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)   (21,837,922)   (21,837,922)   (21,837,922)   (12,604,340)   (14,969,320)   (16,499,320)   


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Ded 52,934,347    59,031,776    60,804,227    63,148,512    67,073,489    67,107,349    60,670,107    62,641,809    62,055,305    68,471,808    62,339,500    52,033,253    


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 5,533,972      1,806,031      1,806,724      1,693,273      1,594,696      1,595,373      1,596,029      1,513,710      1,514,031      1,514,342      1,383,248      1,384,112      
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (3,728,733)     -                     (114,182)        (99,242)          -                     -                     (82,648)          -                     -                     (132,000)        -                     -                     
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 792                693                731                665                677                656                329                321                311                905                865                865                
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Ending Escrow Balance1


1,806,031      1,806,724      1,693,273      1,594,696      1,595,373      1,596,029      1,513,710      1,514,031      1,514,342      1,383,248      1,384,112      1,384,977      
1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


January 2010 Net Escrow includes the closing of Goodnoe Escrow Account due to project not occuring. Funds were returned to Genearl Operating account.


Actual Budget 2010-B-2.2







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Budget & 2011 Proj


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding
  Self Direct Repayments
  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts
    Incentives
    Salaries and related expense
    Professional services
    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM
Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds Adjustment


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by D


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance
Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding
Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Board Designated (Payments)/Funding
Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011
January February March April May June July August September October November December


13,999,836    16,124,289    14,323,135    13,610,869    12,083,051    10,667,848    9,979,823      10,430,819    10,443,974    10,039,741    10,116,577    11,422,549    
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


12,611           10,989           12,002           12,019           11,833           11,529           10,431           9,692             9,237             7,770             6,152             3,707             


14,012,448    16,135,278    14,335,137    13,622,888    12,094,884    10,679,377    9,990,254      10,440,510    10,453,212    10,047,511    10,122,729    11,426,256    


2,807,046      3,025,212      3,079,058      3,069,870      3,132,328      3,135,578      3,138,050      3,157,611      3,213,833      3,217,033      3,203,148      3,201,598      
6,144,462      3,219,287      3,749,012      5,493,475      4,538,205      5,241,684      5,897,857      5,953,849      8,358,637      8,144,003      8,674,456      14,731,071    


674,382         674,382         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         675,222         
1,144,713      860,382         860,447         896,077         907,263         907,263         952,828         937,977         937,977         973,477         1,040,223      1,040,223      


258,664         195,997         216,837         174,544         177,621         926,198         192,155         174,417         183,425         176,002         181,164         188,116         


11,029,266    7,975,260      8,580,575      10,309,188    9,430,638      10,885,944    10,856,111    10,899,075    13,369,094    13,185,737    13,774,212    19,836,228    
2,983,182      8,160,018      5,754,563      3,313,701      2,664,246      (206,567)        (865,857)        (458,565)        (2,915,882)     (3,138,226)     (3,651,483)     (8,409,972)     


62,859,243    65,842,425    74,002,442    79,757,005    83,070,706    85,734,952    85,528,384    84,662,528    84,203,963    81,288,081    78,149,854    74,498,371    
65,842,425    74,002,442    79,757,005    83,070,706    85,734,952    85,528,384    84,662,528    84,203,963    81,288,081    78,149,854    74,498,371    66,088,400    


(15,646,103)   (15,502,453)   (16,726,786)   (16,618,786)   (16,565,036)   (14,092,608)   (13,993,608)   (13,960,033)   (11,792,132)   (11,693,132)   (11,664,382)   (8,797,183)     


55,869,651    64,173,319    70,203,549    73,625,249    76,343,245    79,709,106    78,942,249    78,517,260    76,069,278    73,030,052    69,407,319    61,384,546    


1,384,977      1,385,843      1,386,709      1,281,293      1,282,093      1,282,895      1,283,696      1,284,499      1,285,302      1,286,105      1,286,909      1,287,713      
-                     -                     (106,250)        -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


866                866                833                801                801                802                802                803                803                804                804                805                
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     


1,385,843      1,386,709      1,281,293      1,282,093      1,282,895      1,283,696      1,284,499      1,285,302      1,286,105      1,286,909      1,287,713      1,288,518      


Projection 2011-P-2.2







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2010
(Unaudited)


September YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,872,648 3,133,725 (261,077) 26,597,687 29,025,337 (2,427,650)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,767,941 1,792,139 (24,198) 16,557,899 16,205,062 352,838


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 682,943 708,225 (25,282) 21,173,372 20,267,548 905,824


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 121,913 53,790 68,123 870,696 1,559,605 (688,909)


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 0 0 0 0 (11,547) 11,547


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 5,445,446 5,687,879 (242,433) 65,199,654 67,046,005 (1,846,351)


Incremental Funds - PGE 2,246,188 1,763,801 482,387 15,697,489 15,302,661 394,828


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 1,711,829 1,600,166 111,663 14,224,512 15,064,995 (840,483)


NW Natural - Industrial DSM 145,833 145,833 (0) 1,143,912 1,170,833 (26,921)


NW Natural - Washington 0 45,278 (45,278) 495,208 455,600 39,608


Contributions 0 0 0 1,085 0 1,085


Revenue from Investments 16,282 9,237 7,045 304,358 100,343 204,016
------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 9,565,578 9,252,194 313,384 97,066,218 99,140,437 (2,074,219)
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 3,222,117 3,143,586 (78,532) 26,094,500 27,334,597 1,240,097


Incentives 5,434,059 5,986,254 552,195 38,938,477 48,754,611 9,816,134


Salaries and Related Expenses 624,161 643,463 19,302 5,282,245 5,789,572 507,326


Professional Services 741,349 1,074,862 333,513 5,730,888 9,187,151 3,456,263


Supplies 2,296 6,522 4,226 32,685 57,033 24,349


Telephone 3,237 7,158 3,921 23,845 60,425 36,580


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,238 3,458 2,220 10,082 31,125 21,043


Occupancy Expenses 37,382 41,886 4,504 305,727 372,977 67,250


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 39,495 50,643 11,148 273,431 441,676 168,245


Call Center 15,135 14,829 (305) 130,172 149,713 19,541


Printing and Publications 3,084 17,958 14,875 80,612 161,625 81,013


Travel 13,729 18,517 4,788 82,996 160,157 77,161


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 27,107 30,878 3,771 132,859 286,502 153,643


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 5,000 0 (5,000) 5,000 0 (5,000)


Insurance 7,078 7,500 422 57,739 67,500 9,761


Miscellaneous Expenses 11,517 215 (11,303) 15,816 1,931 (13,884)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 11,434 10,692 (741) 90,227 98,652 8,426


---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 10,199,420 11,058,424 859,004 77,287,301 92,955,249 15,667,947


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (633,841) (1,806,229) 1,172,388 19,778,917 6,185,188 13,593,729
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2010


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications & Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 52,905,375 12,127,601 65,032,976 65,032,976
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,219,988 667,620 1,887,608 1,209,368 348,701 1,558,068 3,445,677
Outsourced Services 3,126,641 650,085 3,776,726 193,666 547,396 741,062 4,517,788
Planning and Evaluation 966,613 143,803 1,110,415 20,034 14,038 34,072 1,144,487
Customer Service Management 569,874 71,190 641,064 641,064
Trade Allies Network 251,566 25,917 277,483 277,483


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
Total Program Expenses 59,040,057 13,686,216 72,726,273 1,423,068 910,134 2,333,202 75,059,476


Program Support Costs


Supplies 7,388 3,642 11,030 6,773 2,700 9,473 20,503
Postage and Shipping Expenses 2,119 1,067 3,187 2,465 655 3,120 6,306
Telephone 2,862 1,680 4,542 2,524 669 3,193 7,736
Printing and Publications 47,516 10,433 57,948 3,007 12,086 15,093 73,042
Occupancy Expenses 74,984 37,762 112,746 58,343 23,167 81,510 194,256
Insurance 14,161 7,132 21,293 11,019 4,375 15,394 36,687
Equipment 2,330 34,628 36,958 1,813 2,494 4,307 41,264
Travel 22,344 18,724 41,068 17,878 967 18,845 59,913
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 16,949 9,914 26,863 66,117 4,634 70,751 97,614
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 5,000 5,000 5,000
Depreciation & Amortization 3,279 16,189 19,468 2,551 1,013 3,565 23,033
Dues, Licenses and Fees 45,490 20,976 66,466 10,496 2,973 13,468 79,934
Miscellaneous Expenses 12,010 1,616 13,626 141 28 169 13,795
IT Services 1,028,969 154,344 1,183,313 273,808 111,623 385,431 1,568,744


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,280,402 318,105 1,598,507 461,935 167,384 629,319 2,227,826


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- --------------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 60,320,472 14,004,322 74,324,794 1,885,005 1,077,518 2,962,523 77,287,317


============= ============= ============= ============= =============== ============= =============


OPUC measure, versus 11% 5%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2010
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Total
NWN 


Industrial NW Natural Cascade Avista Oregon Total NWN WA ETO Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $20,713,558 $12,718,887 $33,432,445 $21,173,372 $870,696 $55,476,513 $55,476,513 $5,884,129 $3,839,013 $9,723,142 $65,199,655
Incremental Funding 15,697,489 14,224,512 29,922,001 1,143,912 31,065,913 495,208 31,561,121 31,561,121
Contributions 1,085 1,085
Revenue from Investments 304,358 304,358


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 36,411,047 26,943,399 63,354,446 1,143,912 21,173,372 870,696 86,542,426 495,208 87,037,634 5,884,129 3,839,013 9,723,142 305,443 97,066,218


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,583,394 906,596 2,489,990 23,977 745,840 48,447 3,308,254 71,061 3,379,315 390,895 278,600 669,495 4,048,810
  Program Delivery 11,011,188 7,089,814 18,101,002 274,505 3,002,449 296,544 21,674,500 91,730 21,766,230 87,515 104,682 192,197 21,958,427
  Incentives 13,603,413 7,592,827 21,196,240 238,274 4,953,803 371,828 26,760,145 244,801 27,004,946 7,611,226 4,322,305 11,933,531 38,938,477
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 1,158,658 664,739 1,823,397 16,356 411,384 35,193 2,286,330 6,287 2,292,617 101,516 71,724 173,240 2,465,857
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,261,010 778,055 2,039,065 3,142 737,743 48,418 2,828,368 22,732 2,851,100 67,217 35,384 102,601 2,953,701
  Program Quality Assurance 26,141 19,384 45,525 0 33,167 1,523 80,215 14 80,229 0 7,725 7,725 87,954
  Outsourced  Services 379,608 153,383 532,991 1,435 303,195 6,525 844,146 11 844,157 299,849 210,458 510,307 1,354,464
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 342,398 202,793 545,190 2,794 233,473 13,002 794,460 26,979 821,439 64,254 32,853 97,107 918,546
  IT Services 469,112 272,562 741,674 6,653 241,378 16,887 1,006,591 22,379 1,028,970 91,492 62,851 154,343 1,183,313
  Other Program Expenses 110,274 66,277 176,552 2,238 56,822 4,171 239,783 11,686 251,469 96,851 66,925 163,776 415,245


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 29,945,196 17,746,429 47,691,625 569,374 10,719,255 842,537 59,822,791 497,681 60,320,472 8,810,815 5,193,507 14,004,322 74,324,794


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 759,443 450,066 1,209,509 14,440 271,834 21,367 1,517,150 12,681 1,529,831 224,010 131,164 355,174 1,885,005
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 434,117 257,269 691,386 8,254 155,388 12,214 867,242 7,250 874,492 128,049 74,977 203,026 1,077,518


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,193,560 707,335 1,900,895 22,695 427,222 33,581 2,384,393 19,930 2,404,323 352,060 206,140 558,200 2,962,523


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 31,138,750 18,453,765 49,592,515 592,069 11,146,474 876,115 62,207,173 517,608 62,724,781 9,162,875 5,399,648 14,562,523 77,287,301


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- ------------- ---------- ------------------ ------------- ----------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 5,272,297 8,489,634 13,761,931 551,843 10,026,898 (5,419) 24,335,253 (22,400) 24,312,853 (3,278,746) (1,560,635) (4,839,381) 305,443 19,778,917


========== ========== ========== ========= ========== ======= ===== ========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ==========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/09 (Note 4) 15,974,053 (3,722,624) 12,251,429 583,282 (2,370,484) 435,084 25,458 10,924,769 402,975 11,327,744 25,411,648 11,987,317 37,398,965 9,902,055 58,628,764
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) 1,740,000


========== ========== ========== ========= ========== ======= ===== ========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ==========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 21,246,350 5,927,010 27,173,360 1,135,125 12,656,414 429,665 25,458 41,420,022 380,575 41,800,597 22,132,902 12,126,682 34,259,584 2,347,498 78,407,681


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2009 reflects audited results.







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expense by Service Territorty


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2010
(Unaudited)


PGE Pacific Power
Subtotal Elec. 


Utilities
NWN 


Industrial
NW Natural 


Gas Cascade Avista
Subtotal Gas 


Providers Oregon Total NWN WA ETO Total


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 8,151,805$       2,936,720$       11,088,525$   181,409$  1,924,486$ 105,562$      2,211,457$       13,299,982$       255,602$       13,555,584$       
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 3,014,663 2,210,856 5,225,519 1,913,084 267,317 2,180,401 7,405,920 7,405,920
Market Transformation (NEEA) 897,331 676,934 1,574,265 1,574,265 1,574,265


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------
  Total Commercial 12,063,799 5,824,510 17,888,309 181,409 3,837,570 372,879 4,391,858 22,280,167 255,602 22,535,769


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficienc 6,537,637 4,095,279 10,632,916 410,660 164,368 57,195 632,223 11,265,139 11,265,139
Market Transformation (NEEA) 208,033 156,938 364,971 364,971 364,971


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------
  Total Industrial 6,745,670 4,252,217 10,997,887 410,660 164,368 57,195 632,223 11,630,110 11,630,110


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 4,436,116 3,304,478 7,740,594 5,723,240 260,537 5,983,777 13,724,371 218,847 13,943,218
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 6,416,657 3,958,701 10,375,358 1,421,296 185,504 1,606,800 11,982,158 43,159 12,025,317
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,476,508 1,113,859 2,590,367 2,590,367 2,590,367


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------
  Total Residential 12,329,281 8,377,038 20,706,319 7,144,536 446,041 7,590,577 28,296,896 262,006 28,558,902


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 31,138,750 18,453,765 49,592,515 592,069 11,146,474 876,115 12,614,658 62,207,173 517,608 62,724,781


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------


Renewables


Biopower 287,141 437,799 724,940 724,940 724,940
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 5,841,290 2,957,498 8,798,788 8,798,788 8,798,788
Other Renewable 3,034,444 2,004,351 5,038,795 5,038,795 5,038,795


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------
  Renewables Program Costs 9,162,875 5,399,648 14,562,523 14,562,523 14,562,523


---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------------- ---------- ---------------------- ------------------------ ------------------- ------------------------


============ ============ =========== ======== ========== =========== ====== ============ ============= =========== =============
  Cost Grand Total 40,301,625 23,853,413 64,155,038 592,069 11,146,474 876,115 12,614,658 76,769,696 517,608 77,287,301


============ ============ =========== ======== ========== =========== ====== ============ ============= =========== =============


PUC-Proj-ST-07-C







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended September 30, 2010
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $33,824 $109,188 $75,364 $188,386 $381,965 $193,579 $201,852 $227,704 $25,852 $547,386 $673,112 $125,726


Legal Services 92 16,250 16,158 5,256 48,750 43,494


Salaries and Related Expenses 406,929 430,010 23,081 1,209,368 1,289,250 79,882 114,759 137,311 22,552 348,701 411,934 63,234


Supplies 69 1,125 1,056 1,162 3,375 2,213 750 750 472 2,250 1,778


Telephone 253 1,400 1,147 934 3,200 2,266 38 (38)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 414 750 336 816 2,250 1,434 2,500 2,500 7,500 7,500


Noncapitalized Equipment 500 500 1,774 1,500 (274)


Printing and Publications 43 125 82 198 375 178 6,135 6,250 115 10,970 18,750 7,780


Travel 6,382 8,270 1,888 17,878 24,810 6,932 2,500 2,500 967 7,500 6,533


Conference, Training & Mtngs 25,263 30,023 4,759 66,064 90,068 24,005 (185) 3,250 3,435 4,612 9,750 5,138


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 5,000 (5,000) 5,000 (5,000)


Miscellaneous Expenses 12 19 7 70 56 (14)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 5,325 1,469 (3,856) 10,162 6,826 (3,335) 734 2,500 1,766 2,840 7,500 4,660


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 29,812 35,595 5,784 85,868 106,013 20,145 10,719 15,188 4,469 34,097 45,233 11,137


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 91,999 156,914 64,915 273,808 450,048 176,240 37,505 63,969 26,464 111,623 183,471 71,848


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 7,407 9,631 2,224 20,034 28,291 8,257 5,190 6,774 1,584 14,038 19,900 5,862


--------------- ---------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ --------------- ---------------- ------------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 612,823 800,769 187,946 1,885,005 2,435,277 550,274 376,710 469,196 92,487 1,077,518 1,388,400 310,882


======== ========= ========== ========= ========= ========== ======== ========= ========== ========= ========= ==========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003







$-


$20 


$40 


$60 


$80 


$100 


$120 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$16 


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010
$60 


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


$-


$20 


$40 


$60 


$80 


$100 


$120 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$2 


$4 


$6 


$8 


$10 


$12 


$14 


$16 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010


Budget


Actual


Last Yr


$-


$10 


$20 


$30 


$40 


$50 


$60 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


Budget
Actual
Last Yr








 
Finance Committee Notes 
October 18, 2010 
 
The Finance Committee met at 3:00 pm via teleconference on October 18, 2010 with John 
Klosterman, Treasurer and Finance Committee chair; Debbie Kitchin, Board member; John 
Reynolds, Board Chair; Margie Harris, Executive Director; Sue Sample, CFO; and Pati Presnail, 
Controller, attending. Dan Enloe was not able to attend.  


Review of 2011 Budget Materials 


Pati described a little about the budget process this year before diving into the budget “flash” 
report provided to the Committee for review. The process started earlier this year with Planning 
and Evaluation folks working the programs and then with Steve Lacey to develop IRP 
background material for the utilities. This allowed Energy Trust to approach the budget this year 
from the savings and expense side up and from the resources side down to derive a realistic 
result. There are still some minor revisions to come with an anticipated increase in savings and 
decrease in spending. The Committee liked the format of the flash report and thought it provided 
some great analysis tools. Forecasting for year end is currently underway. Pati expects to have 
completed information for the budget revisions by Wednesday, October 20th. She will also 
research the wide variance between conservative and stretch goals in the Biomass program to 
determine that the cause is indeed just project mix. 


Pati continued to highlight several areas in the budget: 


• The spread between conservative and stretch goals is now 15% instead of 25% 
as it was in the past or 10% as the utilities requested  


• Incentives continue to be slightly over 50% of total costs, reflecting the increase 
in delivery cost and effort required to deliver programs in absence of low hanging 
fruit 


• Timing of both expenses and revenues continues to reflect “hockey stick” effect 


• Levelized costs reflect the inclusion of shorter-lived measures due partly to the 
economy  


• The shortfall in reserve amounts by utility will be addressed in the budget draft for 
the Board. Reserves of 5% of revenue are not reflected in this version 


• Gas transformation savings are included separately as they represent the result 
of work done in prior years, representing code changes and furnaces for example 


• Electric transformation is considered funded through our work with NEEA 


Margie reported that she is working now on the draft budget presentation for the Board and 
intends to highlight several themes. Among them: 


• Projected year end results 


• Impact of economy 


• Redesign impact, particularly on customer service 







Finance Committee Notes  October 18, 2010 


 2


• Sector strategic plans-a synopsis will be included 


• Diversification of offerings 


• Integrated Solutions Project (ISP) monitoring tools and risk 


• Upcoming legislative session and outreach efforts 


• Potential office space move 


Investment Policy Review 


Committee members were able to review the Energy Trust investment policy and generally did 
not have any major concerns about it. Even though our actual implementation is more 
conservative, the Committee believes it is beneficial to maintain the flexibility as described in the 
adopted policy. The committee would like to re-examine the policy when Dan Enloe is able to 
join in the meeting and would like to gain some understanding of the value of the bond ratings in 
particular. They asked that a special meeting be set up prior to the Board meeting on November 
10th to discuss. A suggestion was made for a teleconference meeting on November 8th at 3 pm. 
Sue will follow up with Nancy to schedule. 


August 2010 Financial Statements 


The Committee had reviewed the financial statements and found nothing unusual in the results. 


Sue reflected that September statements (3rd quarter) would be out very soon as well as the 
forecast for year end. This information will provide a more current picture of our status. 


Other Updates 


The Oregon Employment Division is conducting an audit of Energy Trust employment records 
and practices. The audit will check compliance with Oregon employment laws, payment of 
unemployment insurance, etc. We have no indication that the audit is other than routine.  


The committee members present agreed that Monday meetings at 3 pm continue to work for 
them. Sue will send out the 2011 schedule so the committee can get the meetings on their 
calendars.  


 
The meeting adjourned at 4 pm. 
 
Next Meeting 
 
The Finance Committee’s next regularly scheduled meeting is on December 6th at 3 pm.  
The intent is to have a teleconference meeting prior to the November 10th Board meeting to 
discuss the investment policy. 
 








 
Finance Committee Notes 
October 25, 2010 
 
The Finance Committee met at 11:30 am via teleconference on October 25, 2010 with John 
Klosterman, Treasurer and Finance Committee chair; Debbie Kitchin, Board Secretary; Dan 
Enloe, Board member; Sue Sample, CFO attending. John Reynolds and Margie Harris were not 
able to attend.  


Investment Policy Review 


The committee members reviewed the current investment policy and compared it with those 
provided by Umpqua Bank. While the policy provides for a broader range of investments, the 
Committee is currently not comfortable with the potential risk involved in participating in the 
corporate bond markets, regardless of the ratings. The unsettled economic climate, the public 
turmoil regarding the ratings and rating agencies, and the small potential gain were all 
contributing factors to this uneasiness. The Committee has chosen to retain the current policy 
for the flexibility it provides, but implement only its more conservative aspects for the near 
future. 


The one exception to this might be a bond issued by a public entity to support the development 
of a major project falling within the Energy Trust mission. An example could be a Port bond to 
establish solar capacity. This investment would still need to meet all the criteria contained in the 
current policy.  


The committee will re-evaluate its position mid-year 2011 or when they have confidence things 
have settled down somewhat. 
The meeting adjourned at 11:50 am. 
 
Next Meeting 
 
The Finance Committee’s next regularly scheduled meeting is on December 6th at 3 pm.  
 








 
Finance Committee Notes 
September 21, 2010 
 
The Finance Committee met at 2:00 pm on September 21, 2010, with John Klosterman, 
Treasurer and Finance Committee chair; Debbie Kitchin, Board Secretary; Dan Enloe, Board 
member; John Reynolds, Board Chair, Margie Harris, Executive Director; Sue Sample, CFO; 
and Pati Presnail, Controller attending. Attending from Umpqua Bank were Omar Marquez, 
Investments Advisor; Karla Pemberton, Client Service Associate; and Brian Alfano, Business 
Relationship Manager.  


Umpqua Investments 


With earnings on FDIC insured financial products very low and scheduled to be reduced yet 
again at year end and with returns on other conservative financial vehicles also very low, the 
Finance Committee reviewed a proposal from Omar Marquez, Senior Vice President-
Investments at Umpqua Investments to potentially place some of Energy Trust’s retained funds 
in investment vehicles that might earn a higher rate of return with accompanying risk of loss. 
The proposal from Umpqua Investments incorporated the use of Advisors Asset Management, 
Inc. in providing Unit Investment Trusts of professionally selected and monitored securities. The 
committee listened to the presentation, reviewed the proposal, asked many questions and 
requested further research be conducted and returned to them prior to making any decisions. 


The committee reaffirmed its general belief that given the nature of the funds received by 
Energy Trust, risk of market and principal loss is generally unacceptable. But further review of 
the investment policy and other proposals are warranted.  


Next Meeting 
 
The Finance Committee’s next meeting is scheduled to on October 18, at 3 pm.  








 
 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated January 14, 2009 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, 


board, human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational 
management costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G 


does receive an allocated share of such expenses.) 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the 
organization and general public awareness.  


• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based 


upon an allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the 
pool.  


• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for 
accounting efficiency purposes. 


• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer 
management (call center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, 
complaint tracking, etc). The accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that 
benefited by using the ratio of calls into the call center by program (i.e. the allocation 
base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the 


board of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, 
and certifying that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting 
principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding 
specific items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified 
opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements 
present an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s 
financial records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a 
qualified opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in 


their annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a 


designated category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward 
for expenditure to the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied 
against the cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked 


by program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a 


project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when 


paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later 


financial period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later 


financial period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from 


both a utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and 


societal cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program 


costs plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual 
program/project; or can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, 
cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total 


program funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining 


program funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a 


cost pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant 


to a contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be 
returned to  Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are 
still “owned” by Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred 
out of the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the 
income statement for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have 
been received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive 
payments, with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy 
savings, incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or 
application has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be 
documented by programs using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has 
received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that 
have reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive 
dollars until project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion 
date by project and by service territory must be documented in project records and in 
FastTrack. If project not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, 
committed funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of 


forecasted incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for 


payment for utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures in the homes or apartments of such 
residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as 


defined above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable 
energy measure. 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
III. Service Incentives 


• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the 
final cost to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or 
renewable energy measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home 
reviews and technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency 
practices proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or 
high efficiency lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of 


services and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC 
diagnosis, air filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning 


individual charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and 


depreciation. 
 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking 


support of PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized 


through the program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, 


quality assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, 
program coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program 
delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management 


contractors under contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer 


maintenance and general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a 


program-specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff 


management, etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual 


programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit 


to the public. 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a 


particular program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support 


costs. 
 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following 


categories:  supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; 
occupancy expenses; insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; 
conferences and training; depreciation and amortization; dues, licenses, 
subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll & related expense; 
outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology department 
cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, 
Travel, Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


7 


Savings Types 
• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data 


entry by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on 
deemed savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for 
custom measures.  They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and 
distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used 
for public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution 
factors, evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working 
values. These values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during 
the “true-up” as a result of new information or identified errors. 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings 
at the time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to 
arrive at this number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is 
agreed to at the beginning of the contract year and is applied to all program measures. 
 This is based on the sum of the adjustments between working and reportable numbers 
in the forecast developed for the program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more 
accurate savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These 
factors are determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. 
The factors are determined based on the best available information from: 


 Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over 
effects and measure impacts to date; and  


 Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from 
electric measure savings.  


 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track 
funds spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration 
costs to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of 


administration (management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for 


nonprofits, administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade 
ally network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies 
associated with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as 
call center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center 
per month. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 01/14/2009 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how 


much energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic 
performance and our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data 
factor), anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of 
similar programs have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual 
evaluations of the program and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up 
Report (for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 
years, especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the 
savings are updated through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








  


Energy Trust of Oregon  
Industry and Agriculture Sector 
2011-2015 Planning Summary 


Kim Crossman 
851 SW Sixth Ave. #1200 
Portland, OR 97204 


503.459.4074  
kim.crossman@energytrust.org 


 


November 2010  







 
 


2 
 


I.  Sector Level Summary 
A.  Executive Summary  


The Industry and Agriculture sector’s Production Efficiency program (PE) is primarily 
based on a custom approach to working with industrial customers. It uses technical 
Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) who identify opportunities and facilitate 
customers’ ongoing participation in the program.  Specialized contractors are also 
utilized to provide project-specific technical services.  Since 2008, there has been an 
expansion and diversification of target market segments, sources of savings, types of 
measures and technical interventions.  


The Production Efficiency program is 3 years into a major innovation period, and actions 
over the next 2 – 5 years will largely build on existing program strengths and recent 
lessons learned to maximize the outcomes of these innovations. The launch of the trade 
ally driven Small Industrial Initiative in 2008 provided a more cost effective channel for 
smaller efficiency measures in agricultural and small industrial sites. The development of 
strategic energy management offerings has helped to offset the impact of the down 
economy on larger capital projects by identifying low-cost savings, enabling the program 
to continue to grow at a modest pace.  


Over the next 5 years internal challenges associated with the program’s strategies will 
drive re-design, development and management to maximize positive outcomes. One 
example is the need to distill and transfer key lessons for new offerings and technical 
services to more quickly share which is best suited to which types of customers. As new 
offerings multiply it will be critical to mitigate the impacts of the added complexity of 
multiple options by consistently using standard procedures.  


Policy issues pose the largest risks to the program.  Legal limitations on spending for > 1 
aMW sites established in SB838 and the pending sunset of the Oregon Business Energy 
Tax Credit have the ability to eclipse any other constraints the Program expects to see 
over the next 5 years. Unfavorable disposition of these issues will have a significant 
effect on savings potential and savings outcomes and could require a major program 
redesign within the next 5 years.  


 







 
 


3 
 


B.  Sector Vision and Leadership Statements 


To provide long-term vision, guidance, and consistency to the Industry and Agriculture 
Sector, the following principles have been established with input from the program team 
and leadership at Energy Trust:  


Vision Statement 
Industrial and Agricultural businesses in Oregon invest in and manage their energy use, 
improving profitability, productivity and sustainability.    
  
Mission Statement 
To drive the implementation of energy efficiency and support the integration of renewable 
energy projects, facilitating comprehensive and long lasting energy savings in Oregon 
industrial and agricultural businesses.   
 
Leadership position  
Energy Trust remains a leader in innovative technological and behavioral approaches to 
industrial energy efficiency; provides technical expertise, training and project funding to help 
companies plan, manage and improve their energy efficiency.   
 
Measures of Success 
Working with Energy Trust, Industrial and Agricultural customers increase their efficiency, 
increase ergy opportunities and decrease 
organiz


 their awareness of energy waste and clean en


• 
ational barriers to successful project implementation.  


• 
Exceed savings and cost‐effectiveness goals 
Increase participation by smaller industrial and agricultural businesses 


• Increase depth and persistence of savings by providing training, tools and technical 
support to create or improve an energy management culture in the workplace 


 


 







 
 


4 
 


II. Sector Level Savings 
A.  History  


Oregon’s economy is driven by diverse and robust industrial and agricultural businesses.  
From 2001 – 2007, Manufacturing contributed 32.1% of Oregon’s real GDP, making Oregon 
the nation’s 3rd most industrial state as a % of GDP1.  Although manufacturing employment 
is down from historical levels, the sector still provided more than 15% of Oregon jobs in 
2007.    In 2008, the agriculture sector contributed $4 billion to the Oregon economy, 
providing 2.5% of the state’s real GDP and making Oregon the nation’s 9th most agricultural 
state as a % of state GDP2. Since its launch in 2003, Energy Trust’s Production Efficiency 
program has served a wide variety of Oregon industry (Figure 1).  
 


 


Wood Products
29%


Pulp & Paper
13%


Food Products
11%


Computers and 
Electronic Mfg


11%


Other 
Industries


5%


Wastewater 
4%


Cold Storage
4%


Other
4%


Irrigation
3%


Misc. Manufacturing
3%


Gas Utility or Pipeline
3%


Transportation and 
Aerospace


3%


Fabricated Metals
2%


Primary 
Metals 
2%


Water Supply
2%


Printing and Publishing
1%


Percentage of Program Savings 2003‐09 by IndustryFigure 1: 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


(excludes mega projects)


                                                       


 


 


 


 


 


 
1 http://www.milkeninstitute.org/manufacturing/manufacturing.taf?page=state&state=OR 


2 http://econpost.com/industry/agriculture-sector-top-states-percentage-state-economy 



http://econpost.com/industry/agriculture-sector-top-states-percentage-state-economy

http://econpost.com/industry/agriculture-sector-top-states-percentage-state-economy





 
 


5 
 


B.  Sources of Savings 


The program is organized around and achieves savings through 3 Tracks: Custom, 
Calculated and Prescriptive. Each is targeted to specific industry needs and/or market 
segments with differing complexity, delivery channels and development timelines.  


The Custom track includes both capital and O&M measures, including recently developed 
strategic energy management offerings. By performing custom analysis and verification of 
savings for each project, the program has the flexibility to work with large industrial retrofits, 
unique process improvement projects and emerging technologies and practices. The Custom 
track works with medium to large industries, which are provided energy efficiency services 
and incentives to drive deep and persistent process efficiencies. The Custom track is 
delivered by assigned PDCs and a pool of technically specialized Allied Technical 
Assistance Contractors (ATACs).   


The Calculated track includes industrial lighting and the Small Industrial Initiative, which are 
both delivered through trade ally networks. Trade allies are recruited and provided with 
calculated savings tools and a simplified incentive process. This is effective for standard 
measures where savings are easily calculated by common formulas with a small number of 
inputs.  It streamlines program participation and reduces the cost of delivery, enabling a cost-
effective approach to smaller projects.  


The prescriptive track is used for deemed measures, ie, when measure savings, incentives 
and cost-effectiveness have been pre-established by Energy Trust. Application for incentives 
is made by customers after purchase and savings and incentives are determined based on a 
single input such as number of widgets, for example, # of irrigation nozzles.   


 


Custom Track 


Production Efficiency began in 2003 as a Custom track offering, with large capital projects 
primarily at large manufacturing plants. Initially Lockheed Martin was the Program 
Management Contractor (PMC) and they utilized subcontractors as Program Delivery 
Contractors (PDCs). PDCs are industrial efficiency engineers who act as long-term energy 
efficiency “account managers” for medium to large industrial customers. PDCs provide 
turnkey support to participants in their assigned territories, helping them identify specific 
efficiency opportunities and facilitating their ongoing participation in Energy Trust programs.  


The Custom track has provided a delivery channel for very diverse projects and custom 
analysis has overcome the wide variation in industrial applications (Figure 2).  Allied 
Technical Assistance Contractors (ATACs) with specific expertise in the targeted system are 
contracted to perform detailed technical studies, which are based on both a deep knowledge 
of the measure and data driven analysis of that operating conditions that will measure will be 
running in. ATAC studies follow technical and communication guidelines designed to inform 
and propel investment decision-making and project implementation at the site. These studies 
also provide the technical basis for the program’s incentive offer and post-install verification 
of savings  







 
 


6 
 


Figure 2 


 


 


 


 


 


 


   


 


 


 


 


 


 


At the end of 2007, management of Production Efficiency was brought in-house. Prior to 
2008, the program averaged < 400 projects/ year, with > 75% of savings per year coming 
from the top 5 – 10 largest projects.  From 2004 – 2008, the Custom track provided on 
average 78% of the annual savings for the program. The Custom track still provides the 
majority of program savings, although in 2009, Custom capital projects represented only 
55% of the program’s savings (Table 1). 


These types of large custom projects are very cost-effective but they typically have a 1 – 3 
year development cycle, which has made it difficult to provide short term intervention or 
tuning of program results. Also, having just a handful of large projects representing more 
than 75% of program savings increases the risk that a single underperforming project can 
have a large effect on reportable savings.  To mitigate these risks, Custom track projects 
continue to be delivered by Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs), with savings analysis 
provided by the PDCs and ATACs under the direction of the program’s in-house Technical 
Manager.  To manage these same risks, the program has diversified the segments served, 
measure types and channels to market, as seen in Tables 1 and 2 and described in the 
following sections.   


 


 


Table 1:  Reportable Savings by Project Track and Year
Project Track 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010*
Custom 60,227,215 65,727,121 54,505,721 29,530,071 46,662,463 38,275,336 55,533,763
Calculated 0 9,853,987 9,274,225 12,477,885 13,941,905 23,299,069 27,992,863
Prescriptive 0 509,946 1,006,571 1,860,869 1,397,202 1,976,004 1,136,940
O&M (includes IEI & KB) 0 0 0 0 1,564,770 5,917,939 27,725,738


Totals 60,227,215 76,091,054 64,786,517 43,868,825 63,566,340 69,468,348 112,389,304
xcludes mega‐projects *Completed as of 7/10 + PipelineE







 
 


7 
 


Table 2:  Number of Completed and Pipeline Projects by Track
Project Track 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010* Total # Projects
Custom 111 182 146 85 119 96 144
Calculated 0 34 40 67 186 256 205
Prescriptive 0 28 53 58 95 277 171
O&M 0 0 0 0 1 4 40


Total by Year 111 244 239 210 401 633 560 2,398
*Completed To Date + Pipeline  


 


Custom O&M and Strategic Energy Management 


Increased efficiency and renewable generation goals have driven an emphasis at Energy 
Trust on finding and delivering comprehensive and deep energy solutions. The largest 
untapped resources in the Industrial sector are in O&M and Strategic Energy Management 
(SEM), due primarily to the technical difficulty of analyzing savings and the difficulty of 
supporting persistence through influencing operator behavior.  Fortunately, there have been 
developments in this region which are addressing barriers to industrial SEM, O&M and other 
behavioral approaches to savings. These developments laid the groundwork for two 
successful pilots from 2008 – 2010 that focused on achieving O&M and behavioral savings in 
large industry through the implementation of strategic energy management practices.  


The NEEA Industrial Continuous Energy Improvement (CEI) program, in particular, has been 
a major influence by testing and proving out the efficacy of a comprehensive management 
systems approach to energy efficiency.  Energy Trust’s involvement on the NEEA Industrial 
Advisory Committee provided a rich source of information on this emerging industrial 
efficiency strategy and invaluable exposure to lessons learned by NEEA starting in 2005. In 
addition, NEEA’s CEI delivery contractors developed expertise which was leveraged by the 
program when it hired one of these consultants to launch the Industrial Efficiency 
Improvement (IEI) pilot in 2009.   


The IEI brings a group of 10 – 12 industrial sites through one year of training and technical 
support on continuous improvement topics such as goal setting, developing a successful 
energy team, understanding site energy use and identifying efficiency opportunities, 
monitoring, tracking and reporting of operational efficiency and employee and executive 
engagement. The offering includes 8 – 10 live and webinar trainings over a 10 month period. 
One on one technical support is provided in between to establish baselines and other energy 
models, to drive low and no cost savings through simple O&M and behavior changes and to 
help sites implement the other training topics.  


The Kaizen Blitz pilot, which launched in 2008, provides utilizes some of the same strategies 
as the IEI, but without the major emphasis on comprehensive management systems as a 
basis. Participant effort is still critical to success, but the Kaizen Blitz focuses on the use of 
energy information systems as a driver for tracking operational energy use and increasing 
efficiency. Energy savings opportunities are found by technical service providers and key 
plant operators and managers through intensive kaizen events, and implementation of low 
and no cost actions occurs immediately during the event and over the following year. The 
Kaizen Blitz approach emphasizes action and the positive motivation for ongoing 
improvement that occurs when small changes in plant practices can be seen as energy 
savings immediately.  


These pilots have provided critical operating cost savings to industry during the recession 
and enabled the program to continue involvement with industrial sites and achieve goals 







 
 


8 
 


despite the slowdown in capital investment. Behavioral efforts also provide a basis for 
increasing customer commitment to energy efficiency, deepening relationships and 
increasing the flow of capital projects at participating sites. Delivery is through the normal 
Custom track, with PDCs scoping for opportunities and managing participation; Technical 
Service Providers and ATACs provide specific technical support or analytical services. 


In addition to driving new capital efficiency projects, both pilots have been a source of highly 
cost-effective savings from implementation of low and no cost behavior change actions. In 
the past year, these strategies have routinely delivered 3 – 15% energy reductions. The 
success of these actions and the current economic conditions drove the design of a short-
term incentive special in 2010, the Industrial O&M 90 by 90 Special Offer, which provides 
90% of implementation costs as incentives to sites that would implement recommended 
actions within 90 days of receiving an incentive offer. The combined results of roughly sixty 
projects in the 90 by 90 effort, 2 groups of IEI participants and 5 Kaizen Blitz participants are 
expected to provide 20 – 25% of total program electricity savings in 2010.  


In order to provide incentives and report these savings, the program developed a Custom 
O&M measure to incent and document savings for the IEI and Kaizen Blitz pilots and other 
one-off O&M projects, such as compressed air leak repair.  To qualify, a Custom O&M 
measure must include an approved persistence strategy, and the costs to implement this are 
eligible costs of the project for purposes of incentive calculation. For example, a compressed 
air leak repair project may include a primary persistence strategy of installing flow meters on 
the system and changing Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) to require regular 
monitoring and repair as needed. Secondary persistence strategies may involve purchase of 
ultrasonic leak detectors to be used during routine maintenance or labeling of equipment set 
points.  


A comparison of current incentive levels, measure life and estimated levelized costs of  
capital and O&M savings is represented in Table 3.  


Table 3: Custom Track Measure Comparison


Measure type
Avg Measure 
Life (yrs)


Cash Incentive  
$/annual kWh


Project 
cost cap %


Avg. acquisition 
cost  $/kWh


Levelized cost 
$/kWh 


Custom capital ‐ non‐lighting 10 $0.25 50% $0.150 $0.015
Capital < 1 yr payback 10 $0.02 50% $0.025 $0.003
Custom O&M 3 $0.08 50% $0.038 $0.013
Custom O&M ‐ 90 by 90 special 3 $0.08 90% $0.043 $0.014
Custom O&M ‐ SEM 3 $0.08 50% $0.041 $0.014


O&M/ SEM < 1 yr payback 3 $0.02 50% $0.020 $0.007
notes: 1.  avg. acquisition cost includes both cash and technical service incentives


2. levelized is incentives only, does not include program mgmt or delivery  


 


 


Calculated Savings Tracks: Lighting and Small Industrial  


Calculated savings measures, with spreadsheet tools that allow multiple variables to be input 
into a standardized savings analysis, have also become a significant source of savings, 
primarily through lighting, irrigation and small compressed air measures. Unlike the custom 
track, the calculated savings track is deployed through Trade Allies, independent contractors 
and vendors who receive training, tools and collateral from Energy Trust. Trade Allies 







 
 


9 
 


improve sales and profitability by helping their customers access Energy Trust incentives for 
approved efficient systems and products.   


Industrial lighting has been a fairly robust offering at the Trust since 2005, and has proven to 
be a reliable, low-risk, high-realization source of savings. Lighting savings are primarily 
delivered into the program by the Lighting Trade Ally Network, a group that recruits and 
trains electrical and lighting contractor trade allies to serve many of the region’s resource 
acquisition programs.   


This model has allowed for extremely cost-effective savings from lighting in the industrial 
sector: With the exception of some of the recent O&M offerings, lighting has provided the 
most cost-effective resource, with an incentives-only levelized cost of $.01/kWh.  From 2005 
– 2008, industrial lighting measures represented approximately 20% of total sector savings.  
In 2009, Industrial lighting took off, increasing results more than 50% over the previous year 
and representing 28% of 2009 savings.  


The Small Industrial Initiative (SII) was launched in late 2007 as an additional delivery 
channel, using a calculated savings approach to provide incentives cost-effectively to smaller 
industrial and agricultural operations. The SII developed and rolled out a full suite of irrigation 
and greenhouse incentives for the agriculture sector beginning in 2008 and is delivered 
through trade allies who serve farmers or commercial growers.  


The SII also provides more quick-turn savings through trade ally delivered small compressed 
air retrofits.  In 2009, the SII provided only 6% of program savings, but the Initiative’s effect 
on volume and rural participation has been much more substantial, as it more than doubled 
the average number of projects the program completes per year and more than tripled the 
amount of savings from irrigation efficiency. 


 


Prescriptive Track 


Over the program’s history, prescriptive measures have provided a small portion of program 
savings. This is primarily due to the technical challenges of developing industrial prescriptive 
measures with reasonable savings estimates.  The broad range of specialized equipment for 
industry and the variability of industrial operations and applications for energy saving 
technologies do not typically lend themselves to accurate estimates of deemed savings. 
Despite these challenges, the program looked for ways to expand the range of prescriptive 
incentives, as the value of quick- turn, low delivery cost sources of savings within the 
program became apparent.  With the help of Energy Trust’s Planning and Evaluation group, 
the program has analyzed and adopted relevant measures from the Commercial sector and 
has developed industrial prescriptive measures, often identifying opportunities for deemed 
savings based on program experience with Custom projects.  


Prescriptive premium efficiency motors were added in 2005.  Small variable speed drives in 
HVAC applications, heat pumps and small HVAC systems were adopted from the 
Commercial sector, but have had very limited uptake.  Currently premium motors, green 
motor rewinds, a suite of greenhouse measures and a suite of irrigation measures are the 
primary source of prescriptive savings.  Although prescriptive measures represent less than 
3% of program annual savings, these very small projects have been effective in reaching 
new participants and providing a cost-effective means to stay engaged at large sites not 
currently making significant capital efficiency investments.  


 







 
 


10 
 


Sources of Savings: Gas  


The public purpose charge for gas has not historically included larger industrial customers, 
who were exempted from participation.  Due to this policy, the program did not begin 
administering incentives for gas efficiency until late 2008, when the Small Industrial Initiative 
was launched.  The SII reached small industrial and agricultural customers who were already 
paying the gas public purpose charge. Although some small prescriptive gas measures such 
as insulation and high efficiency water heaters have been completed, the majority of gas 
projects have been thermal efficiency projects in nurseries.    


The program started working on industrial gas efficiency in Cascade Natural Gas territory in 
the spring of 2009 when the new PDC assigned to Central Oregon turned up a compelling 
combined gas and electric efficiency project at a site in the city of Prineville. The presence of 
an assigned PDC in Cascade territory, combined with this immediate project opportunity and 
Cascade’s clarification and support for funding industrial gas efficiency, enabled the mid-year 
addition of industrial gas incentives and goals in this territory.   


There were 2 projects completed in 2009. This is a modest number, but the projects provided 
over 50,000 therms of savings.   In 2010, two PDC have goals in CNG territory, which were 
doubled from 2009 goal.  The PDCs will continue to look for and develop these gas projects 
concurrent with their overall delivery scope, via a custom track approach.  


In June of 2009, the program began a more substantial industrial gas efficiency effort when 
the NWN Industrial DSM pilot was launched. The pilot provides a limited amount of funding 
for gas efficiency projects for customers on specific rate schedules. These customers had 
been exempted from paying the public purpose charge in the past and had not been eligible 
for incentives. The funding for the pilot was provided initially by NWN, with recovery provided 
by a special rate adjustment to customers which takes effect in November, 2010.  The 
purpose of the pilot is to test these customers’ uptake of gas efficiency and to test Energy 
Trust’s ability to deliver to this specific set of eligible customers. 


The existing PDCs serve their customers with electric and gas efficiency services, which has 
proved to be an efficient delivery model. There has been tremendous uptake for this offering, 
with almost 1,000,000 therms of cost-effective gas efficiency projects identified, in 
development and expected to be completed before the end of the pilot in 2011.  Food 
processing companies, which spend a majority of their energy costs on natural gas, 
represent the lion’s share of participants with about 50 percent of expected savings, with the 
other half coming from diverse industries and projects.  Because it’s such a strategic market, 
Production Efficiency has a dedicated PDC for food processors and is engaged with the NW 
Food Processors Association to help them reach their industry’s aggressive savings goal of 
25% by 2020.  


The biggest challenge around the delivery of industrial gas efficiency is the limited pool of 
eligible sites and the lack of visibility for which sites are or are not eligible to participate. This 
barrier will be discussed in the Planning section of this document. At this time, Transport 
customers - those who buy their gas from a 3rd party and pay the utility only for use of the 
distribution system - are not eligible for Energy Trust incentives. The majority of large gas 
users are Transport customers, and both current and proposed data sharing policies do not 
allow the utility to share any customer information with Energy Trust.  


  







 
 


11 
 


C.  Market Opportunity 


Industrial efficiency programs have been operating in Oregon for more than 20 years, 
including Production Efficiency for the past 6 years. Despite this, the remaining industrial 
efficiency resource is substantial. There is no particular market or measure that has reached 
the end of its potential, and even participants who have been doing efficiency projects for 
years have found more and better ways to save energy. Looking at the 20 year resource 
potential developed in 2008 and Production Efficiency electric savings to date by market 
(Figures 3 and 3a) and by measure (Figure 4) provides a clear picture of the broad range of 
future opportunities available.  


Figure 3: Production Efficiency – Electric Savings by Sector 


 


PE Historical Elec Savings vs. Resource Assessment


0


10


20


30


40


50


60


70


80


90


Electronics Paper Other Wood Food Metal  Metal Fab Agriculture


aM
W


Savings Resource Assessment


 


Figure 3a:  PE “Other” Sectors Savings to Date 


 


PE "Other" aMW Savings


1.76


1.55


1.24


1.23


1.20


0.98


0.89


0.63
0.46


Wastewater Treatment Total


Other Total


Misc-manufacturing Total


Gas Utility or Pipeline Total


Cold Storage Total


Transportation and Aerospace Total


Water Supply Total


Printing and Publishing Total


Nonmetallic (glass-concrete) Total







 
 


12 
 


Figure 4: Electric Savings Potential Compared to Savings to Date  


 


PE Potential vs. Savings by Measure Category


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


Generic
O&M 


Motors Pumps Lighting Compressed
Air


Irrigation Refrigeration


aM
W


Savings RA Potential


 


 


Since the Program only began gas efficiency efforts in earnest in 2009, almost all of the 
industrial gas resource remains untapped. The market is wide open and the technical 
potential associated with sites on currently eligible industrial rate classes is very high, as 
shown in Figure 5.  


 


Figure 5: Gas Savings Potential vs. Savings to Date 


 


Industrial Gas Savings & RA


0


500


1000


1500


2000


2500


3000


3500


4000


4500


Food


Elec
tro


nic
s


Meta
ls


Che
mica


l


Ligh
t M


an
f


Fores
t P


rodu
cts


Agric
ult


ure


Other 
Mfg SGC


kT
he


rm
s


Savings RA (ktherms)







 
 


13 
 


 


III. Sector Level Strategies 
 


A.  Areas of Focus and Targeted market segments 


Production Efficiency will be most effective over the next 5 years by building on program 
strengths – strong, positive relationships with participants, and the ability to deliver site- and 
industry-specific services that create deep, comprehensive and persistent savings in medium 
to large industrial sites. Additional success will come from building up services and 
incentives for the small industrial and agricultural customers. 


Production Efficiency will continue to serve medium to large industrial participants in targeted 
industries: forest products, food processing/ distribution/ storage, high tech manufacturing, 
pulp and paper, water and wastewater utilities, other miscellaneous large manufacturing. 
This work leverages the program’s and PDCs’ existing relationships and utilizes the most 
developed delivery channels: the Custom track and the lighting trade ally network. These 
industry sectors still hold great potential for additional savings acquisition and have 
demonstrated commitment to energy efficiency. Importantly, they have successfully 
completed projects in the past and understand the benefits of energy investments.  


Tapping the technical and market expertise of PDCs to cost-effectively serve larger industry 
will also allow Energy Trust to build out tools, services and trade ally networks for 
underserved or emerging sectors.  Expanding products and services for the Small Industrial 
Initiative is another area of focus and growth. This will allow the program to continue to 
diversify sources of savings and provide economic benefits of efficiency to smaller industrial 
sectors such as wineries and nurseries. The program will continue to develop measures, 
expand the trade ally network and build greater market awareness, paying particular 
attention to the agriculture sector. SII has already increased the number of projects in the ag 
sector by a factor of 10 since 2007 and the Trade Ally delivery model provides a cost-
effective way to serve small industrial customers with lower individual savings potential.   


Longer term, Production Efficiency will identify additional underserved but motivated small 
industrial sectors through market and technical research, development of prescriptive and 
calculated savings measures and targeted market outreach.    


 


B.  Planned Sources of Savings and Managed Risks 


For medium to large industry the program will continue to focus on the full array of possible 
energy savings opportunities, including custom process efficiency and equipment retrofit and 
replacement. Continuous improvement principles and strategic energy management 
practices will also be employed to achieve ongoing savings from industrial participants.  


The IEI and Kaizen Blitz pilots and recent experience with Custom O&M have demonstrated 
that highly cost-effective savings can be achieved even at large industrial sites that believe 
they have harvested their low-hanging fruit capital projects. These participants often discover 
additional cost-effective capital projects while implementing O&M measures and the savings 
from these less-expensive projects increase their ability to successfully implement larger 
capital projects. Once the SEM offering is completed, the PDCs and the program continue as 







 
 


14 
 


a strategic partner to these sites, helping them to plan, track and manage their projects and 
progress towards energy goals through ongoing engagement, over multiple years.   


Acceleration of electricity savings in large industry will be driven by the 5 – 15% savings from 
reducing operational energy waste and an additional 15 – 25 % from the increased 
implementation of capital efficiency projects at these sites. This same focus will allow for 
short-term reduction of costs/ kWh in large (>1 aMW) customer sites, as low-cost O&M 
savings balances out higher capital project costs.  


• The primary risk of this strategy is technical, in the evaluation and persistence of 
O&M savings. The risk is being well managed currently, and will continue to be 
addressed through utilizing high-quality technical contractors and maintaining 
stringent internal technical review to enable measurement and verification of these 
non-traditional sources of savings.   


• A secondary risk comes from the increasing complexity represented by these 
innovative offerings. Experience in the recent pilots has demonstrated the value of 
using consistent and standard program processes and procedures in order to 
maintain quality and customer service.   Program Managers will focus on definition, 
design and integration of the diverse array of technical services to drive savings 
while averting confusion caused by complexity.  


Energy Trust staff and Production Efficiency PDCs will increase strategic market outreach, 
development or delivery as part of the long-term investment in market transformation 
required to meet increasing savings goals. As an example, food processing and pulp and 
paper plants currently have dedicated PDCs and water and wastewater utilities have a Water 
and Wastewater Technical Manager within the I & A Sector. These dedicated resources 
transfer best practices and lessons learned to other participants so that a new energy-
savings strategy or application can be introduced to other customers in an efficient manner. 
An example of this is the demand-controlled ventilation solution developed for FEI 
Corporation and which has application at other high-technology companies.  In addition, the 
Water and Wastewater Technical Manager will continue outreach to the municipal utilities via 
presentations to, and partnering with, the water and wastewater professional organizations 
concerning efficiency measures and incentive offerings.   


The market risks and barriers associated with large capital efficiency projects include: 


• Stability of the plants affects persistence of savings. A process change brought about 
by business needs such as availability of feedstock may fail a previous measure, and 
sale of site may result in process change or measure failure. Currently, the 10 year 
measure life, which is lower than the actual technical measure life in most cases, is 
one way this risk is mitigated. The requirement for at least 50% cost share on 
Custom capital projects also mitigates the risk, as it is believed that the sites would 
not invest their own capital in measures if they believed that change was imminent. 
As shown in Table 3, Custom capital projects are cost effective even at 10 year 
measure life, and O&M measures pay off in just a few years. To better understand 
the magnitude of the risk, Energy Trust plans to study plant closures and persistence 
in depth starting in 2011.  


• Availability of capital and the willingness to invest capital in efficiency given the 
relatively low cost of energy are barriers to participation, as noted in the 2007-2008 
Production Efficiency evaluation.  These market barriers have been exacerbated by 
the recent economic recession and the uncertainty of the recovery, but the increase 
in number of projects and savings in 2009 and 2010 tells a different story: motivated 
sites continue to invest carefully in their operations. The program is designed to 







 
 


15 
 


address these market barriers, by buying down the costs of capital projects with cash 
incentives, by helping to minimize the technical risk of project performance through 
providing independent, 3rd party technical expertise and by increasing customer 
awareness and motivation through training and public recognition.   


o Regarding availability of capital, most industrial customers use their own 
capital for projects or get financing through their own channels at very 
competitive rates, and are unwilling to go into debt to finance non-essential 
(ie, retrofit) projects. Medium to large industrial customers have shown no 
need for or interest in creative financing options at this time. Investment in 
efficiency improvements often fluctuates year to year, and the program’s 
strategy is to keep them engaged at least minimally in the down years to 
facilitate larger projects in the future. Sites with little access to capital in a 
given year may be candidates for low cost, quick payback measures such as 
lighting, motors or O&M.  


 


Industrial gas savings will be fully integrated into both the Custom track for larger projects 
and the prescriptive track for small industrial and agricultural participants. Given the 
program’s recent entry into gas efficiency, there is a tremendous amount of untapped 
resource potential and much of it includes low hanging fruit, highly cost-effective capital 
projects. Despite lack of history with industrial gas efficiency, utilization of existing, mature 
program design and delivery tracks reduces risk – this is a new offering, but not a new 
program. One expected innovation is that Production Efficiency will begin to work on Gas 
O&M under the Custom track in 2011, focusing on boiler and steam system tune-ups.  


 


C. Key Activities 


1. Energy Trust will continue to utilize PDCs as long-term energy efficiency “account 
managers” for industrial customers since this model has been so successful. 
Ongoing relationships between participants and trustworthy and knowledgeable 3rd 
party engineers provide the basis for repeated success at sites, including shorter 
timelines for project development due to familiarity of all parties.  Energy Trust will 
continue to plan, develop and fine-tune compelling offerings for PDCs to bring to 
market. Energy Trust will also continue to help the PDC’s expand technical 
knowledge to identify and promote renewable energy projects at industry and 
agricultural sites.  


 
a. Because of their deep customer relationships, PDCs are a key component of 


Production Efficiency’s outreach and customer service activities. Energy 
Trust will increase the effectiveness of these efforts by providing centralized 
Program management and direction of effort. Additionally, Energy Trust will 
develop customer recognition tools and program collateral; identify and 
transfer best practices between PDC teams, ATACs; and provide detailed 
guidance for PDC action plans/ strategies.  


 


2. The Program will deliver on industrial strategic energy management, including using 
energy information systems and other O&M strategies to gain 5 – 15% energy 
intensity savings from low cost actions/ measures at medium and large industrial 
sites. These efforts also provide a basis for increasing customer commitment to 







 
 


16 
 


 
3. Production Efficiency will improve Small Industrial and Agricultural customer 


experience by streamlining project process for smaller projects. This will be 
accomplished through the development of additional prescriptive and semi-
prescriptive path offerings that rely on vendor delivery and require less intensive 
forms and administration.  The Program will also cultivate a higher awareness of the 
benefits of efficiency and services for smaller industrial customers by investing in 
strategic market research and outreach to 1 – 2 new targeted sectors per year.  This 
strategy provides an excellent opportunity to collaborate with utility partners through 
838-funded utility marketing staff and contractors.  


 
4. Production Efficiency delivers big savings with a small internal staff. To maintain 


program quality and increase savings, the Program will engage in continuous 
improvement of internal processes within all Program staff’s areas of responsibility.  
The sector staff will demonstrate the same commitment to process efficiency that we 
are asking of our customers to reduce wasted time and effort, increase throughput 
and decrease complexity. Keeping current program practices and procedures 
optimized allows for greater innovation including increasingly customized technical 
services without overtaxing staff and contractors or reducing the program’s ability to 
deliver on goals. Utilizing standardized procedures and practices even when testing 
innovative new offerings also improves those pilots and addresses the risks of 
innovation by reducing the number of variables being tested.  
 
 


5. Energy Trust works with a wide range of other efficiency organizations with 
complementary goals. The Program will continue to leverage the actions of these 
existing and emerging market players that provide industrial and agricultural energy 
outreach, technical assistance and public recognition to increase volume and 
decrease development and engineering cycle of industrial efficiency projects. 
Collaborators include the IOUs, NEEA, BPA, Business Oregon, ODOE, Oregon 
Manufacturing Extension Partnership (OMEP), the High Performance Enterprise 
Consortium (HPEC), and federal actors such as US DOE and US EPA ENERGY 
STAR.  


 
6. The Program will ensure that it aligns with and utilizes the Energy Trust brand and 


other internal resources to drive further market penetration and savings, including the 
website, trade ally support, and general outreach contractors.  Production Efficiency 
staff will help to guide design of new data management systems to support ongoing 
and comprehensive engagement at customer sites and fully implement new systems.  
Reaching goals will also require Production Efficiency to utilize Planning and 
Evaluation services to optimize and fully integrate the array of emerging custom track 
technical service offerings and to add prescriptive savings offerings for the Small 
Industrial Initiative.  
 







 
 


17 
 


 
C. Sector Plan Linkage to Energy Trust Strategic Plan Actions 
 


Energy Trust Strategic Plan Key 
Actions 


Linkage to Industry and Ag Sector Plan and Key 
Actions 


1. Accelerate EE Investment  • Primary purpose of PE program – continue to 
build out Custom, calculated and prescriptive 
source of savings, using and enhancing 
existing successful program delivery design.  


2. Maintain support for a 
variety of renewable 
technologies  


• PDCs identify opportunities for renewables at 
industry and ag sites, make referrals, provide 
tech support.  


• Program identifies, analyzes and incents 
industrial solar thermal opportunities as gas 
efficiency projects 


3. Encourage innovative 
technologies & practices 


• Deployment of industrial strategic energy 
management practices and energy 
information systems as key program strategy 


• Custom track allows for one of a kind process 
efficiency projects 


• Cross-participant and cross-contractor 
information sharing to accelerate 
implementation of successful efforts 


4. Support development of 
clean energy business 


• PDCs, ATACs and ITSP contractors all 
engaged through competitive solicitation in 
work for program, development of Small 
Industrial and Industrial Lighting trade allies.  


• Strategic market focus on efficiency in Clean 
Tech Manufacturing supports new and 
existing clean energy businesses by reducing 
operating costs, verifying efficiency bonafides.  


5. Provide excellent 
customer service to all 
Energy Trust participants 


• PDC model dedicates industrial engineers to 
work with sites year after year, facilitates 
program participation. Custom track approach 
is entirely geared to participant needs.  


• Technical expertise of all program contractors 
and staff is highly valued by these technically 
oriented customers.  


• In-house management of program ensures 
that calls or inquiries from potential customers 
are addressed professionally and accurately.  


• Understanding other EE initiatives our 
customers are involved in such as the NW 
Food Processors goals or the US DOE’s 
Energy Leaders allows PE program to 
leverage and customize services to support 
these motivated customers.  


6. Bring a broad perspective 
by considering overall 


• PDCs are sited in all geographic areas of the 
state, including Southern, Central and Eastern 







 
 


18 
 


balance and equity Oregon.  
• Small Industrial Initiative invests in increasing 


offerings and channels to market for smaller 
industry and farmers, many in rural areas.  


7. Communicate the value of 
energy savings and 
renewable generation 


• Developing project history tool to better 
communicate the economic value of 
participants’ ongoing investment in efficiency 
within their own organizations.  


• Increased focus on industrial efficiency 
success stories and other marketing/ PR 
approaches to spread best practices.  


8. Maintain an efficient, 
effective & transparent 
organization that 
responsibly invests 
ratepayer funds 


• Continuous improvement of internal 
processes and procedures 


• Better utilize shared Energy Trust resources 


 


 


D. Areas of Innovation, Expected Market Transformation 


Recently, there has been a shift occurring in the attitudes of industry towards energy use and 
the environmental implications of using more than is required. While industry has traditionally 
been fairly resistant to talking about the sustainability of their businesses, the tide is 
beginning to turn.  


Responding to public and supply chain market pressures, and driven by costs and 
international energy and environmental policies, many large companies are paying attention. 
Early adopters have shown that energy management is an indicator of best management 
practices in general, and is tied to product quality and employee engagement as well as 
corporate sustainability. This change in attitudes has occurred in the private sector, even in 
the absence of meaningful progress in US climate change policies.  


US industries have long understood the economic/ business benefit of investing in energy 
efficiency as a way to reduce operating expenses. Now, Energy Trust expects that these 
corporate commitments will continue and increase over the next 5 years, further supporting 
energy savings in industry. In order to realize the benefits from this perceptual change, the 
Program will track developments of policy or market interventions related to this movement.  
We will align or develop program services for sites in Energy Trust territory who are 
participating in these larger sustainability efforts.  Examples include the current international 
efforts to develop an Energy Management Standard for Industry (ISO 50001), federal 
product purchasing standards that require carbon reporting and retail supply chain 
requirements such as those promoted recently by Wal-Mart.  


The Program is currently testing a number of program innovations that could be rolled out to 
the larger customer base. One new initiative involves the use of energy and production data 
as a management tool for optimizing industrial operations. It is expected that over the next 5 
years, some of the wide range of software tools that have been developed for Commercial 
buildings will be customized for industrial applications, making more options available. We 
also expect that Industry will begin to accept and practice monitoring and tracking as early 
entrants continue to promote their cost-savings and success with these tools. The 







 
 


19 
 


deployment of energy tracking tools offers up the potential of new program models in the 
future, based on site energy intensity, operational performance, continuous improvement and 
persistence rather than on a measure by measure approach to energy savings. Aspects of 
these approaches will continue to be tested and implemented over the next 5 years.  


The industrial sector in Oregon has been changing for the past 20 years as a result of market 
forces and is expected to continue to change over the next 5 years. Although there are some 
common industrial trends, especially by region when based on natural resources (ex: 
increase in high tech manufacturing nationally, forest products in the NW), generally each 
state has its own unique mix of industry. It can be challenging to find timely data about 
regional or local industrial market trends, but staying abreast of and responding to these 
market shifts is necessary for the ongoing success of the program. For example, the 
emerging Clean Tech manufacturing subsector is highly motivated to produce product with a 
smaller environmental footprint, and this growing sector could justify a strategic market 
outreach approach within a year or two.  Collaborating with regional, state and local 
organizations including Business Oregon, the Oregon Department of Energy, research 
universities, sustainability organizations, city economic development initiatives and others 
may provide insight into the future of Oregon industry while allowing those organizations to 
leverage Energy Trust incentives to attract new industries and also increasing channels for 
outreach to existing industries.  


 


E. Key Challenges and Barriers 


Challenge: Lack of accurate utility information preventing clear compliance with 838  


Barrier: Policy limitation on spending for sites > 1 aMW 


Acceleration of savings will rely on the program’s ability to keep serving large industrial 
customers (including those > 1 aMW) without creating additional funding limitations for this 
customer class. SB838, which expanded funding for EE for most customer classes, limited 
public purpose funding expenditures on this customer class. This issue may affect the 
program’s ability to achieve IRP savings goals in the future, as IRP savings goals do not 
account for this policy constraint.  


This policy constraint directly affects the Program’s planning for mega-projects. Although 
mega-projects have been a significant source of savings in the past, there have not been any 
new mega-projects identified in the past 3 years at industrial sites. It would be possible to run 
a competitive RFP for mega-project proposals that could identify projects with very high 
savings and low costs. One mega-project every two years, in either commercial or industrial 
sectors, would provide an inexpensive source of savings that could help meet savings goals 
and moderate the average cost of the entire portfolio . Implementation of this action is 
dependent on Energy Trust receiving required data to identify > 1 aMW sites and 
determination that Energy Trust has not exceeded the terms of the 838 funding constraints 
for large customers. As of now, any new mega-project done in either the Business or 
Industrial sectors could trigger the 838 funding constraint, effectively taking this highly cost-
effective option for savings acquisition off the table.   


 


Challenge: BETC uncertainty 


Barrier: BETC sunset 







 
 


20 
 


The majority of projects in the PE program qualify for the Oregon Business Energy Tax 
Credit (BETC), and the Program supports our participants’ application for BETC. In Program 
evaluations to date, the combined influence of Energy Trust incentives and BETC have had 
the biggest effect on projects moving forward. Clearly, the elimination of BETC incentives 
would have a profound impact on savings, and would likely require increased incentive levels 
to maintain program activity, directly affecting levelized costs for the Program. For example, 
the BPA Industrial program provides up to 70% of project costs, compared to the current 
incentive cap of 50% of project costs in the Energy Trust industrial program.  


In addition to the risk of BETC’s sunset however, there are very near term challenges posed 
by the recent staffing and policy changes at the Oregon Department of Energy and the 
uncertainty regarding the future of the BETC program. Disgruntled participants have had 
trouble distinguishing between the Oregon Department of Energy and Energy Trust, resulting 
in cancelled projects or in resistance to any future participation in the Program. As this 
dynamic continues to play out in 2011 and 2012, it is likely that staff and PDCs will spend 
more time managing participant perception and disappointment and that fewer participants 
will initiate projects because of the uncertainty.  


Finally, if BETC for efficiency actually does sunset, there is likely to be a mad rush to 
complete projects before the deadline. This would affect the Program and contractors 
directly, as resources would then be focused inordinately on fast-tracking and closing out 


rojects for 6 – 12 months, reducing effort on building the pipeline for future years.  p


 


Barrier: Limited eligibility for gas incentives 


Challenge: Gas incentive eligibility determined by rate 


Although industrial gas efficiency has outstanding market and technical potential, and the 
Program delivery model has proven to be an effective channel to reach these savings, the 
policy and resulting program management options are currently much more limited.  


As described earlier, gas Transport customers do not pay any efficiency charge and are not 
eligible for incentives. Many large industrial sites are gas Transport customers, and so the 
pre-existing relationships that PDCs have with them for electric efficiency are not able to be 
leveraged for gas projects. Clearly, there is tremendous technical and economic potential for 
efficiency at Transport sites, but all gas efficiency projects currently will need to occur absent 
incentives in Oregon due to the exception of these customers from state efficiency legislation 
or regulation.   


The biggest challenge for the program’s delivery of industrial gas savings is related to the 
limited pool of eligible sites.  The complexity of serving sites through a discretely-managed 
small pool of funding based on rate schedule, the fact that those rate schedules may 
frequently change and the lack of visibility of those rates to the Program drives up costs and 
reduces savings.  


The OPUC, utilities and Energy Trust are currently engaged in updating data sharing 
agreements. Although attention has been paid to the impact of exemptions for industrial 
customers, current and proposed data sharing policies do not allow the utility to share 
information related to Transport customers. The path forward for implementation of Industrial 
gas will be determined in early 2011 at the end of the NWN Industrial DSM pilot. It would be 
very helpful to focus on reducing these barriers in accordance with the new data sharing 
policies at that time.  







 
 


21 
 


Industrial Gas Eligibility Detail: 


Although this issue and the management approach to it bears some resemblance to self-
direction policy for electric efficiency for > 1 aMW energy users, there are key differences 
that make the self-direction policy much more manageable. There is a limited pool of electric 
self-directors, with fewer than 50 industrial sites self-directing for efficiency, and information 
about who is self-directing can be obtained from the Oregon Department of Energy. The 
program is able to serve self-directors on a limited basis, at 50% of the full incentive level, for 
projects that they are not using to fulfill their self-direct obligation.  All other industrial 
customers in Energy Trust territory are eligible for full participation.   Essentially, all industrial 
customers within PGE or Pacific Power territories are eligible for participation, allowing for 
proactive outreach and strategic planning. 


For natural gas, a large percentage of industrial sites are not eligible because they are 
Transport, and as a result of the restrictive data sharing policy, there is no way to know if 
they are Transport prior to performing outreach. An eligible gas customer may choose to 
switch to Transport. Transport customers are not eligible at all for services, so time spent 
meeting with them prior to determining eligibility is pure cost.  


Since late 2008, Production Efficiency has served industrial and agricultural customers 
paying the public purpose charge under commercial rates. Although the Small Industrial 
Initiative has proven to be good vehicle to deliver energy efficiency to these customers, 
occasionally eligible sites will be discovered in the Custom track. Limitations on eligibility and 
the lack of predictability have driven a reactive approach to achieving these savings and 
suppressed results over the past 2 years.  


The NWN Industrial DSM pilot included Firm and Interruptible ratepayers, under specific 
Industrial and some Commercial rates, who had not been previously served by Energy Trust 
and who do not currently pay the public purpose charge for gas. Recovery is through a 
special rate adjustment on eligible customer’s rates, beginning in November of 2010.  
Finding the eligible customers has been the primary challenge in this initiative as well, but 
additional challenges have been tied to managing a funding cap for interruptible customers 
only which necessitated additional tracking and incentive management practices that were 
outside of the standard program procedures.   


 








Telephone: 1.866.368.7878 
Facsimile: 503.546.6862 
energytrust.org 


Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: October 4, 2010 
 To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens, Evaluation Manager  
Kim Crossman , Sr. Industrial Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the Process Evaluation of the Industrial Energy Improvement 
Pilot 
 
The Industrial Energy Improvement (IEI) Pilot has proven to be an innovative pilot 
that has engaged industrial clients in adopting a continuous energy improvement 
process, where many such programs have failed in the past.  
 
 A second cohort of 9 companies is completing its year of training and workshops in 
October 2010. The third cohort is currently being recruited and will start before the 
end of 2010.  
 
Many of the evaluation recommendations have been adopted or are being 
addressed for the third cohort. We have reviewed training format and eliminated 
webinars in favor of face to face training. The IEI workshops are also being 
condensed from full day to primarily half day sessions. SEG, the implementation 
contractor is now an official Industrial Technical Service Provider (ITSP) and as of 
cohort 3, the IEI is now part of the on-going PE program offerings.  The PE program 
released an RFQ for other ITSPs to see if similar strategic energy management 
services focused on the industrial and agricultural sector are available that would 
benefit program participants. A pool of 8 qualified ITSPs, including SEG, has been 
formed to provide these types of services.  
 
 
 
  








 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


KAIZEN BLITZ PILOT 
 
Report One 
 
Prepared for: 
Energy Trust of Oregon 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Navigant Consulting, Inc. 
One Market Street 
Spear Street Tower, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
 
415‐399‐7100 
www.navigantconsulting.com 
 
 
August 24, 2010


© 2010 Navigant Consulting, Inc. 



http://energytrust.org/�





 
 
 
 
 
 


1 
 


Introduction 


Energy Trust of Oregon (Energy Trust) is operating a pilot program within its 
Production Efficiency (PE) Program to test the Kaizen Blitz concept with a small 
sample of Energy Trust customers (Kaizen Pilot).  The Kaizen Pilot is being 
implemented by Cascade Energy Engineering (Cascade) under Energy Trust oversight.  
The Kaizen Blitz initially targeted four to five sites in the warehouse or food processing 
industries with substantially sized refrigeration systems.  Four customers ultimately 
participated (Cohort 1).  A second cohort (Cohort 2) of five customers began in 
December of 2009. 
 
The pilot program process consists of an initial on‐site tune up (Kaizen Blitz) followed 
by technical support provided for a year.  During the initial Kaizen Blitz, Cascade 
works intensively with the participant, on site, for up to a week to identify low or no‐
cost opportunities to reduce facility energy use through improvements made to the 
refrigeration, lighting, door, HVAC, and battery systems.  Where possible, the 
recommendations are implemented on the spot.  A final report (Final Report or Action 
Items Report) is prepared documenting the energy savings opportunities into an action 
plan for the following year.  The report also identifies capital upgrade projects with 
good potential for producing an attractive return on investment. 
 
Follow‐up engineering support is provided periodically for a year to track the action 
items identified during the Kaizen Blitz but also to support the participants in 
developing a tracking system to monitor energy use performance.  The objective is that 
through a combination of tools and coaching, the facilities can become somewhat self‐
sufficient at tracking energy.  Approximately a year after the Kaizen Blitz, a final 
inspection is conducted and a report prepared to document the measures that were 
ultimately implemented and the resulting energy savings (Inspection Report). 
 
Energy Trust pays 75% of the cost of the technical support provided by Cascade.  The 
customer is required to pay their portion of the cost before work commences.  An 
enrollment agreement between Energy Trust and the customer documents the 
incentive and the customer’s obligations and must be executed prior to the Kaizen 
Blitz.  The participants receive an incentive calculated based on the energy savings 
realized by the action items identified in the reports. 







 
 
 
 
 
 


2 
 


 
The customer’s obligations are to: 


• Support the installation of meter monitoring equipment; 
• Allow access to energy and production data; 
• Allow facility access; 
• Identify an energy champion; 
• Authorize other personnel involvement throughout the project period; 
• Pay their portion of the funding for the technical support; and 
• Implement the action items identified during the Kaizen Blitz. 


 
The Kaizen Blitz is conducted as soon a possible after the agreement between Energy 
Trust and the customer is signed.  The Final Report documents the findings of the 
Kaizen Blitz in a twelve month action plan.  The Final Report is usually delivered 
within four weeks of the Kaizen Blitz. 
 
Table 1 lists the Kaizen Pilot participants for Cohorts 1 and 2, along with the key dates 
of the Kaizen Blitz process.  Dates in italics are targeted dates. 
 


Table 1: Kaizen Blitz Participants 


   Part ID  Facility Type  Kaizen Blitz 
Conducted 


Final/Action Plan 
Report Date 


Inspection Report 
Date 


C
oh
or
t 1
 


2353  Distribution Center  May 5 ‐ 9, 2008 June 12, 2008  September 11, 2009
2366  Dairy  June 3 – 6, 2008 July 29, 2008 


Rev. August 8, 2008 
March 9, 2009


2482  Distribution Center  September 29 ‐ 
October 2, 2008


January 5, 2009  March 17, 2010


1845  Frozen Foods Processing  June ‐ August, 2008 Rev. Nov. 1, 2008  December 18, 2009


C
oh
or
t 2
 


2925  Dairy  December 7 – 9, 2009 February 11, 2010  February 2011
2866  Frozen Foods Processing  Sept. 22‐23, Oct. 27 


and Nov. 17, 2009
March 31, 2010


April 21, 2010  April 2011


2926  Distribution Center  January 11 ‐ 13, 2010 February 15, 2010 
Rev. March 31, 2010 


March 2011


2725  Canning and Processing   May 3‐6, 2010 June 20, 2010  June 2011
0001  Dairy and Bakery  September 1, 2010 September 29, 2010  September 2011







 
 
 
 
 
 


1 
 


Conclusions and Recommendations 


Conclusions 


A technical review of two sets of Kaizen Blitz reports found that they are generally well 
suited to the needs of the customer, administrator, and evaluator. 


Participants are motivated to undertake the Kaizen Blitz by the potential for energy 
and cost savings, though other benefits provide additional support. 


The incentives were effective at reducing the return on investment to acceptable levels 
and motivating the participants to action.  The value of the cost sharing aspect is less 
clear, with some participants indicating that they could have used those funds to 
complete additional action items. 


Though the participant’s experience with the tool is limited by time, early indications 
are that it’s easy to set up, easy to use, and of great benefit. 


Participants are confident in their ability to maintain the savings they’ve achieved 
during the Kaizen Blitz and the follow up period.   


The Kaizen Blitz was a positive experience for most participants and has made them 
more likely to undertake initiatives with Energy Trust and their PDCs in the future. 


Cascade Energy’s involvement was a major reason that participants enrolled in the 
Kaizen Blitz and their unique expertise was driver of the success at the individual 
participant sites.   


Participants expressed very few initial concerns about participating in the Kaizen Blitz. 


Actual barriers experienced during the Kaizen Blitz were limited to staff’s resistance to 
making changes, usually out of concern that the equipment will fail resulting in lost 
production or product. 


Participants are applying techniques and action items from the Kaizen Blitz at their 
other facilities. 


Participants had mixed opinions about the time frame required to complete the Kaizen 
Blitz action times, but the 90 day, 90% incentive structure was effective at motivating 
participants to expedite their efforts. 







 
 
 
 
 
 


2 
 


Recommendations 


Energy Trust should continue to sponsor annual Kaizen Blitz cohorts implemented by 
Cascade Energy.  The Kaizen Blitz should remain largely in its current form but Energy 
Trust should consider making the following changes: 


• To expedite the achievement of energy savings, consider shortening the length of 
time to allowed to implement the action items to no less than six to nine months 
with flexibility allowed for participants to start their engagement around seasonal 
operations and budgeting cycles; 


• Continue the 90 day/90% incentive kicker to realize faster savings; 


• Consider removing the cost sharing requirement; and 


• Because of Cascade Energy’s excellent reputation, past positive experience working 
with many firms throughout the industry, and ability to work effectively across 
organizations, Energy Trust should carefully consider the PDC’s role in the Kaizen 
Blitz process.  Customer presentations, the Kaizen Blitz event, and follow up 
support should continue to be conducted by Cascade Energy.  However, the PDC’s 
should be positioned to leverage the goodwill generated by assisting the 
participants with logging and invoicing for the incentive payments. 


 





		Introduction

		Conclusions and Recommendations

		Conclusions

		Recommendations








Telephone: 1.866.368.7878 
Facsimile: 503.546.6862 
energytrust.org 


Energy Trust of Oregon 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: October 4, 2010 
 To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens, Evaluation Manager  
Kim Crossman , Sr. Industrial Sector Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to the Process Evaluation of the Kaizen Blitz Pilot 
 
The Kaizen Blitz (KB) Pilot has proven to be a successful pilot that has proven a new 
approach that has resulted in engaged customers and significant low-cost energy 
savings.  
 
The piloted services are now included as part of the PE program standard service 
offerings. Cascade continues to make incremental changes to the KB services that 
improve reporting (many of the changes recommended in the evaluation have been 
adopted or are being considered by Cascade) and are keeping the service flexible to 
meet customer needs (e.g. some of the initial site visits are spread out over a period 
of months).  Cascade, the implementation contractor, is now an official Industrial 
Technical Service Provider (ITSP). The PE program released an RFQ for other 
ITSPs to see if similar strategic energy management services focused on the 
industrial and agricultural sector are available that would benefit program 
participants. A pool of 8 qualified ITSPs, including Cascade, has been formed to 
provide these types of services.  
 
 
 
  













Briefing Paper 
Market Indicators Quarterly Report 
October 22nd, 2009 


The purpose of this report is to track and assess changes in key economic indicators in an 
attempt to gain a better understanding of how demand for Energy Trust programs will respond 
to changing market dynamics.  National and local economies continue to feel the effects of the 
2008 economic recession, and by monitoring the behavior of several widely used macro-level 
indicators we hope to stay closely attuned to any signs of emergence from the recession, or 
further worsening of economic conditions, thereby providing Energy Trust program managers 
with the ability to respond to changes accordingly.  At the time this report was completed, 
recovery from the recession and growth in the economy has slowed as monetary action by the 
Federal Reserve Bank has not fully realized its intended purpose, and federal stimulus spending 
has remained insufficient to generate substantial positive movement in many sectors.  
Additionally, slow recovery in the labor market and persistent uncertainty about job prospects 
continue to hinder household confidence and spending.  After two years of job losses, “private 
payrolls expanded at an average of about 100,000 per month during the first half of this year, an 
improvement but still a pace insufficient to reduce the unemployment rate materially”, according 
to Federal Reserve economists.  Estimates from prominent economic figures indicate that in all 
likelihood, significant time will be required to restore the nearly 8.5 million jobs that were lost 
over 2008 and 2009.  This report focuses primarily on the period June 2010 to September 2010.   


 


1.1 Energy Trust Programmatic Indicators 
Existing Homes Report    


Total calls to the ETO contact center increased dramatically in August, by 108 percent from the 
previous month, and 55 percent from August last year.  The number of Online HER requests 
received also saw improvement in August from the previous months of decline as the fall 
months draw near and consumers begin to prepare for colder weather. Additionally, the impact 
of doubling the home comfort bonus from $150 to $300 seems to have had a positive effect on 
ETO customer demand, which is also visible from the increase in incentive applications 
received, up 19.6 percent from the previous month but still down 42 percent from August 2009. 
Incentive applications have also slowed in recent months as economic forecasts remain 
uncertain, and consumers continue to tighten their purse strings and retain a larger portion of 
income as savings.  


 


 


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


2 
 


Figures 1.1, 1.2, & 1.3 


1000
1500
2000
2500
3000
3500
4000
4500
5000
5500


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep


Total Call Volume


2010


2009


 


0


100


200


300


400


500


600


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep


Total Online HER Requests


2010


2009


 


0


500


1000


1500


2000


2500


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep


Incentive Applications


2010


2009


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


3 
 


Gas and Electric Savings 


Gas Savings and Electric savings followed the pattern of 2009 savings closely through the 
summer months, but fell behind 2009 savings in September (figures on next page).  The large 
discrepancy in savings from September 2009 to 2010 is due to an absence of Living Wise kits 
processed in September 2010.  When the savings from these kits were netted out of September 
2009’s savings total, the year-over-year change is essentially flat.  Electric savings so far in 
2110 have generally increased compared to the same months in 2009, most notably so in June 
when kWh savings were 74 percent higher than June 2009 due to the processing of over 12,000 
Living Wise Kits.  Home performance recorded exceptional gas and electric savings in both July 
and August which can be attributed to a high volume of CEWP projects during these months, 
according to the Q3 and September Monthly HES report.  Also noteworthy is the 54 percent 
improvement for HER gas savings in July over the same month last year, thanks in large part to 
increased marketing efforts through the traditionally slow summer months. 


Figure 1.4  


0


1


2


3


4


5


6


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep


M
ill
io
n 
kw


h


Electric Savings


2010


2009


 


  







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


4 
 


Figure 1.5 


0


20


40


60


80


100


120


140


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep


Th
ou


sa
nd


 T
he


rm
s


Gas Savings


2010


2009


 


 


2.1 Macroeconomic Indicators 


Unemployment    


Oregon’s seasonally adjusted unemployment rate was 10.6 percent in August, unchanged from 
10.6 percent in July.  The unemployment rate has remained between 10.5 and 10.7 percent for 
the most recent ten months, a full percentage point higher than the national rate, but still down 
from 11.2 percent in August 2009.  The construction industry in Oregon added a disappointing 
400 jobs in August, following several months of solid job gains.  Employment in construction 
remains below its level during any month from 1996 to 2008.  Professional/ Business services 
and Educational/ Health services both saw some employment gains in August while most other 
industries were forced to cut payrolls as weak consumer demand and persistently slow growth 
have continued to weigh heavily on Oregon business and households.  For many people, 
including Tom Potiowsky: Oregon’s State Government Chief Economist, the most recent 
employment news indicates that Oregon is still managing to avoid slipping into a dreaded 
“double-dip” recession, although the risk of such an event is still present and “recovery from the 
mass layoffs and collapse in housing prices of late 2008 and early 2009 remains elusive”.  
Regionally, the Bend/ Central Oregon area continues to struggle with the highest unemployment 
rate in the state at 14.1 percent in August (SA), while Corvallis has consistently reported 
unemployment rates of less than 7.5 percent since September 2009.  Nationally, the 
unemployment rate has remained near a seasonally adjusted rate of 9.6 percent through most 
of 2010.  


 


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


5 
 


Figure 2.1 


6.5 
7.5 
8.5 
9.5 


10.5 
11.5 
12.5 
13.5 
14.5 
15.5 


Ja
n


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n


Ju
ly


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec Ja
n


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n


Ju
ly


A
ug


2009 2010


U
ne


m
pl
oy
m
en


t R
at
e 
(S
A
)


National and Local Unemployment


US


Oregon


Bend


Corvallis


Portland Area


 
 
 
 
 
New Homes Report    


Nationally, non-residential construction expenditures have fallen slightly from 2009, while 
residential construction expenditures have stayed essentially flat.  Housing activity, as 
measured by building permits, has grown compared to 2009 for single family dwellings 
throughout the summer, most notably in June when the percent change in year-to-date Single 
Family building permits in Oregon grew by 17 percent from the same month in the prior year.  
Unfortunately, total housing starts have slipped for Oregon, as a number of economic factors, 
including high unemployment and tight credit conditions, have hindered growth in residential 
construction projects on aggregate.  


“… notable restraints on the recovery persist. The housing market has remained 
weak, with the overhang of vacant or foreclosed houses weighing on home 
prices and new construction. Similarly, poor economic fundamentals and tight 
credit are holding back investment in nonresidential structures, such as office 
buildings, hotels, and shopping malls.”  
 -From Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke’s speech on upcoming 
challenges for the economy and State Government, 8/02/10.  


 


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


6 
 


 Figure 2.2 


17%


‐2%


21%


14%
10%


‐10%


13%
10%


7%


‐4%


10% 9%


‐13%


‐8%


‐3%


2%


7%


12%


17%


22%


27%


Single Family Total Single Family Total


Oregon  US


% Change in YTD Building Permits
2009 vs. 2010


June 


July 


August


 


 


 


 


Figure 2.3 


100,000


200,000


300,000


400,000


500,000


600,000


700,000


800,000


Ja
n


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n Ju
l


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec Ja
n


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay


Ju
ne


R
Ju
ly
r


A
ug
p


2009 2010


# 
U
SD


 M
ill
io
ns


National Construction Expenditures


Residential 


Nonresidential


 


 


 


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


7 
 


Foreclosures and Home Prices- 


Despite the assistance provided by programs such as HAMP (Home Affordable Modification 
Program), the number of foreclosures reported each month has yet to ease, and most 
residential housing indicators suggest that home prices will not stage a substantial recovery in 
the near term.  In recognition of the increasing number of foreclosed homes, the federal 
government has recently taken further steps to ease the burden faced by homeowners who can 
no longer afford to pay their mortgages.  


“The Obama administration released $600 million Wednesday to help 
unemployed homeowners in Oregon and four other states avoid foreclosure. 
Oregon, where one in every 76 homes is facing foreclosure, qualifies for $88 
million. The money will be used to help distressed homeowners… and support 
local initiatives to assist struggling homeowners”  
 -From the Oregonian, 8/04/10. 


Recent developments though, will likely make the effect of such newly launched ‘safety-net’ 
programs unclear.  In early October, Bank of America halted foreclosure proceedings in all 50 
US states due to concerns of improper documentation and flawed paperwork in states that 
require judicial reviews of foreclosures.   Subsequently, a joint investigation was launched by 
Attorney Generals in all 50 states to determine whether banks and loan servicers used false 
documents and signatures to justify hundreds of thousands of foreclosures.  The likely effect of 
this seemingly widespread foreclosure moratorium is at minimum, a noticeable slowdown in the 
number of foreclosed properties in the near term, and at most, a complete halt of foreclosures 
into 2011.  It is expected that a remedy to this problem will take several months for some 
lenders.  The number of foreclosed properties nationwide, by month, is shown in the graph 
below (Figure 2.4).  


Figure 2.4 


 


250


270


290


310


330


350


370


390


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep


2009 2010


Th
ou


sa
nd


s


New Foreclosures, US







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


8 
 


University of Oregon Index of Leading Economic Indicators 


Figure 2.5 


81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug


2009 2010


UO Index


 


In the last six months, the University of Oregon Index Of Leading Economic Indicators has 
declined 5.9 percent, signaling impending weakness in Oregon’s economy, more specifically in 
nonfarm payrolls, according to the latest UO Index release.  Although declines in the index were 
experienced throughout the summer, the most recent release of the U of O index showed a 
slowing in the downward trend, posting a decline of only 0.2 percent in August.  Initial 
unemployment claims rose in August, further exacerbating weak demand in labor markets.  
These trends are not welcome news for Oregon’s economy, where despite being in a recovery 
phase, economic activity has failed to grow at a pace sufficient to generate solid job growth.  


Price Indices 


Over the last 12 months, the Consumer Price Index for all items has increased only 1.1 percent 
before seasonal adjustment. Over the months April-June, the index  showed a downward trend 
that seemed to have reversed in July, and is now seeing some positive movement.  The three 
straight months of falling consumer prices caused widespread concern over the potential for 
deflation, and a corresponding drop in wages and the value of homes and investments.  Much 
of this fear has since subsided, and the Federal Reserve Board now expresses the opinion that 
the nation’s economy faces “only small odds of deflation”.  
 


 


 


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


9 
 


Figures 2.6  


170


175


180


185


190


195


200


205


210


215


220


225


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug


Seasonally Adjusted Energy Indices
All Urban Consumers


All Items


Energy


Gas(piped) and Electricity


household energy


 


 


 


Figure  2.7 


0.4


0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2


0


0.1


‐0.1 ‐0.2 ‐0.1


0.3 0.3


‐0.2


‐0.1


0


0.1


0.2


0.3


0.4


0.5


Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug


2010


CPI‐U (All Urban Consumers)
1‐month percent change


 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


10 
 


Supply Management Manufacturing Index 


In early August, many economists expressed confidence in the possibility of a strong recovery 
from the recession.  Ben Bernanke, chairman of the Federal Reserve Board, offered this insight 
regarding the state of the Manufacturing sector in the US;  


 
““In the business sector, investment in equipment and software has been 
increasing rapidly, in part as a result of the deferral of capital outlays during the 
downturn and the need of many businesses to replace aging equipment. At the 
same time, rising U.S. exports, reflecting the expansion of the global economy 
and the recovery of world trade, have helped foster growth in the U.S. 
manufacturing sector.” 


-From Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke’s speech on upcoming 
challenges for the economy and State Government, 8/02/10.  


Since then we have seen the pace of the recovery slow, and recently many analysts have 
traded their optimistic predictions of growth for slightly more conservative forecasts. 
Nevertheless, economic activity in the manufacturing sector expanded in September for the 
14th consecutive month, and the overall economy grew for the 17th consecutive month, say the 
nation's supply executives in the latest Manufacturing ISM Report On Business. Following 
recent trends in other sectors of the economy, the growth of new orders continued to slow, as 
the manufacturing index is down significantly from its cyclical high of 65.9 percent (January 
2010).  According to the Report on Business, “production is currently growing at a faster rate 
than new orders, but it typically lags and would be expected to weaken further in the fourth 
quarter”.  Manufacturing has enjoyed a stronger recovery than other sectors of the economy, 
but it appears that weaker growth is the expectation for the fourth quarter. Both the Inventories 
and Backlog of Orders Indexes are sending negative signals of weakening performance in the 
sector. 


  







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


11 
 


 


Figure 2.8- Components of the Supply Manufacturing Index 


Manufacturing at a Glance 


Index 


Series Series Percentage
Direction 


Rate   


Index Index Point of Trend* 
September August Change Change (Months)


PMI 54.4 56.3 -1.9 Growing Slower 14 


New Orders 51.1 53.1 -2 Growing Slower 15 


Production 56.5 59.9 -3.4 Growing Slower 16 


Employment 56.5 60.4 -3.9 Growing Slower 10 


Supplier 


Deliveries 


52.3 56.6 -4.3 Slowing Slower 16 


Inventories 55.6 51.4 4.2 Growing Faster 3 


Customers' 


Inventories 


42.5 43.5 -1 Too Low Slower 18 


Prices 70.5 61.5 9 Increasing Faster 15 


Backlog of 


Orders 


46.5 51.5 -5 Contracting From 
Growing 


1 


Exports 54.5 55.5 -1 Growing Slower 15 


Imports 56.5 56.5 0 Growing Same 13 


              
Overall Economy Growing Slower 17 


Manufacturing Sector Growing Slower 14 
 


 


 


Business Around the State- Synopsis of Recent Market Activity 


- Facebook will add 160,000 square feet to the size of its data center that is under 
construction in Prineville. The first phase should be finished early next year, and the 
second phase will be completed in 2012. The Oregonian, 8-3-10 







Market Indicators Report             October 2010 


 
 


12 
 


Facebook still responds to criticism from Greenpeace of its location in Pacificorp’s 
service territory because a high percentage of the IOU’s generation comes from coal.  
Facebook will work with Pacific to encourage more green power from wind and will strive 
to be national leader in efficiency rating for the data center.  The Oregonian 10-15-10 
  
- G5 Search Marketing, a Bend company specializing in localized marketing campaigns, 
landed $15 million in venture capital. It employs 80 people and expects to double its 
workforce by the end of 2011. The Oregonian, 8-10-10 


 
- Construction will begin in January on the Sherwood Cannery Square in Sherwood. The 
public/private mixed-use project will consist of 101 apartments and about 35,000 square 
feet of commercial and community space. Daily Journal of Commerce, 8-4-10 
 
- Kettle Foods Inc. is planning an $8.4 million expansion at its Salem snack foods plant 
that will add 15 jobs. Statesman Journal, 8-9-10 
 
- A 24-screen Cinetopia will open at the Westfield Vancouver mall in November 2011. It 
will employ about 150 people and feature nine living room theaters and several 
auditoriums with 65-foot and 80-foot screens. The Columbian, 8-24-10 
 
- Oregon Health & Science University will build a $160-million, 263,000-square-foot “life 
sciences collaborative complex” in Portland’s South Waterfront neighborhood. The 
complex will allow OHSU to expand its medical, dentistry, nursing, and physician 
assistant schools. It will also have room for the OSU pharmacy, UO psychology, and 
PSU biology, and chemistry programs. Construction is slated to begin in December 
2011, with proposed completion in summer 2014. The Oregonian, 9-9-10 
 
-Intel has announced plans for a large expansion to their Hillsboro research facilities set 
to cost between $6 billion and $8 billion.  The construction phase will support and 
estimated 6,000 temporary construction jobs, and at least 800 new, long-term production 
jobs after the project is complete.  The Oregonian 10-19-10 
  
 


 Compiled by  
Adam F. Shick 
Planning and Evaluation Intern  








 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
October 12, 2010, 4:00-5:15 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, Alan Meyer, John Reynolds, Rick Applegate (by telephone), Margie 
Harris, Peter West, Steve Lacey, Amber Cole, Fred Gordon, John Volkman, Oliver Kesting, 
Scott Swearingen 
 
1. Multi-Family Program contract award. As part of Energy Trust’s organizational redesign, the 


multi-family initiative was moved from the homes group to the business group where it is 
better aligned with decision-making associated with multifamily commercial property owners, 
property managers and property investors. This summer, the business group issued an RFP 
for multi-family program management contractor services beginning in 2011. Three 
proposals were submitted. The proposal review team included staff and Mark Johnson from 
BPA. Staff reviewed the merits of the various proposals. The proposal review team 
unanimously recommends a proposal led by Lockheed Martin, which partnered with Fluid 
Market Strategies and Evergreen Engineering. Lockheed’s team and proposal have many 
strengths. Staff will notify contractors tomorrow and initiate negotiations with Lockheed. 
Assuming negotiations go well, staff plans to ask the board to approve contract terms at the 
November board meeting. The committee also discussed the degree of competition in the 
process. The RFP was set up to encourage proposers to form teams. Considering the 
various entities represented on the teams, staff feels there was a healthy competition. 


 
2. Policy review: 


 
a. Economic development. Energy Trust adopted the economic development policy in 2004 


with the expectation that Energy Trust needed a quick-response capability to help 
economic development departments of utilities and government agencies to keep or 
recruit businesses to Oregon. Given that these opportunities are few and that staff 
quickly responds when they do arise, the policy has had little or no practical effect. Staff 
recommended retiring it. Alan agreed, saying that we serve the ratepayers of our funding 
utilities, and are not a general economic development agency. John Reynolds asked if 
retiring the policy may send an undesirable message; John Volkman said that the 
strategic plan makes clear our role in economic development. Margie noted that she will 
be taking vacation time and paying her way to join Governor Kulongoski on an economic 
development mission to Israel, focused on clean technology, efficiency and renewable 
energy. It may offer an opportunity to contribute to economic development work. She 
also participates on the state’s green jobs council. Thus, we are engaged in economic 
development in various ways. Jason suggested that there may be risk in appearing to 
pull back from economic development, and is inclined to continue the policy for another 
three years. In case we get requests for economic development help, the policy sets out 
our parameters. The committee decided to let the policy stand. 
 


 







Policy Committee Notes  October 12, 2010 


2 
 


b. Green tags. When the green tag policy came up for routine, three-year review last fall, 
the renewable energy staff suggested the policy be clarified to allow Energy Trust to cap 
its REC share at its pro rata contribution to above-market cost. The committee asked 
staff to give it more thought and review it with the RAC. After a deeper look, staff 
decided the policy is workable as written, and that no modification was needed. Staff 
recommended no change in the policy. The committee concurred. 


 
3. Legislative update: Our educational meetings with legislators has mostly concluded, and we 


think it was helpful in informing legislators about what Energy Trust is, what it has 
accomplished, and how it operates. The budget deficit makes the upcoming legislative 
session particularly difficult to predict. We have had several meetings with ODOE and others 
about BETC/RETC. There is some discussion of redirecting public purpose funds to schools 
and public building efficiency and to research and development. Margie has talked with 
consumer-owned utility representatives about how we can voluntarily cooperate with COUs. 
The idea of utility efficiency power purchase agreements is also being discussed; there are 
questions about how it would work, how it would make sense, etc. We have promised to 
analyze what would happen if we moved our levelized cost from 3.5 cents to 5 cents/kWh. 
Staff is tracking these and other policy concepts and otherwise preparing to respond if we 
are asked to share our experience.   


 
4. Heads up:  


 
a. The Oregon Employment Division plans to audit Energy Trust employment records and 


practices October 18-19. The audit will check compliance with Oregon employment laws, 
payment of unemployment insurance, etc. We have no indication that the audit is other 
than routine.  
 


b. Cascade Policy Institute report: Alan Meyer reported word that the Cascade Policy 
Institute may be preparing a report criticizing Energy Trust spending. We have not been 
contacted by the Institute recently, or seen such a report.  


 








 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
August 26, 2010, 4:30-5:45 pm 
 
1. Contingency management: Staff briefed the committee on efforts to manage issues 


identified in the risk assessment that was done earlier this year: 
 


Utility collaboration: The board has had three productive meetings with strategic utility 
roundtable participants this year. In addition, Margie and staff have met individually with all 
of the utilities to address strategic issues in anticipation of utility rate filings and the Energy 
Trust budget. Overall, this investment has paid off, recognizing that such investments 
require considerable time and effort for all parties involved. We are settling into the following 
model:  


• Energy Trust planners and managers identify conservation resources and interact 
with the utilities on their Integrated Resource Plans (IRPs), which identify a specific 
target level of efficiency resource; 


• Utilities each develop rate proposals to acquire the identified IRP resource; 
• OPUC provides a public forum to hear proposed rate and savings proposals and 


address issues, if any; 
• Energy Trust staff propose a budget and action plan consistent with the funding 


levels approved by the OPUC  and designed to achieve IRP targets 
• During implementation: 


o Utilities play key roles in helping identify and bring participants to Energy Trust;  
o Joint marketing strategies and plans are developed for delivery with individual 


and/or multiple utilities;  
o Energy Trust delivers services, evaluates results, and updates resource 


assessment approximately every 2 years 
o Utilities and Energy Trust review results and plan to adjust targets and budgets 


based on results and updated IRPs, looking forward over a two-year horizon 
o Energy Trust presents draft budgets and action plans to utilities, seeking input 


before the board acts to adopt final documents 
OPUC staff, Energy Trust and the utilities have developed an annual calendar to this effect.  


 
Public policy: Staff has reached out to a number of legislators, gubernatorial candidates and 
interest groups over the last year to explain why Energy Trust was created and highlight 
accomplishments. Other interested parties and policy makers have intentionally sought 
reactions from Energy Trust about their proposals. Though unable to take a position, Energy 
Trust has served as a resource to inform discussions concerning several initiatives that may 
impact Energy Trust activities and our ability to achieve our goals. These include:  


• BETC and RETC for energy efficiency projects and potentially also renewable 
energy projects may be trimmed or eliminated in the 2011 legislature. Both are 
scheduled to sunset in 2012. Staff is working with ODOE to identify ways in which 
BETC/RETC and Energy Trust programs could better complement each other while 
reducing impacts to the State’s budget. We were invited to meet with the House and 
Senate revenue committees about this, and may have more interaction as the 
legislature addresses State revenue shortfalls. At the meeting, an outgoing legislator 
suggested that the public purpose fund might be used to reduce the BETC liability. 
As you know, similar ideas have been analyzed by the State’s lawyers in the past 
and the legislature has not proceeded in that direction.  


 







Policy Committee Notes  August 26, 2010 


• Organizational transparency: in our conversations with legislators, we present 
information about how Energy Trust conducts its business in an open and 
transparent nature and the requirements we must address as part of our grant 
agreement with the OPUC, board fiduciary responsibilities and compliance with  
legislative mandates. 


• Schools: some legislators are discussing a pilot that would use new bonding 
authority to allow Energy Trust to deliver energy efficiency improvements when other 
school building improvements (asbestos, water efficiency, etc.) are being made in 
investor-owned utility territory. 


• Some environmental organizations are considering ideas such as: (1) requiring 
utilities to prioritize energy efficiency in resource planning, essentially codifying 
existing practice; (2) expansion of the existing energy performance score: and (3) 
providing incentives for zero-net energy homes and buildings.  


• Energy efficiency funding: proposals to allow utilities a return on their capital 
investment in energy conservation, especially for public buildings, have been 
discussed, including a power purchase agreement for “megawatts.”   


• Clean Energy Works Oregon (CEWO): CEWO is a new non-profit created to oversee 
a $20 million federal community development block grant to expand the Clean 
Energy Works Portland model to other parts of the state, including Klamath Falls, 
Hood River, Clackamas County and Astoria. Margie is on its board. CEWO is clearly 
in the best position to allocate the federal grant among jurisdictions, and it is gearing 
up to explore how to attract private capital to energy efficiency. We are working with 
CEWO on a written agreement clarifying our relationship, functions, financial 
contributions, etc. In particular, we want to clarify how Energy Trust and CEWO are 
involved in IOU service delivery.  


• An energy commission: the idea of establishing an appointed commission to oversee 
ODOE and develop a state energy policy and “roadmap” is also being discussed. 


• NEEA: Market transformation can result in high value savings over several years and 
it is challenging to predict which markets will shift, define corresponding costs and 
accurately project when savings will occur. How we account for market 
transformation in integrated resource planning and allocate contributions to annual 
savings goals is important. This is especially the case as NEEA transitions from 
CFL’s and other known technologies to a series of more diversified market 
transformation strategies and new initiatives. We have approached NEEA about the 
need to improve their forecasting and evaluation capabilities. NEEA has hired a very 
competent person to head that effort. Margie (who is on the NEEA board) and staff 
are encouraged by these developments, yet some of the uncertainty is inherent. As a 
result, we are hedging uncertainties by discounting NEEA forecasts in both our IRP 
and budget goals  


 
Risk assessment in planning and management: The risk assessment report recommended 
that risk analysis be built into Energy Trust planning and management. With this in mind, the 
sector plans considered contingencies such things as the weak economy, the effects of 
changing codes and standards, new technologies, etc. Staff is also exploring how 
operational risk might be assessed and managed on an ongoing basis. Staff will brief the 
committee on this in a future meeting. 
 


2. NW Natural solar-thermal proposal. NW Natural is discussing with the OPUC, Energy 
Trust and CUB a pilot program to subsidize solar hot water systems for homes: 


2 
 







Policy Committee Notes  August 26, 2010 


• The pilot would install 3,000 hybrid solar and natural gas systems over three years at 
no upfront cost to customers. 


• NW Natural would own and maintain the solar systems. 
• Customers would be billed a flat fee per month, plus the cost of supplemental gas.  
• Incentives: 


o Under SB 1149, Energy Trust can fund solar hot water systems only if they are 
cost-effective. Because it saves rather than generates electricity, SB 1149 makes 
it an efficiency measure rather than a renewable energy resource. We can pay 
the above-market cost for solar PV because it generates renewable energy.  


o Because NW Natural is not bound by SB 1149, it proposes to treat gas solar hot 
water as renewable energy eligible for above-market cost incentives.  


o The program would require an estimated $4.7 million in additional public purpose 
funding from NW Natural. In concept, $2.1 million of this amount would be cost-
effective, and $2.6 million would represent above-market cost.  


o Anticipating that the NW Natural pilot and the higher incentives will spur 
homeowners to install systems outside the pilot (perhaps another 500 systems), 
NW Natural would fund the same incentives for these systems.  


Staff has worked closely with NW Natural on this concept, and finds it a creative idea with 
many positives. At the same time, there are still technical and policy questions under 
discussion, and it hasn’t had RAC or CAC review. The question whether it is appropriate to 
have an above-market incentive for gas solar-thermal is an OPUC issue. The committee 
also liked the concept, and noted that it would be a positive thing if NW Natural and Energy 
Trust put effort into new high-efficiency tank water heaters. 


 
3. Status report on ISP contract and resolution. At the July board meeting, the board 


authorized Margie to negotiate and sign “a contract to pay up to $1.57 million to purchase 
and implement Epicor 9 software. In doing so, there was some confusion about whether the 
“whereas” clauses that were part of the July draft resolution were included, or the resolution 
was limited to the specific authorization. To clarify this, staff prepared and included in the 
board packet a resolution with “whereas” clauses. The resolution reflects the points that the 
board discussed in July: the board endorsed a software solution, not an implementation 
provider; and staff has refined its estimate of how long we expect it to take to recover the 
cost of purchasing Epicor 9. If this fuller resolution is what the board intended in July or 
would like to adopt now, it may adopt it in lieu of the resolution that appears in the minutes 
of the July meeting. The committee thought this would be a valuable clarification. 


 
4. Status report on utility rate filings. Steve Lacey briefed the committee on utility funding for 


2011. Under the schedule mentioned in agenda item #1, staff has reached agreement with 
PGE, NW Natural and Cascade Natural Gas. The PAC meeting is next week. So far, it looks 
like the course of action that was developed last year is still appropriate. Energy Trust will 
run a 5% reserve for each utility, except a 10% reserve for NW Natural. NW Natural wants 
the higher reserve because there are several big projects that could land in 2011 and they 
want sufficient funds to be there. Steve also noted that staff and utilities have discussed 
narrowing the difference between conservative-case and stretch-case efficiency goals from 
25% to 15%. From an Energy Trust point of view, this will help make the various goals to 
which we manage (e.g., IRP goals, utility contract goals, strategic plan goals) more 
consistent. A 15% margin is more than the 10% margin that is currently in the utility 
contracts, and less than the 25% margin that Energy Trust has used in internal planning and 
budgeting. Historically, Energy Trust has always achieved 90% of our stretch goals, and so 
the 15% idea would still leave a 5% margin if savings numbers are reduced by evaluation 


3 
 







Policy Committee Notes  August 26, 2010 


4 
 


findings. So far, the utilities are agreeable. Margie noted that the sector planning process 
builds more discipline into our savings projections, and it makes us more comfortable with 
any risk associated with this change. The committee saw no difficulty in the change. 


 
5. Renewable projects. At the September 1 meeting, staff is seeking board approval of 


incentives for two renewable energy projects:  
(a) Up to $2 million for the 45-Mile hydropower project, a 3.5 MW facility on a North Unit 


Irrigation District canal, reviewed and approved by the RAC in July. A $2 million 
incentive would be 25% of above-market cost and we would therefore take 25% of 
the RECs. The numbers presented to the board are different from those presented 
to the RAC. At the RAC, we thought Energy Trust would take 40% of the RECs, but 
later discovered a mistake in the project’s depreciation schedule. This increased the 
project’s above-market cost, and it reduces Energy Trust’s REC share to 25%. Staff 
does not think this issue would concern the RAC.  


(b) Up to $1,914,500 toward the above-market cost of 1.76-1.915 megawatt ground-
mounted solar photovoltaic facilities owned by a partnership including PGE and 
installed on Oregon Department of Transportation property. Energy Trust REC 
share would equal its above-market cost share or 65%, whichever is greater. 
Energy Trust’s RECs will be assigned to PGE for compliance with Oregon’s RPS 
and 20 MW Solar Capacity Standard. The committee noted that notwithstanding the 
contingencies in the staff proposal, $1 per watt is a good price, the project is highly 
visible, it is located in PGE service territory, and the committee supports it. 


 








   
 


1 


 


Energy Trust of Oregon 
Organization Redesign Progress Report 


October 28, 2010 
 
This is the third quarterly report summarizing progress on implementing 2009 organization redesign 
recommendations. 
 
Background 
In February 2009, Energy Trust of Oregon started an organization redesign effort led by a multi-
disciplinary staff team and guided by senior management. The redesign process, findings and 
recommended follow-up actions are documented in Energy Trust of Oregon Organization Redesign 
Report, published in October 2009.  
   
Redesign findings and recommended follow-up actions fall into four major categories and are 
listed in detail under Appendix F, page 63, of the Redesign Report: (1) work process and 
productivity improvements, (2) customer focus improvements, (3) structural changes and (4) 
cultural changes. Please see the second quarterly progress report, published in July 2010, for 
additional background. 
 
Updates 
The following activity descriptions draw from, and correspond to, areas identified in the organization 
redesign final report and recommendations. Additions, corrections and feedback are welcome at 
any time. Please provide comments to Amber Cole at amber.cole@energytrust.org.   
 


Data: Improve the accuracy and quality of data; improve system capacity for data collection and 
analysis; secure updated data sharing agreements with utilities through the Oregon Public Utility 
Commission. 
 


 Integrated Solutions Project 
The Integrated Solutions Project, ISP, will replace our three major IT systems — 
Goldmine, Fast Track and Great Plains — with a new Energy Trust specific version of 
the Epicor 9 product. This project will produce an integrated system designed to meet 
Energy Trust’s specific business needs, while improving system capacity for data 
collection and analysis.   


Recent activities and current status: 
o Selected Epicor Consulting and Epicor 9 as our Integrated Solutions Project 


implementation provider, developed scope of work, and negotiated and signed 
contracts 


o Continuing to develop project plan; implementation is expected to complete in fall 
2011 


o Drafted internal communications plan to help inform staff of ISP process and 
milestones 


o Assigned functional leads for each group at Energy Trust, and started to work on 
plans to back-fill workload 


o Drafted a survey to help assess Energy Trust staff’s readiness for ISP 
 


 
 



file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Application%20Data/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Local%20Settings/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/TRUST%20GENERAL/Organization%20Redesign%202009-2010/Final%20Report%20October%202009/2009%20Energy%20Trust%20Organization%20Redesign%20Report%20PDF.pdf

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Application%20Data/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Local%20Settings/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/TRUST%20GENERAL/Organization%20Redesign%202009-2010/Final%20Report%20October%202009/2009%20Energy%20Trust%20Organization%20Redesign%20Report%20PDF.pdf

file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/brooke/Local%20Settings/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Application%20Data/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Local%20Settings/TRUST%20GENERAL/Organization%20Redesign%202009-2010/Quarterly%20Progress%20Reports/Q2_100701_Progress%20Report/100701_RedesignCommunication_Q2_FINAL.pdf

mailto:amber.cole@energytrust.org





   
 


2 


 


 Business Intelligence 
The Business Intelligence, BI, initiative involves developing a better understanding of 
key business information in an effort to generate reports that improve decision-making. 
The goal is to consolidate all essential business data from various sources into a central 
location, then transform it into useful information that is readily available via standard 
reports and interactive dashboards. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o A Levelized Costs Pilot was completed in mid-July. This pilot will result in reports 


that replace the iterative, manual effort needed to calculate levelized cost for all 
programs. During this process, the pilot addressed and resolved data quality 
issues, resulting in more accurate data for savings and incentives.  


o More than 25 BI “Power Users” were trained on how to use the new BI reporting 
tools to generate savings and incentive reports. 


o The Counting Project is underway and is expected to complete Q1 2011. This 
project will allow us to better report the volume and type of program activities to 
show a more accurate picture of customer services delivered. The project will 
ensure a standard definition and consistent count for each measure of program 
activity. Additional data cleansing and business rules standardization will occur 
during this project. 


o IT collaborated with staff to scope subsequent BI projects and the IT Steering 
Committee is in process of prioritizing. 
 


 Staffnet & SharePoint platform  
Staffnet is Energy Trust’s intranet portal delivered via the SharePoint platform. The 
SharePoint platform allows for streamlined reviewing and approval processes, document 
editing and version control, record retention and internal communications. IT is in the 
process of developing Staffnet via the SharePoint platform to meet the collaboration and 
workflow needs of the organization, and is providing support to staff and teams utilizing 
the platform.   


Recent activities and current status: 
o SharePoint lead, Lynn Greenough, has met with staff around the office to discuss 


SharePoint needs and capabilities; topics have included trade allies, forms, utility 
collaboration and communications.  


o Currently drafting a governance plan  
o Conducted a SharePoint training for Management Team  
o Created or defined the following “sites” on Staffnet/SharePoint: 


 Budget 
 Office Relocation 
 ACEEE Conference Materials 
 NW Natural Washington 
 Bike Commute Challenge 
 Measure Maintenance Workflow 
 Document Retention Workflow 
 Measure Maintenance 


o IT and Planning and Evaluation are collaborating to develop streamlined 
measure maintenance processes in SharePoint to improve data quality and 
customer service. 







   
 


3 


 


o IT and Communications and Customer Service (CCS) collaborated to create a 
“Happy Customer” form to enable staff to capture customers’ positive feedback 
and document consent for marketing purposes. 


o IT is supporting CCS in the development of a “Utility Collaboration” site to 
support the organization in utility relations and collaboration. 


o IT and CCS are collaborating on improvements to the Staffnet/SharePoint 
landing page. 
 


  FastTrack and Data quality improvements 
FastTrack is Energy Trust’s program tracking system. The system is designed to 
manage renewable energy and energy efficiency projects, inventory site data, process 
incentive payments and track and maintain savings and generation data. IT continues 
to support and will incrementally improve FastTrack until it is determined that such 
improvements are no longer of value given the parallel development of the replacement 
ISP (see above). IT collaborates with program operations analysts and others to identify 
opportunities to improve the quality of data flowing into FastTrack.  


Recent activities and current status: 
o Improved cross program visibility in FastTrack, so customers aren’t transferred 


when inquiring about an incentive check. 
o Automated upload of high volume State Home Oil Weatherization program, 


SHOW, and Energy Saver Kit entries. 
o IT and Operations Analyst teams continued to meet and collaborate on various 


initiatives to improve data quality, improve turnaround time and streamline 
business processes.  


o The Operations Analyst team has been working to identify the fields in FastTrack 
that are continually left blank or filled out incorrectly, information which will help 
inform the forms improvement project. 


 


 Customer data 
Under current information sharing rules, Energy Trust has limited access to utility 
customer information. Utilities must provide Energy Trust with information about large 
customers only if the customer “opts-in” to data sharing. For smaller users, utilities are 
supposed to provide information if the customer does not opt-out of data sharing and 
there are limits on how Energy Trust can use the data. In practice, the opt-in and opt-out 
processes have proved to be complex — each utility interprets the rules differently, and 
the limitations make it difficult to give customers valuable, tailored information about how 
to save energy. Energy Trust customer service, program planning and evaluation are 
hobbled. Energy Trust has proposed to the OPUC and utilities that the data sharing rules 
be updated to address these issues while protecting customer privacy. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Updated utility data sharing rules are being developed in response to the Energy 


Trust proposal 
o OPUC-led stakeholder input process has developed general agreement among 


stakeholders 
o OPUC public process and rules expected in 2011; to be followed by utility 


agreements on data format and customer service procedures 
o Legal, IT and CCS groups are collaborating to identify and implement necessary 


processes and procedures to uphold customer privacy, support customer opt-







   
 


4 


 


outs and ensure alignment with utilities on customer data and communications 
under the proposed data sharing rules  


o IT is currently redesigning the single data structure that tracks customer energy 
usage when provided in various formats by the utilities. This improves our ability 
to understand our customers and improves our analysis capabilities. 


 
Forms: Simplify the customer experience by creating shorter forms and “user-friendly” 
procedures; improve the accuracy and quality of data; apply program-specific data in decision-
making. 
 


 Process streamlining and best practices 
The CCS group is collaborating with programs and support teams in the development of 
more than 300 forms designed to collect customer data. CCS is developing new 
procedures and clarifying work flow for forms development and revision to ensure forms 
are optimized for users and internal needs. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Conducted process mapping session on form request process and implemented 


the following solutions to resolve key variances:  
 Rolled out new procedures, including a formal form request process 
 Streamlined work flow for forms development and revision 
 Clarified roles and responsibilities 


o Created a top 10 list of best practices for creating simpler and more reliable 
forms, which are now applied to all incoming forms  


o The following paper forms have been revised since implementing best practices: 
 Multifamily — reduced 14 forms to six 
 Commercial — forms changed to distinguish them by measure, creating 


less confusion for the people filling out the forms, and less follow-up from 
programs 


 New Buildings — forms were revised to reduce the number of iterations 
from project enrollment to completion by allowing email confirmation by a 
project team member; and as measures are identified, addenda will be 
added as the project scope and requested measures are added or 
changed 


 


 Forms improvements 
CCS is working on a subset of forms that have been prioritized by a broader cross-group 
team as in need of improvement. These forms rose to the top based on customer 
complaints, processing time, volume and savings potential. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Compiled a landscape of all Energy Trust forms showing associated data such 


as complaints, processing time and energy savings tied to the form 
o Used this landscape document to identify and prioritize forms in need of 


improvement 
o Developed a plan to address priority forms to make them easier for the customer 


and trade ally to fill out, and processing teams to track 
 







   
 


5 


 


 Online forms  
Online forms are electronic versions of application forms or user tools delivered via the 
Energy Trust website or other electronic means. These forms result in direct input to or 
exchange of data with Energy Trust data systems via web services or other secure 
means. Electronic forms and web services eliminate data entry and improve the speed 
of information and incentives to customers. IT, with input from an Online Forms steering 
committee, is prioritizing and developing electronic applications to take the place of, 
supplement or streamline various Energy Trust forms and processes where significant 
efficiency and customer service gains can be made. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o IT collaborated with programs and CCS to develop the following online forms in 


2010: 
 Home Showerhead Kit request  
 Home Energy Saver Kit request  
 Home Energy Review request  
 Residential HVAC form upgrade 
 Appliance incentive application form 
 “What is the status of my incentive application” form 
 Customer search improvements for the “find a contractor” directory, 


including online distance search and trade ally contractor rating 
o The Forms team and Online Forms steering committee continue to collaborate 


on process and prioritization of forms. 
 
Customer Focus: Re-orient Energy Trust products and services from a focus on individual 
program offerings to a focus on customers. 
 


 Customer service 
To ensure a high level of customer service, CCS manages an external call center, 
coordinates with utility call center managers, trains Energy Trust representatives, 
responds to customer comments and questions via the call center and 
info@energytrust.org, and resolves customer complaints. Ensuring a positive customer 
experience is the mission of the customer service team.  


Recent activities and current status: 
o CCS developed and began delivering customer experience training for Energy 


Trust staff, Program Management Contractor, PMC, staff and outreach 
contractors to develop representatives’ ability to speak with customers about 
Energy Trust and connect them to appropriate services and solutions. 


o CCS and programs routinely collaborate to implement process improvements 
based on customer feedback and complaints; responsibility for process 
improvement follow-up is now documented during the complaint resolution 
process. 


o CCS held a staff focus group to help inform Interactive Voice Response, IVR, 
options, and implemented changes to the system. 


o CCS, program and PMC staff participated in a process mapping session — 
customer experience by phone — and implemented the following solutions to 
resolve key variances:  


 More robust solar training for the Energy Trust call center 







   
 


6 


 


 New way of handling calls from business customers, which pinpoints 
where they are in the decision-making process and targets their options 
accordingly 


 Cross-program visibility in FastTrack 
 Created a SharePoint site, which is accessible to PMC staff, Energy Trust 


staff and outreach representatives with contact lists, a discussion board, 
current marketing campaign materials and an interactive FAQ database 


o CCS organized call center trainings that focused on:  
 Clean Energy Works Portland, Clean Energy Works Oregon 
 Prescriptive duct sealing 
 Savings Within Reach initiative 
 Existing Homes ongoing program enhancements 
 Routing Existing Buildings customers 


 


 Tools and program enhancements 
As programs develop tools and offerings, we strive to approach this work from the 
customer’s perspective, asking ourselves what will facilitate new and repeat customer 
action and what barriers exist that we need to remove for customers to realize greater 
savings. For example, the following tools and products have been designed in recent 
months to make participating with Energy Trust easier for the customer: 


o The Business Group re-tooled New Buildings program incentives to meet 
customer needs in a very aggressive code environment. Tiered incentives now 
kick-in when customers reach 15 percent beyond the 2010 Oregon Energy 
Efficiency Code, resulting in a clear incentive structure that rewards increased 
savings with increased incentives.  


o The Homes Group developed a customer-friendly, online Home Energy Profile 
tool for the Energy Trust website to walk residential customers through simple, 
visual online evaluations of their home without the need for technical information 
or bill data. The Home Energy Profile provides customers with a general idea of 
how their homes compare to others and recommends a first step to take.  


o The Industry and Agriculture Group recently rolled out the Energy Project 
Portfolio, a customer-facing tool for PDCs to use in working with large industrial 
customers. Using the portfolio, a PDC will document what has been done at the 
site, current projects underway, and future project opportunities. The portfolio 
shows how projects relate to longer-term savings goals, provides financial and 
energy-savings data, and demonstrates the combined cash flow impact of the full 
portfolio of energy-savings projects. It also provides visual representations of the 
data for industrial energy managers to use in conversations with executive 
leadership to gain support for future projects.  


o The Business Group designed and enhanced two tools for use by New Buildings 
program outreach managers, program allies, trade allies and others working with 
a project design team to streamline the calculations associated with the energy-
efficiency features of a new building:  


 Updated the lighting calculator, including exterior and interior lighting and 
lighting controls 







   
 


7 


 


 Launched an HVAC calculator, including air-to-air heat pumps, air 
conditioning, demand control ventilation, economizers, variable frequency 
drives and fan energy optimization 


o The Business Group developed outreach and account management tools to build 
high quality strategic long-term customer relationships with the largest multifamily 
property management firms in Oregon. 


o The Renewable Energy group developed a pilot that will provide incentive dollars 
earlier in the project development process, when they are most needed to 
support project completion. 


o The Renewable Energy group developed the Interconnection Guidebook to help 
projects through the complex process of connecting to the utility, and the Wind 
Permitting Considerations publication to provide counties and customers 
information about permitting standards and definitions that affect wind 
development. 


o The Industry and Agriculture Group collaborated with the Renewable Energy 
Group to provide technical training for Program Delivery Contractors in industrial 
solar PV and solar thermal, biogas and biomass applications. This enables PDCs 
working with customers on production efficiency and other projects to identify 
renewable opportunities for the customer, and provide referrals for those 
potential projects. 
 


 
Market Research: Identify market research needs and prioritize; coordinate market research 
efforts so all programs benefit from intelligence gained. 
 


 Fast  Feedback 
Fast Feedback is an ongoing evaluation program launched in 2010 whereby short phone 
surveys of a sample of recent participants gauge satisfaction and free ridership, as well 
as identify possible program improvements. Fast Feedback delivers this information to 
programs and support groups on a quarterly basis so improvements can be made 
without waiting for the more extensive, less-frequent evaluations to uncover 
opportunities for improvement.  


Recent activities and current status: 
o Reported on Q2 fast feedback findings, which generally found customer 


satisfaction to be high and free ridership at sustainable levels. Results led to 
revised market effects forecasts for three measures and supported plans to 
revise these measures. 


o Fast feedback sample expanded to include residential solar electric and small 
wind (both residential and commercial). 


o The Energy Trust call center now conducts Fast Feedback survey calls. This 
allows our customer service representatives to respond to customers who have 
questions or ask about additional program offerings during the phone call. 
  


 Other intelligence 
The following recent evaluation activities broaden Energy Trust’s understanding of the 
market and customers: 







   
 


8 


 


o Gained considerable insight into customer attitudes, preferences and decision 
making through the 2010 Residential Awareness survey and Clean Energy 
Works Portland process evaluation; awareness of Energy Trust is up, particularly 
in rural areas, and increasingly comes from mass media. 


o Used the awareness survey to explore market position of cold water detergent; 
now considering program activities to promote its use. 


 
Trade Ally Network: Seek new ways to balance trade ally interests while also serving customer 
needs. 
 


 Trade ally rating system 
As of July 2010, Existing Home trade allies are rated from one to three stars based on 
their quality control, QC, pass rate, customer feedback and number of projects submitted 
for incentives. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o CCS and the Existing Homes program continued to solicit feedback from 


customers, stakeholders and trade allies on the Existing Homes trade ally rating 
system. Trade allies had few complaints.  


o CCS met with the Solar team to discuss applying a rating system to solar trade 
allies. 


 


 Energy Trust allies 
Energy Trust allies, also known as “program allies,” are the professionals, retailers, 
distributors and other organizations who are educated about Energy Trust programs, but 
are not categorized as “trade allies” because they are not members of the skilled trades. 
CCS is collaborating with programs to streamline and centralize processes around 
program-related allies management, and to support customer-friendly communications 
about them. 


Recent activities/current status: 
o Created guidelines and a request form for adding new program-related ally 


groups 
o Created a new logo, language and guidelines for logo use 


 


 Trade ally development training 
As part of the new trade ally rating system, trade allies in the top tier will be required to 
complete Energy Trust’s Enhanced Trade Ally Development course including customer 
service best practices, sales techniques, Energy Trust messaging, and customer 
assistance with forms and resources. 


Recent activities/current status: 
o CCS started developing trade ally training and plans to rolled out in Q1 2011; 


topics include sales, customer service and general Energy Trust information  
 
Energy Trust Culture: Develop project management skills among staff; define a pilot process; 
implement ongoing process improvements; support general improvements. 
 


Recent trainings offered to Energy Trust staff and others include: 
 







   
 


9 


 


 Project management training series for staff 
o Offered the third project management certification course  
o Piloted the MS Project tool with the IT, CCS and Program teams; training has 


been scheduled; data gathering continuing  
 


 People management training series for staff 
o Offered the Manager 201 course  
 


 Customer Experience training for staff and contractors 
o Delivered the first round of Energy Trust Customer Experience training to ensure 


staff and contractors can deliver on our core values and have more tools to 
cross-promote programs; more trainings are planned for staff and contractors 
who regularly interact with customers 
 


 Representing Energy Trust (elevator speech) training for staff 
o Developed a wallet-sized Customer Conversation Guide providing staff and 


representatives with a short list of key points about Energy Trust and what we 
offer for different types of customers  


o Including an “elevator speech” segment in the Customer Experience training (see 
above) and distributing the Customer Conversation Guide  
 


 Business program training for utility outreach representatives 
o Program and CCS staff met with Portland General Electric and Pacific Power to 


coordinate 838 outreach and train utility representatives conducting the outreach.  
 


To support a culture of ongoing process improvement, the CCS group provides training and 
facilitation for work process mapping. Programs and support groups request this support to 
examine specific processes that cause customer confusion or create inefficiencies.   
 


 Work process mapping  
o Mapped various processes at Energy Trust, including incentive changes, new 


measures, forms development and revision, and call traffic.  
o Documented opportunities for improvement and provided follow-up support for 


implementation of improved processes. 
o The results from these mapping sessions are referenced in various sections of 


this report.  
 
Internal Structural Development:  Create a structure in support of what customers need and 
want; enhance programs to support accelerated acquisition of savings and generation; revise 
and adjust position descriptions in support of optimal structure and enhanced programs 
 


o Sector strategic plans 
In late 2009, multidisciplinary groups focused on four specific customer types and 
sectors were formed—Homes, Business, Industry and Agriculture, and Renewable 
Energy. In 2010, each production group developed a strategic plan to outline their short 
and long-term goals. 


Recent activities and current status: 







   
 


10 


 


o All production groups have completed a sector strategic plan, and all have been 
presented to the board of directors and staff. 


o The sector plans were referenced while developing 2011-2012 budget and action 
plans.  


o CCS developed a draft trade ally strategic plan out of conversations from sector 
strategic planning sessions. 
 


o Pilot process 
Earlier this year, the Planning & Evaluation Group defined and implemented a new, 
more formalized approach to evaluate new initiatives and presented it to staff. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Programs developed business briefs for two pilots and revisions are underway.  
o Staff and contractors are learning that the brief is most valuable in assuring a 


quality pilot before a program offering is fully developed and scheduled. 
 


 Incentive change process 
Early in the redesign process, staff identified a need to analyze, streamline and formalize 
the cross-organization process that occurs when an incentive needs to be changed. 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Staff and PMCs participated in a process mapping session on the Existing 


Homes incentive change process. The following solutions to resolve key 
variances were implemented: 


 Enhanced the incentive change process and created a timeline, work 
flow, initiative plan, measure request form and glossary  


 Reiterated the blessing memo purpose and created a process flow to 
understand the role of the blessing memo 


 Clarified process roles and responsibilities 
 
Planning: Implement continuous process planning improvements. 
 


 Staffing 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Reconfigured and augmented Planning and Evaluation staff to support 


development function. 
o Transferred 0.5 FTE of contract position from IT to Planning for incorporation of 


efficiency and renewable measures into FastTrack data system.  By placing this 
position closer to the planners who develop measures, IT systems and planning 
and evaluations will be closer aligned. 
 


 Integration 


Recent activities and current status: 
o Planning and Evaluation staff have worked closely to develop realization rates for 


savings from the most recent evaluations for use in developing the 2011-12 
budget and savings forecast. This follows a new schedule that is synchronized 
with the needs of the budget process. 







   
 


11 


 


o Evaluation and CCS staff have worked together to implement Fast Feedback 
surveys, to implement a plan to collect and track happy customer information, 
and to collect other data and results to understand customer motivations and 
suggest program enhancements.  


o Planning and Evaluation staff have worked closely with Existing Homes to clarify 
the purpose and value of the blessing memo through the incentive change 
process enhancements project. 


 
 
 








 


 


 


Board Decision 
Elect Julie Brandis to the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
November 10, 2010 


Summary 
Elect Julie Brandis to complete the remaining term of Preston Michie, and to a subsequent 
three-year term on the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


Background 
Preston Michie was elected to the Energy Trust board in April 2005, re-elected to a new three 
year term beginning February 2008, and resigned earlier this year. His three-year term expires 
February 2011. 
 
The Nominating Committee nominates Julie Brandis to complete Preston’s term and to serve a 
full three-year term subsequently. Ms. Brandis is the Director of Corporate Relations for the 
OSU Foundation. In this capacity, she works with Oregon companies to match their needs with 
OSU students, researchers and programs. Previously, she spent 17 years as an industry 
lobbyist. She was the energy lobbyist for Associated Oregon Industries when SB 1149 was 
drafted, moved and passed through the legislature. During this period, she worked with a 
diverse coalition and represented a broad base of business interests ranging from large energy 
users and national retailers to light manufacturers and family owned businesses. Ms. Brandis 
says: 
 


With this background, I understand the great support that built the ETO, the legislature’s 
long term interest in the Trust and most importantly the value to diverse customer 
groups.  I’ve said on numerous occasions that the work on SB 1149 was a career 
highlight.  
 


Ms. Brandis understands that the Energy Trust board is a non-stakeholder board, and that all 
directors operate independently of other relationships.   
 


Recommendation 
Elect Julie Brandis to the Energy Trust board to complete the remaining term of Preston Michie, 
and to a subsequent three-year term, by adopting the resolution below.  







Resolution 566 Electing Julie Brandis to the Board           November 10, 2010 


RESOLUTION 566 
 ELECTING JULIE BRANDIS TO THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF 


DIRECTORS 
 
WHEREAS: 
1. Board member Preston Michie was elected to the Energy Trust board in April 2005, re-


elected to a new three year term beginning February 2008, and resigned earlier this year. His 
three-year term expires February 2011. 


2. The board nominating committee has reviewed candidates to fill Mr. Michie’s position and 
recommends Julie Brandis, Director of Corporate Relations for the OSU Foundation.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors elects Julie Brandis to complete 
the remaining term of Preston Michie, and to a subsequent three-year term on the Energy 
Trust Board of Directors. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 


 


 





		Board Decision






 


 


 


Resolution 567 
Authorize the Executive Director to Extend Evergreen 
Consulting, LLC Contract 
November 10, 2010 


Summary 
Authorize the executive director to extend a contract for lighting consultant services with 
Evergreen Consulting, LLC.  


Background 
• In a 2008 competitive bid process, Energy Trust awarded a two-year contract to 


Evergreen Consulting, LLC, to deliver lighting consulting services, with options for up to 
two one-year extensions.   


• In November, 2009, the board authorized the executive director to sign amendments 
bringing the Evergreen contract above $500,000. 


• The initial term of the contract will end December 31, 2010 unless the contract is 
extended.   


• Energy Trust gains efficiencies by aligning the work Evergreen Consulting performs for 
the Production Efficiency program and the Existing Buildings program. The Existing 
Buildings contract will be in its first extension period during 2011.   


• The contract with Evergreen Consulting exceeds $500,000, and extending it requires 
board approval.   


Discussion 
• Staff dramatically increased Evergreen's level of activity and savings goals during 2010.  


As of October 2010, Evergreen had achieved 68% of its stretch goal (11,500,000 kWh), 
and appears to be on track to exceed the stretch goal by 50% by year-end. 


• These savings have the lowest average levelized cost in the Production Efficiency 
program, at approximately $.02/kWh. They represent 14% of the total 2010 forecasted 
savings for the industrial sector.  


• Staff anticipates including in the 2011 Production Efficiency program budget 
approximately $623,000 for the 2011 Evergreen contract. 


• Because the board has not acted on the 2011 budget, the resolution below seeks 
authority to extend the contract consistent with board action on the 2011 budget.  


Recommendation 
Authorize the executive director to extend a contract with Evergreen Consulting in an amount to 
exceed $500,000, to be determined in connection with a final, board-approved 2011 budget. 







Resolution 567 November 10, 2010 


 


 


Page 1 of 2 


RESOLUTION 567 
AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO SIGN A CONTRACT 


EXCEEDING $500,000 WITH EVERGREEN CONSULTING 


WHEREAS: 
1. Energy Trust has a two–year contract with Evergreen Consulting, 


LLC, to deliver lighting consulting services, with a two-year 
option to extend;  


2. Evergreen has successfully executed its 2009 and 2010 scopes 
of work, and is likely to exceed its 2010 stretch goal in a highly 
cost-effective manner;  


3. The current contract exceeds $500,000 and Energy Trust intends 
to increase the goals and to add about $623,000 to the contract 
for 2011, which exceeds the executive director’s $500,000 
signing authority; 


THEREFORE, the Energy Trust Board of Directors: 
1. Authorizes the executive director to extend the Evergreen 


Consulting contract through December 31, 2011. 
2. The final dollar commitment in the extended contract will be 


finalized after the board adopts a 2011 budget, and will be 
determined in accordance with the board’s budget decision. 


3. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2011, staff 
will report to the board on Evergreen Consulting, LLC's 
progress. Absent board objection, the executive director is 
authorized to sign such extension.  


4. If so extended, contract terms shall remain as approved in the 
most recent board-approved action plans, budgets and contract 
at the time of extension.     


 
 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





		Resolution 567






 
 
 
 
Authorizing a Program Management Contract for the Existing 
Multifamily program 
November 10, 2010 


Summary 
Approve the basic terms of a two-year contract for program management services for Energy 
Trust’s Existing Multi-family program, with the potential for up to three one-year extensions. 


Background 
• Beginning late 2009, funding for the Existing Multifamily component of CSG’s 


Residential Sector Program Management Contractor agreement was moved to the 
Business Sector as part of the Energy Trust’s organization redesign. 


• On May 5th, the Board approved re-bid of the Existing Multifamily program’s 
management contract  to better align with Business Sector’s Strategic Planning process 
and develop new approaches and outreach strategies for multifamily customers. 


• In July, 2010, Energy Trust staff issued a request for proposals for a Program 
Management Contractor for the program. 


• Energy Trust received ten notices of intent to respond. Several of these parties teamed 
together, and three actual proposals were submitted. 


• A review team comprised of Energy Trust staff and an external reviewer from Bonneville 
Power Administration reviewed the proposals and interviewed all three respondents. 


• The review team selected Lockheed Martin based on the strength of its proposal and 
interview.  The selection process is further explained in Appendix 1.   


• Staff presented this recommendation to the Policy Committee on October 12th.  The 
committee supported the recommendation.      


Discussion  
 


• Prior to the board meeting, in order to begin the program transition to Lockheed Martin 
and maintain seamless program service for the market, staff plans to enter into a 2-
month transition agreement with Lockheed Martin. This transition contract does not 
require board approval because it involves less than $500,000. It will be paid from the 
2010 budget. No savings will flow from the transition contract, and it will allow an eight 
week overlap between Lockheed Martin and CSG, the current PMC.  


• For the longer term, staff proposes a PMC contract spanning two years, from January 1, 
2011 through December 31, 2012, with an option to renew for three one-year time 
periods. 







Resolution 568                November 10, 2010 


2 


 


• For purposes of contract negotiations, staff has assumed a first year budget of 
$3,575,134. This includes a first-year PMC contract cost of about $1,215,134, incentives 
of approximately $2,360,000 ($2,100,000 electric, $260,000 gas), with an allowance for 
performance compensation. 


• Energy Trust expects that work performed under this contract could save as much as 
13,300,000 kWh and 77,120 therms, at a cost of approximately $2,111,470 per aMW 
and a levelized cost of $0.0216 cents per kWh and $0.4395 per therm.  Actual costs and 
savings will be included in the Existing Buildings Program budget, and computed after 
the board approves the 2011 budget.   


• As with other program management contracts, actual contract amounts for each year will 
be negotiated annually, consistent with each year’s board-adopted annual budget. 
Contracts and contract amendments conforming to these budgets would be signed 
without further board action. 


• The contract will refer to expected program incentive costs, but does not include these 
costs in PMC contract payments. Incentive costs are part of the program’s cost, and they 
are paid by Energy Trust to program participants.  Program incentive amounts will also 
be provided and reviewed as part of the annual budgeting process and ensuing contract 
amendments.  


Recommendation 
Authorize the executive director to negotiate and sign a contract with Lockheed Martin for 
Existing Multifamily services by adopting resolution 568, below. 


 







Multi-Family PMC Resolution 568              November 10, 2010 


3 


 


RESOLUTION 568 
AUTHORIZING A PROGRAM MANAGEMENT CONTRACT FOR THE 


EXISTING MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM 


WHEREAS: 
1. With assistance from a selection committee including an outside party, 


staff has conducted a fair and open procurement process to select a 
contractor to manage the Existing Multifamily program offerings for the 
next 2-5 years. 


2. Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. was selected and contract terms are 
being negotiated.  


3. Staff has assumed a total first-year program management contractor 
budget for 2011 of approximately $3,575,134 including a first year 
delivery contract cost of about $1,215,134, incentives of $2,360,000, and 
possible performance compensation. 


4. Based on current assumptions, staff projects the following program 
savings and fully-loaded costs in 2011: 


 


 Electric Gas 
Savings (stretch) 13,300,000 kWh 77,120 Therms 
$/Unit Savings (stretch) $0.2410 $4.789


Levelized Cost (stretch) $0.0216 $0.4395


 
Actual savings and costs will be reviewed by the Energy Trust board as 
part of the annual budget and action plan process. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. Subject to determination of a final contract amount based on the board-


approved 2011 budget, the executive director is authorized to enter into 
a contract with Lockheed Martin to manage the Existing Multifamily 
program from January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2012.   


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals included in the contract 
shall be consistent with the board-approved 2011 budget and two-year 
action plan. Thereafter, the contract may be amended annually 
consistent with the board's annual budget and action plan decisions. 


3. The final contract may include a provision allowing staff to offer up to 
three one-year extensions if the program management contractor meets 
certain established performance criteria.  







Multi-Family PMC Resolution 568              November 10, 2010 


4 


 


4. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2012, staff will 
report to the board on the program management contractor’s progress 
and staff's recommendation for any additional extension time periods. If 
the board does not object to extension, contract terms would remain as 
approved in the most recent action plans, budgets and contract at the 
time of extension, and the executive director is authorized to sign any 
such contract extensions.   


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 







Multi-Family PMC Resolution 568              November 10, 2010 


5 


 


APPENDIX I 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon Program Management Contractor Selection  
November 10, 2010 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon followed a comprehensive competitive Request-for-Proposal (RFP) process.  
 
Ten organizations submitted intent to respond forms for the program RFP; three proposals were 
submitted involving eight respondents. The process was led by an RFP review team consisting of five 
individuals -- four Energy Trust representatives, and one member from BPA. The review team 
considered, evaluated and numerically scored the proposal on three overall major factors:  
 
1. Strength of the Proposal (40%) - Considerations included: the strength of the approach and 


responsiveness to the specific objectives, creativity in solving problems and creating market 
opportunities and leverage, knowledge of the multifamily market and market strategy, the ability to 
develop and deploy a product that drives quick uptake, design of a scalable program approach, 
and the ability of staff to influence customer decision making.  


 
2. Strength & Cohesiveness of Program Management Team (30%) – Proposals were evaluated as to 


whether the respondents included individuals and team members with the management 
experience and technical capability to address the many attributes and areas for improvement 
outlined in the RFP for the planning and design enhancements, implementation and management 
of the program. While subcontracting for some of the program management tasks is permissible, 
respondents needed to demonstrate how they would work cohesively and efficiently to perform 
various aspects of the program. 


 
3. Cost and Savings (30%) - Proposals were evaluated based on the proportion of the total 


implementation and delivery budget as compared to the incentive budget. Labor rates and hours 
allocated to management and program activity will also be considered. Reasonableness and 
credibility of each of the cost elements were examined. Proposals were subject to being penalized 
for underestimating cost factors to reduce the overall bid amount. Proposals were also evaluated 
based on the proposed savings goals and associated levelized costs. 


 
Based on this review, the review committee selected to interview all three respondents. The review team 
conducted an extensive 2-hour interview with all three respondents.  Following the interviews, the 
proposals were re-scored by the review committee using the same numeric scale. Lockheed Martin was 
unanimously selected as the first choice. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics of Lockheed Martin’s Proposal and Interview 


- Strong custom approach to augment current program  
- Scalable direct install approach 
- Qualified staff with deep regional multifamily and low income experience 
- Potential tenant education and O&M strategies 
- Highly recommended subcontractors with existing regional presence 








 


 


 
RENEWABLE ENERGY ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on September 15, 2010  
 
Attending from the Council: 
Megan Decker, Renewable Northwest Project 
Troy Gagliano, enXco 
BJ Moghadam, Pacific Power 
Frank Vignola, University of Oregon 
Ed Kennel, Clean Energy Services 
Margie Gardner, Bonneville Environmental 
Foundation 
Deb Malin, Bonneville Power Administration 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Kacia Brockman 
Pete Catching 


Hannah Hacker 
Erin Johnston 
Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
Darrin Kite 
David McClelland 
Elaine Prause 
Thad Roth 
Lizzie Rubado 
 
Others attending: 
Theresa Gibney, member of the public 
Kip Pheil, Oregon Department of Energy 


1. Welcome and introductions 
 
Betsy Kauffman called the meeting to order at 9:33 a.m. Everyone introduced themselves. The 
minutes from July were approved and the September agenda accepted after moving the small 
wind update to be the first topic. 
 
2. Update on the small wind initiative 
 
Erin Johnston presented on the Small Wind program’s activity and outreach and marketing 
efforts, including a Geographic Information Systems mapping project used for targeted 
outreach. Erin introduced Darrin Kite who is managing the GIS project and helping potential 
customers determine if their site has enough wind resource to be viable. GIS helps the program 
create maps, analyze data and pinpoint candidates for small wind systems.  
 
Erin went on to describe the specific GIS features Energy Trust is using: wind speed data (as 
the program requires at least 10 mph at hub height of turbine), Portland General Electric and 
Pacific Power territory boundaries, tax lot (publicly available data on property size and customer 
contact information) and land use (land type, i.e. irrigated, forest, agriculture). The main goal of 
using GIS is targeted outreach to contact and invite to informational workshops those 
landowners with a property that may be suitable for a small wind system.  
 
Energy Trust’s wind map (which inputs into GIS) was developed by AWS True Wind, a company 
based in New York. The wind map is based on both measured and modeled wind data (200 
meter grid size), and decreases staff and customer time and funds spent on a previous year-
long process of monitoring wind speeds at a potential site. In 2010, the program started offering 
a bonus incentive when customers installed an anemometer attached to the small wind system. 
The goal is to use the data to check our wind map and can be used by the customer and Trade 
Ally to troubleshoot problems with the system.  
 
The program offers small wind workshops and so far in 2010, workshops have run in Polk, 
Yamhill and Marion counties plus the Better Living Show in March at the Portland Expo Center. 
The workshops have been well received, with a few recent customers mentioning they would 
not have installed a system without having attended a workshop. 
 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


2 


The program is newly offering potential customers a Wind Resource Assessment, which serves 
as a record of communication for both the customer and Energy Trust. The assessment gives 
the customer a written document on the latitude, longitude, wind speed, wind rose, and other 
information on the potential site. The Wind Resource Assessment is similar to a pre-site 
assessment, as micro topography does vary from the modeled data. A trade ally will still provide 
the complete site assessment. 
 
Erin mentioned a Small Wind Permitting Considerations document was recently completed, and 
includes information on what is a small wind system, the benefits of small wind and addressing 
common concerns and misconceptions. The audience is counties and governments, but the 
resource is suitable for contractors to use, as well as for customers to provide to their county 
representatives. The permitting considerations document was created to offer information for 
local governments wanting to learn how others are approaching small wind systems and 
existing ordinances. For example, counties may have a low height restriction disallowing for the 
installation of a small wind turbine that exceeds the restriction.   
 
The program has expanded the qualifying turbines list to include larger turbines (100 and 150 
kW) and increased the maximum incentive cap. Erin said the program is now offering 
development assistance funds to help customers hire contractors to do an in-depth site 
assessment, help with interconnection, or help with other development activities. Those 
customers can still receive matching grant funds from Energy Trust. 
 
To date, the program has seen 16 projects completed since launching in Q4 of 2007. In 2008, 
two projects were completed (29,100 kWh); in 2009, six projects were completed (93,182 kWh); 
and in 2010, eight projects have been completed (111,858 kWh). The program pipeline currently 
has 20 pending projects.  
 
Eighty percent of the systems are in PGE service territory. Energy Trust has a larger customer 
base, and therefore budget, with PGE. Also, most trade allies are in the metro area (and the 
program requires the customer to use a trade ally to receive an incentive). Pacific Power may 
have places with a better wind resource, but, for example, the coast is a very hard place to get a 
system permitted; also, the Gorge has a lot of pockets that are not good wind candidates. 
 
BJ Moghadam asked if there are any trade allies promoting in the rural areas. Erin said there is 
one trade ally in southern Oregon and one or two in eastern Oregon. A trade ally in Pendleton 
did a lot of leg work, but found that there are not a lot of people in those areas and the best wind 
resources are generally not where people live. The GIS system will help, but we don’t have GIS 
data in every county. As we get better and more data, we can start outreach and workshops to 
garner interest. 
 
Betsy mentioned from a staffing and budget perspective, we can get significant number of larger 
projects, much more easily, in Pacific Power by using other renewable energy technologies. 
Energy Trust is pleased with the projects completed thus far. 
 
Margie Gardner asked if the projects are producing what was expected. Erin said the majority 
are, though one isn’t (which was installed in a marginal wind area anyway). Contractors are 
getting better at estimating production. 
 
Margie asked how difficult is it to get net metering agreements signed. Erin said the agreement 
is pretty smooth, the delay comes when PGE or Pacific Power need to come out and hook up 
the meter. Erin also mentioned the billing cycles of PGE and Pacific Power are April to April 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


3 


which is not ideal for wind systems because it is generally windier in the winter. There have 
been PGE customers who have negotiated a different net metering annual billing cycle. 
 
 
3. Overview of 2011-2012 budget 
 
Elaine presented on the 2011-2012 Renewable Energy sector draft budget. This presentation 
was prepared while keeping in mind previous requests by RAC members to provide more 
context around the budget numbers. The discussion is taking place in September because there 
are key areas where Energy Trust needs RAC input before making recommendations to the 
board of directors. Elaine made the presentation based on budget themes: 
 
Leverage Business and Residential Energy Tax Credits and other resources while available 


 Tier 1 (less than $500,000 in project costs) 
o 2011: Likelihood of Tier 1 funding being available looks good 
o Will most likely affect smaller solar, wind or hydro projects. Projects will probably 


still be able to utilize the Business Energy Tax Credit 


 Tier 2 ($500,000 to $6 million in project costs) 
o Five Energy Trust projects moved on to the second Oregon Department of 


Energy technical review (need to pass this next review to receive a pre-
certification) 


o Fifteen Energy Trust projects did not make it to the second review round, nine 
were solar and the rest included biopower, hydro and wind. Many of those 
projects are planning to resubmit Oct. 1 


o ―Energy Trust projects‖ means Energy Trust has been talking with the project 
owner and funds may or may not be committed 


 Tier 3 (more than $6 million in project costs) 
o Extremely competitive round, $190 million requested for a $30 million pot 
o Energy Trust in discussions with about 13 projects 
o Decisions made second half of September 


 Next allocation  
o January 2011 
o Schedule not released, nor allocation by tier 
o Approximately $150 million total 


 
Less funding available due to less carryover 


 2011 
o Revenue estimate: $8 million PGE and $5.2 million Pacific Power 
o Uncommitted carryover: $8.7 million PGE and $1.1 million Pacific Power  


 Carryover funds are getting progressively smaller each year as Energy 
Trust spends down the funds. ―Carryover funds‖ are the public purpose 
charge funds that accumulated while the programs were being set up. 


o 2011 available funding: $23 million total  
 Dedicated funds (to 8 projects in PGE territory and 4 projects in Pacific 


Power territory) are not reflected in that total as those funds are 
considered to no longer be available to disburse 


 Comparing 2011 to 2010 
o $34.2 million budget in 2010 compared to $23 million budget in 2011 
o For 2010, expecting to spend approximately $31 million 
o 2010 activity exceeds the funding available for 2011 and we are experiencing 


increasing activity in the renewable energy markets. This will lead to choices 
needing to be made in 2011. Specifically the Pacific Power solar budget — in 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


4 


2010, the Pacific Power solar budget was $6.4 million, which is slightly more than 
the total Pacific Power budget available in 2011 ($6.3 million). 


o Margie Gardner asked about Energy Trust’s overall strategic goals. Elaine said 
the goals are very broad: i) provide funds for a range of technologies and 
markets within those technologies; ii) market development further upstream; iii) 
expand markets and leverage other funds and iv) achieve at least 3 aMW 
installed (minimum performance metric from Oregon Public Utility Commission). 
Elaine said we have limited funds but want to work within many segments. 
Energy Trust is looking for feedback from the council on prioritizing.  


 
Solar policy and reduced budget impacts 


 2010 was a big year for Energy Trust in terms of the growth primarily in residential solar, 
but an uptick on commercial solar, as well. Kacia led the council through the graphs on 
slide 6, which showed the solar market growth and projected growth between 2007 and 
2012.  


o Total projects were further broken out by projects going through the feed-in tariff 
pilot and those receiving an Energy Trust incentive. The feed-in tariff pilot goes 
through 2013. Kacia’s graph ends in 2012 because of the scheduled sunset date 
of the Business Energy Tax Credit in the summer of 2012. Graphs are assuming 
Business Energy Tax Credit /Residential Energy Tax Credit are continuing at 
present rates. 


o Kacia said the feed-in tariff has the potential to absorb the growth in the market 
that Energy Trust is unable to fund. Kacia pointed out that the growth does flat 
line in Pacific Power territory (smaller feed-in tariff capacity). PGE has a small 
budget decline in 2011 and 2012, but not as much of a decline as Pacific Power.  


 2011 solar policy impacts 
o Residential Energy Tax Credit rules reduced value on small residential systems 
o Business Energy Tax Credit competition for funding will mean less activity on the 


75 kW system size 
o Feed-in tariff rates vary with each enrollment period 
o Significant growth in the past three years 
o The challenge is to support the market with less funding 


 As previously said, the feed-in tariff may absorb some demand 
 Energy Trust could focus on delivery market support instead of incentives 
 Tier 1 Business Energy Tax Credit seems stable 


o Tight management with milestone reviews and flexible shifting of funds 
 
Custom project pipeline continues to grow 


 Energy Trust talks with projects, sometimes for a few years, before they are ready to 
apply for funding and negotiate a specific incentive. The pipeline is like a funnel, not 
every project we work with in the planning phase end up being completed 


o Still high level of uncertainty if projects will go through to completion 
o Not something new, but as Energy Trust sees greater interest and activity adding 


more projects to the pipeline without increasing funds, there’s less room to fund 
all viable projects.  


o The challenge is again to continue supporting the markets without shutting down 


 Pacific Power custom project pipeline ($6.8 million) is exceeding available Pacific Power 
funds ($6.3 million), don’t know what projects will be completed but shows success in 
market development, hydro initiative and biopower target markets. Plus short-term 
urgency with Business Energy Tax Credit competitive application. We still have flexibility 
in custom offers, the pipeline incentive estimates assume a typical $M/aMW we have 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


5 


offered, may need to lower or increase that offer to get projects move yet stay within the 
budget. 


 Custom pipeline: If all projects go through, 13.76 aMW at a cost of $12.8 million 
(assuming a Business Energy Tax Credit). 


o However, a few of those projects are large and depend on the highly competitive 
Tier 3 Business Energy Tax Credit and the outcome of the next Tier 2 round.  


 
Demand/funding imbalance strategies  


 Given that there’s less funding, a Pacific Power custom pipeline exceeding total Pacific 
Power funding, and a greater demand for projects (custom and solar), Energy Trust staff 
presented their 2011 Program Allocation Proposal 


o Continue to support a range of markets, and leverage the Business Energy Tax 
Credit as we can  


o Enough PGE funds to cover custom projects in the pipeline plus a few more. 
There is enough Pacific Power budget to cover a range of projects (though not 
enough for the pipeline), balance goes to solar. 


o The council asked for more clarification on why there is less money in Pacific 
Power: 


1. Little over $5 million in revenues from Pacific Power 


 Fewer customers than PGE, always will be less revenue 
2. Less carryover built up to use 
3. More big projects (needing larger incentives) would occur in Pacific 


Power territory (more hydro and geothermal resources) 
 
Short-term options to match funding/make choices 


 This section is where Energy Trust is specifically looking for RAC feedback and thoughts 


 The main question is there are $6.3 million in funds available for PAC, but the pipeline 
demands exceed funding. How should Energy Trust proceed? The following options are 
not exclusive; Energy Trust staff believes the solution lies within a mix of the options 
below. 


o PGE 
1. Shift even more PGE funding to solar — follow known demand, but less 


generation as projects are smaller 
2. Where possible, increase focus of custom efforts  


o Pacific Power 
1. Support custom project wheeling (>1 MW) from Pacific Power to PGE and 


use PGE funds 


 Have tried this in the past, project just didn’t end up going through 


 Will increase above market costs 


 Becomes a cost and feasibility question 


 Deb Malin said it also becomes a Balancing Authority question 


 Could include wind and biopower 


 Energy Trust has offered an incentive recently to a wind project 
outside PGE territory which is planning to wheel to PGE and 
receive standard QF contract rates.  


 BJ Moghadam asked if this is the best deal for ratepayers? 
Couldn’t you go out on the market and purchase RECs? Why 
inflate project costs? 


o Betsy said she likens Energy Trust as being in the REC 
making business, not the REC buying business. The 
benefits we bring are more than just the RECs. We are 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


6 


adding renewable energy capacity to the system and 
helping create and move projects forward 


o Kip Pheil said to use the cost-effectiveness test, and 
mentioned that PGE and Pacific Power buy some of their 
power out of state 


o Margie said she heard Energy Trust staff saying cost 
effectiveness isn’t the primary goal for the sector, but that 
it’s market development 


o Deb recommended the staff look at the California Public 
Utility Commission decision on RECs, as they grappled 
with very similar, tough questions 


 
In summary, wheeling would add to costs and may be technically challenging 
depending on location and existing congestion but is not of political concern. 
 
2. Transfer RECs from a project in Pacific Power territory to PGE, 


generation not included 


 Staff asked the council if this is the right policy decision and way 
to utilize public purpose funding 


 Megan Decker asked to know more about the barriers Energy 
Trust needs to work within. Are there any legal challenges to 
implementing Pacific Power solution 1 or 2? 


o Betsy mentioned that SB 1149 requires 17 percent of the 
funds to be spend on renewable energy development 


o Lizzie said the Energy Efficiency sector has some flexibility 
with fund allocation for NEEA-related electric efficiency 
activity. She said 80 percent of the funding from a utility 
must be spent in that territory on NEEA efficiency projects, 
while 20 percent of the funds are left for flexibility (may be 
transferred to the other utility). Lizzie said RECs may pose 
a similar situation.  


 Megan said it seems you should do Pacific Power option 2 instead 
of  Pacific Power option 1 if, you can do either 


 The council felt that the staff should do more work around the 
feasibility and timing of Pacific Power options 1 and 2. Can they 
be done? When would they be considered? What criteria will be 
used to determine whether to implement an option? 


 Deb asked if PGE’s and Pacific Power’s wants should be 
considered, specifically an energy independence principle. Would 
the utilities want the projects in their own territories? 


 Theresa Gibney said to keep in mind the Public Utilities 
Regulatory Policies Act, which forces utilities to purchase power 
from non-utility electricity producers at the avoided cost. She said 
Energy Trust’s role is to make projects viable. While the role of the 
utilities is to develop the market, and reduce the costs of meeting 
the Renewable Portfolio Standard. She asked if Pacific Power 
option 2 helps PGE meet RPS requirements. 


 Kip said a qualifying facility in Oregon retains its RECs, the utility 
purchases the energy at standard avoided cost rates. RPS treats 
any QF REC as an unbundled REC. If the QF chooses to sell the 
RECs to the utility who need to meet their RPS requirements, they 
would be unbundled. 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


7 


 Kip said to note that with the wheeling option, are we in effect 
giving preference to a project in Clark County (Washington) which 
the added projects costs are less than to wheel in a project from 
Morrow County, or some other remote Oregon county.  


 Frank Vignola said he needs a compelling reason for doing these 
options. Not can we do them, but what are the benefits to doing 
them? 


 Kip asked if this would lead to Energy Trust competing against 
itself for purchasing RECs for Pacific Power or PGE? 
 
In summary, the transfer of RECs prompts many questions and 
raises complexities. If Energy Trust seriously considers this in the 
future, much more discussion would need to take place. 
 


3. Drive projects to the feed-in tariff and lower incentives  


 Unsure of our capability to do this. First round sold out in 15 
minutes and it didn’t take any projects from our books, they were 
all new projects generated specifically for the pilot 


 Would be a short-term solution as the pilot ends 2013 
o All 


1. Formalize project review process (mainly for Pacific Power) 


 How do you make the choice between two projects in the same 
territory competing for limited funds? 


 Hesitant to move to a formal review process, would look at a more 
informal way to do that, via: 


o Set minimum threshold criteria for application 
o Rank competing projects by categories most important to 


Energy Trust’s mission 
o Business Energy Tax Credit outcome known prior to 


Energy Trust incentive 


 Feedback from RAC 
o Business Energy Tax Credit might require Energy Trust 


funding to go forward 
o Frank mentioned Energy Trust has adjusted incentive 


levels down in the past to ensure we aren’t overspending. 
There’s a lot of staff work to review and customer work to 
do the minimum criteria 


o Troy Gagliano said it seems reasonable; maybe even just 
ensure they are in the first communications with the 
utilities. These are fair things to ask and maybe some 
should be required already. 


o Deb recommended permitting to be complete. BPA won’t 
touch a project unless permitting is acquired. 


o Troy said permitting is daunting and expensive, and 
recommended pre-permitting conversations 


o Kip asked if there should be any questions about investors 
o Frank said to incorporate what you’ve learned from past 


projects that have failed or not been completed 
o Troy said to add environmental/hazardous material 


compliance to the permitting standard 
o Kip said to work on a bundle of projects at a time 
o Margie said to use past projects to set a comparative scale 







RAC notes – 09/15/2010 


8 


 
Year of transition to long-term sustainable strategies 


 Given steady funding, current approach is becoming less workable 
o Large project incentives can be half of program budgets 


 Deb asked if is that a problem 
 Elaine asked if it is okay to fund a small amount of projects, does that 


help develop markets. What if a larger project utilizing the majority of 
the funds falls through? 


 Deb mentioned requiring a deposit and enforcing revenues 
o Commitments don’t always see through to completion, but they tie up funds in 


the meantime 
o Above market costs expected to increase, not decrease 
o Goals may need to be adjusted 


 Next steps 
o RAC feedback, Energy Trust staff will give RAC members prep materials for the 


October 13 meeting 
o Review of Energy Trust objectives, what is our number 1? 


 Objectives are on slides 15 and 16 
o How to meet objectives with limited funding 


 Deb: suggested adding an objective with capacity….summer vs winter 
peaks? 


o Criteria for when to pull out of a market? 
 
 
4. Public comment 
 
Theresa Gibney told the council:  


Last year at this time, the Oregon Public Utility Commission opened the door to the concept 
of resetting the 3 aMW performance metric. The question was around why would Energy 
Trust fund projects the utilities must fund to meet RPS requirements? As an example, large 
solar projects utilities need to satisfy HB 3039. Should an Energy Trust objective be to focus 
funding on projects that would not happen and to specifically not fund a utility-funded project 
owned by the utility? 


 
5. Meeting adjournment 
 
Betsy thanked all RAC members for their participation and adjourned the meeting at 11:43 a.m. 
The next meeting is October 13, 2010. Energy Trust tentatively has scheduled a joint RAC 
and CAC meeting, in addition to the regular RAC and CAC meetings, during the lunch hour for 
NW Natural to present on solar thermal systems. Energy Trust invites the council to attend and 
will confirm with RAC members if the meeting is a go.  








 
 


 
RENEWABLE ENERGY ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on October 13, 2010  
 
Attending from the Council: 
Eric Chung, Pacific Power 
Megan Decker, Renewable Northwest Project 
Margie Gardner, Bonneville Environmental 
Foundation 
Robert Grott, Northwest Environmental 
Business Council  
Thor Hinckley, Portland General Electric 
Moshrek Sobhy, Oregon Public Utility 
Commission 
Sandra Walden representing Glenn 
Montgomery, OSEIA 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Doug Boleyn 
Kacia Brockman 


Pete Catching 
Amber Cole 
Fred Gordon 
Hannah Hacker 
Erin Johnston 
Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
Elaine Prause 
Thad Roth 
Lizzie Rubado 
 
Others attending: 
Theresa Gibney, Corvallis Energy Challenge 
Charlotte Morrows, member of the public 
Andrew Volkman, independent contractor 
John Reynolds, University of Oregon 


1. Welcome and introductions 
 
Betsy Kauffman called the meeting to order at 9:32 a.m. Everyone introduced themselves. The 
minutes from September were approved, the October agenda accepted and a reminder 
announced of NW Natural’s lunchtime presentation on its proposed solar water heating 
program. 
 
Betsy announced Erin Johnston, wind initiative manager, is moving on to a position at Garrad 
Hassan as a wind farm project design manager. The council offered its congratulations. Betsy 
thanked Erin for her service and the technical credibility she has brought to her position. 
 
2. 2011 program plans 
 
General overview of 2011 plan 
Elaine Prause presented a review of the 2011 Renewable Energy budget themes, which 
illustrate 2011 as a year of transition. We’re budgeting 2011 to use all that is available; 85 
percent of funds will be spent on incentives, the other funds go to delivery, management and 
other costs. The total activity budget is $24.1 million with a wide range of generation expected, 
from 2.5 to almost 11 average megawatts (largely an indication of uncertainty surrounding the 
Business Energy Tax Credit).  
 
She showed the 2011 draft budget ($24.1 million) compared to the 2010 activity budget ($31.3 
million). Another graph broke out funding by utility. Portland General Electric is heavily weighted 
to solar (also the largest renewable resource in PGE territory), but Energy Trust will work on 
custom project outreach in PGE territory as well (potentially wheeling power to PGE). The 
Renewable Energy sector will remain flexible throughout 2011, including shifting funds between 
programs as needed to meet demand.  
 
Margie Gardner asked what the annual goal is for the sector. Elaine said it is a three year rolling 
average of three aMW installed (an Oregon Public Utility Commission minimum performance 
metric). Elaine clarified that the tables she presented show commitments, and the projects may 
or may not go through.  







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


  
 
Biopower 2011 program plan 
Thad Roth presented on the Biopower program plan. There are two segments of the program: 
woody biomass (combustion in a boiler, stand-alone generation or cogeneration), and biogas 
(which is broader and includes side benefits beyond energy). Wood biomass waste streams are 
from mill and forest residue, and biogas waste streams are from agriculture, food processing, 
organic municipal solid waste and other residues. Right now, there are a lot of activities in play 
pushing projects to complete in quarter four of 2010 or quarter one of 2011 to take advantage of 
the federal Investment Tax Credit (expected to sunset end of this year), plus the competitive 
nature of the Business Energy Tax Credit application process has also jump started projects to 
complete sooner rather than later. We’re hoping to see projects meet these two large deadlines, 
though we are realistic in knowing not every project may succeed. 
 
Program strategy:  
1. Work with industry partners to identify projects early on (i.e. clean water agencies, Oregon 


Dairy Farmers Association, Oregon Food Processors Association, municipal solid waste 
projects).  


2. Co-fund feasibility studies. Four projects currently being proposed received Energy Trust 
funding for feasibility studies.    


3. Grow relationships with companies by providing ongoing technical support for 
interconnection, project financing and technology analysis.  


4. And as always, invest in feasible projects that support overall program and sector goals. 
 
Key activities:  
1. Manage generating projects through the incentive stage, move dedicated projects through 


construction and complete evaluation of projects applying for incentives. 
2. Support expansion of generation capacity of wastewater treatment plants utilizing co-


digestion (brown grease/food waste) at facilities with excess digester capacity.  
3. Complete Energy Management Systems training to integrate efficiency and renewable 


resources at wastewater treatment plants. 
4. Continue to do outreach with biogas plants, those which use anaerobic digestion. 
5. Continue to develop the pipeline for woody biomass projects. 
 
Thad went through 2011 new initiatives, which included:  
• Business Oregon and the Oregon Department of Energy approached Energy Trust to 


consider a pilot in investing in idled or underutilized biomass generation projects.  
• Continue to pursue construction financing in lieu of post-construction incentive payment.  
• Working with Northwest Food Processor Association (which has a very active energy 


efficiency program and sees controlling energy as a strategic advantage) as it looks at 
adding investment in renewable energy and has brought on part-time resources to support 
that effort.  


• Be aggressive in supporting the utility interconnection process.  
 
Robert Grott asked if there is conceivably a cliff with the Business Energy Tax Credit and the 
federal Investment Tax Credit. To what extent will projects be feasible without them? 
 
Thad said some would be feasible. On the woody biomass side, projects are driven by utilizing 
idle capacity. On the biogas side, it will be more of a challenge as projects rely almost 
exclusively on energy production (even though there are co-products, such as tipping fees). In 
the last six months, we have seen a handful of proposals by third-party developers and energy 
only represents 50 percent of the project revenue. This has us asking the question of whether 


2 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


we need to relook at what we finance — only the energy side or the whole project? If we 
focused just on the energy component (interconnection, energy generation, possible 
cogeneration) we could get them to possibly think about their project economics differently.  
 
Robert asked if the Environmental Protection Agency biomass ruling is seen as a threat to this 
industry. 
 
Thad said it depends on who you talk to on whether problems will be created, which largely 
hinge on what the threshold is and what are the accepted best available technologies. The 
pushback nationally indicates the emissions issue needs to be dealt with. 
 
Thor Hinckley asked how Energy Trust is contractually dealing with this regulatory risk. 
 
Thad said you could create a milestone around having a successful application and if they don’t 
meet it, our funding could go away. 
 
Eric Chung asked what the uncertainty is driven by and if it’s not a go, where do the funds go 
back to. 
 
Thad said funds are returned to the overall Renewable Energy sector budget and the money will 
be used to go to the next best project. 
 
Other Renewable Energy 2011 Program Plans 
Betsy presented. She went through the activity tables on the handout. “Activity” means dollars 
are committed.  
 
Table 1: Activity budget for Pacific Power is dropping from 2010 to 2011 as we have less money 
thus we will commit less. In regards to the PGE activity budget, we are setting more aggressive 
goals and expect to spend more, most of which is in wind.  
 
Table 2: Incentive activity budget by technology and utility shows Pacific Power at 49 percent to 
hydropower, 34 percent to wind and 18 percent for a geothermal project (if the geothermal 
project doesn’t materialize by about June 2011, the money will be redeployed). In PGE territory, 
68 percent to wind (20-22 wind projects were completed in 2010 and this technology is one of 
the things we can do in PGE territory; the program is looking at a wheeling project for wind as 
well), 32 percent to hydropower (smaller, municipal projects) and no geothermal budgeted given 
no geothermal resource in PGE territory.  
 
Program strategies: 
Overall program strategies for 2011 are to:  
1. Complete approved projects. 
2. Remain flexible and open to supporting a range of technologies and shifting funds to do so 


a. The program is not looking at shutting down or shrinking any technologies in relation 
to any other in 2011 (this may change in 2012 or beyond).  


b. Wind: Set up effective partnerships with agriculture groups.  
c. Hydropower: Completed a resource assessment of possibilities in irrigation districts. 


This means we have a database to refer to when looking at what we can pursue in 
2011 and beyond.  


i. John Reynolds asked what percentage of resource potential have we taken 
advantage of.  


ii. Jed said about three percent; there’s a lot of potential out there yet and we’re 
using the technology of piping existing canals and using a generator.  


3 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


iii. Betsy said there are a few municipal projects between 25-50 kW, this would 
be more time intensive for us but still beneficial if you can get a few of these 
projects done.  


iv. Betsy said a piping project in an irrigation district can often get funding from 
other sources.   


d. Geothermal: Will work with communities that have existing wells, since not having to 
drill can make a project more feasible. 


3. Continue to build the pipeline even though we face less funding — we still need to put 
projects in to get projects completed.  


4. Focus on finding projects in PGE territory while maintaining a stable presence in Pacific 
Power territory. 


5. Help projects find other sources of funding. 
 
Solar 2011 Program Plan 
Kacia Brockman presented. Goal of the program has always been to support all sectors, which 
has recently served us really well as projects in 2009 involved third-party commercial ownership 
while projects in 2010 were largely residential.  
 
Program strategy: 
The program will need to manage a significantly smaller budget in Pacific Power territory in 
2011 (about two-thirds of 2010 activity level). We will continue to drive activity in PGE territory, 
where the 2011 budget will support the same activity level as in 2010. Despite the cap on the 
Business Energy Tax Credit, we will continue to generate demand in the commercial sector, 
leveraging the feed-in tariff to fill the gap until new Business Energy Tax Credit funding is 
allocated. Since the Residential Energy Tax Credit is set to expire January 1, 2012, we intend to 
utilize this deadline to spur the residential market in 2011. We will also provide information to 
support any potential policy changes that will sustain or expand the solar market.  
 
The program was recently made aware that available money in the Tier 1 Business Energy Tax 
Credits has all been allocated, effectively halting new activity in the commercial sector.  
 
To manage the solar incentive budget in Pacific Power territory and avoid exhausting the budget 
too early in the year, we’ll watch the market activity and may lower incentives if needed in 
Pacific Power territory. We don’t yet know how much demand will shrink as a result of the 
capped Business Energy Tax Credit and the reduced Residential Energy Tax Credit, or whether 
an incentive change will be necessary. In PGE territory, the program will take advantage of new 
market opportunities such as additional Solarize efforts or third-party residential ownership. The 
program will remain open to larger, custom projects in PGE territory, similar to the recent 
Oregon Department of Transportation solar highway, including any that receive Tier 2 Business 
Energy Tax Credit pre-certifications.  
 
The program will use PMC outreach channels to cross-promote solar and energy efficiency, 
targeting small commercial projects that could use the Tier 1 Business Energy Tax Credit when 
new funding is allocated. We will continue to educate the market about the feed-in tariff option in 
addition to Energy Trust incentives and state tax credits. The program will continue to provide 
grant writing assistance to help rural businesses secure USDA funds for solar installations, 
support Solarize initiatives within and outside of Portland (central Oregon activity has slowed 
down, and we hope to see something like Solarize Pendleton happen elsewhere), and support 
the utilities and the OPUC with the feed-in tariff pilot. 
 
Table 1: “Previously Dedicated” includes projects that received incentive reservations in 2009, 
but were not installed until 2010 or are still pending; “YTD Dedicated” includes new projects that 


4 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


received incentive reservations in 2010; “Remaining to be Dedicated” estimates the new 
projects that we expect to reserve incentives between now and year-end 2010 (but these 
estimates may be too high as Tier 1 is now fully allocated); “YTD Paid” shows the incentives 
that have been paid in 2010 (for projects either from the 2009 or 2010 pipeline).  
 
2011 new initiatives:  
• Removing barriers to community-owned solar projects (i.e. “solar gardens”) 


o Margie Gardner noted that BEF is working with NREL and IREC on creating a 
national community solar policy guide 


• Moving upstream with commercial new construction, allowing projects to reserve incentives 
during design, before a solar contractor is hired 


• Raising the bar for contractor performance by implementing a ranking system for solar trade 
ally contractors 


• Establishing an online self serve tool to help customers assess solar potential at their site 
o On-site Solar Energy Reviews were well received but resulted in few installations  


• Support Solar Now! University to overcome barriers in rural areas 
 
3. 2011-2012 budget and longer-term issues 
 
Elaine presented and referenced the briefing paper distributed to the council last week by email. 
Staff is looking for feedback on the longer-term issues and decisions proposed. After council 
input, Energy Trust will formulate a recommendation on these issues that will be brought before 
the board for consideration and approval.  
 
The high level concern is available funds are decreasing: $34 million in 2010, $24 million in 
2011, $14 million in 2012. We are spending down our carryover and working within our yearly 
budgets. However, above market costs for projects we expect to or could support are increasing 
(she referenced Table 1 in the handout). We negotiate the percent of above market costs we 
pay per project, but as it goes up and we continue to support larger projects, each incentive 
payment would be a larger portion of our budget.  
 
Operating parameters are set by SB 1149, SB 838 and the OPUC performance criteria 
(minimum of three year rolling average of three aMW installed), which was originally negotiated 
between Energy Trust and the OPUC when the Business Energy Tax Credit was a certainty. 
Programs were designed around the assumption that if a project met Oregon Department of 
Energy requirements, it would receive a Business Energy Tax Credit. Now that the Business 
Energy Tax Credit is competitive, not all projects can receive credits. 
 
The sector also works within its vision, mission and leadership position statements as defined in 
its strategic plan. We see ourselves as being a catalyst to development of small renewable 
projects and as a leader in the region in providing assistance and funding to drive development. 
 
The sector’s four key objectives:  
1. Support a wide range of technologies 
2. Provide early development assistance 
3. Expand market opportunities 
4. Leverage other funding sources 
 
As we go into 2012, the business as usual case would be to continue support for the five 
technologies, but we would need to prorate the budget down for each technology. We see this 
as limiting the effectiveness of each technology.  We won’t have enough incentive money to 
support each of the four objectives and meet the OPUC performance metric. We need to make 


5 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


choices by reviewing our objectives, redefining priorities and redesigning programs to meet 
those priorities. Business as usual won’t be acceptable in the coming years and is not a viable 
option for Energy Trust. 
 
The RAC briefing paper defined four distinct operating principles. To help explore how each 
principle, if held as the number one priority, would impact our operations and resulting portfolio, 
a series of scenarios were created. Each scenario steps through the actions and impacts that 
would result including ideas for new tools or policies needed to carry out the plan. Although 
these scenarios are created as separate and distinct, we realize it won’t be a black and white 
decision.  
 
Scenario 1: Maximize generation; key operating principle is to get as much generation as 
possible 


• Funding technologies with least incentive cost per aMW. Limit or eliminate 
supporting higher cost technologies (solar, small wind, small hydro). Lower cost 
projects are community wind, biopower and large hydro. 


• Magnitude of incentive dollars per project would be high 
o Risk would be fluctuations in installations — for example, 0 aMW one year, 5 


the next — as money goes to fewer, larger projects 
• Would need new tools 


o RFP route (which could positively create a competitive nature), incentive 
caps, revolving loan funds as examples 


 
Scenario 2: Focus on early stage assistance across all the technologies — playing to our 
strength and doing what we are uniquely able to do. 


• Close to base case, supporting all technologies 
• Shifting funds to development costs 
• Success: relies on market and/or other resources to construct/complete, collaborate 


with co-funders (which could be a challenge to align goals) 
• Challenge: the 3 aMW performance goal would need to be redefined and reduced 
• Would need new tools 


o Revolving loan fund, teaming with co-funders 
• Council feedback 


o Robert expressed support for scenario 2. $14 million is not enough to make a 
significant difference in markets. Most leveraging can happen at early stage 
assistance, identifying barriers and overcoming them (construction 
assistance). There are smaller, newer technologies that we could support. 


 Fred: This assumes there are partners out there for helping with the 
financing. Is that a good bet given the economy? 


 Robert: It’s not a problem to have Energy Trust consult. 
o Betsy: If we provide early stage funding and there’s no funding to complete it 


in the end, what have we put our money to? 
 Robert: Spend money on the feasibility side and technical assistance, 


barrier analysis reduction. The theory being they need these funded to 
go and find investors. Whether they succeed or not is up to their 
ingenuity. 


 Margie: Agree the biggest benefit is the assistance early on. 
 
Scenario 3: Limit number of technologies supported 


• Fully support two to three technologies versus the current five 
• Could be different technologies in different utilities 
• More similar to other organizations like Energy Trust in other parts of the country 


6 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


• Success: depends on our ability to pick the winners 
• Challenge: OPUC performance goal may need to change, depends on technologies 


chosen 
• Would need new tools 


o Definition of criteria for technology and portfolio selection 
• Council feedback 


o Margie: Supports this one, focusing is better than cuts everywhere. Doesn’t 
mean you are set on those technologies forever. She said that perhaps this 
scenario could be combined with Scenario 2. The council would look to 
Energy Trust staff on which technologies to choose. She said staff would 
need to choose the ones where Energy Trust can have the biggest market 
impact — the emerging technologies in Pacific Power, standard technologies 
in PGE (given resource availability). 


o John: We’re fortunate as a state to have all these resources and we shouldn’t 
be cutting technologies. 


o Margie: Could you support technologies in stages and shift support through 
the years? 


o John: We should keep them all on the plan. 
 
Scenario 4: Support onsite generation only 


• Further limit what we support as incentives can only go to sites where project owner 
contributes to the public purpose charge, similar to how we work within the efficiency 
sector 


o Most qualifying facilities and community wind would be excluded 
• Would reduce the size of projects we work with 
• Challenge: OPUC performance goal would need to be decreased 
• Would need new tools 


o Incentive caps, revolving loan funds, teaming with co-funders 
• Council feedback 


o Sandra: Originally thought Scenario 2 was important as in terms of 
percentage of budget (lack of funding for new projects to get financing). 
However, Scenario 4 addresses looking at transmission issues, offsetting 
carbon, bringing in a larger number of people that are supporting Energy 
Trust with the public purpose charge and having them directly benefit. Onsite 
generation is usually smaller projects and net metered. 


 
Discussion ensued: 
Margie: What does the statute say about renewable energy?  
 
Elaine: It’s broad — support the above market cost of renewable energy technologies. 
 
Margie: Means really need OPUC on board if/when the metric goal needs to be changed. 
 
Fred: The OPUC commissioner has talked about Energy Trust being more of a “proving” 
ground, though the goal is still there. 
 
Theresa Gibney: The commissioner also said that the megawatt goal is arbitrary, it’s a small 
number in the broad scheme of things and is open to changing it. 
 
Margie: If that’s true, we have the ability to do Scenario 2. It’s not just the OPUC but also the 
perception of the value you bring and what the legislature sees you bringing. 
 


7 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


Margie: How about being radical, what about cutting solar? It has become more established. If 
it’s more well launched. 
 
Fred: The decision has to be paired with what everyone else is going to do. 
 
Thor: Maybe we should think of this as an ongoing discussion. Other technologies could need 
your support or no longer need your support in the future. Don’t need to think of this as long 
term, it’s a stop gap measure for the next three to five years and then policies will change, 
altering the landscape. 
 
Sandra: It’s important for Energy Trust to look at politically how these decisions will play with the 
legislature. Any plan should address some of the issues likely to come before the legislature 
(not taking money out of the general fund, leveraging other sources of funding). The public 
purpose charge is not immune to changes. 
 
Sandra: It isn’t exclusively one scenario or another; you have a limited budget, implement 
priorities. 
 
Eric: Wants to have us rethink the dilemma and it’s Scenario 1. Scenario 2 is a policy decision 
and related greatly to risk and reliability, Scenario 3 is a version of that, as well as Scenario 4. 
The paradigm is you want to maximize bang for buck, whether that’s a hard cap or not. Want to 
see the maximum impact for the dollars you have. With the other scenarios you are imposing 
greater risks. Need quality verification for each technology. Will need to absorb some risk but 
have risk tolerance clearly defined. Also, think about extending timeline expectations. It’s about 
how your maximize return. 
 
Sandra: Agrees with Eric, financing for projects is key, any funds you can allocate for the co-
partnering and drawing in other available funds is like creating insurance so that the projects 
you are investing in actually happen. 
 
Margie: Near term generation versus long term.  
 
Fred: Scenario 4 focuses on making deals; Scenario 2 focuses on making bets; what is our role 
in the market? Create opportunities in the long term or make deals in the short term? 
 
Robert: It depends on your bang for the buck definition, I think of it as something else: economic 
development, image of the state, bringing in creative companies and innovative industries as 
opposed to short term kilowatt hour impact. 
 
Eric: There has to be a near and long term distinction and a flexibility to change courses and 
time needs to be included to shift gears. 
 
Theresa: At least until 2014, she would like to encourage Energy Trust to make sure incentives 
for residential solar are set at a level for above market cost rather than making sure the project 
goes through. This is on behalf of the pilot concept where Energy Trust is a competing incentive 
with the feed-in tariff. In a world where financial resources are expected to go down, if we 
ratchet down Energy Trust incentives, demand for the feed-in tariff will go down, and resources 
in general will go down. One of the unintended consequences of lowering incentives will be 
lowering the size of the pie in general. 
 
Sandra: Reminder that SB 3039 was set as a way to compare the feed-in tariff model to the 
incentive-based programs. 


8 







RAC notes – 10/13/2010 


9 


 
Theresa: As you consider scenarios 1-4, there may be unintended consequences. Energy Trust 
needs to decide if you’re in the business of manufacturing (Scenario 1), development (R&D) or 
HP labs? Are you an early stage venture capitalist, a regular venture capitalist or just a bank? 
 
Moshrek: Is Scenario 3 better described as not a “limit” on the technologies, as it varies from 
utility to utility, but as a flexible option? 
 
Betsy: Theresa, do you have a best one in mind? 
Theresa: Scenario 2 because of the conversations I heard at the commission on things that are 
already going to happen without you, how difficult it is to choose winners and if others will step 
up. 
 
Margie: Doesn’t Scenario 2 mean you have to do more with picking winners as you’re so far 
upstream you can’t see the end product? 
 
Elaine: It’s meant to be a combination of project specific and greater market development 
 
Theresa: If you’re focused on removing common barriers and when it makes sense to fund 
feasibility studies, no. 
 
Robert: You’ve been doing Scenario 2 all along.  
 
Elaine: Yes, Scenario 2 would be more of what we do today but more intense. 
 
We invite further thought on this from the council. 
 
 
4. Public comment 
 
No public comments. 
 
5. Meeting adjournment 
 
Betsy thanked all council members for their participation and adjourned the meeting at 11:45 
a.m. The next meeting is November 17, 2010, which is also the last meeting of the year. 








 


 
 


 


 
 
Status Update 
Renewable Pre-Completion Financing Pilot 
November 10, 2010 


Summary 
This paper updates the board on implementation of a pilot that will deploy Energy Trust 
renewable energy incentives as construction loans, a portion of which would be forgiven at 
project completion. Since June, staff has developed an implementation plan and guidelines for 
the pilot, Attachment 1 and 2 to this update.


Background 
• At the June 2010 board retreat, staff requested board approval to explore the 


idea of providing incentives to renewable energy projects earlier in the 
development process, prior to completion, on a pilot basis.  


• The purpose of the pilot is to test whether Energy Trust can increase the volume 
and pace of projects by providing above-market-cost construction loans to well-
conceived projects with capable management.   


• Scope:  
- Construction loans with a portion of the loan forgiven on project 


completion 
- Projects subject to more intensive due diligence review  
- Two projects (each to exceed $1M total cost and 250kW capacity) 
- Any technology  
- Time frame: 2010 - 2011  
- Incentives limited to: (a) above-market-cost ; and (b) 10% of 2010/2011 


incentive budgets, $1.2M cap 


• Providing funding sooner creates more risk for Energy Trust. To help mitigate 
that risk, three new elements will be added to our current project review process 
to support the pilot. 


1. Additional project review criteria including experience with complex 
financing arrangements and construction experience 


2. Skills of loan origination, negotiation, disbursement, servicing, and 
contracting provided through a project finance specialist contractor (PFS). 
The PFS will act as a liaison between Energy Trust program staff and 
project owners in determining the best suited loan product for the project 
and Energy Trust. 


3. A loan review committee made up of a subset of the Energy Trust 
Management Team with an external commercial lending expert. 


Update 
• Staff has drafted an implementation plan for the pilot outlining roles, 


implementation schedule, and new aspects of the project review process which 
support the underwriting and loan execution activities. 







Status Update November 10, 2010 


 


 
Page 2 of 2 


• An independent contractor with significant commercial lending experience has 
been identified to work with us as the Project Finance Specialist to provide loan 
origination and servicing expertise once participating projects are identified. 


• The roles and process for the loan review committee have been defined in the 
attached loan review committee guidelines.  


• Project review criteria have been expanded and formalized with the creation of a 
review scorecard, designed to capture financial characteristics and team 
qualification aspects of the project. 


• Two projects have shown interest in the pilot but the projects are not ready for 
above market cost analysis yet, pending acquisition of additional project data. 


Attachments 


Attachment 1: Loan Product Guidelines 


Attachment 2: Loan Review Committee Guidelines 


Next Steps 


• Projects already engaged with Energy Trust in incentive negotiations will be 
reviewed for their ability to meet all the program criteria. 


• If projects do fit the criteria and are interested in working through this alternative 
option, they will be given first priority.  If no current projects meet the criteria or 
are not interested in the pilot, projects will be sought through a formal solicitation 
process. 


• All projects participating in the pilot will be brought forward to the board for 
consideration. 





		Status Update






Draft 


Attachment 1: Loan Product Guidelines 


Renewable Energy Construction Loan 


PURPOSE 


Energy Trust’s Renewable Energy Construction Loan is available to developers of renewable 
energy projects that will benefit from receiving ETO’s above market cost incentive for the 
construction period rather than at project completion. The construction loan helps more 
renewable energy projects reach completion by providing developers the resources they need 
at the most difficult stage to finance. This product is intended to help viable projects bridge the 
gap between pre-development financial obligations, and the receipt at project completion of 
incentives, subsidies, and tax credit equity. The Renewable Energy Construction Loan will 
incentivize more developers to undertake a renewable energy project, and assist with projects 
already underdevelopment but in need of additional financial resources to reach completion.   


DESCRIPTION 


The Renewable Energy Construction Loan provides short-term financing during the construction 
period of an eligible renewable energy project. The loan product has a competitive rate ranging 
from between 8%-12%, with minimal fees. Construction loan repayment is due at project 
completion. Also at this time, a portion of the construction loan may be forgiven as a project 
grant, leaving the balance to be repaid in full or to be converted into long term 5-7 year 
permanent financing. Exact percentage of loan to grant conversion and full repayment versus 
long term conversion will be finalized during negotiation prior to closing. 


The following information details the loan terms and eligibility requirements for applicants 
interested in the Renewable Energy Construction Loan.  


LOAN DETAILS 


Construction Period Financing 


Interest Rate      8% to 12% 


Terms       18 Months Maximum 


Loan Amount      Above Market Cost Calculation 


Total Funds Available    10% Incentive Budget ($1.2 Million Cap) 


Fees? 


 


Permanent Financing 


Interest Rate      6% to 10% 







Draft 
Attachment 1: Loan Products Guideline 


 


2 
 


Terms       5-7 Years 


Loan Amount      Remaining Funds from Construction  


 


MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 


1. Power generated from the Project seeking construction funds must be purchased by 
Portland General Electric or Pacific Power in Oregon. . 


2. Total project costs must be at least $1 million. 
3. Total system capacity must be at least 250kW. 
4. Completed feasibility study satisfying ETO’s criteria for the relevant technology. 
5. Demonstrated permanent financing lender interest and grant/incentive commitments. 


SPECIFIC GUIDELINES 


Eligible Applicants: An individual, corporation, partnership, government agency, sponsor or a 
joint venture that has ownership or site control of the subject project. 


Eligible Projects: Any renewable energy generating technology with a nameplate capacity 
greater than 250kW that is installed by an eligible Applicant in Energy Trust territory. 


Interest Rates: Interest rates during the construction period will range from 8% to 12% 
depending on length of construction period, project risk, and the developer’s financing needs. 
The remaining ETO funds post-construction, could be rolled into a permanent loan at a rate of 
6% to 10%. The specific rate will be determined on a project-by-project basis.  


Repayment Terms: ETO’s repayment terms are structured to balance the goals of (1) helping 
applicants leverage necessary capital, (2) assuring the project remains feasible during critical 
development stages, (3) providing timely repayment of ratepayer funds so that more projects in-
need can receive financing. Some portion of ETO’s financing will be forgiven as a project 
incentive but the remaining funds will either be repaid at project completion, or allowed to 
convert to a permanent loan.  Interest will accrue during the project and will be due at 
completion of construction and loan maturity. If some amount of the loan converts to a 
permanent loan, interest will be paid with principal according to the amortization schedule set for 
the loan. 


Security/Collateral: ETO financing during the construction period will be unsecured. Each 
project will be closely monitored by ETO staff and ETO funds will only be disbursed on an as-
needed basis in the form of reimbursements only after the project has achieved certain 
milestones. If any amount of ETO financing remains in the project as a permanent loan, the loan 
must be secured, but can be subordinate to the senior lender. 


Reporting Requirements: During the period in which any recoverable ETO funds remain 
outstanding, the applicant must prepare and submit regular status reports with each 







Draft 
Attachment 1: Loan Products Guideline 


 


3 
 


draw/reimbursement request or other schedule as reasonably requested by ETO, detailing the 
progression of the project and the use of the funds. In addition, each project will be assigned an 
ETO project manager depending on the type of technology. Applicants will be required to work 
closely with the assigned Project Manager, assuring all information requested is submitted in a 
timely manner. 


Maximum Developer Fee: Project developer fees cannot exceed 7% of the total project cost. 


Maximum Project Return: Total project IRR, based off of the investor capital account balance, 
cannot exceed 20% IRR during the first five years of operations. 


Look-Back Provision: Projects that exceed 20% IRR during the first five years of operation 
may be subject to a look-back provision.   Look-back provisions are to be negotiated on a 
project by project basis. 


Hard & Soft Costs: Project hard and soft costs must be deemed reasonable and based on 
market comparables.    


Grant Funds: ETO will work with individual projects to “right-size” the amount of grant funding 
available to a project upon completion.  Total grant funding is not to exceed 50% of the above 
market cost calculation. 


Documentation: ETO and the applicant must execute a Construction Financing Agreement. 
The applicant must submit all due diligence documents.   


Eligibility Construction Activities 


Supported Construction Financing Activities 
Construction Activities Construction, installation, and commissioning activities that are 


eligible for the Energy Trust Construction Financing loan product 
may include, but are not limited, to the following: 
 


• Site preparation 
• Removal of old equipment 
• Equipment down payment 
• Purchase of new or refurbished equipment (???) to be 


installed 
• Installation 
• Upfront payment of service contracts (???) 
• Commissioning of the new system 
• Completion of post-construction testing, permitting, and 


licensing 
• Documentation of project, including photos 


 
 


Eligibility Criteria 







Draft 
Attachment 1: Loan Products Guideline 


 


4 
 


Criteria Minimum Requirement 
Eligible Applicants The applicant must be either: 


 
a) The energy end user and customer on 


record in an eligible ETO/energy 
provider territory; or 


b) An eligible entity (e.g. a third party 
owner) that plans to sell the energy 
generated to an energy end user(s) 
and customer(s) of record in an eligible 
ETO/energy provider territory. 


 
For all projects, the applicant must 
demonstrate site control over the project 
location. Site control is defined as ownership 
or demonstration of a ground lease of at least 
15 years from the date of the application. 
 


Project Location and Type The proposed renewable energy generation 
project must deliver all energy to either 
Portland General Electric or Pacific Power 
within Oregon. 
 
Eligible project types include all Renewable 
Energy generation technologies. 
  


Minimum Project Size The nameplate capacity of the proposed 
renewable energy project must be greater than 
or equal to 250kW. Total project costs must be 
greater than or equal to $1 million.  
 


Permits and Feasibility The proposed renewable energy project must 
have early-stage permitting secured, and have 
completed all relevant feasibility studies. 
Feasibility and technical requirements are 
similar to what is currently required for ETO 
incentives, and vary depending on the 
technology type.  
 


Energy Sales Agreement The proposed renewable energy project must 
provide ETO with detail regarding the onsite 
energy usage and sales forecast. Developer 
will provide power purchase agreement, net-
metering arrangement, or feed-in-tariff. 
 


Minimum Insurance All applicants must comply with minimum 
insurance requirements, detailed in the loan 
agreement. 
 







Draft 
Attachment 1: Loan Products Guideline 


 


5 
 


Minimum Technical Requirements All installations must comply with the minimum 
technical requirements detailed by ETO for the 
relevant renewable energy technology. All 
installations must be done in compliance with 
all local, state, and federal laws and codes, 
and all projects must detail mechanisms for 
monitoring and performance. 
 


 


Selection Criteria 


Criteria Sub-Criteria 
Minimum Threshold 
 


Energy Trust reserves the right to only consider applications 
that in its sole judgment, meet the following minimum threshold 
criteria, including: 
 


• The loan request is complete and responsive to the loan 
product guidelines and application requirements. 


• The loan application is complete and includes all 
required documentation. 


• The clarity, specificity, and consistency of the application 
are sufficient to be deemed credible. 


• The applicant has committed to the required cash cost-
share and there is evidence of the applicants 
commitment to the project. 


• Demonstrated financial need. 
 


Team Commitment and 
Qualifications 


• Relative commitment of applicant and understanding of 
developing the project compared to other similar 
applications.  


• Related criteria including the applicant’s commitment to 
proceed to construction, and the the applicant’s impetus 
and expectations for the project. 


• If applicable, the commitment of other key players, such 
as site property owners (if different than the developer). 


• Qualifications, experience, and commitment of the key 
technical personnel in providing similar services for other 
projects. 
 


Project Technical 
Characteristics 


• Suitability of site and site conditions for proposed 
project. 


• Extent to which applicant has previously implemented 
cost effective energy efficiency improvements at onsite 
facilities. 


• Proposed renewable energy system technical feasibility, 
capacity factor, and onsite utilization. 


• Quality of project and technical risk assessment, extent 







Draft 
Attachment 1: Loan Products Guideline 


 


6 
 


of identified and unidentified risks and uncertainties, and 
proposed strategies for risk mitigation. 


• Financial analysis or estimates supporting the ability of 
proposed project to meet or exceed the end user’s target 
payback threshold. 


• Feasibility of ownership model(s). 
• Project risks relative to similar proposed projects. 
• Development progress and timeframe relative to similar 


proposed projects. 
 


Project Programmatic 
Benefits 


• Technology, building type, and geographic diversity 
• Visibility and public awareness 
• Replicability 


 
Project Ratepayer Cost 
Benefit 


• Request of less than the maximum amount for which the 
project is eligible based on the grant levels and funding 
caps. 


• Clearly demonstrate how the applicant is leveraging the 
ETO construction financing dollars. 


• Cost benefit of dollars requested per watt relative to 
similar projects. 


• Cost benefit of dollars requested per kilowatt hour 
generated over the life of the project relative to similar 
proposed projects. 


 
Scope of Work and 
Schedule 


• Applicant clearly understands ETO construction 
financing due diligence deliverables, and has instituted 
mechanisms to respond with the required information in 
a timely manner. 


• Clarity and reasonableness of the work plan (realistic 
goals and schedule). 
 


Budget • Reasonableness of the budget relative to the activities. 
• Cash cost share relative to similar projects. 
 


 


Payment Milestones 


Payment is to vary by project.  Possible milestones include: 


Milestone Approximate Reimbursement 
Site Preparation, Financing and Equipment 
Order Deliverable and Invoice 


30% 


Equipment Delivery and Installation 
Deliverable and Invoice 


55% 


System Commissioning, Final Permitting, 
and Final Report/Invoice 


15% 


 








Draft 


Attachment 2: Loan Committee Guidelines 


Renewable Energy Construction Loan 


PURPOSE 


The Loan Review Committee is comprised of a subset of Energy Trust Management Team 
members from various departments, who will meet as needed to review loan requests from 
project developers of renewable energy projects in ETO territory. Renewable Energy 
Construction Loan details can be found in the Loan Product Guidelines. This memo outlines the 
makeup of the Loan Review Committee, as well as the procedure and protocol, for loan review 
and approval. 


PROCEDURE/PROTOCOL  


  
Loan Write-up 
 


• Program Manager and RE Business 
Manager market loan program and 
identify strong projects. Program 
Manager is assigned to a viable project 
to begin work on loan application. 


• Project Financial Specialist works with 
the Project Manager to assess the 
financial viability of the project and how 
best to structure Energy Trust’s 
Construction Loan Product.   


• All project details and loan request 
information are summarized in a loan 
request memo. 
 


Submission of Loan Request Memo • RE Business Manager and Director of 
the Energy Programs review the 
memo. Once approved, the memo is 
submitted to the Loan Review 
Committee. 


• Loan Review Committee receives the 
loan request memo at least a week 
prior to the committee meeting. Each 
member of the committee reviews the 
memo, providing feedback and/or 
requesting additional information from 
the Program Manager when needed in 
advance of the committee meeting. 
 


Loan Review Committee Meeting • Project Manager and Finance 
Specialist formally present the loan 
request at a Loan Review Committee 
meeting. Committee will ask questions 
and make recommendations for loan 
terms and conditions as needed.  







Draft 
Attachment 2: Loan Committee Guidelines 


 
 


2 
 


• Each member of the Loan Review 
Committee provides a recommendation 
to the CEO for approval or denial of the 
loan request. CEO makes a final 
determination on the loan application. 
Depending on the loan size, the loan is 
officially approved, or it is referred to 
ETO Board of Directors for final 
approval. 


• In the event that a member of the Loan 
Review Committee is absent for the 
meeting, this individual will be 
responsible for reviewing the loan 
write-up and providing 
comments/recommendations either 
prior to the meeting or prior to the loan 
reaching final approval.  


Follow-Up/Revision • At the request of the Loan Review 
Committee, the Project Manager will be 
responsible for follow-up items, 
including additional information and/or 
revisions to the Loan Write-Up.  


• Depending on the extent and nature of 
the follow-up items, the Loan Review 
Committee will either delegate final 
approval authority to the RE Business 
Manager upon completion of follow-up 
items, or will require that the Project 
Manager return to the Loan Review 
Committee with the revised Loan Write-
Up. 
 


Closing • Once approved, the Project Manager 
works with ETO legal counsel and the 
loan applicant to meet all closing 
conditions and to complete the 
underwriting process.  
 


 


Roles 


Member Function 
Board of Directors 
(Decision Authority) 


Regularly review loan portfolio performance and provide final approval 
for all loan requests initially. 
 


   







Draft 
Attachment 2: Loan Committee Guidelines 


 
 


3 
 


Senior Management-
Executive Director 
(Decision Authority) 


Attend each Loan Review Committee to provide input on strength of loan 
application. Make a final determination on whether to approve loan 
request or request approval from ETO’s Board of Directors, with input 
from all Loan Review Committee members.   
 


Senior Management-
Chief Financial Officer 
(Voting Member) 


Attend each Loan Review Committee meeting to provide input on the 
financial strength of the borrower, and whether each loan fits within 
Energy Trust’s financial risk threshold. In addition, the CFO will monitor 
and report to the committee, Executive Director, and Board of Directors 
on the financial performance of the loan portfolio.  
 


Senior Management-
Director of Energy 
Programs 
(Voting Member) 
 


Attend each Loan Review Committee meeting to provide input on the 
viability of each project and to monitor the effectiveness of the 
renewable energy construction loan product. 
 


Senior Management -
Legal Department 
(Voting Member) 


Attend each Loan Review Committee meeting to provide input on legal 
hurdles and to ensure each viable loan application is underwritten to 
protect Energy Trust’s legal and financial interest. In addition, the legal 
member of the Loan Review Committee will facilitate the closing of the 
loan once it has reached final approval.  
 


Project Finance 
Specialist 
(Project Staff) 


Attend Loan Review Committee meetings at the request of the Program 
Manager who is managing the particular project in need of loan review. 
Initially, this position will be provided by an outside consultant to help 
assess the financial viability of each project. When a strong applicant is 
identified, the Project Finance Specialist will work closely with the 
Project Manager and the project development team, performing financial 
sensitivity analysis and providing feedback to Energy Trust Program 
Managers and Renewable Energy Department staff. The Project 
Finance Specialist will help determine the financial loan/incentive 
package needed from ETO. This information will be included in the 
Program Manager’s loan write-up to the Loan Review Committee. 
 


Project Manager-
Renewable Energy 
Department 
(Project Staff) 


Depending on the renewable energy technology, a program manager 
will be assigned to each loan applicant. The Program Manager will 
assess the overall project viability and will work closely with the RE 
Business Manager as well as the Project Finance Specialist to formulate 
a loan write-up for strong projects. The responsible Program Manager 
will represent the loan write-up during the Loan Review Committee and 
will be responsible for addressing any concerns by Loan Review 
Committee members. The Program Manager will work with loan 
applicants through the approval process, and will continue to monitor, 
and report on, the project performance after the loan has closed.   
 


   







Draft 
Attachment 2: Loan Committee Guidelines 


 
 


4 
 


RE Business Manager 
(Project Staff) 


The RE Business Manager will attend each Loan Review Committee 
meeting and will work with Program Managers, and the Project Finance 
Specialist throughout the process to help determine project viability and 
whether each loan application meets program goals and loan criteria. 
The RE Business Manager will review the loan write-ups prior to the 
Loan Review Committee and provide approval before recommending the 
write-up be reviewed by the full committee. This role may phase out as 
Program Managers and Committee members become more familiar with 
the process and loan review procedures. 


Third-Party Lender 
Review- (Non-Voting 
Rotating Position) 


Each loan write-up will be reviewed by a third party lending 
institution/underwriting expert. This person will not be affiliated with 
Energy Trust or the Project Finance Specialist. The position will be 
voluntary and rotating, ideally a lender who is also participating with 
Energy Trust’s Lender Outreach Group. This individual may attend the 
Loan Review Committee meeting, or may choose to provide their 
review/comments prior to the Loan Review Committee meeting. 
 


APPROVAL 


Loan Amount Approval Authority 
$250,000 to $500,000 Chief Executive Officer  
$500,001 to $1,000,000 Chief Executive Officer and Energy Trust Board of Directors 
 


GROUND RULES 


1. Be courteous and respectful to all presenters. 
 


2. Loan committee members (voting members) of which there are three, are charged with 
making recommendations to the Executive Director regarding approval/disapproval of 
the loan request.  The Executive Director and/or the Energy Trust of Board of Directors 
are decision making bodies. 
 


3. Start on time, end early and come prepared.  If a Loan Review Committee member 
needs more information regarding an item, make best efforts to speak with the Project 
Manager for clarification ahead of time. 
 


4. Apply policies and guidelines fairly and consistently in the decision-making process; and 
develop a consistent format for information being presented. 
 


5. Clarify Committee members’ roles and what level of review is expected. 
 


6. Maintain confidentiality of the deliberations and any information shared at Loan Review 
Committee meetings. 
 







Draft 
Attachment 2: Loan Committee Guidelines 


 
 


5 
 


7. Executive Director and/or ETO Board of Directors have final approval authority on any 
loan request but may explore further any decisions that are not unanimous by the Loan 
Review Committee.   


 
8. Continually provide input to Loan Program Manager on the process and presentation of 


materials (ongoing improvements). 
 


9. Energy Trust staff, other than those in the capacities listed above should be discouraged 
from attending Loan Review Committee meetings. ETO Executive Director authorizes 
attendance at the Loan Review Committee meetings beyond committee members. 
 


10. Loan Review Committee members must declare any conflict of interest, or any set of 
facts that may have the appearance of a conflict of interest, on any loan application 
being considered by the committee. 








 
 
 


Specialty CFL Shelf Survey Analysis 
 
 


Prepared by Matthew Taylor for Energy Trust of Oregon 
July 2010 


 
 
 
 
  







Executive Summary 
Key Findings 
This report, conducted for Energy Trust of Oregon, uses data from the NEEA retail lighting shelf 


surveys to analyze the availability, diversity, prices, and market share of specialty CFL bulbs in 


Oregon.  The key findings of the analysis are: 


 


• Approximately 49% of lighting shelving in Oregon is dedicated to specialty bulbs.  An 


estimated one quarter of this 49% is dedicated to CFL technology, indicating that CFL 


technology for specialty lighting is less available and less readily shelved by Oregon 


retailers than for non-specialty lighting applications. 


 


• On average, Oregon Big Box stores allocate a larger percentage of specialty lighting 


shelf space to CFL bulbs than do Oregon Grocery/Drug/Hardware stores.  Stores within 


metropolitan areas similarly allocate a larger share of specialty lighting to CFL 


technology than do stores outside of metropolitan areas. 


  


• Both the stores outside of metropolitan areas and the Grocery/Drug/Hardware stores 


exhibit different CFL shelving practices between specialty and non-specialty CFLs, 


allocating statistically larger shares of non-specialty shelving to CFLs than for specialty 


shelving.  


 
• CFL technology has an estimated 32-36% market share of specialty lighting in Oregon, 


slightly lower than CFL market share of non-specialty lighting.  There are a number of 


specialty lighting applications for which there are currently no CFL alternatives, some of 


which will never conceivably develop CFL alternatives due to the nature of the 


application.  While the available data does not differentiate between the applications of 


non-CFL specialty lighting, taking a more narrowed view of the market in which specialty 


CFLs are competing would increase estimated CFL market share. 


 
• Approximately 89% of Oregon lighting retailers that carry specialty bulbs also carry at 


least one model of specialty CFLs. 


 
• Since 2008, Oregon lighting retailers have increased the availability and diversity of 


screw-based specialty CFLs and reduced the availability of Pin-based and Circline bulbs 







as well as the diversity of those offerings.  Similarly, retailers have moved towards 


increasing the availability of the more traditional incandescent looking specialty lighting 


and away from tubular specialty lighting, screw-based or otherwise. 


 
• Prices for CFL bulbs vary significantly with several differentiating characteristics.  


Analysis of the determinants of the price of CFL bulbs revealed a significantly positive 


correlation between bulb wattage and price per bulb.  Significantly negative correlations 


between price per bulb and being sold in a Big Box store, having dimming capabilities, 


and the quantity of bulbs per package were identified.  Preliminary regression results 


indicate that overall, after controlling for the above mentioned characteristics, prices of 


CFL bulbs in Oregon have seen a statistically significant decrease over the last two 


years.  However, when individual bulb styles are analyzed separately the decline in bulb 


price over time is no longer significant, indicating that the overall decline in price is due 


to the changing mix of bulbs sold and not due to reductions in the cost of technology or 


any increasing economies of scale.  While not statistically significant, the negative 


coefficients are still indicative of a downward trend in most specialty CFL bulb types. 


 


Recommendations to Energy Trust and Future Shelving Studies 
 


1. That 45-49% of lighting shelving is dedicated to specialty bulbs indicates that this is a 


large segment of the lighting market and a segment worth pursuing.  NEEA, Energy 


Trust, and similar organizations in the Pacific Northwest should continue to be active in 


this market, promoting CFL alternatives where they exist and supporting further 


development of CFL and LED alternatives for applications in which they are currently 


none.   


 


2. The practice of shelving specialty CFLs has been adopted least by rural 


Grocery/Drug/Hardware stores.  Any thoughts towards expanding existing programs to 


increase CFL market penetration in these areas should take into consideration (1) their 


limited role as a channel for residential CFL sales and (2) the relatively small impact that 


such efforts would have on CFL share of the specialty bulb market in Oregon. 


 


3. Energy Trust should continue to pursue coordination with their home products program 


management contractor on any future shelving surveys, specifically on survey 







methodology, consistency in data collection, and a compatible survey sample.  Such 


coordination will help reduce redundancy of survey efforts and ensure that the data 


collected expands and enriches the understanding of the residential lighting market in 


Oregon. 


 


4. Energy Trust should pursue building upon their existing partnerships with participating 


lighting retailers in an effort to move towards more comprehensive data collection.  


Ideally, data on CFL sales outside of the Energy Trust program as well as incandescent 


bulb sales could be available to Energy Trust.  Such information would enhance 


understanding of the CFL market in Oregon and allow for a more accurate determination 


of CFL market share in Energy Trust service territory.  Potential benefits for partnering 


retailers might include store level analysis and feedback on lighting sales and analysis of 


the state of the residential lighting market. 


 
5. Future NEEA surveys should include an expanded sample that includes stratification 


such that each state’s sample is representative, allowing for comparisons between 


states.  Such comparisons would allow for analysis of the effects that the various 


regional energy efficiency programs and initiatives are having on the residential lighting 


market, providing useful feedback to program staff and policy makers.   


 
6. Future NEEA surveys should continue to record lumens per bulb.  As residential energy 


efficiency lighting moves towards incorporating more LED technology this will become 


an increasingly important element of any future analysis of the residential lighting 


market.    


 
7. In light of the observed shift from alternative based bulbs towards screw-based lamps 


and the coinciding shift away from tubular CFLs, NEEA should expand the other 


components of their research in the residential lighting market - the market actor 


interviews and residential consumer surveys - to include questions concerning the main 


drivers of these trends.  This additional questioning would help clarify the source of this 


shift - changing consumer demand or changes in production and supply - as well as 


identify the root causes.  These insights will prove valuable to both bulb manufacturers 


and energy efficiency programs as they move forward in developing new energy efficient 


lighting products and expand the market.   


 






















